

TECHNISCHE UNIVERSITÄT BERGAKADEMIE FREIBERG

The University of Resources. Since 1765.

Semi-linear waves with time-dependent speed and dissipation

By the Faculty of Mathematik und Informatik of the Technische Universität Bergakademie Freiberg

approved

Thesis

to attain the academic degree of

doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.)

submitted by M.Sc. Tang Bao Ngoc, Bui

born on the 12 November 1983 in Do Luong - Nghe An

Assessor: Prof. Dr. rer. nat. habil. Michael Reissig, Germany Prof. Dr. nauk. Karen Yagdjian, USA

Date of the award: Freiberg, 11 June 2014

Versicherung

Hiermit versichere ich, dass ich die vorliegende Arbeit ohne unzulässige Hilfe Dritter und ohne Benutzung anderer als der angegebenen Hilfsmittel angefertigt habe; die aus fremden Quellen direkt oder indirekt übernommenen Gedanken sind als solche kenntlich gemacht.

Bei der Auswahl und Auswertung des Materials sowie bei der Herstellung des Manuskripts habe ich Unterstützungsleistungen von folgenden Personen erhalten:

- Prof. Dr. rer. nat. habil. Michael Reissig
- $\circ\,$ Prof. Dr. Fumihiko Hirosawa
- $\circ\,$ Prof. Dr. Karen Yagd
jian
- $\circ\,$ Dr. D'Abbicco

Weitere Personen waren an der Abfassung der vorliegenden Arbeit nicht beteiligt.

Die Hilfe eines Promotionsberaters habe ich nicht in Anspruch genommen. Weitere Personen haben von mir keine geldwerten Leistungen für Arbeiten erhalten, die nicht als solche kenntlich gemacht worden sind. Die Arbeit wurde bisher weder im Inland noch im Ausland in gleicher oder ähnlicher Form einer anderen Prüfungsbehörde vorgelegt.

 $11 \ \mathrm{June} \ 2014$

M.Sc. Tang Bao Ngoc, Bui

Declaration

I hereby declare that I completed this work without any improper help from a third party and without using any aids other than those cited. All ideas derived directly or indirectly from other sources are identified as such.

In the selection and use of materials and in the writing of the manuscript I received support from the following persons:

- Prof. Dr. rer. nat. habil. Michael Reissig
- Prof. Dr. Fumihiko Hirosawa
- $\circ\,$ Prof. Dr. Karen Yagd
jian
- Dr. D'Abbicco

Persons other than those above did not contribute to the writing of this thesis.

I did not seek the help of a professional doctorate-consultant. Only those persons identified as having done so received any financial payment from me for any work done for me. This thesis has not previously been published in the same or a similar form in Germany or abroad.

 $11 \ \mathrm{June} \ 2014$

M.Sc. Tang Bao Ngoc, Bui

Acknowledgments

Foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Prof. Michael Reissig, for his patience, guidance, enthusiasm, hard-working spirit, and permanent support of my Ph.D study. He has a great insight to identify the problem and provides valuable suggestions. Every time I feel frustrated, he is always there to encourage me and showed me how to find solutions. It is my fortune to have a chance to work with him.

I am also indebted to Prof. Fumihiko Hirosawa who wholeheartedly supported me during my research visits to Yamaguchi University. Fumihiko has given me so much advice as a co-author on the first public paper.

A special thank go to Prof. Karen Yagdjian from the University of Texas-Pan American for his readiness as referee and for insightful comments on the subject.

I would like to thank Dr. Marcello D'Abbicco for all the discussions and remarks. In fact, I greatly benefited from his keen scientific vision and his ability to put complex ideas into simple terms.

My thanks go to the Faculty of Mathematics and Computer Science of the Technical University Bergakademie Freiberg in particular of the staff of the Institute of Applied Analysis for assisting me with the administrative tasks necessary for completing my doctoral program. I would also like to thank Chritian Jäh for all the instances in which his assistance helped me along the way. Especially, Dr. Gunter Semmler, my office-mate, helped me get on the road to LATEX and provided an experienced ear for my doubts about draw pictures in thesis.

I recognize that this research would not have been possible without the financial support of my scholarship during the three and a half year for my PhD project. I would like to express my gratitude to DAAD.

I also want to use this occasion to thank my parents for always supporting me spiritually throughout my life. This last word of acknowledgment I have saved for my dear wife Do Hai Yen, who has been with me all these years, her support, encouragement, quiet patience and unwavering love were undeniably.

Contents

1.	Intro	oduction 1	13
	1.1.	Background	13
		1.1.1. $L^p - L^q$ decay estimates for free wave equations	14
		1.1.2. $L^p - L^q$ decay estimates for damped wave equations	14
	1.2.	Motivation and some problems of this thesis	14
	1.3.	Selected results of this thesis	17
		1.3.1. $L^2 - L^2$ estimates for linear models	17
		1.3.2. $L^p - L^q$ estimates for linear models	18
		1.3.3. Results for non-linear models	19
2.	Wav	re models without any dissipation	21
	2.1.	Wave models with strictly increasing speed of propagation	21
	2.2.	Critical cases of damped wave models	29
		2.2.1. Some model cases	29
3.	Wav	re models with time dependent propagation speed and dissipation	39
	3.1.	Scattering theory	39
		3.1.1. Result in the L^2 -scale	39
	3.2.	Non-effective dissipation	1 2
		3.2.1. Considerations in the dissipative zone	13
		3.2.2. Considerations in the hyperbolic zone	1 8
		3.2.3. Conclusion	50
	3.3.	Effective dissipation	53
		3.3.1. Regions and zones	54
		3.3.2. The hyperbolic region	55
		3.3.3. The elliptic region	59
		3.3.4. The reduced zone	32
		3.3.5. Estimates for the fundamental solution	33
		3.3.6. Gluing procedure	37
		3.3.7. Comparison of results	72
	3.4.	Over-damping	74
4.	L^p –	L^q estimates on the conjugate line ξ	31
	4.1.	The case of non-effective dissipation	31
		4.1.1. Higher diagonalization modulo $S\{-p, -p, p+1\}$	31
		4.1.2. Some auxiliary estimates	33
		4.1.3. Construction of a fundamental solution	37
		4.1.4. $L^p - L^q$ estimates	<i>)</i> 1
	4.2.	The case of effective dissipation) 6

5.	Glot 5.1. 5.2.	 bal existence of small data solutions to semi-linear dissipative wave models Semi-linear models with non-effective dissipation Semi-linear models with effective dissipation 5.2.1. Matsumura-type estimates for parameter-dependent linear Cauchy problems 5.2.2. Properties of the decay function B_a(s, t) 5.2.3. Global existence of small data solutions for wave models with sub-exponential propagation speed 5.2.4. Global existence of small data solutions for wave models with super-exponential propagation speed 	 101 107 107 117 120 132
6	Con	cluding remarks and open questions	130
υ.	6 1	Linear theory	139
	0.1.	6.1.1. Modified Scattering	139
		6.1.2. Energy estimates of higher order	139
	6.2.	Non-linear theory	140
		6.2.1. Blow-up behavior of semi-linear models with effective dissipation	140
	6.3.	Abstract problems	140
	6.4.	Damped wave models with decreasing speed of propagation	141
	6.5.	Wave models with time-dependent and spatial-dependent coefficients	141
Ap	pend	lices	143
Δ	Nota	ation	145
,	A.1.	General notation in thesis	145
	A.2.	Function spaces	146
	A.3.	Symbols used throughout the thesis	146
в.	Basi	ic tools	149
	B.1.	Bessel functions	149
	B.2.	Bessel potential spaces and multiplier spaces	150
	В.З.	Further lemmas and useful calculations	151

List of Figures

2.1.	Description for the definition of zones.	22
$3.1. \\ 3.2.$	Description for the definition of zones in the non-effective dissipation	43 54
5.1. 5.2. 5.3.	An illustrated picture for the case $\eta(t) \searrow 0$	110 110 110
5.4.	An illustrated picture for the case $\eta(t) \nearrow \infty$.	111

List of Tables

A.1.	Summarizing assumptions in thesis										 147
A.2.	Summarizing symbols are used in thesis										 147

1. Introduction

1.1. Background

From the physical point of view hyperbolic equations describe processes in which disturbances propagate with finite velocity and it also plays a central role in physical modeling in several areas of science, for instance, in fluid dynamics, electrodynamics, astrophysics, optics, acoustic, theory of electromagnetic waves. We can list up here physical phenomena which are related with wave equations, see Graham-Schiesser [G-S09]:

- Acoustic waves in fluids: shock waves in a gases, transmission of waves in liquids, applications of ultrasound, audible sound, underwater sonar applications, etc., see Elmore [Elm69].
- Chemical waves: concentration variations of chemical species propagating in a system, for instance, Ross-Muller-Vidal, [Ros88].
- Electromagnetic waves: electricity in various forms, radio waves, light waves in optic fibers, etc., see A. Shadowitz [Sha75].
- Gravitational waves: The transmission of variations in a gravitational field in the form of waves, as predicted by Einstein's theory of general relativity. Undisputed verification of their existence is still awaited, see in Chapter 5, Ohanian-Ruffini [Oha94].
- Seismic waves: Arising from movements in the earth's crust, passing through the interior of the earth, studying of various of components of seismic waves from distant earthquakes, [Elm69].
- Traffic flow waves: Small local changes in velocity occurring in high density situations can result in the propagation of waves and even shocks, see LeVeque [Lev07].

One of a simplified model for a vibrating string (n = 1), membrane (n = 2), or elastic solid (n = 3) is the free wave equation

$$u_{tt} - c^2 \Delta u = 0, \qquad (1.1.1)$$

where c denotes the speed of propagation and the Laplacian Δ is taken with respect to the spatial variables. The d'Alembert's representation formula is a well-known formula in one space dimension. Whereas, in two space dimensions we have the Poisson's formula. For three space dimensions the explicit representation of solutions was investigated by G. R. Kirchhoff.

One of the methods of studying the Cauchy problem for hyperbolic equations is the energy method. The wave energy is defined by

$$E_c(u)(t) := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(c^2 |\nabla u(t,x)|^2 + |u_t(t,x)|^2 \right) dx \tag{1.1.2}$$

for a solution u = u(t, x) of the free wave equation (1.1.1). Physically (in the case n = 3) we have the following conservation of energy

$$E_c(u)(t) = E_c(u)(0).$$

Actually, the mathematical model for the free wave equation (1.1.1) is only suitable under ideal conditions, that is, we idealize the analysis by neglecting the effect of friction, the effect of stiffness, the effect of gravity, etc. Evidently, the model of elastic waves in many media are not described by the simple wave equation, but at least they give us some predicable and reasonable mathematical properties.

1.1.1. $L^p - L^q$ decay estimates for free wave equations

In this thesis we are not only interested in energy estimates but also in $L^p - L^q$ decay estimates on the conjugate line. Let us therefore introduce here various related papers which state results about $L^p - L^q$ decay estimates for the solutions to the following Cauchy problem:

$$u_{tt} - \Delta u = 0, \ u(0, x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0, x) = u_2(x),$$
 (1.1.3)

with $(t, x) \in \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^n$, such that the energy solution satisfies the following a priori estimate

$$\|(\partial_t, \nabla)u(t, .)\|_{L^q} \lesssim (1+t)^{-\frac{n-1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right)} \left(\|u_1\|_{W_p^{N_p+1}} + \|u_2\|_{W_p^{N_p}}\right)$$
(1.1.4)

for $n \geq 2$, 1 , <math>(p,q) lying on conjugate line, i.e pq = p + q, and N_p is an integer number satisfies $N_p > n(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q})$. The first paper we want to mention here is the paper of von Wahl [vW71], in that paper he used the explicit representation of solutions in the three-dimensional case. Using another methods which applied Fourier integral operators and stationary phase, we can see these estimates in papers of W.Littman [Lit73], R.S. Strichartz [Str70], P. Brenner [Bre75], and H. Pecher, [Pec76], to cite only a few.

1.1.2. $L^p - L^q$ decay estimates for damped wave equations

We next devote to the Cauchy problem for the damped wave equation

$$u_{tt} - \Delta u + u_t = 0, \ u(0, x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0, x) = u_2(x), \tag{1.1.5}$$

with $(t, x) \in \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^n$. In [Mat76, Mat77], A. Matsumura established better decay estimates by the aid of the dissipation term on $L^p - L^q$ -estimates level as follows:

$$\|(\partial_t, \nabla)u(t, .)\|_{L^q} \lesssim (1+t)^{-\frac{n}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right) - \frac{1}{2}} \left(\|u_1\|_{W_p^{N_p+1}} + \|u_2\|_{W_p^{N_p}}\right)$$
(1.1.6)

for 1 , <math>(p,q) lying on conjugate line and integer $N_p > n\left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right)$.

We will complete this part by pointing readers out that these decay estimates coincide with the corresponding estimates for the heat equations (see G. Ponce [Pon85]).

1.2. Motivation and some problems of this thesis

The recent papers of J. Wirth, [W06] and [W07a], are devoted to the study of the Cauchy problem for the wave equation with time-dependent dissipation

$$u_{tt} - \Delta u + b(t)u_t = 0, \ u(0, x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0, x) = u_2(x).$$
(1.2.1)

A description of the influence of the coefficient b = b(t) on the qualitative behavior of solutions is given due to the following classification:

- Scattering: If b(t) has a very weak influence, then there is a relation to the free wave equation. Such relations are described by so-called scattering results.
- Non-effective: If b(t) has a weak influence, then the classical energy decays to 0 and corresponding $L^p L^q$ decay estimates are the classical Strichartz decay estimates with an additional term as a time-dependent coefficient coming from the decay of the energy itself. Such weak dissipations will be called non-effective.
- Effective: If b(t) has a stronger influence, then $L^p L^q$ decay estimates are similar to those ones for the classical damped wave equation but with an additional decay function related to the dissipation itself. Such dissipations will be called effective.
- Over-damping: If b(t) has a "very strong influence", then in general we can not expect any decay estimate of the classical wave type energy.

In both cases, scattering or over-damping, we have in general no energy decay. Roughly speaking, energy decay only appears for dissipations $b(t)u_t$ with coefficient "between" the conditions $b \notin L_1(\mathbb{R}^+)$ and $1/b \notin L_1(\mathbb{R}^+)$ in (1.2.1). But we have to be more precise. This leads to distinguish between non-effective and effective dissipation. Correspondingly, we only cite here two results from J. Wirth [W05]: Assuming the coefficient function b = b(t) is a positive, smooth and monotone function of t, which satisfies

$$|b^{(k)}(t)| \le C_k b(t) \left(\frac{1}{1+t}\right)^k$$

for all $k \in \mathbb{N}_0$.

Result 1.2.1. Assume $\limsup_{t\to\infty} tb(t) < 1$. Then the solution u = u(t,x) of (1.2.1) satisfies the $L^p - L^q$ decay estimate

$$\|(\partial_t, \nabla)u(t, \cdot)\|_{L^q} \le C \frac{1}{\lambda(t)} (1+t)^{-\frac{n-1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right)} \left(\|u_1\|_{W_p^{N_p+1}} + \|u_2\|_{W_p^{N_p}} \right)$$
(1.2.2)

for $p \in (1,2]$, q is the corresponding dual index, $N_p = n(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q})$ and $\lambda(t)$ is an auxiliary function which is defined by

$$\lambda(t) := \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\int_0^t b(\tau)d\tau\right)$$

Result 1.2.2. Assume $tb(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$. Then the solution u = u(t, x) of (1.2.1) satisfies the $L^p - L^q$ decay estimate

$$\|(\partial_t, \nabla)u(t, \cdot)\|_{L^q} \le C \left(1 + \int_0^t \frac{d\tau}{b(\tau)}\right)^{-\frac{n}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right) - \frac{1}{2}} \left(\|u_1\|_{W_p^{N_p+1}} + \|u_2\|_{W_p^{N_p}}\right)$$
(1.2.3)

for $p \in (1,2]$, q is the corresponding dual index and $N_p = n(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q})$.

What about wave models in (1.2.1) without any dissipation? In a series of papers of M. Reissig-K. Yagdjian-F. Hirosawa (see [R-Y99], [R-Y00a], [R-Y00b] or [H-W09]) the authors have obtained results about decay estimates for solutions to the Cauchy problem

$$u_{tt} - a^2(t)\Delta u = 0, \ u(0,x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0,x) = u_2(x).$$
 (1.2.4)

Therein a(t) is chosen as $a^2(t) = \lambda^2(t)b^2(t)$, where $\lambda(t)$ is a monotonously increasing function and b(t) is an oscillating function. In this thesis we shall limit to treat only the case of an increasing propagation speed and we are not interested in special oscillating parts in the coefficient a(t). We recall that some results from M. Reissig [Rei11] are obtained under the following assumptions to the coefficient a = a(t):

- (A1) a(t) > 0, a'(t) > 0, for $t \in [0, \infty)$,
- (A2) $a_0 \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \le \frac{a'(t)}{a(t)} \le a_1 \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}, \ a_0, a_1 > 0,$
- (A3) $|a''(t)| \le a_2 a(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^2, a_2 \ge 0,$
- (A4) $t + \frac{C}{\sqrt{a(t)}}$ is strictly increasing with a positive constant C and for large t.

Here $A(t) = 1 + \int_0^t a(s) ds$ is a primitive of a(t). As an example for this kind of model we can choose the Anti-de Sitter model of the universe that appears in the Mathematical Cosmology:

$$u_{tt} - e^{2t}\Delta u = 0.$$

If we inverse the time variable, $t \to -t$, it becomes

$$u_{tt} - e^{-2t}\Delta u = 0.$$

This equation describes particle in the so-called de Sitter model of the universe. Both of these examples were introduced in A. Galstian [Gal03].

Our first main goal of the thesis is to combine our knowledge about wave models with time-dependent speed and without any dissipation with those for wave models with time-dependent dissipation term. For this reason it seems to be reasonable to devote to the wave model

$$u_{tt} - a^{2}(t)\Delta u + b(t)u_{t} = 0, \ u(0,x) = u_{1}(x), \ u_{t}(0,x) = u_{2}(x)$$
(1.2.5)

with time-dependent increasing speed of propagation and dissipation. An interesting issue is to introduce precise descriptions for scattering, non-effective, effective dissipations and over-damping in model (1.2.5). Such a classification we shall propose in Sections 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4, respectively. In particularly, in the case non-effective and effective dissipations we will derive energy estimates not only on $L^2 - L^2$ scale but also on $L^p - L^q$ scale, in both cases.

Recently, X. Gang and Y. Huicheng, [G-H13], they investigated the global existence and stability of a smooth supersonic flow with vacuum state at infinity in a 3-D infinitely long divergent nozzle of the form

$$u_{tt} - \frac{1}{(1+t)^{2(\gamma-1)}} \Delta u + \frac{2(\gamma-1)}{1+t} u_t = 0,$$

for $1 < \gamma < 2$. A further topic of interest is the theory for non-linear wave equations which are demonstrated in the form

$$u_{tt} - a^{2}(t)\Delta u + b(t)u_{t} = f(u, u_{t}, \nabla_{x}u, \nabla_{x}u_{t}, \nabla_{x}^{2}u), \ u(0, x) = u_{1}(x), \ u_{t}(0, x) = u_{2}(x),$$
(1.2.6)

with u = u(t, x), time variable $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$ and space variable $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$. Recently, there are several papers which are devoted to the Cauchy problem for the following non-linear wave equations

$$u_{tt} - a(t)^2 \Delta u = u_t^2 - a(t)^2 |\nabla u|^2, \ u(0, x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0, x) = u_2(x).$$
(1.2.7)

In particular, in two papers of K. Yagdjian, [Yag01] and [Yag05], it is explained how the above class of special semi-linear Cauchy problems can be reduced by Nirenberg's transformation to a linear model with constrain condition. The above papers and the paper Ebert and Reissig [E-R11] concern with the problem of global existence (in time) for small data solutions to the semi-linear Cauchy problem

$$u_{tt} - a(t)^2 \Delta u = u_t^2 - a(t)^2 |\nabla u|^2, \ u(0, x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0, x) = u_2(x).$$
(1.2.8)

It would be a challenge to apply this approach to the case of *non-effective* dissipations to the following semi-linear Cauchy problem

$$u_{tt} - a(t)^2 \Delta u + b(t)u_t = u_t^2 - a(t)^2 |\nabla u|^2, \ u(0,x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0,x) = u_2(x).$$
(1.2.9)

This is done in Section 5.1.

Another interesting application to the case of *effective* dissipations is the question for global small data solutions to the following semi-linear model

$$u_{tt} - a(t)^2 \Delta u + b(t)u_t = f(u), \ u(0, x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0, x) = u_2(x),$$
(1.2.10)

where $f(u) \approx |u|^p$. This is done in Section 5.2. In a recent paper of D'Abbicco and Lucente, [D-L12], the authors have constructed counter-examples which provide a nonexistence result for weak solutions to (1.2.10).

Outline of this thesis. In Chapter 2 we introduce primarily the WKB-analysis, the method of zones. In particularly, in the second part of this chapter we study very important examples, the scale-invariant models, by using a lot of techniques from the theory of special functions. Among other things properties of solutions to the Bessel equation and confluent hypergeometric equation are used. These examples give us a lot of ideals and some predictions for more general results which are proved later. The emphasis in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 is on concentrating a precise description of classification under the influence of a(t) and b(t) and their applications to derive $L^p - L^q$ decay estimates. In these chapters some techniques are applied, for example, WKB-analysis, the method of zones. Besides, we shall also use different micro-energies in different parts of the extended phase space, the diagonalization procedure, symbol classes and their hierarchies. Theory of Fourier multipliers or stationary phase method imply the desired a-priori estimates. Afterwards, in Chapter 5 we investigate the global existence of small data solutions of two semi-linear models by applying directly non-effective and effective results from Chapters 3 and 4. Finally, we introduce in Chapter 6 some further and open problems which are related to the results of the thesis.

1.3. Selected results of this thesis

In order to make our results more understandable here and hereafter we use the notation $b(t) = \mu(t) \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}$.

1.3.1. $L^2 - L^2$ estimates for linear models

Non-effective dissipation [Theorem 3.2.1]

Let us assume:

(B1)
$$b(t) > 0, \quad b \notin L^1(\mathbb{R}_+),$$

(B2)
$$|\mu'(t)| \le C_{\mu}\mu(t)\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}$$

- (B3) $\limsup_{t\to\infty} \mu(t) < 1.$
- (B3)' $\liminf_{t\to\infty} \mu(t) > 1.$
 - (C) $\limsup_{t\to\infty} (\mu(t) + \alpha(t)) < 2$, where $\alpha(t)$ is defined by

$$\frac{a'(t)}{a(t)} =: \alpha(t) \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}$$

Result 1.3.1. Let us consider the Cauchy problem (1.2.5) under the assumptions (A1) to (A3), (B1), (B2), (B3) or (B3)' and (C). Then we have the following estimates for the energy solution:

$$\|(\partial_t, a(t)\nabla)u(t, \cdot)\|_{L^2} \le C \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} (\|u_1\|_{H^1} + \|u_2\|_{L^2}).$$

Here $\lambda = \lambda(t)$ is defined by

$$\lambda(t) := \exp\left(\frac{1}{2} \int_0^t b(\tau) d\tau\right). \tag{1.3.1}$$

Effective dissipation [Theorem 3.3.14]

We assume:

(B'1) b(t) > 0,

(B'2)
$$|d_t^k \mu(t)| \le C_k \mu(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^k$$
 for $k = 1, 2,$

(B'3) $\mu(t)/A(t)$ is monotonic and $\mu(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$,

(B'4) $a^{2}(t)/b(t) = a(t)A(t)/\mu(t) \notin L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+}).$

Result 1.3.2. Let us assume the conditions (A1) to (A3) and (B'1) to (B'4). Then we have the following $L^2 - L^2$ estimates:

$$\|(\partial_t, a(t)\nabla)u(t, \cdot)\|_{L^2} \le C \le a(t) \left(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\|u_1\|_{H^1} + \|u_2\|_{L^2}\right).$$

1.3.2. $L^p - L^q$ estimates for linear models

The case of non-effective dissipation [Theorem 4.1.10]

We assume more regularity for a(t) and b(t):

$$(A3)^{\infty} |a^{(k)}(t)| \lesssim a(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^{k}, k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$

$$(B2)^{\infty} |\mu^{(k)}(t)| \lesssim \mu(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^{k}, k = 1, 2, \cdots.$$

Result 1.3.3. If the conditions (A1), (A2), (A3)^{∞}, (B1), (B2)^{∞}, (B3) or (B3)' and (C) hold, then we have the following $L^p - L^q$ estimates for the kinetic and the "elastic" energy:

$$\|(\partial_t, a(t)\nabla)u(t, \cdot)\|_{L_q} \lesssim \frac{1}{\lambda(t)}\sqrt{a(t)}A(t)^{-\frac{n-1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right)} \left(\|u_1\|_{L^{p,r+1}} + \|u_2\|_{L^{p,r}}\right)$$

with regularity $r = n(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}), \ 1 Here <math>A(t) = 1 + \int_0^t a(\tau) d\tau.$

The case of effective dissipation [Theorem 4.2.2]

Result 1.3.4. Assume the conditions (B'1) to (B'4). Then for all times t we have the $L^p - L^q$ decay estimates

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left(u_t(t, \cdot), a(t) \nabla_x u(t, \cdot) \right) \right\|_{L^q} &\lesssim a(t) \left(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \right)^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{n}{2} \left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q} \right)} \left(\| u_1 \|_{L^{p,r+1}} + \| u_2 \|_{L^{p,r}} \right), \\ where \ r > n \left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q} \right) \ with \ 1$$

1.3.3. Results for non-linear models

Semi-linear models with non-effective dissipation

We introduce a new assumption which is a modification of assumption (B3) as follows: (B3) $\limsup_{t\to\infty} \mu(t) < \max\{\limsup_{t\to\infty} \alpha(t), 1\}$ in the case of space dimension n > 1 and

(B3)' $1 - \delta \alpha(t) - \varepsilon_0 \leq \liminf_{t \to \infty} \mu(t) \leq \limsup_{t \to \infty} \mu(t) < 1$ in the case of space dimension n = 1. **Result 1.3.5.** Assume a(t) satisfies (A1) to (A3) and b(t) satisfies (B1) to (B3) (n > 1) or (B1) to (B3)' (n = 1). Then there exists a unique global (in time) classical solution u = u(t, x) to

$$u_{tt} - a(t)^2 \Delta u + b(t)u_t = u_t^2 - a(t)^2 |\nabla_x u|^2, \ u(0,x) = \epsilon u_1(x), \ u_t(0,x) = \epsilon u_2(x)$$

for given $u_0, u_1 \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), n > 1$, and all $\epsilon \in [0, \epsilon^*)$ with an in general suitable positive and small ϵ^* .

Semi-linear models with effective dissipation [Theorem 5.2.7]

Result 1.3.6. We assume the Hypotheses (A1) to (A3), (B'1) to (B'5) and (R1). Let us assume $n \leq 4$ and

$$\begin{cases} p > \bar{p} \text{ and } p \ge 2 & \text{if } n=1,2, \\ 2 \le p \le 3 = p_{GN}(3) & \text{if } n=3, \\ p = 2 = p_{GN}(4) & \text{if } n=4. \end{cases}$$
(1.3.2)

Moreover, if we assume

$$\lambda > \frac{\nu(\lambda)}{a_0} \frac{(2+M)n}{8}.$$
(1.3.3)

Then there exists a constant $\epsilon_0 > 0$ such that data with

$$||(u_1, u_2)||_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}} \le \epsilon_0,$$

imply the existence of a unique solution to (5.2.1) in $\mathcal{C}([0,\infty), H^1) \cap \mathcal{C}^1([0,\infty), L^2)$. Furthermore, there exists a constant C > 0 such that this solution satisfies the estimates

$$\|u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \leq C \quad \|(u_1,u_2)\|_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}}(1+B_a(0,t))^{-\frac{n}{4}}, \tag{1.3.4}$$

$$\|\nabla u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \leq C \quad \|(u_1,u_2)\|_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}}(1+B_a(0,t))^{-\frac{n}{4}-\frac{1}{2}},\tag{1.3.5}$$

$$\|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \leq C \quad \|(u_1,u_2)\|_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}}(1+B_a(0,t))^{-\frac{n}{4}-1}a^2(t)(b(t))^{-1}.$$
(1.3.6)

Here λ , $\nu(\lambda)$, M, p_{GN} and \bar{p} are introduced in Section 5.2 and in Theorem 5.2.7.

2. Wave models without any dissipation

2.1. Wave models with strictly increasing speed of propagation

Let us devote to the Cauchy problem

$$u_{tt} - a^2(t)\Delta u = 0, \ u(0,x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0,x) = u_2(x).$$
 (2.1.1)

In special cases for a this was done in M. Reissig [Rei97] or A. Galstian [Gal03].

Theorem 2.1.1. Let us consider the Cauchy problem (2.1.1) under the following assumptions to the coefficient a = a(t):

(A1)
$$a(t) > 0, a'(t) > 0, \text{ for } t \in [0, \infty)$$

(A2)
$$a_0 \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \le \frac{a'(t)}{a(t)} \le a_1 \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}, \ a_0, a_1 > 0,$$

$$(A3) |a''(t)| \le a_2 a(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^2, a_2 \ge 0,$$

(A4) $t + \frac{C}{\sqrt{a(t)}}$ is strictly increasing with a positive constant C and for large t.

Here $A(t) = 1 + \int_0^t a(s) ds$ is a primitive of a(t). For the kinetic energy we have

$$||u_t(t,\cdot)||_{L^2} \le C\sqrt{a(t)}(||u_1||_{H^1} + ||u_2||_{L^2}).$$

For the "elastic" energy we have

$$||a(t)\nabla u(t,\cdot)||_{L^2} \le C\sqrt{a(t)}(||u_1||_{H^1} + ||u_2||_{L^2}).$$

Proof. Applying partial Fourier transformation we have $\hat{u}_{tt} + a^2(t)|\xi|^2 \hat{u} = 0$. Introducing the function $A(t) = 1 + \int_0^t a(\tau) d\tau$ we denote by t_{ξ} a function of $|\xi|$ such that $A(t_{\xi})|\xi| = N$ with a suitable constant N. The function A(t) is increasing, so t_{ξ} is a decreasing function in $|\xi|$. By the aid of t_{ξ} we divide the extended phase space $\{(t,\xi) \in \mathbb{R}_+ \times \mathbb{R}^n_{\xi}\}$ into two zones, the pseudo-differential zone $Z_{pd}(N) := \{(t,\xi) : A(t)|\xi| \leq N\}$ and the hyperbolic zone $Z_{hyp}(N) := \{(t,\xi) : A(t)|\xi| \geq N\}$.



Fig. 2.1.: Description for the definition of zones.

Considerations in the pseudo-differential zone

Let us define the micro-energy $U = \left(N\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\hat{u}, D_t\hat{u}\right)^T$. Then the transformed equation can be written in the form of a system of first order (in D_t)

$$D_t U = A(t,\xi)U, \ A(t,\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} -i\frac{\partial_t \frac{a}{A}}{\frac{a}{A}} & N\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \\ \frac{A(t)a(t)|\xi|^2}{N} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus the solution $U = U(t,\xi)$ can be represented as $U(t,\xi) = E(t,s,\xi)U(s,\xi)$, where $E(t,s,\xi)$ is the fundamental solution, that is, the solution to the system

$$D_t E(t, s, \xi) = A(t, \xi) E(t, s, \xi), \ E(s, s, \xi) = I, \ 0 \le s \le t \le t_{\xi}.$$

Denoting by $E^{(jk)}$ the entries of E we get for k = 1, 2 the system

$$D_t E^{(1k)} = -i \frac{\partial_t \frac{a}{A}}{\frac{a}{A}} E^{(1k)} + N \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} E^{(2k)}, \ D_t E^{(2k)} = \frac{A(t)a(t)|\xi|^2}{N} E^{(1k)}, \ E^{(jk)}(s,s,\xi) = \delta_{jk}.$$

Integration yields

$$\begin{split} E^{(1k)}(t,s,\xi) &= \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(s)}{a(s)} E^{(1k)}(s,s,\xi) + iN \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \int_s^t E^{(2k)}(\tau,s,\xi) d\tau, \\ E^{(2k)}(t,s,\xi) &= E^{(2k)}(s,s,\xi) + \frac{i|\xi|^2}{N} \int_s^t A(\tau)a(\tau) E^{(1k)}(\tau,s,\xi) d\tau. \end{split}$$

We are going to prove the following lemma:

Lemma 2.1.2. We have the following estimates for the entries $E^{(kl)}(t,0,\xi)$ of the fundamental matrix $E(t,0,\xi)$:

$$|E^{(11)}(t,0,\xi)| + |E^{(21)}(t,0,\xi)| \le C_N \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \text{ for all } t \in [0,t_{\xi}],$$
$$|E^{(12)}(t,0,\xi)| + |E^{(22)}(t,0,\xi)| \le C_N \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} t \text{ for all } t \in [0,t_{\xi}].$$

23

Proof. If we introduce $y(t, s, \xi) := \frac{a(s)}{A(s)} \frac{A(t)}{a(t)} E^{(11)}(t, s, \xi)$, then we conclude from the above system

$$y(t,s,\xi) = 1 - |\xi|^2 \int_s^t \int_s^\tau a^2(\theta) y(\theta,s,\xi) d\theta d\tau, \quad |y(t,s,\xi)| \le 1 + \int_s^t \int_s^\tau a^2(\theta) |\xi|^2 |y(\theta,s,\xi)| d\theta d\tau,$$

respectively. The desired estimates are basing on the following lemma.

Lemma 2.1.3. Let us assume that a function $y = y(t, s, \xi)$ satisfies the inequality

$$|y(t,s,\xi)| \le 1 + \int_s^t \int_s^\tau a^2(\theta) |\xi|^2 |y(\theta,s,\xi)| d\theta d\tau.$$

Then the function satisfies the estimate

$$|y(t,s,\xi)| \le \exp\Big(\int_s^t \int_s^\tau a^2(\theta) |\xi|^2 d\theta d\tau\Big).$$

Proof. By the method of successive approximation it holds

$$|y_{k+1}(t,s,\xi)| \le 1 + |\xi|^2 \int_s^t \int_s^\tau a^2(\theta) |y_k(\theta,s,\xi)| d\theta d\tau$$

Hence,

$$|y(t,s,\xi)| \le 1 + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{t_{1}} |\xi|^{2} a^{2}(t_{2}) \cdots \int_{s}^{t_{2k-2}} \int_{s}^{t_{2k-1}} |\xi|^{2} a^{2}(t_{2k}) dt_{2k} dt_{2k-1} \cdots dt_{2} dt_{1}$$

We will show by induction principle that

$$\int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{t_{1}} |\xi|^{2} a^{2}(t_{2}) \cdots \int_{s}^{t_{2k-2}} \int_{s}^{t_{2k-1}} |\xi|^{2} a^{2}(t_{2k}) dt_{2k} dt_{2k-1} \cdots dt_{2} dt_{1} \leq \frac{1}{k!} \Big(\int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{t_{1}} |\xi|^{2} a^{2}(t_{2}) dt_{2} dt_{1} \Big)^{k}.$$
Then the statement of the lemma follows immediately. For $k = 1$ $(t = t_{k})$ the statement is clear.

Then the statement of the lemma follows immediately. For k = 1 $(t = t_0)$ the statement is clear. Assume that the statement is true for k = p:

$$\int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{t_{1}} |\xi|^{2} a^{2}(t_{2}) \cdots \int_{s}^{t_{2p-2}} \int_{s}^{t_{2p-1}} |\xi|^{2} a^{2}(t_{2p}) dt_{2p} dt_{2p-1} \cdots dt_{2} dt_{1} \leq \frac{1}{p!} \left(\int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{t_{1}} |\xi|^{2} a^{2}(t_{2}) dt_{2} dt_{1} \right)^{p}.$$

To prove that the statement is valid for $k = p + 1$ we conclude as follows:

$$\begin{split} &\int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{t_{1}} |\xi|^{2} a^{2}(t_{2}) \cdots \int_{s}^{t_{2p}} \int_{s}^{t_{2p+1}} |\xi|^{2} a^{2}(t_{2p+2}) dt_{2p+2} dt_{2p+1} \cdots dt_{2} dt_{1} \\ &\leq \int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{t_{1}} |\xi|^{2} a^{2}(t_{2}) \frac{1}{p!} \Big(\int_{s}^{t_{2}} \int_{s}^{t_{3}} |\xi|^{2} a^{2}(t_{4}) dt_{4} dt_{3} \Big)^{p} dt_{2} dt_{1} \\ &= \frac{|\xi|^{2p+2}}{p!} \int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{t_{1}} d_{t_{2}}^{2} \underbrace{\Big[\int_{s}^{t_{2}} \int_{s}^{t_{3}} a^{2}(t_{4}) dt_{4} dt_{3} \Big]}_{F(t_{2})} \Big(\int_{s}^{t_{2}} \int_{s}^{t_{3}} a^{2}(t_{4}) dt_{4} dt_{3} \Big] \frac{\int_{s}^{t_{2}} \int_{s}^{t_{3}} a^{2}(t_{4}) dt_{4} dt_{3}}{F(t_{2})} \end{split}$$

Taking into consideration that $F(t_2) \ge 0$ and $d_{t_2}F(t_2) \ge 0$ we continue to estimate

$$= \frac{|\xi|^{2p+2}}{p!} \int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{t_{1}} d_{t_{2}}^{2} F(t_{2}) \cdot F(t_{2})^{p} dt_{2} dt_{1}$$

$$= \frac{|\xi|^{2p+2}}{p!} \int_{s}^{t} \left[d_{t_{2}} F(t_{2}) \cdot F(t_{2})^{p} \Big|_{s}^{t_{1}} - \int_{s}^{t_{1}} d_{t_{2}} F(t_{2}) \cdot d_{t_{2}} F(t_{2})^{p} \right]$$

$$\leq \frac{|\xi|^{2p+2}}{p!} \int_{s}^{t} d_{t_{1}} F(t_{1}) \cdot F(t_{1})^{p} dt_{1}$$

$$\leq \frac{|\xi|^{2p+2}}{p!} \frac{1}{p+1} F(t)^{p+1} = \frac{1}{(p+1)!} \left(\int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{t_{1}} |\xi|^{2} a^{2}(t_{2}) dt_{2} dt_{1} \right)^{(p+1)}.$$

This we wanted to prove.

Applying this lemma to

$$|y(t,s,\xi)| \le 1 + \int_s^t \int_s^\tau a^2(\theta) |\xi|^2 |y(\theta,s,\xi)| d\theta d\tau,$$

where

$$y(t,s,\xi) := \frac{a(s)}{A(s)} \frac{A(t)}{a(t)} E^{(11)}(t,s,\xi),$$

it follows

$$|y(t,s,\xi)| \le \exp\left(\int_s^t \int_s^\tau a^2(\theta) |\xi|^2 d\theta d\tau\right)$$

Now we shall estimate the right-hand side. By using the assumptions for the coefficient a = a(t)and the definition of the pseudo-differential zone it holds

$$\begin{split} \int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{\tau} a^{2}(\theta) |\xi|^{2} d\theta d\tau &\leq C \int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{\tau} a'(\theta) A(\theta) |\xi|^{2} d\theta d\tau \leq C_{N} |\xi| \int_{s}^{t} \int_{s}^{\tau} a'(\theta) d\theta d\tau \\ &= C_{N} |\xi| \int_{s}^{t} (a(\tau) - a(s)) d\tau \leq C_{N} |\xi| \int_{s}^{t} a(\tau) d\tau \leq C_{N} |\xi| A(t) \leq C_{N}. \end{split}$$

So we may conclude that

$$|E^{(11)}(t,s,\xi)| \le C \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(s)}{a(s)}$$

Now we consider

$$E^{(21)}(t,s,\xi) = \frac{i|\xi|^2}{N} \int_s^t A(\tau)a(\tau)E^{(11)}(\tau,s,\xi)d\tau.$$

By using the estimate for $|E^{(11)}(t,s,\xi)|$ we have

$$\begin{split} |E^{(21)}(t,s,\xi)| &\leq \frac{|\xi|^2}{N} \int_s^t A(\tau)a(\tau) |E^{(11)}(\tau,s,\xi)| d\tau \leq C \frac{|\xi|^2}{N} \int_s^t A(\tau)a(\tau) \frac{a(\tau)}{A(\tau)} \frac{A(s)}{a(s)} d\tau \\ &= C \frac{|\xi|^2 A(s)}{a(s)} \int_s^t a(\tau)^2 d\tau \leq C \frac{|\xi|^2 A(s)}{a(s)} \int_s^t a'(\tau) A(\tau) d\tau \leq C \frac{|\xi|^2 A(t) A(s)}{a(s)} \int_s^t a'(\tau) d\tau \\ &= C \frac{|\xi|^2 A(t) A(s)}{a(s)} (a(t) - a(s)) \leq C \frac{|\xi|^2 A(t) A(s)}{a(s)} a(t) = C \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(s)}{a(s)} |\xi|^2 A^2(t) \leq C N^2 \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(s)}{a(s)}. \end{split}$$

On this way we obtained $|E^{(21)}(t,s,\xi)| \le C \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(s)}{a(s)}$.

Next we consider the system

$$E^{(12)}(t,s,\xi) = iN\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\int_{s}^{t} E^{(22)}(\tau,s,\xi)d\tau,$$
$$E^{(22)}(t,s,\xi) = 1 + \frac{i|\xi|^{2}}{N}\int_{s}^{t} A(\tau)a(\tau)E^{(12)}(\tau,s,\xi)d\tau.$$

Then we get

$$E^{(12)}(t,s,\xi) = iN\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\int_{s}^{t} \left(1 + \frac{i|\xi|^{2}}{N}\int_{s}^{\tau} A(\theta)a(\theta)E^{(12)}(\theta,s,\xi)d\theta\right)d\tau$$
$$= iN\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}(t-s) - \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}|\xi|^{2}\int_{s}^{t}\int_{s}^{\tau} A(\theta)a(\theta)E^{(12)}(\theta,s,\xi)d\theta d\tau.$$

As in the previous steps we estimate as follows:

$$\begin{split} |E^{(12)}(t,s,\xi)| &\leq N \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} t + \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} |\xi|^2 \int_s^t \int_s^\tau A(\theta) a(\theta) |E^{(12)}(\theta,s,\xi)| d\theta d\tau, \\ \left| \frac{A(t)}{a(t)Nt} E^{(12)}(t,s,\xi) \right| &\leq 1 + \frac{|\xi|^2}{t} \int_s^t \int_s^\tau \theta a(\theta)^2 \Big| \frac{A(\theta)}{a(\theta)N\theta} E^{(12)}(\theta,s,\xi) \Big| d\theta d\tau \\ &\leq 1 + |\xi|^2 \int_s^t \int_s^\tau a(\theta)^2 \Big| \frac{A(\theta)}{a(\theta)N\theta} E^{(12)}(\theta,s,\xi) \Big| d\theta d\tau. \end{split}$$

So, we see that after setting $y(t, s, \xi) := \frac{A(t)}{a(t)Nt} E^{(12)}(t, s, \xi)$ we are able to apply Lemma 2.1.3. In the same way as we did it for $E^{(11)}(t, s, \xi)$ it follows immediately

$$\left|\frac{A(t)}{a(t)Nt}E^{(12)}(t,s,\xi)\right| \le C_N \text{ thus } |E^{(12)}(t,s,\xi)| \le C_N \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}t$$

In a similar way we also get

$$|E^{(22)}(t,s,\xi)| \le C_N \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} t.$$

This completes the proof.

Now let us come back to

$$U(t,\xi) = E(t,0,\xi)U(0,\xi) \text{ for all } 0 \le t \le t_{\xi}.$$
(2.1.2)

Because of $a(t)|\xi||\hat{u}(t,\xi)| \leq N \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}|\hat{u}(t,\xi)|$ in $Z_{pd}(N)$ from (2.1.2) and Lemma 2.1.2 the following statement can be concluded:

Corollary 2.1.4. We have in the pseudo-differential zone $Z_{pd}(N)$ the following estimates for all $0 \le t \le t_{\xi}$:

$$\begin{aligned} a(t)|\xi||\hat{u}(t,\xi)| &\leq C_N \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}|\hat{u}(0,\xi)| + C_N \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}t|D_t\hat{u}(0,\xi)| \\ |D_t\hat{u}(t,\xi)| &\leq C_N \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}|\hat{u}(0,\xi)| + C_N \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}t|D_t\hat{u}(0,\xi)|. \end{aligned}$$

Considerations in the hyperbolic zone

Here we use the hyperbolic micro-energy $U = (a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}, D_t\hat{u})^T$. Then U satisfies

$$D_t U = A(t,\xi)U := \begin{pmatrix} \frac{D_t a}{a} & a(t)|\xi| \\ a(t)|\xi| & 0 \end{pmatrix} U.$$

$$(2.1.3)$$

Let us carry out the first step of diagonalization. For this reason we set

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad M^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ and } U^{(0)} = M^{-1}U.$$

So $D_t U^{(0)} = \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) U^{(0)} + \mathcal{R}(t) U^{(0)}$, where

$$\mathcal{D}(t,\xi) := \begin{pmatrix} \tau_1 & 0\\ 0 & \tau_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a(t)|\xi| & 0\\ 0 & -a(t)|\xi| \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$\mathcal{R}(t) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\begin{array}{cc} \frac{D_t a}{a} & -\frac{D_t a}{a} \\ -\frac{D_t a}{a} & \frac{D_t a}{a} \end{array} \right).$$

Let $F_0(t)$ be the diagonal part of $\mathcal{R}(t)$. Now we carry out the second step of diagonalization procedure. Therefore we introduce the matrices

$$N^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{R_{12}}{\tau_1 - \tau_2} \\ \frac{R_{21}}{\tau_2 - \tau_1} & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & i\frac{a'}{a} \\ -i\frac{a'}{4a(t)|\xi|} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad N_1 = I + N^{(1)}$$

Because of $\left(\frac{\frac{a'}{a}}{4a(t)|\xi|}\right)^2 \sim \left(\frac{\frac{a}{A}}{4a(t)|\xi|}\right)^2 \leqslant \frac{C}{N}$ we can choose a sufficiently large N such that the determinant of N_1 is $\det N_1 = 1 - \left(\frac{\frac{a'}{a}}{4a(t)|\xi|}\right)^2 \geq \frac{1}{2}$. Hence, the matrix N_1 is invertible. Set

$$B^{(1)} = D_t N^{(1)} - (\mathcal{R} - F_0) N^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{(\frac{a'}{a})^2}{8a(t)|\xi|} & \partial_t \frac{\frac{a'}{a}}{4a(t)|\xi|} \\ -\partial_t \frac{\frac{a'}{a}}{4a(t)|\xi|} & \frac{(\frac{a'}{a})^2}{8a(t)|\xi|} \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi) = -N_1^{-1} B^{(1)}(t,\xi).$$

To understand our strategy let us define the following classes of symbols with limited smoothness with respect to $t \ (m_3 \ge 0)$:

Definition 2.1.1. The time-dependent function $c(t,\xi)$ belongs to the symbol class $S_l\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$ with restricted smoothness l, if it satisfies the following estimates:

$$S_{l}\{m_{1}, m_{2}, m_{3}\} = \left\{c(t, \xi) : |D_{\xi}^{\alpha} D_{t}^{k} c(t, \xi)| \leq C_{\alpha, k} |\xi|^{m_{1} - |\alpha|} a(t)^{m_{2}} \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^{m_{3} + k} \text{ in } Z_{hyp}(N) \right.$$

for all α and $k \leq l \right\}.$

Lemma 2.1.5. The family of symbol classes $S_l\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$ generates a hierarchy of symbol classes having the following properties:

- $S_l\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$ is a vector space.
- $S_l\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}S_l\{m_1', m_2', m_3'\} \subset S_l\{m_1 + m_1', m_2 + m_2', m_3 + m_3'\}.$
- $D_t^k D_\xi^\alpha S_l\{m_1, m_2, m_3\} \subset S_{l-k}\{m_1 |\alpha|, m_2, m_3 + k\}.$
- $S_0\{-1, -1, 2\} \subset L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{E}} L^1_t(Z_{hyp}(N)).$

Proof. We only verify the fourth property. If $a(t,\xi) \in S_0\{-1,-1,2\}$, then

$$\int_{t_{\xi}}^{\infty} |a(\tau,\xi)| d\tau \le \int_{t_{\xi}}^{\infty} C \frac{1}{|\xi|} \frac{a(\tau)}{A^{2}(\tau)} d\tau = \frac{1}{A(t_{\xi})|\xi|} = C_{N}$$

due to the definition of the hyperbolic zone.

Using the above introduced symbol classes and the assumptions for a = a(t) we have $\frac{D_t a}{a} \in S_1\{0,0,1\}, B^{(1)}, \mathcal{R}_1 \in S_0\{-1,-1,2\}$. Moreover, we conclude

$$(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - \mathcal{R}(t)) N_1(t,\xi) U^{(1)}(t,\xi) = N_1(t,\xi) (D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_0(t) - \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi)) U^{(1)}(t,\xi).$$

Hence, we can find the solution $U^{(0)}(t,\xi) =: N_1(t,\xi)U^{(1)}(t,\xi)$, where $U^{(1)}(t,\xi)$ is the solution to the system

$$\left(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_0(t) - \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi)\right)V(t,\xi) = 0.$$

We can write $U^{(1)}(t,\xi) = E_1(t,t_{\xi},\xi)U^{(1)}(t_{\xi},\xi)$, where $E(t,s,\xi)$ is the fundamental solution, that is, the solution of the system

$$D_t E_1(t, s, \xi) = (D_t - \mathcal{D}(t, \xi) - F_0(t) - \mathcal{R}_1(t, \xi)) E_1(t, s, \xi), \quad E_1(s, s, \xi) = I, \ t \ge s \ge t_{\xi}.$$

The solution $E_0 = E_0(t, s, \xi)$ of the "principal part" (concerning the hierarchy of symbol classes) fulfils

$$D_t E_0(t, s, \xi) = (\mathcal{D}(t, \xi) + F_0(t)) E_0(t, s, \xi), \quad E_0(s, s, \xi) = I, \ t \ge s \ge t_{\xi}.$$

Thus

$$E_0(t,s,\xi) = \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(s)}} \begin{pmatrix} \exp\left(\int_s^t ia(\tau)|\xi|d\tau\right) & 0\\ 0 & \exp\left(-\int_s^t ia(\tau)|\xi|d\tau\right) \end{pmatrix}$$

Let us set

$$\mathcal{R}_{2}(t,s,\xi) = E_{0}(t,s,\xi)^{-1} \mathcal{R}_{1}(t,\xi) E_{0}(t,s,\xi),$$
$$Q(t,s,\xi) = I + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} i^{k} \int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{R}_{2}(t_{1},s,\xi) \int_{s}^{t_{1}} \mathcal{R}_{2}(t_{2},s,\xi) \cdots \int_{s}^{t_{k-1}} \mathcal{R}_{2}(t_{k},s,\xi) dt_{k} \cdots dt_{2} dt_{1}$$

Then $Q(t, s, \xi)$ solves the Cauchy problem

$$D_t Q(t, s, \xi) = \mathcal{R}_2(t, s, \xi) Q(t, s, \xi), \quad Q(s, s, \xi) = I, \ t \ge s \ge t_{\xi}$$

The fundamental solution $E_1 = E_1(t, s, \xi)$ is representable in the form $E_1(t, s, \xi) = E_0(t, s, \xi)Q(t, s, \xi)$. Analogous to the statement of Lemma 2.1.3 we are able to show the following estimate for $Q(t, s, \xi)$:

$$|Q(t,s,\xi)| \le \exp\left(\int_s^t |\mathcal{R}_1(\tau,\xi)| d\tau\right) \le \exp\left(\frac{1}{|\xi|} \left(\frac{-1}{A(\tau)}\right)\Big|_s^t\right) \le C_N$$

Here we use the fourth statement of Lemma 2.1.5 and $\mathcal{R}_1 \in S_0\{-1, -1, 2\}$. The backward transformation yields $U(t,\xi) = MN_1(t,\xi)E_0(t,s,\xi)Q(t,s,\xi)N_1^{-1}(s,\xi)M^{-1}U(s,\xi)$,

$$\left| \begin{pmatrix} a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}(t,\xi) \\ D_t\hat{u}(t,\xi) \end{pmatrix} \right| \leq \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(s)}} \left| \begin{pmatrix} a(s)|\xi|\hat{u}(s,\xi) \\ D_t\hat{u}(s,\xi) \end{pmatrix} \right| \text{ for all } t \geq s \geq t_{\xi}.$$

Corollary 2.1.6. We have in the hyperbolic zone $Z_{hyp}(N)$ the estimate

$$\left| \begin{pmatrix} a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}(t,\xi) \\ D_t\hat{u}(t,\xi) \end{pmatrix} \right| \le C \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(t_\xi)}} \left| \begin{pmatrix} a(t_\xi)|\xi|\hat{u}(t_\xi,\xi) \\ D_t\hat{u}(t_\xi,\xi) \end{pmatrix} \right|$$

for all $t \geq t_{\xi}$.

Conclusion

From the statements of Corollaries 2.1.4 and 2.1.6 we derive the statement of our theorem.

1.case: $\{|\xi| \ge N\}$

Then the statement of Corollary 2.1.6 implies immediately

$$\left| \begin{pmatrix} a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}(t,\xi) \\ D_t\hat{u}(t,\xi) \end{pmatrix} \right| \le C\sqrt{a(t)} \left| \begin{pmatrix} |\xi|\hat{u}(0,\xi) \\ D_t\hat{u}(0,\xi) \end{pmatrix} \right|$$

for all $t \ge 0$. 2.case: $\{|\xi| \le N\}$

Then the statements of Corollaries 2.1.6 and 2.1.4 give immediately

$$\begin{aligned} a(t)|\xi||\hat{u}(t,\xi)| &\leq C \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(t_{\xi})}} \Big(a(t_{\xi})|\xi||\hat{u}(t_{\xi},\xi)| + |D_t\hat{u}(t_{\xi},\xi)| \Big) \\ &\leq C_N \sqrt{a(t)} \Big(\frac{\sqrt{a(t_{\xi})}}{A(t_{\xi})} |\hat{u}(0,\xi)| + \frac{\sqrt{a(t_{\xi})}}{A(t_{\xi})} t_{\xi} |D_t\hat{u}(0,\xi)| \Big). \end{aligned}$$

This inequality together with assumption (A4) implies

$$a(t)|\xi||\hat{u}(t,\xi)| \le C\sqrt{a(t)}(|\hat{u}(0,\xi)| + |D_t\hat{u}(0,\xi)|)$$
 for all $t \ge t_{\xi}$.

The statements of Corollary 2.1.4 and assumption (A4) yield

$$a(t)|\xi||\hat{u}(t,\xi)| \le C\sqrt{a(t)}(|\hat{u}(0,\xi)| + |D_t\hat{u}(0,\xi)|) \text{ for all } t \le t_{\xi}.$$

Summarizing both cases we have shown

$$a(t)|\xi||\hat{u}(t,\xi)| \le C\sqrt{a(t)} \left(|\hat{u}(0,\xi)| + |D_t\hat{u}(0,\xi)| \right) \text{ for all } (t,\xi) \in \{t \ge 0\} \times \mathbb{R}^n_{\xi}.$$

In the same way we prove

$$|D_t \hat{u}(t,\xi)| \le C\sqrt{a(t)} \left(|\hat{u}(0,\xi)| + |D_t \hat{u}(0,\xi)| \right) \text{ for all } (t,\xi) \in \{t \ge 0\} \times \mathbb{R}^n_{\xi}$$

This completes the proof to Theorem 2.1.1.

Some examples

Typical examples for possible increasing speeds a = a(t) are

$$a(t) = (1+t)^l, \ a(t) = e^t, \ a(t) = (e^{[n]})^t := e^{e^{-e^t}}.$$

Example 2.1.1. If we choose $a(t) = (1+t)^l$, then all assumptions (A1) to (A4) are satisfied. The solutions to the Cauchy problem for $u_{tt} - (1+t)^{2l}\Delta u = 0$ satisfy the following energy estimates: For the kinetic energy we have

$$\|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \le C(1+t)^{\frac{1}{2}} (\|u_1\|_{H^1} + \|u_2\|_{L^2}).$$

For the "elastic" energy we have

$$\|(1+t)^{l}\nabla u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} \leq C(1+t)^{\frac{1}{2}}(\|u_{1}\|_{H^{1}} + \|u_{2}\|_{L^{2}}).$$

Example 2.1.2. If we choose for example $a(t) = e^t$, then all assumptions (A1) to (A4) are satisfied. The solutions to the Cauchy problem for $u_{tt} - e^{2t}\Delta u = 0$ satisfy the following energy estimates: For the kinetic energy we have

$$\|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \le Ce^{\frac{1}{2}t}(\|u_1\|_{H^1} + \|u_2\|_{L^2}).$$

For the "elastic" energy we have

$$\|e^t \nabla u(t, \cdot)\|_{L^2} \le C e^{\frac{1}{2}t} (\|u_1\|_{H^1} + \|u_2\|_{L^2}).$$

Example 2.1.3. If we choose for example $a(t) = (e^{[n]})^t$, then all assumptions (A1) to (A4) are satisfied. The solutions to the Cauchy problem for $u_{tt} - (e^{[n]})^{2t}\Delta u = 0$ satisfy the following energy estimates:

For the kinetic energy we have

$$||u_t(t,\cdot)||_{L^2} \le C(e^{[n]})^{\frac{1}{2}} (||u_1||_{H^1} + ||u_2||_{L^2}).$$

For the "elastic" energy we have

$$||(e^{[n]})^t \nabla u(t, \cdot)||_{L^2} \le C(e^{[n]})^{\frac{t}{2}} (||u_1||_{H^1} + ||u_2||_{L^2}).$$

2.2. Critical cases of damped wave models

2.2.1. Some model cases

Increasing speed of potential order

Let us study

$$u_{tt} - (1+t)^{2l} \Delta u + \frac{a(l+1)}{(1+t)} u_t = 0, \ u(0,x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0,x) = u_2(x).$$
(2.2.1)

We introduce the energy of the solution in L^2 :

$$E(u)(t) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(|u_t(t,x)|^2 + |(1+t)^l \nabla u(t,x)|^2 \right) dx.$$

We will look for the behavior of the solution $u(t, \cdot)$ and the energy E(u)(t) as t tends to infinity. First we reduce (2.2.1) by special functions to the Bessel equation. Applying the partial Fourier transformation with respect to x to (2.2.1) we obtain

$$\hat{u}_{tt} + (1+t)^{2l} |\xi|^2 \hat{u} + \frac{a(l+1)}{1+t} \hat{u}_t = 0, \ \hat{u}(0,\xi) = \hat{u}_1(\xi), \ \hat{u}_t(0,\xi) = \hat{u}_2(\xi).$$
(2.2.2)

Setting $\tau = \frac{(1+t)^{l+1}}{1+l} |\xi| = K(t,\xi)$, and $\mu := a + \frac{l}{l+1} > 0$ then we conclude for $\hat{u} = \hat{u}(\tau)$ $\hat{u}_{\tau\tau} + \frac{\mu}{\tau} \hat{u}_{\tau} + \hat{u} = 0.$

We will look for a solution in the form $\hat{u}(\tau) = \tau^{\rho}\omega(\tau)$. Choosing $\rho = \frac{1-\mu}{2}$, $\rho < \frac{1}{2}$, we come to the Bessel differential equation

$$\tau^2 w_{\tau\tau} + \tau w_{\tau} + (\tau^2 - \rho^2) w = 0.$$

This equation has two fundamental solutions

$$w_{\pm}(\tau) = \tau^{\rho} H_{\rho}^{\pm}(\tau).$$

So the general solution of (2.2.1) is

$$\hat{u}(t,\xi) = C_1(\xi)w_+(t,\xi) + C_2(\xi)w_-(t,\xi).$$

Here H_{ρ}^{+} and H_{ρ}^{-} denote the Hankel functions. The solution to (2.2.1) can be represented by

$$\hat{u}(t,\xi) = V_1(t,\xi)\hat{u}_1(\xi) + V_2(t,\xi)\hat{u}_2(\xi).$$

Introducing

$$\Psi_{k,\rho,\delta}(t,\xi) = |\xi|^k \left| \begin{array}{c} H_{\rho}^{-} \left(\frac{|\xi|}{l+1}\right) & H_{\rho+\delta}^{-} \left(\frac{(1+t)^{l+1}|\xi|}{l+1}\right) \\ H_{\rho}^{+} \left(\frac{|\xi|}{l+1}\right) & H_{\rho+\delta}^{+} \left(\frac{(1+t)^{l+1}|\xi|}{l+1}\right) \end{array} \right|$$

we have

$$V_{1}(t,\xi) = \frac{i\pi}{4(l+1)} (1+t)^{\rho(l+1)} \Psi_{1,\rho-1,1}(t,\xi),$$

$$V_{2}(t,\xi) = -\frac{i\pi}{4(l+1)} (1+t)^{\rho(l+1)} \Psi_{0,\rho,0}(t,\xi),$$

$$V_{1,t}(t,\xi) = \frac{i\pi}{4(l+1)} (1+t)^{l+\rho(l+1)} \Psi_{2,\rho-1,0}(t,\xi),$$

$$V_{2,t}(t,\xi) = -\frac{i\pi}{4(l+1)} (1+t)^{l+\rho(l+1)} \Psi_{1,\rho,-1}(t,\xi).$$

We will use the following properties of the Hankel functions to estimate $V_j(t,\xi)$ and $V_{j,t}(t,\xi)$:

- For $\tau \ge N$ (N is a large constant): $|H_{\rho}^{\pm}(\tau)| \le C|\tau|^{-\frac{1}{2}}$.
- For $0 < \tau \le c < 1$: $|H_{\rho}^{\pm}(\tau)| \le \begin{cases} \tau^{-|\rho|} & \text{when } \rho \ne 0, \\ -\log \tau & \text{when } \rho = 0. \end{cases}$
- For an integral value n the Weber function $Y_n(\tau)$ satisfies

$$Y_n(\tau) = \frac{2}{\pi} J_n(\tau) \log \tau + A_n(\tau),$$

where $\tau^n A_n(\tau)$ is entire and $A_n(0) \neq 0$. We also have $J_{-n}(\tau) = (-1)^n J_n(\tau)$.

• The function $\Lambda_{\nu}(\tau) = \tau^{-\nu} J_{\nu}(\tau)$ is entire in ν and τ , furthermore $\Lambda_{\nu}(0) \neq 0$.

We divide the extended phase space into three zones:

• $Z_1 = \{ |\xi| : |\xi| \ge N \}$:

$$|\Psi_{k,\rho,\delta}(t,\xi)| \le C|\xi|^{k-1}(1+t)^{-\frac{1}{2}(l+1)}$$

•
$$Z_2 = \{ |\xi| : |\xi| \le N \le K(t,\xi) \}$$
:

$$|\Psi_{k,\rho,\delta}(t,\xi)| \leq \begin{cases} (1+t)^{-\frac{1}{2}(l+1)} & \text{if } k - |\rho| > \frac{1}{2}, \\ (1+t)^{(|\rho|-k)(l+1)} & \text{if } k - |\rho| \le \frac{1}{2}, \ \rho \neq 0, \\ (1+t)^{-k(l+1)} \log(e+t) & \text{if } k \le \frac{1}{2}, \ \rho = 0, \end{cases}$$

• $Z_3 = \{ |\xi| : K(t,\xi) \le N \}$:

In the above relations for $V_1(t,\xi)$, $V_2(t,\xi)$, $V_{1,t}(t,\xi)$, $V_{2,t}(t,\xi)$ we have δ as an integer 0, ± 1 , so ρ and $\rho + \delta$ have the same integral property.

Let us assume that ρ and $\rho + \delta$ are no integers.

To evaluate the Hankel functions we write $H^{\pm}_{\rho}(\tau) = J_{\rho}(\tau) \pm iY_{\rho}(\tau)$. Then $\Psi_{k,\rho,\delta}(t,\xi) = 2i|\xi|^k \begin{vmatrix} J_{\rho}(K(0,\xi)) & J_{\rho+\delta}(K(t,\xi)) \\ Y_{\rho}(K(0,\xi)) & Y_{\rho+\delta}(K(t,\xi)) \end{vmatrix}$. For non-integer ρ the Weber function is determined by the Bessel functions of the first kind

$$Y_{\rho}(\tau) = \frac{J_{\rho}(\tau)\cos(\rho\pi) - J_{-\rho}(\tau)}{\sin(\rho\pi)}.$$

So the determinant can be substituted by

$$C(J_{\rho}(K(0,\xi))J_{-(\rho+\delta)}(K(t,\xi)) - J_{-\rho}(K(0,\xi))J_{\rho+\delta}(K(t,\xi)).$$

Noting that $J_{\rho}(\tau) \leq C \tau^{\rho}$ we arrive at

$$|\Psi_{k,\rho,\delta}(t,\xi)| \le C((1+t)^{l+1}|\xi|)^{k-\delta}(1+t)^{(l+1)(-k-\rho)} + C((1+t)^{l+1}|\xi|)^{k+\delta}(1+t)^{(l+1)(-k+\rho)}.$$

In our case it holds $k \ge |\delta|, \delta \in \{0, \pm 1\}$. Then we have in \mathbb{Z}_3 the estimate

$$|\Psi_{k,\rho,\delta}(t,\xi)| \le C(1+t)^{(|\rho|-k)(l+1)}.$$

Let us assume that ρ is an integer.

We use the third property to get

$$\Psi_{k,\rho,\delta}(t,\xi) = -\frac{4i}{\pi} |\xi|^k \log((1+t)^{l+1}) J_{\rho}(K(0,\xi)) J_{\rho+\delta}(K(t,\xi)) + 2i |\xi|^k \left| \begin{array}{c} J_{\rho}(K(0,\xi)) & J_{\rho+\delta}(K(t,\xi)) \\ A_{\rho}(K(0,\xi)) & A_{\rho+\delta}(K(t,\xi)) \end{array} \right|.$$

For the first part we will sometimes use $J_{-\rho}$ instead of J_{ρ} and $J_{-(\rho+\delta)}$ instead of $J_{\rho+\delta}$. Using the fourth property we have that this term can be estimated by

$$C(1+t)^{(l+1)(-|\rho|-k)}\log(e+t).$$

The determinant in the second term can be estimated by

$$\leq |(J_{\rho}(K(0,\xi))|\xi|^{-\rho})(A_{\rho+\delta}(K(t,\xi))K(t,\xi)^{(\rho+\delta)})(1+t)^{-(\delta+\rho)(l+1)}|\xi|^{-\delta}| + |(A_{\rho}(K(0,\xi))|\xi|^{\rho})(J_{\rho+\delta}(K(t,\xi))K(t,\xi)^{-(\rho+\delta)})(1+t)^{(\delta+\rho)(l+1)}|\xi|^{\delta}| \leq C(1+t)^{(-\rho-\delta)(l+1)}|\xi|^{-\delta} + C(1+t)^{(\rho+\delta)(l+1)}|\xi|^{\delta}.$$

In our case it holds $k \geq |\delta|$. By the definition of the zone we can estimate $|\xi|^{k\pm\delta} \leq C(1+t)^{-(k\pm\delta)(l+1)}$. Finally, the second term is estimated by $(1+t)^{(l+1)(|\rho|-k)}$. Hence, in Z_3 we have the estimate $|\Psi_{k,\rho,\delta}(t,\xi)| \leq \begin{cases} (1+t)^{(l+1)(|\rho|-k)} & \text{if } \rho \neq 0, \\ (1+t)^{-k(l+1)} \log(e+t) & \text{if } \rho = 0. \end{cases}$ Using the above estimates implies

$$\begin{split} |V_1(t,\xi)| &\lesssim \begin{cases} (1+t)^{(l+1)(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ 1 & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \end{cases} \\ |V_2(t,\xi)| &\lesssim \begin{cases} |\xi|^{-1}(1+t)^{(l+1)(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ 1 & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \ \rho < 0, \\ \log(e+t) & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \ \rho = 0, \\ (1+t)^{2\rho(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \ \frac{1}{2} > \rho > 0, \end{cases} \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} |V_{1,t}(t,\xi)| &\lesssim \begin{cases} |\xi|(1+t)^{l+(l+1)(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ (1+t)^{l+\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2};-1\}(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \end{cases} \\ |V_{2,t}(t,\xi)| &\lesssim \begin{cases} (1+t)^{l+(l+1)(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ (1+t)^{l+\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_2, \\ (1+t)^{l-(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_3, \rho < 0, \\ (1+t)^{l-(l+1)} \log(e+t) & \text{in } Z_3, \rho < 0, \\ (1+t)^{l+(2\rho-1)(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_3, 0 < \rho < \frac{1}{2}. \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Combining the last four cases gives

$$|V_{2,t}(t,\xi)| \lesssim \begin{cases} (1+t)^{l+(l+1)(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ (1+t)^{l+\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3. \end{cases}$$

Proposition 2.2.1. We have the following estimates for the solution to (2.2.1):

$$\|u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \le C \|u_1\|_{L^2} + C \|u_2\|_{H^{-1}} \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \rho < 0, \\ \log(e+t) & \text{if } \rho = 0, \\ (1+t)^{2\rho(l+1)} & \text{if } 0 < \rho < \frac{1}{2} \end{cases}$$

For the kinetic energy we have

$$\|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \le C(1+t)^{l+(l+1)\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}} \|u_1\|_{H^1} + C(1+t)^{l+(l+1)\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}} \|u_2\|_{L^2}$$

For the "elastic" energy we have

$$\|(1+t)^{l}\nabla u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} \leq C(1+t)^{l+(l+1)\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}}\|u_{1}\|_{H^{1}} + C(1+t)^{l+(l+1)\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}}\|u_{2}\|_{L^{2}}$$

Consequently, the energy

$$E(u)(t) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(|u_t(t,x)|^2 + \left((1+t)^l |\nabla u(t,x)| \right)^2 \right) dx$$

can be estimated in the form

$$\begin{split} E(u)(t) &\leq C(1+t)^{2l+(l+1)\max\{2\rho-1,-2\}} \|u_1\|_{H^1}^2 + C(1+t)^{2l+(l+1)\max\{2\rho-1,-2\}} \|u_2\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &= C(1+t)^{2l+(l+1)\max\{-a-\frac{l}{l+1},-2\}} \|u_1\|_{H^1}^2 + C(1+t)^{2l+(l+1)\max\{-a-\frac{l}{l+1},-2\}} \|u_2\|_{L^2}^2. \end{split}$$

Proof. Let us begin to prove the estimate for the solution u. We have

$$\|u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} = \|\widehat{u}(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} = \|V_1(t,\xi)\widehat{u}_1(\xi) + V_2(t,\xi)\widehat{u}_2(\xi)\|_{L^2}$$

Applying Hölder's inequality to the right-hand side gives

$$\|u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} \leq \|V_{1}(t,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\widehat{u}_{1}(\xi)\|_{L^{2}} + \|\langle\xi\rangle V_{2}(t,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\langle\xi\rangle^{-1}\widehat{u}_{2}(\xi)\|_{L^{2}}.$$

We have

$$||V_1(t,\xi)||_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \max\left\{(1+t)^{(l+1)(\rho-\frac{1}{2})}, 1\right\},\$$

and we can estimate $\|\langle \xi \rangle V_2(t,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}}$ by the following estimates:

$$\begin{split} |\langle \xi \rangle V_2(t,\xi)| &\lesssim \begin{cases} \langle \xi \rangle |\xi|^{-1} (1+t)^{(l+1)(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ \langle \xi \rangle & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \ \rho < 0, \\ \langle \xi \rangle \log(e+t) & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \ \rho = 0, \\ \langle \xi \rangle (1+t)^{2\rho(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \ \frac{1}{2} > \rho > 0, \end{cases} \\ &\lesssim \begin{cases} 1 & \text{in } Z_1, \\ C & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \ \rho < 0, \\ \log(e+t) & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \ \rho = 0, \\ (1+t)^{2\rho(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \ \frac{1}{2} > \rho > 0. \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Here we have used the properties $(1+t)^{(l+1)(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} \leq 1$ for $\rho \leq \frac{1}{2}$; $\langle \xi \rangle \leq N$ (N is a constant) in the zones $Z_2 \cup Z_3$. From the above estimates we can conclude that

$$\|u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \le C \|u_1\|_{L^2} + C \|u_2\|_{H^{-1}} \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } \rho < 0, \\ \log(e+t) & \text{if } \rho = 0, \\ (1+t)^{2\rho(l+1)} & \text{if } 0 < \rho < \frac{1}{2}. \end{cases}$$

Now let us prove the statement for $(1+t)^l \nabla u(t, \cdot)$. We have in the extended phase space

$$(1+t)^{l} |\xi| \hat{u}(t,\xi) = (1+t)^{l} |\xi| V_{1}(t,\xi) \hat{u}_{1}(\xi) + (1+t)^{l} |\xi| V_{2}(t,\xi) \hat{u}_{2}(\xi), \text{ where} \\ |\xi| V_{1}(t,\xi) = \frac{i\pi}{4(l+1)} (1+t)^{\rho(l+1)} \Psi_{2,\rho-1,1}(t,\xi), \ |\xi| V_{2}(t,\xi) = -\frac{i\pi}{4(l+1)} (1+t)^{\rho(l+1)} \Psi_{1,\rho,0}(t,\xi).$$

Using the above estimates in different zones we have

$$|\Psi_{2,\rho-1,1}(t,\xi)| \lesssim \begin{cases} |\xi|(1+t)^{-\frac{1}{2}(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ (1+t)^{-\frac{1}{2}(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_2 \text{ if } 2-|\rho-1| > \frac{1}{2}, \\ (1+t)^{(|\rho-1|-2)(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_2 \text{ if } 2-|\rho-1| \le \frac{1}{2}, \\ (1+t)^{(|\rho-1|-2)(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_3, \end{cases}$$

 and

$$\begin{split} |\Psi_{1,\rho,0}(t,\xi)| \lesssim \begin{cases} (1+t)^{-\frac{1}{2}(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ (1+t)^{-\frac{1}{2}(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_2 \text{ if } 1-|\rho| > \frac{1}{2}, \\ (1+t)^{(|\rho|-1)(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_2 \text{ if } 1-|\rho| \le \frac{1}{2}, \\ (1+t)^{(|\rho|-1)(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_3 \text{ if } \rho \neq 0, \\ (1+t)^{-(l+1)}\log(e+t) & \text{in } Z_3 \text{ if } \rho = 0. \end{cases} \end{split}$$

Consequently,

$$(1+t)^{l}|\xi||V_{1}(t,\xi)| \lesssim \begin{cases} |\xi|(1+t)^{l+(\rho-\frac{1}{2})(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_{1}, \\ (1+t)^{l+(\rho-\frac{1}{2})(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_{2} \text{ if } \rho \in (-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}), \\ (1+t)^{l-(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_{2} \text{ if } \rho \in (-\infty,-\frac{1}{2}], \\ (1+t)^{l-(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_{3}, \end{cases}$$

and

$$(1+t)^{l}|\xi||V_{2}(t,\xi)| \lesssim \begin{cases} (1+t)^{l+(\rho-\frac{1}{2})(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_{1}, \\ (1+t)^{l+(\rho-\frac{1}{2})(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_{2} & \text{if } \rho \in (-\frac{1}{2},\frac{1}{2}), \\ (1+t)^{l-(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_{2} & \text{if } \rho \in (-\infty,-\frac{1}{2}], \\ (1+t)^{l+(2\rho-1)(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_{3} & \text{if } \rho > 0, \\ (1+t)^{l-(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_{3} & \text{if } \rho < 0, \\ (1+t)^{l-(l+1)} \log(e+t) & \text{in } Z_{3} & \text{if } \rho = 0. \end{cases}$$

Summarizing we conclude

$$(1+t)^{l} |\xi| |\hat{u}(t,\xi)| \le C(1+t)^{l+(l+1)\max\{\rho - \frac{1}{2}, -1\}} (\langle \xi \rangle |\hat{u}_{1}(\xi)| + |\hat{u}_{2}(\xi)|).$$

This yields the desired estimate for the elastic energy.

Finally, let us prove the statement for the kinetic energy. We have

$$\|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} = \|\widehat{u}_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} = \|V_{1,t}(t,\xi)\widehat{u}_1(\xi) + V_{2,t}(t,\xi)\widehat{u}_2(\xi)\|_{L^2}.$$

Using the estimates

$$\begin{aligned} |V_{1,t}(t,\xi)| &\lesssim \begin{cases} |\xi|(1+t)^{l+(l+1)(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ (1+t)^{l+\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2};-1\}(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \end{cases} \\ &\lesssim \begin{cases} \langle \xi \rangle (1+t)^{l+(l+1)(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ (1+t)^{l+\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2};-1\}(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

and

$$|V_{2,t}(t,\xi)| \lesssim \begin{cases} (1+t)^{l+(l+1)(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ (1+t)^{l+\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}(l+1)} & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \end{cases}$$

then

$$\|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \lesssim C(1+t)^{l+(l+1)\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}} (\|\langle\xi\rangle \hat{u}_1(\xi)\|_{L^2} + \|\hat{u}_2(\xi)\|_{L^2}).$$

This completes the proof.

Remark 2.2.1. The estimate of the solution is determined by the small frequencies from $Z_2 \cup Z_3$. The decay rate with respect to the norm of u_1 comes from the large frequencies from Z_1 , and the decay rate with respect to the norm of u_2 comes from the small frequencies in $Z_2 \cup Z_3$.

Remark 2.2.2. The statement of Proposition 2.2.1 gives a decay estimate for $\|\nabla u(t, \cdot)\|_{L^2}$ even for $a > -\frac{l}{l+1}$.

Let us compare the result with the result from [W04]. We start again with the Cauchy problem

$$u_{tt} - (1+t)^{2l}\Delta u + \frac{a(l+1)}{(1+t)}u_t = 0, \ u(0,x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0,x) = u_2(x).$$

Setting $\tau = \frac{(1+t)^{l+1}}{l+1}$ we get

$$u_{\tau\tau} - \Delta u + \frac{l + a(l+1)}{(1+t)^{l+1}}u_{\tau} = 0, \quad u_{\tau\tau} - \Delta u + \frac{a + \frac{l}{l+1}}{\tau}u_{\tau} = 0, \text{ respectively.}$$

Substituting $\tau =: \tilde{\tau} + 1$, then (2.2.1) becomes

$$u_{\tilde{\tau}\tilde{\tau}} - \Delta u + \frac{\mu}{1+\tilde{\tau}}u_{\tilde{\tau}} = 0.$$

This is exactly the case $\mu = a + \frac{l}{l+1}$ from [W04]. From [W04] we conclude

$$\|u(\tilde{\tau},\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} \leq C \|u_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + C \|u_{2}\|_{H^{-1}} \begin{cases} (1+\tilde{\tau})^{2\rho} & \text{if } 0 < \rho < \frac{1}{2}, \\ \log(e+\tilde{\tau}) & \text{if } \rho = 0, \\ 1 & \text{if } \rho < 0, \end{cases}$$
$$\|u_{\tilde{\tau}}(\tilde{\tau},\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} \leq C(1+\tilde{\tau})^{\rho-\frac{1}{2}} \|u_{1}\|_{H^{1}} + C(1+\tilde{\tau})^{\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}} \|u_{2}\|_{L^{2}}$$

Transforming back gives

$$\begin{aligned} \|u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} &\leq C \|u_{1}\|_{L^{2}} + C \|u_{2}\|_{H^{-1}} \begin{cases} (1+t)^{(l+1)(2\rho)} & \text{if } 0 < \rho < \frac{1}{2}; \\ \log\left(e + \frac{(1+t)^{l+1}}{l+1}\right) \sim \log(e+t) & \text{if } \rho = 0; \\ 1 & \text{if } \rho < 0; \end{cases} \\ \|(1+t)^{-l}u_{t}(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} &\leq C(1+t)^{(l+1)\max\{\rho - \frac{1}{2}, -1\}} \|u_{1}\|_{H^{1}} + C(1+t)^{(l+1)\max\{\rho - \frac{1}{2}, -1\}} \|u_{2}\|_{L^{2}} \\ \|u_{t}(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} &\leq C(1+t)^{l+(l+1)\max\{\rho - \frac{1}{2}, -1\}} \|u_{1}\|_{H^{1}} + C(1+t)^{l+(l+1)\max\{\rho - \frac{1}{2}, -1\}} \|u_{2}\|_{L^{2}}, \end{aligned}$$

respectively. These are the same estimates as in Proposition 2.2.1.

Increasing speed of exponential order

Using the transformations from the previous section we are interested in another model case

$$u_{tt} - \exp(2t)\Delta u + au_t = 0, \ u(0,x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0,x) = u_2(x), \ a > 0.$$
(2.2.3)

Applying the Fourier transform to (2.2.3) with respect to x and using the change of variables $\tau = e^t |\xi|$ we get

$$\hat{u}_{\tau\tau} + \frac{a+1}{\tau}\hat{u}_{\tau} + \hat{u} = 0.$$

Similarly to the first case we introduce

$$\Psi_{k,\rho,\delta}(t,\xi) = |\xi|^k \left| \begin{array}{cc} H^-_{\rho}(|\xi|) & H^-_{\rho+\delta}(e^t|\xi|) \\ H^+_{\rho}(|\xi|) & H^+_{\rho+\delta}(e^t|\xi|) \end{array} \right|,$$

then

$$V_{1}(t,\xi) = \frac{i\pi}{4}e^{t\rho}\Psi_{1,\rho-1,1}(t,\xi), \quad V_{2}(t,\xi) = -\frac{i\pi}{4}e^{t\rho}\Psi_{0,\rho,0}(t,\xi),$$
$$V_{1,t}(t,\xi) = \frac{i\pi}{4}e^{t(\rho+1)}\Psi_{2,\rho-1,0}(t,\xi), \quad V_{2,t}(t,\xi) = -\frac{i\pi}{4}e^{t(\rho+1)}\Psi_{1,\rho,-1}(t,\xi),$$

where $\rho := \frac{1 - (a + 1)}{2} = -\frac{a}{2} < 0$. We divide the phase space into three zones and conclude there the following estimates:

• in
$$Z_1 = \{\xi : |\xi| \ge K\}$$
:

$$|\Psi_{k,\rho,\delta}(t,\xi)| \le C|\xi|^{k-1}e^{-\frac{t}{2}},$$

• in $Z_2 = \{\xi : |\xi| \le K \le e^t |\xi|\}$:

$$|\Psi_{k,\rho,\delta}(t,\xi)| \le C \begin{cases} e^{-\frac{t}{2}} & \text{if } k+\rho > \frac{1}{2}, \\ e^{-t(k+\rho)} & \text{if } k+\rho \le \frac{1}{2}, \rho \ne 0, \\ e^{-tk}\log(e+t) & \text{if } k \le \frac{1}{2}, \rho = 0, \end{cases}$$

• in $Z_3 = \{\xi : e^t | \xi | \le K\}$:

$$|\Psi_{k,\rho,\delta}(t,\xi)| \le C \begin{cases} e^{-t(k+\rho)} & \text{if } \rho \neq 0, \\ e^{-tk}\log(e+t) & \text{if } \rho = 0. \end{cases}$$

These estimates lead to the following estimates for $V_j(t,\xi)$ and $V_{j,t}(t,\xi)$ for j = 1, 2:

$$\begin{aligned} |V_1(t,\xi)| &\lesssim \begin{cases} e^{t(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ 1 & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \end{cases} \\ |V_2(t,\xi)| &\lesssim \begin{cases} |\xi|^{-1}e^{t(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ 1 & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \end{cases} \\ |V_{1,t}(t,\xi)| &\lesssim \begin{cases} |\xi|e^{t+t(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ e^{t+t\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}} & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \end{cases} \\ |V_{2,t}(t,\xi)| &\lesssim \begin{cases} e^{t+t(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ e^{t+t\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ e^{t+t\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}} & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3. \end{cases} \end{aligned}$$

All estimates together allow to prove the following result:

Proposition 2.2.2. We have the following estimates for the solution to (2.2.3):

$$||u(t,\cdot)||_{L^2} \le C ||u_1||_{L^2} + C ||u_2||_{H^{-1}}.$$

For the kinetic energy we have

$$\|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \le Ce^{t+t\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}} \|u_1\|_{H^1} + Ce^{t+t\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}} \|u_2\|_{L^2}.$$

For the "elastic" energy we have

$$\|e^{t}\nabla u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} \leq Ce^{t+t\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}}\|u_{1}\|_{H^{1}} + Ce^{t+t\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}}\|u_{2}\|_{L^{2}}.$$

Consequently, the energy

$$E(u)(t) = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left(|u_t(t,x)|^2 + (e^t |\nabla u(t,x)|)^2 \right) dx$$

can be estimated in the form

$$\begin{split} E(u)(t) &\leq C e^{2t+t \max\{2\rho-1,-2\}} \|u_1\|_{H^1}^2 + C e^{2t+t \max\{2\rho-1,-2\}} \|u_2\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &= C e^{2t+t \max\{-a-1,-2\}} \|u_1\|_{H^1}^2 + C e^{2t+t \max\{-a-1,-2\}} \|u_2\|_{L^2}^2. \end{split}$$

Proof. Let us begin to prove the estimate for the solution u. Applying Hölder's inequality to the right-hand side gives

$$\|u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} \leq \|V_{1}(t,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\widehat{u}_{1}(\xi)\|_{L^{2}} + \|\langle\xi\rangle V_{2}(t,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}} \|\langle\xi\rangle^{-1} \widehat{u}_{2}(\xi)\|_{L^{2}}.$$
We have

$$||V_1(t,\xi)||_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \max\left\{e^{t(\rho-\frac{1}{2})}, 1\right\} \lesssim 1,$$

and we can estimate $\|\langle \xi \rangle V_2(t,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}}$ by using the above estimates

$$|\langle \xi \rangle V_2(t,\xi)| \lesssim 1.$$

Here we have used the properties $e^{t(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} \leq 1$ for $\rho \leq 0$; $\langle \xi \rangle \leq N$ (N is a constant) in the zones $Z_2 \cup Z_3$. From the above estimates we can conclude

$$||u(t,\cdot)||_{L^2} \lesssim C ||u_1||_{L^2} + C ||u_2||_{H^{-1}}.$$

Now let us prove the statement for $e^t \nabla u(t, \cdot)$. In the extended phase space we have

$$e^{t}|\xi|\hat{u}(t,\xi) = e^{t}|\xi|V_{1}(t,\xi)\hat{u}_{1}(\xi) + e^{t}|\xi|V_{2}(t,\xi)\hat{u}_{2}(\xi), \text{ where}$$
$$|\xi|V_{1}(t,\xi) = \frac{i\pi}{4}e^{t}\rho\Psi_{2,\rho-1,1}(t,\xi), \ |\xi|V_{2}(t,\xi) = -\frac{i\pi}{4}e^{t}\rho\Psi_{1,\rho,0}(t,\xi).$$

Using the above estimates in different zones we have

$$|\Psi_{2,\rho-1,1}(t,\xi)| \lesssim \begin{cases} |\xi|e^{-\frac{t}{2}} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ e^{-\frac{t}{2}} & \text{in } Z_2 \text{ if } 1+\rho > \frac{1}{2}, \\ e^{-t(1+\rho)} & \text{in } Z_2 \text{ if } 1+\rho \le \frac{1}{2}, \\ e^{-t(1+\rho)} & \text{in } Z_3, \end{cases}$$

 $\quad \text{and} \quad$

$$|\Psi_{1,\rho,0}(t,\xi)| \lesssim \begin{cases} e^{-\frac{t}{2}} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ e^{-\frac{t}{2}} & \text{in } Z_2 & \text{if } 1+\rho > \frac{1}{2}, \\ e^{-t(1+\rho)} & \text{in } Z_2 & \text{if } 1+\rho \le \frac{1}{2}, \\ e^{-t(1+\rho)} & \text{in } Z_3. \end{cases}$$

Consequently,

$$e^{t}|\xi||V_{1}(t,\xi)| \lesssim \begin{cases} |\xi|e^{t+t(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_{1}, \\ e^{t+t(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_{2} \text{ if } -\frac{1}{2} < \rho < 0, \\ e^{t+(-t)} & \text{in } Z_{2} \text{ if } \rho \leq -\frac{1}{2}, \\ e^{t+(-t)} & \text{in } Z_{3}, \end{cases}$$

 and

$$e^{t}|\xi||V_{2}(t,\xi)| \lesssim \begin{cases} e^{t+t(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_{1}, \\ e^{t+t(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_{2} & \text{if } -\frac{1}{2} < \rho < 0, \\ e^{t+(-t)} & \text{in } Z_{2} & \text{if } \rho \leq -\frac{1}{2}, \\ e^{t+(-t)} & \text{in } Z_{3}. \end{cases}$$

Summarizing we conclude

$$\|e^t|\xi|\hat{u}(t,\xi)\|_{L^2} \le Ce^{t+t\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}} \left(\|\langle\xi\rangle\hat{u}_1(\xi)\|_{L^2} + \|\hat{u}_2(\xi)\|_{L^2}\right)$$

This yields the desired estimate for the elastic energy. Finally, let us prove the statement for the kinetic energy. We have

$$\begin{aligned} \|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} &= \|\widehat{u}_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} = \|V_{1,t}(t,\xi)\widehat{u}_1(\xi) + V_{2,t}(t,\xi)\widehat{u}_2(\xi)\|_{L^2} \\ &\lesssim \|\langle\xi\rangle^{-1}V_{1,t}(t,\xi)\|_{L^\infty}\|\langle\xi\rangle\widehat{u}_1(\xi)\|_{L^2} + \|V_{2,t}(t,\xi)\|_{L^\infty}\|\widehat{u}_2(\xi)\|_{L^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Using the estimates

$$|V_{1,t}(t,\xi)| \lesssim \begin{cases} |\xi|e^{t+t(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ e^{t+\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2};-1\}} & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \end{cases}$$
$$\lesssim \begin{cases} \langle\xi\rangle e^{t+t(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ e^{t+\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2};-1\}} & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \end{cases}$$

 and

$$|V_{2,t}(t,\xi)| \lesssim \begin{cases} e^{t+t(\rho-\frac{1}{2})} & \text{in } Z_1, \\ e^{t+\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2};-1\}} & \text{in } Z_2 \cup Z_3, \end{cases}$$

then

$$\|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \lesssim C e^{t+t \max\{\rho - \frac{1}{2}, -1\}} (\|\langle \xi \rangle \hat{u}_1(\xi)\|_{L^2} + \|\hat{u}_2(\xi)\|_{L^2}).$$

This yields the desired estimate for the kinetic energy.

Remark 2.2.3. The statement of Proposition 2.2.2 gives a decay estimate for $\|\nabla u(t, \cdot)\|_{L^2}$ even for a > -1.

3. Wave models with time dependent propagation speed and dissipation

3.1. Scattering theory

In this section we concern with conditions for b = b(t) that the solutions u = u(t, x) of

$$u_{tt} - a^{2}(t)\Delta u + b(t)u_{t} = 0, \ u(0,x) = u_{1}(x), \ u_{t}(0,x) = u_{2}(x)$$
(3.1.1)

behave asymptotically equal to the solution of the corresponding wave equation with strictly increasing speed of propagation

$$v_{tt} - a^2(t)\Delta v = 0, \ v(0,x) = v_1(x), \ v_t(0,x) = v_2(x)$$
(3.1.2)

with some suitable Cauchy data (v_1, v_2) . We will use the operator relating (u_1, u_2) to (v_1, v_2) and which is denoted as Møller wave operator which was mentioned in particular in the Lax-Phillips approach [L-P73] or in the lectures of R.B.Melrose [Mel95]. That means we will construct an operator $W_+ u = \lim_{t\to\infty} S_1^{-1}(t)S(t)u$ from the energy space $\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n) \times L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for the solution of (3.1.1) to the energy space $H^1(\mathbb{R}^n) \times L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ for the solution of (3.1.2). The operators are introduced in the proof of our scattering result.

3.1.1. Result in the L^2 -scale

Here we introduce the energy space $E(\mathbb{R}^n) = \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n) \times L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and we assume $(u_1, u_2) \in E(\mathbb{R}^n)$, this means, $(|D|u_1, u_2) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$.

Theorem 3.1.1. We assume that the coefficient b = b(t) satisfies $b \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$. Then there exists the Møller wave operator $W_+ : E \to E$ mapping the Cauchy data $(a(0)u_1, u_2) \in E$ from (3.1.1) to Cauchy data $(a(0)v_1, v_2)$ from (3.1.2) by

$$(a(0)v_1, v_2)^T = W_+(a(0)u_1, u_2)^T$$

such that the asymptotic equivalence of solutions of the problems (3.1.1) and (3.1.2) holds in the following way:

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{a(t)}} \left\| (a(t)u, D_t u) - (a(t)v, D_t v) \right\|_E \to 0$$
(3.1.3)

while $t \to \infty$. Moreover, we have the decay estimate

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{a(t)}} \left\| (a(t)u, D_t u) - (a(t)v, D_t v) \right\|_E \lesssim \| (u_1, u_2) \|_E \int_t^\infty b(\tau) d\tau$$
(3.1.4)

with the convergence rate $\int_t^\infty b(\tau) d\tau$ to 0 as $t \to \infty$.

Proof. Let $U = (a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}, D_t\hat{u})^T$. Then U satisfies

$$D_t U = A(t,\xi)U := \begin{pmatrix} \frac{D_t a}{a} & a(t)|\xi| \\ a(t)|\xi| & ib(t) \end{pmatrix} U.$$
(3.1.5)

We carry out one step of diagonalization of the principal part by the matrix of eigenvectors M and its inverse M^{-1} ,

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad M^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ and we set } U^{(0)} = M^{-1}U.$$

We get $D_t U^{(0)} = \mathcal{D}(t,\xi)U^{(0)} + \mathcal{R}_a(t)U^{(0)} + \mathcal{R}_b(t)U^{(0)}$, where

$$\mathcal{D}(t,\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} a(t)|\xi| & 0\\ 0 & -a(t)|\xi| \end{pmatrix}, \ \mathcal{R}_a(t) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{D_t a}{a} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1\\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \ \mathcal{R}_b(t) = \frac{1}{2} i b(t) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1\\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let $E_a = E_a(t, s, \xi)$ be the fundamental solution of the operator $D_t - \mathcal{D}(t, \xi) - \mathcal{R}_a(t)$, that is, E_a satisfies the Cauchy problem $(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - \mathcal{R}_a(t))E_a = 0, E_a(s,s,\xi) = I$. According to the results from Section 2.1 we have proved that $||E_a(t,s,\xi)||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n_{\xi})} \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(s)}}$. Moreover, using Liouville's formula, see Lemma B.3.4 in section B.3 of Appendix, we obtain

$$\det E_a(t,s,\xi) = \exp\left(i\int_s^t \operatorname{tr}\left(\mathcal{D}(\tau,\xi) + \mathcal{R}_a(\tau)\right)d\tau\right) = \frac{a(t)}{a(s)}.$$

The matrix-valued function $ME_a(t, s, \xi)M^{-1}$ generates a Fourier multiplier corresponding to the operator

$$S_1(t, s, D) : (a(s)|D|v(s), D_t v(s))^T \mapsto (a(t)|D|v(t), D_t v(t))^T$$

for solutions v to the Cauchy problem (3.1.2).

Now we construct the fundamental solution to the operator $D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - \mathcal{R}_a(t) - \mathcal{R}_b(t)$. Therefore, let us introduce

$$\mathcal{P}(t,s,\xi) := E_a^{-1}(t,s,\xi)\mathcal{R}_b(t)E_a(t,s,\xi)$$

After application of Peano-Baker formula it follows that

$$Q_b(t,s,\xi) = I + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} i^k \int_s^t \mathcal{P}(t_1,s,\xi) \int_s^{t_1} \mathcal{P}(t_2,s,\xi) \cdots \int_s^{t_{k-1}} \mathcal{P}(t_k,s,\xi) dt_k \cdots dt_2 dt_1$$
(3.1.6)

is the solution to the Cauchy problem

$$D_t Q_b(t, s, \xi) - \mathcal{P}(t, s, \xi) Q_b(t, s, \xi) = 0, \ Q_b(s, s, \xi) = I.$$

Let $E_1(t, s, \xi) = E_a(t, s, \xi)Q_b(t, s, \xi)$. Then we derive

$$D_t(E_aQ_b) = (D_tE_a)Q_b + E_a(D_tQ_b) = (\mathcal{D}(t,\xi) + \mathcal{R}_a(t))E_aQ_b + E_a\mathcal{P}Q_b$$

= $(\mathcal{D}(t,\xi) + \mathcal{R}_a(t))E_aQ_b + \mathcal{R}_b(t)E_aQ_b = (\mathcal{D}(t,\xi) + \mathcal{R}_a(t) + \mathcal{R}_b(t))E_aQ_b$

and $E_a(s, s, \xi)Q_b(s, s, \xi) = I$. Thus, $E_1(t, s, \xi)$ is the desired fundamental solution. Taking account of $\|\mathcal{P}(t, s, \xi)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n_{\epsilon})} \leq \|\mathcal{R}_b(t)\| \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ implies the estimate

$$\|Q_b(t,s,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n_{\xi})} \leq \exp\left(\int_s^t \|\mathcal{P}(\tau,s,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n_{\xi})} d\tau\right) \leq C.$$

Consequently,

$$\|E_1(t,s,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n_{\xi})} \lesssim \|E_a(t,s,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n_{\xi})} \|Q_b(t,s,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n_{\xi})} \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(s)}}$$

Moreover, the matrix-valued function $ME_1(t, s, \xi)M^{-1}$ generates a Fourier multiplier to the operator

$$S(t,s,D): (a(s)|D|u(s), D_t u(s))^T \mapsto (a(t)|D|u(t), D_t u(t))^T$$

for the solutions u to the Cauchy problem (3.1.1). Now our aim is to prove that the limit

$$W_{+}(D) := \lim_{t \to \infty} S_{1}^{-1}(t, 0, D) S(t, 0, D)$$

exists in E. To describe the behavior of the operator $S_1^{-1}(t,0,D)S(t,0,D)$ it is sufficient to study in the phase space $ME_a^{-1}(t,0,\xi)E_1(t,0,\xi)M^{-1} = MQ_b(t,0,\xi)M^{-1}$. Thus the question for the existence of the Møller wave operator is connected with the study of the limit

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} Q_b(t, 0, \xi)$$

Furthermore, using formula (3.1.6) for large times s, t we consider the difference

$$Q_b(t,0,\xi) - Q_b(s,0,\xi) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} i^k \int_s^t \mathcal{P}(t_1,0,\xi) \int_0^{t_1} \mathcal{P}(t_2,0,\xi) \dots \int_0^{t_{k-1}} \mathcal{P}(t_k,0,\xi) dt_k \dots dt_2 dt_1.$$

We obtain from the above considerations the following estimate:

$$\begin{split} \|Q_{b}(t,0,\xi) - Q_{b}(s,0,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n}_{\xi})} &\leq \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{s}^{t} \|\mathcal{P}(t_{1},0,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n}_{\xi})} \frac{1}{(k-1)!} \\ & \times \Big(\int_{0}^{t_{1}} \|\mathcal{P}(\tau,0,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n}_{\xi})} d\tau\Big)^{k-1} dt_{1} \\ &\leq \int_{s}^{t} \|\mathcal{P}(t_{1},0,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n}_{\xi})} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} \Big(\int_{0}^{t_{1}} \|\mathcal{P}(\tau,0,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{n}_{\xi})} d\tau\Big)^{k} dt_{1} \\ &\leq \int_{s}^{t} \|\mathcal{R}_{b}(t_{1})\| e^{\int_{0}^{t_{1}} \|\mathcal{R}_{b}(\tau)\| d\tau} dt_{1}. \end{split}$$

According to the assumption $b \in L^1$ we have proved $\mathcal{R}_b \in L^1$. This leads to $||Q_b(t,0,\xi) - Q_b(s,0,\xi)||_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n_{\xi})} \to 0$ as $t, s \to \infty$. Therefore, $Q_b(\infty,0,\xi)$ exists in the Banach space $L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n_{\xi})$. We define

$$W_+(\xi) = \lim_{t \to \infty} MQ_b(t, 0, \xi) M^{-1} \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n_{\xi}).$$

The operator $W_{+}(D)$ has the desired property, that is, (3.1.3) holds by the following considerations:

$$(a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}, D_t\hat{u})^T - (a(t)|\xi|\hat{v}, D_t\hat{v})^T = ME_aQ_b(t, 0, \xi)M^{-1}(a(0)|\xi|\hat{u}_1, \hat{u}_2)^T -ME_aM^{-1}(a(0)|\xi|\hat{v}_1, \hat{v}_2)^T = ME_aM^{-1}\Big(MQ_b(t, 0, \xi)M^{-1} - W_+\Big)(a(0)|\xi|\hat{u}_1, \hat{u}_2)^T \to 0$$

as $t \to \infty$. Finally, the estimate (3.1.4) can be immediately concluded from the estimate

$$\|Q_b(t,0,\xi) - Q_b(\infty,0,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n_{\xi})} \lesssim \int_t^{\infty} \|\mathcal{R}_b(t_1)\| e^{\int_0^{t_1} \|\mathcal{R}_b(\tau)\| d\tau} dt_1 \lesssim \int_t^{\infty} b(\tau) d\tau,$$

where $Q_b(\infty, 0, \xi) = \lim_{t \to \infty} Q_b(t, 0, \xi)$. The proof is finished.

Example 3.1.1. If we choose the special case $b(t) = (1 + t)^{-\gamma}$ with $\gamma > 1$, then the assumptions of Theorem 3.1.1 are satisfied. Moreover, the convergence rate is $O(t^{1-\gamma})$.

Example 3.1.2. If we choose the coefficient

$$b(t) = \frac{e^t e^{e^t} \dots e^{[n-1]t} (e^{[n-1]t} - 1)}{e^{[n]t}},$$

here $e^{[n]t} = e^{e^{[n-1]t}}$, then in this case we have the convergence rate

$$\int_t^\infty b(\tau)d\tau = \frac{e^{[n-1]t}}{e^{[n]t}}.$$

Example 3.1.3. We can even consider the convergence rate for

$$b(t) = \frac{1}{(e^{[m]} + t)\log(e^{[m]} + t)\dots\log^{[m-1]}(e^{[m]} + t)\left(\log^{[m]}(e^{[m]} + t)\right)^{\gamma}}, \ \gamma > 1$$

here $e^{[0]} = 1, e^{[m]} = e^{e^{[m-1]}}, \log^{[0]}(\tau) = \tau$ and $\log^{[m]}(\tau) = \log(\log^{[m-1]}(\tau))$. The convergence rate is

$$\int_{t}^{\infty} b(\tau) d\tau = \frac{1}{\gamma - 1} \left(\log^{[m]}(e^{[m]} + t) \right)^{1 - \gamma}.$$

3.2. Non-effective dissipation

Let us devote to the Cauchy problem

$$u_{tt} - a^{2}(t)\Delta u + b(t)u_{t} = 0, \ u(0,x) = u_{1}(x), \ u_{t}(0,x) = u_{2}(x).$$
(3.2.1)

Our question is, under which assumptions to the coefficient b = b(t) for a given a = a(t) can we call b a non-effective dissipation? Here non-effective means, that on the one hand we have a dissipation (classical scattering is excluded), but on the other hand the model is hyperbolic like (from the point of view of decay estimates) and not parabolic like. Motivated by the considerations from J. Wirth [W07a] we assume:

(B1)
$$b(t) > 0, b(t) = \mu(t) \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}, b \notin L^1(\mathbb{R}_+),$$

(B2)
$$|\mu'(t)| \le C_{\mu}\mu(t)\frac{a(t)}{A(t)},$$

(B3)
$$\limsup_{t\to\infty} \mu(t) < 1.$$

Besides the assumption (B3) we introduce another assumption

(B3)'
$$\liminf_{t\to\infty} \mu(t) > 1.$$

We will later need this assumption to understand the influence of a different class of dissipations $b(t)u_t$. Finally, we will assume

(C)
$$\limsup_{t\to\infty} \left(\mu(t) + \alpha(t)\right) < 2,$$

where $\alpha(t)$ is defined by

$$\frac{a'(t)}{a(t)} =: \alpha(t) \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}.$$

Theorem 3.2.1. Let us consider the Cauchy problem (3.2.1) under the assumptions to the coefficient a = a(t) from Theorem 2.1.1. If the coefficient b(t) satisfies conditions (B1) to (B3) or (B3)' and a(t), b(t) also satisfy condition (C), then we have the following estimates for the kinetic and elastic energy:

$$\|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \le C \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} (\|u_1\|_{H^1} + \|u_2\|_{L^2}), \|a(t)\nabla u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \le C \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} (\|u_1\|_{H^1} + \|u_2\|_{L^2}).$$

Here $\lambda = \lambda(t)$ is defined by

$$\lambda(t) := \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\int_0^t b(\tau)d\tau\right). \tag{3.2.2}$$

Proof. Applying partial Fourier transformation we have $\hat{u}_{tt} + a^2(t)|\xi|^2\hat{u} + b(t)\hat{u}_t = 0$. We will later derive estimates for the fundamental solution $E(t, s, \xi)$ of an equivalent system of first order by different approaches in different zones of the extended phase space $(0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n$: in the dissipative zone and the hyperbolic zone. These zones are defined by

•
$$Z_{hyp}(N) := \{(t,\xi) : t \ge t_{\xi}\},\$$

•
$$Z_{diss}(N) := \{(t,\xi) : 0 \le t \le t_{\xi}\},\$$

where t_{ξ} satisfies $A(t_{\xi})|\xi| = N$.



Fig. 3.1.: Description for the definition of zones in the non-effective dissipation

3.2.1. Considerations in the dissipative zone

Let us define the micro-energy $U = (N\delta(t)\hat{u}, D_t\hat{u})^T$, where we denote $\delta(t) = \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}$. Then the transformed equation can be written in the form of a system of first order (in D_t)

$$D_t U = A(t,\xi)U, \ A(t,\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} -i\frac{d_t\delta(t)}{\delta(t)} & N\delta(t) \\ \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{N\delta(t)} & ib(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Thus the solution $U = U(t,\xi)$ can be represented as $U(t,\xi) = E(t,s,\xi)U(s,\xi)$, where $E(t,s,\xi)$ is the fundamental solution, that is, the solution to the system

$$D_t E(t,s,\xi) = A(t,\xi) E(t,s,\xi), \ E(s,s,\xi) = I, \ 0 \le s \le t \le t_\xi$$

In the further calculations we use the following statement:

Lemma 3.2.2. 1. The assumption (B3) implies with the auxiliary function $\lambda(t)$ the estimate

$$\int_0^t \frac{a(\tau)}{\lambda^2(\tau)} d\tau \lesssim \frac{A(t)}{\lambda^2(t)}$$

Moreover, the function $\frac{A(t)}{\lambda^2(t)}$ is monotonously increasing if t tends to infinity.

2. The assumption (B3)' implies $\frac{a(t)}{\lambda^2(t)} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ with

$$\int_t^\infty \frac{a(\tau)}{\lambda^2(\tau)} d\tau \lesssim \frac{A(t)}{\lambda^2(t)}.$$

Furthermore, $\frac{A(t)}{\lambda^2(t)}$ is monotonously decreasing for large t.

Proof. to 1. Integration by parts yields

$$\int_0^t \frac{a(\tau)}{\lambda^2(\tau)} d\tau = \frac{A(t)}{\lambda^2(t)} - 1 + \int_0^t \frac{A(\tau)\mu(\tau)\frac{a(\tau)}{A(\tau)}}{\lambda^2(\tau)} d\tau.$$

We conclude for $t \ge t_0$ from the condition $\limsup_{t\to\infty} \mu(t) \le c < 1$ that

$$\int_0^t \frac{a(\tau)\mu(\tau)}{\lambda^2(\tau)} d\tau \le \int_0^{t_0} \frac{a(\tau)\mu(\tau)}{\lambda^2(\tau)} d\tau + c \int_{t_0}^t \frac{a(\tau)d\tau}{\lambda^2(\tau)} \le C + c \int_0^t \frac{a(\tau)}{\lambda^2(\tau)} d\tau.$$

The statement follows from

$$\int_0^t \frac{a(\tau)d\tau}{\lambda^2(\tau)} \le \frac{1}{1-c} \Big(C + \frac{A(t)}{\lambda^2(t)} \Big) \lesssim \frac{A(t)}{\lambda^2(t)}$$

The monotonic behavior is a consequence of

$$\frac{d}{dt}\frac{A(t)}{\lambda^{2}(t)} = \frac{a(t)(1-\mu(t))}{\lambda^{2}(t)}$$
(3.2.3)

1

and $\mu(t) < 1$ for large t.

to 2. From $\liminf_{t\to\infty} \mu(t) > 1$ it follows $\liminf_{t\to\infty} \mu(t) \ge 1 + \varepsilon$. So we can conclude

$$\lambda^2(t) = \exp\left(\int_0^t b(\tau)d\tau\right) \gtrsim A(t)^{1+\varepsilon}$$

which implies the integrability of $\frac{a(t)}{\lambda^2(t)}$. Furthermore, for large t we have

$$\varepsilon \int_t^\infty \frac{a(\tau)}{\lambda^2(\tau)} d\tau \le \int_t^\infty \frac{A(\tau)b(\tau) - a(\tau)}{\lambda^2(\tau)} d\tau = \frac{A(t)}{\lambda^2(t)}$$

The monotonic behavior follows from (3.2.3). The statement is proved.

Lemma 3.2.3. Assume that the function a(t) satisfies (A1), (A2), and the function $\mu(t)$ satisfies the condition (B3). Then there exists a constant $\delta \in (0, 1)$ such that

$$a(t)^{\delta} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{a(\tau)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^{2}(\tau)} d\tau \lesssim \frac{A(t)}{\lambda^{2}(t)}.$$
(3.2.4)

Proof. The statement follows directly after integration of the following inequalities:

$$\begin{split} \frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t)} & \qquad \lesssim \left(\frac{A(t)}{a(t)^\delta \lambda^2(t)}\right)' = \frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t)} - \delta \frac{A(t)a'(t)}{a(t)^{1+\delta} \lambda^2(t)} - \frac{A(t)\mu(t)\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}}{a(t)^\delta \lambda^2(t)} \\ & \qquad \qquad \lesssim (1-c)\frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t)} - \delta \frac{A(t)a'(t)}{a(t)^{1+\delta} \lambda^2(t)} \text{ for large } t, \end{split}$$

where c < 1 due to condition (B3). The latter inequality is true if it exits a constant $C > \frac{1}{1-c}$ such that

$$A(t)a'(t) \le (1 - c - C^{-1})\delta^{-1}a^{2}(t).$$

From that we can choose any δ satisfying $\delta < (\limsup_t A(t)a'(t)/a^2(t))^{-1}$. This supremum is finite by condition (A2).

Denoting by $E^{(jk)}$ the entries of E we get for k = 1, 2 the system

$$D_t E^{(1k)} = -i \frac{d_t \delta(t)}{\delta(t)} E^{(1k)} + N \delta(t) E^{(2k)},$$

$$D_t E^{(2k)} = \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{N\delta(t)} E^{(1k)} + ib(t) E^{(2k)}, \ E^{(jk)}(s, s, \xi) = \delta_{jk}$$

Integration yields

$$\begin{cases} E^{(1k)}(t,s,\xi) = \frac{\delta(t)}{\delta(s)} E^{(1k)}(s,s,\xi) + iN\delta(t) \int_{s}^{t} E^{(2k)}(\tau,s,\xi) d\tau, \\ E^{(2k)}(t,s,\xi) = \frac{\lambda^{2}(s)}{\lambda^{2}(t)} E^{(2k)}(s,s,\xi) + \frac{i|\xi|^{2}}{N\lambda^{2}(t)} \int_{s}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{\delta(\tau)} \lambda^{2}(\tau) E^{(1k)}(\tau,s,\xi) d\tau. \end{cases}$$
(3.2.5)

We are going to prove the following lemma:

Lemma 3.2.4. Let us assume (A1) to (A3) for a(t) and (B3) for b(t). Then we have the following estimates for the entries $E^{(kl)}(t,0,\xi)$ of the fundamental solution $E(t,0,\xi)$ in the dissipative zone :

$$(|E(t,0,\xi)|) := \begin{pmatrix} |E^{(11)}(t,0,\xi)| & |E^{(12)}(t,0,\xi)| \\ |E^{(21)}(t,0,\xi)| & |E^{(22)}(t,0,\xi)| \end{pmatrix} \lesssim \begin{pmatrix} \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} & \frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t)} \\ \frac{|\xi|^2 K(t)}{\lambda^2(t)} & \frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t)} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.2.6)

with $K(t) := \int_0^t a^2(\tau) \lambda^2(\tau) d\tau \le \lambda^2(t) a(t) A(t)$.

Proof. Let us consider

$$\begin{split} E^{(21)}(t,0,\xi) &= \frac{i|\xi|^2}{N\lambda^2(t)} \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{\delta(\tau)} \lambda^2(\tau) E^{(11)}(\tau,0,\xi) d\tau \\ &= \frac{i|\xi|^2}{N\lambda^2(t)} \Big(\int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{\delta(\tau)} \lambda^2(\tau) \frac{\delta(\tau)}{\delta(0)} d\tau + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{\delta(\tau)} \lambda^2(\tau) iN\delta(\tau) d\tau \int_0^\tau E^{(21)}(\theta,0,\xi) d\theta \Big) \\ &= \frac{i|\xi|^2}{N\delta(0)\lambda^2(t)} K(t) - \frac{|\xi|^2}{\lambda^2(t)} \int_0^t a^2(\tau)\lambda^2(\tau) \int_0^\tau E^{(21)}(\theta,0,\xi) d\theta d\tau \\ &= \frac{i|\xi|^2}{C_N\lambda^2(t)} K(t) - \frac{|\xi|^2}{\lambda^2(t)} \int_0^t \Big(\int_\theta^t a^2(\tau)\lambda^2(\tau) d\tau \Big) E^{(21)}(\theta,0,\xi) d\theta. \end{split}$$

Rewriting the integral equation gives

$$\frac{C_N \lambda^2(t) E^{(21)}(t,0,\xi)}{|\xi|^2 K(t)} = i + \int_0^t k_1(t,\theta,\xi) \frac{C_N \lambda^2(\theta) E^{(21)}(\theta,0,\xi)}{|\xi|^2 K(\theta)} d\theta$$
(3.2.7)

with kernel

$$k_1(t,\theta,\xi) = -|\xi|^2 \frac{K(\theta)}{K(t)\lambda^2(\theta)} \int_{\theta}^t a^2(\tau)\lambda^2(\tau)d\tau, \ \theta \in [0,t].$$
(3.2.8)

Now we estimate

$$\begin{split} \int_0^t \sup_{\theta \le \tilde{t} \le t} |k_1(\tilde{t}, \theta, \xi)| d\theta & \quad \lesssim |\xi|^2 \int_0^{t_{\xi}} \sup_{\tilde{t}} \frac{K(\theta)}{\lambda^2(\theta)K(\tilde{t})} \big(K(\tilde{t}) - K(\theta)\big) d\theta \le |\xi|^2 \int_0^{t_{\xi}} \frac{K(\theta)}{\lambda^2(\theta)} d\theta \\ & \quad \lesssim |\xi|^2 \int_0^{t_{\xi}} a(\theta)A(\theta) d\theta = \frac{1}{2} |\xi|^2 A^2(t_{\xi}) \lesssim 1 \end{split}$$

uniformly in $Z_{diss}(N)$. Therefore, we obtained

$$|E^{(21)}(t,0,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{|\xi|^2 K(t)}{\lambda^2(t)}.$$
(3.2.9)

Substituting this estimate into the first integral equation implies

$$|E^{(11)}(t,0,\xi)| \le \frac{\delta(t)}{\delta(0)} + N\delta(t) \int_0^t \frac{|\xi|^2 K(\tau)}{\lambda^2(\tau)} d\tau \lesssim \delta(t) + |\xi|^2 \delta(t) A^2(t) \lesssim \delta(t) = \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} d\tau$$

Next we consider

$$\begin{split} E^{(22)}(t,0,\xi) &= \frac{\lambda^2(0)}{\lambda^2(t)} + \frac{i|\xi|^2}{N\lambda^2(t)} \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{\delta(\tau)} \lambda^2(\tau) E^{(12)}(\tau,0,\xi) d\tau \\ &= \frac{\lambda^2(0)}{\lambda^2(t)} - \frac{|\xi|^2}{\lambda^2(t)} \int_0^t a^2(\tau) \lambda^2(\tau) \int_0^\tau E^{(22)}(\theta,0,\xi) d\theta d\tau, \\ \lambda^2(t) E^{(22)}(t,0,\xi) &= 1 - |\xi|^2 \int_0^t \Big(\int_{\theta}^t a^2(\tau) \lambda^2(\tau) d\tau \Big) E^{(22)}(\theta,0,\xi) d\theta, \end{split}$$

respectively. Our goal is to show that $|E^{(22)}(t,0,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t)}$. Therefore, we rewrite the integral equation as

$$\frac{\lambda^2(t)E^{(22)}(t,0,\xi)}{a(t)^{1-\delta}} = \frac{1}{a(t)^{1-\delta}} + \int_0^t k_2(t,\theta,\xi)\frac{\lambda^2(\theta)E^{(22)}(\theta,0,\xi)}{a(\theta)^{1-\delta}}d\theta$$
(3.2.10)

with the kernel

$$k_2(t,\theta,\xi) = -|\xi|^2 \frac{a(\theta)^{1-\delta}}{a(t)^{1-\delta}\lambda^2(\theta)} \int_{\theta}^t a^2(\tau)\lambda^2(\tau)d\tau, \ \theta \in [0,t].$$
(3.2.11)

The following integral over the kernel satisfies the desired estimate. It holds

$$\int_0^t \sup_{\theta \le \tilde{t} \le t} |k_2(\tilde{t}, \theta, \xi)| d\theta \lesssim |\xi|^2 \int_0^{t_{\xi}} \sup_{\tilde{t}} \frac{(a(\theta))^{1-\delta}}{(a(\tilde{t})^{1-\delta})\lambda^2(\theta)} \left(K(\tilde{t}) - K(\theta)\right) d\theta$$

$$\leq |\xi|^2 \int_0^{t_{\xi}} \sup_{\tilde{t}} \frac{(a(\theta))^{1-\delta}K(\tilde{t})}{(a(\tilde{t}))^{1-\delta}\lambda^2(\theta)} d\theta \le |\xi|^2 \lambda^2(t_{\xi})A(t_{\xi})(a(t_{\xi}))^{\delta} \int_0^{t_{\xi}} \frac{(a(\theta))^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(\theta)} d\theta$$

$$\lesssim |\xi|^2 \lambda^2(t_{\xi})A(t_{\xi}) \frac{A(t_{\xi})}{\lambda^2(t_{\xi})} \le |\xi|^2 A^2(t_{\xi}) \lesssim 1.$$

Here we have used Lemma 3.2.3 and, therefore

$$|E^{(22)}(t,0,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t)}.$$
(3.2.12)

Plugging this estimate into the first integral equation and using Lemma 3.2.3 again we have

$$|E^{(12)}(t,0,\xi)| \lesssim \delta(t) \int_0^t \frac{a(\tau)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(\tau)} d\tau \lesssim \frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{A(t)} \frac{A(t)}{\lambda^2(t)} \lesssim \frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t)}.$$
 (3.2.13)

This completes the proof.

Now let us come back to

$$U(t,\xi) = E(t,0,\xi)U(0,\xi) \text{ for all } 0 \le t \le t_{\xi}.$$
(3.2.14)

Because of $a(t)|\xi||\hat{u}(t,\xi)| \leq N \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}|\hat{u}(t,\xi)|$ in $Z_{diss}(N)$ the following statement can be concluded from (3.2.14) and Lemma 3.2.4:

Corollary 3.2.5. We have the following estimates for all $0 \le t \le t_{\xi}$ (the dissipative zone $Z_{diss}(N)$):

$$\begin{aligned} a(t)|\xi||\hat{u}(t,\xi)| &\leq C_N \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} |\hat{u}(0,\xi)| + C_N \frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t)} |D_t \hat{u}(0,\xi)|, \\ |D_t \hat{u}(t,\xi)| &\leq C_N \frac{|\xi|^2 K(t)}{\lambda^2(t)} |\hat{u}(0,\xi)| + C_N \frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t)} |D_t \hat{u}(0,\xi)|. \end{aligned}$$

Lemma 3.2.6. Let us assume (A1) to (A3) for a(t) and (B3)' for b(t). Then we have the following estimates for the entries $E^{(kl)}(t,0,\xi)$ of the fundamental solution $E(t,0,\xi)$:

$$\begin{pmatrix} |E^{(11)}(t,0,\xi)| & |E^{(12)}(t,0,\xi)| \\ |E^{(21)}(t,0,\xi)| & |E^{(22)}(t,0,\xi)| \end{pmatrix} \lesssim \begin{pmatrix} \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} & \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \\ \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} & \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.2.15)

Proof. We start by estimating the first column. Plugging the representation for $E^{(21)}(t, s, \xi)$ into the integral equation for $E^{(11)}(t, s, \xi)$ gives

$$\begin{split} &\frac{\delta(0)}{\delta(t)}E^{(11)}(t,0,\xi) = 1 - |\xi|^2 \int_0^t \int_0^\tau \frac{\lambda^2(\theta)}{\lambda^2(\tau)} a^2(\theta) \frac{\delta(0)}{\delta(\theta)} E^{(11)}(\theta,0,\xi) d\theta d\tau, \\ &\frac{1}{\delta(t)} |E^{(11)}(t,0,\xi)| \lesssim 1 + |\xi|^2 \int_0^t \int_0^\tau \underbrace{\frac{\lambda^2(\theta)}{\lambda^2(\tau)}}_{\leq 1} a^2(\theta) \frac{1}{\delta(\theta)} E^{(11)}(\theta,0,\xi) d\theta d\tau, \\ &\frac{1}{\delta(t)} |E^{(11)}(t,0,\xi)| \lesssim \exp\left(|\xi|^2 \int_0^t \int_0^\tau a^2(\theta) d\theta d\tau\right) \lesssim \exp\left(|\xi|^2 A^2(t)\right) \lesssim 1, \\ &|E^{(11)}(t,0,\xi)| \lesssim \delta(t) = \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}. \end{split}$$

Here we have used the definition of dissipative zone and assumption (A2) for a(t). Let us consider $E^{(21)}(t, 0, \xi)$. We have

$$\begin{aligned} |E^{(21)}(t,0,\xi)| &\lesssim \quad \frac{|\xi|^2}{\lambda^2(t)} \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{\delta(\tau)} \lambda^2(\tau) |E^{(11)}(\tau,0,\xi)| d\tau \\ &\lesssim \quad |\xi|^2 \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{\delta(\tau)} \underbrace{\frac{\lambda^2(\tau)}{\lambda^2(t)}}_{\leq 1} \delta(\tau) d\tau \lesssim |\xi|^2 A(t) a(t) \leq C_N \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \end{aligned}$$

Now we will estimate the entries of the second column. We get

$$\frac{1}{\delta(t)}E^{(12)}(t,0,\xi) = iN\lambda^2(0)\int_0^t \frac{d\tau}{\lambda^2(\tau)} - |\xi|^2 \int_0^t \int_0^\tau \underbrace{\frac{\lambda^2(\theta)}{\lambda^2(\tau)}}_{\leq 1} a^2(\theta) \frac{1}{\delta(\theta)}E^{(12)}(\theta,0,\xi)d\theta d\tau.$$

Because the first integral is uniformly bounded by the second statement from Lemma 3.2.2 we can obtain by the above reasoning together with assumption (A1) the desired estimate for $E^{(12)}$. For $E^{(22)}$ we have

$$\frac{1}{\delta(t)} |E^{(22)}(t,0,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{A(t)}{a(t)\lambda^2(t)} + \frac{|\xi|^2 A(t)}{a(t)\lambda^2(t)} \int_0^t a^2(\tau)\lambda^2(\tau)d\tau$$
$$\lesssim \frac{A(t)}{a(t)\lambda^2(t)} + \underbrace{\frac{|\xi|^2 A(t)}{a(t)} \int_0^t a^2(\tau)d\tau}_{\leq C_N}.$$

If we notice $\lambda^2(t) \gtrsim A^{1+\varepsilon}(t)$, then $\frac{A(t)}{a(t)\lambda^2(t)}$ is uniformly bounded for large t. This completes the proof.

3.2.2. Considerations in the hyperbolic zone

Here we use the hyperbolic micro-energy $U = (a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}, D_t\hat{u})^T$. Then U satisfies

$$D_t U = A(t,\xi) U := \begin{pmatrix} \frac{D_t a}{a} & a(t)|\xi| \\ a(t)|\xi| & ib(t) \end{pmatrix} U.$$
 (3.2.16)

Let us carry out the first step of diagonalization. For this reason we set

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad M^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ and } U^{(0)} := M^{-1}U.$$

So $D_t U^{(0)} = \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) U^{(0)} + \mathcal{R}(t) U^{(0)}$, where

$$\mathcal{D}(t,\xi) := \begin{pmatrix} \tau_1 & 0\\ 0 & \tau_2 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} a(t)|\xi| & 0\\ 0 & -a(t)|\xi| \end{pmatrix}$$

and

$$\mathcal{R}(t) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\begin{array}{cc} \frac{D_t a}{a} + ib(t) & -\frac{D_t a}{a} + ib(t) \\ -\frac{D_t a}{a} + ib(t) & \frac{D_t a}{a} + ib(t) \end{array} \right)$$

Let $F_0(t)$ be the diagonal part of $\mathcal{R}(t)$. Now we carry out the second step of diagonalization procedure. Therefore we introduce the matrices

$$N^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{R_{12}}{\tau_1 - \tau_2} \\ \frac{R_{21}}{\tau_2 - \tau_1} & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & i\frac{\delta_1(t)}{4a(t)|\xi|} \\ -i\frac{\delta_1(t)}{4a(t)|\xi|} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad N_1 = I + N^{(1)}.$$

Here $\delta_1 := \frac{a'}{a} + b$. We have

$$\left(\frac{\frac{a'}{a}(t)}{4a(t)|\xi|}\right)^2 \lesssim \left(\frac{\frac{a}{A}(t)}{4a(t)|\xi|}\right)^2 \lesssim \left(\frac{1}{A(t)|\xi|}\right)^2 \leqslant \frac{C}{N^2}.$$

If we use $b(t) = \mu(t) \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}$ and the assumptions (B3) or (B3)' and (C), i.e. we have $\limsup_{t\to\infty} \mu(t) \lesssim 1$, then

$$\left(\frac{b(t)}{4a(t)|\xi|}\right)^2 = \left(\frac{\mu(t)a(t)}{4a(t)A(t)|\xi|}\right)^2 \lesssim \left(\frac{1}{A(t)|\xi|}\right)^2 \le \frac{C}{N^2}$$

Thus we can choose a sufficiently large N such that the determinant of N_1 is det $N_1 = 1 - \left(\frac{\delta_1(t)}{4a(t)|\xi|}\right)^2 \geq \frac{1}{2}$. Hence, the matrix N_1 is invertible. Set

$$B^{(1)} = D_t N^{(1)} - (\mathcal{R} - F_0) N^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{\delta_1^2(t)}{8a(t)|\xi|} & i\partial_t \frac{\delta_1(t)}{4a(t)|\xi|} \\ -i\partial_t \frac{\delta_1(t)}{4a(t)|\xi|} & \frac{\delta_1^2(t)}{8a(t)|\xi|} \end{pmatrix} \text{ and } \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi) = -N_1^{-1} B^{(1)}(t,\xi).$$

We can conclude that

$$(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - \mathcal{R}(t)) N_1(t,\xi) U^{(1)}(t,\xi) = N_1(t,\xi) (D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_0(t) - \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi)) U^{(1)}(t,\xi).$$

Now we shall find the solution $U^{(0)}(t,\xi) := N_1(t,\xi)U^{(1)}(t,\xi)$, where $U^{(1)}(t,\xi)$ is the solution to the system

$$(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_0(t) - \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi))U^{(1)}(t,\xi) = 0.$$

We can write $U^{(1)}(t,\xi) = E_1(t,t_{\xi},\xi)U^{(1)}(t_{\xi},\xi)$, where $E_1(t,s,\xi)$ is the fundamental solution, that is, the solution of the system

$$(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_0(t) - \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi))E_1(t,s,\xi) = 0, \quad E_1(s,s,\xi) = I, \ t \ge s \ge t_{\xi}.$$

The solution $E_0 = E_0(t, s, \xi)$ of the "principal diagonal part" fulfils

$$D_t E_0(t, s, \xi) = (\mathcal{D}(t, \xi) + F_0(t)) E_0(t, s, \xi), \quad E_0(s, s, \xi) = I, \ t \ge s \ge t_{\xi}.$$

Thus

$$E_0(t,s,\xi) = \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(s)}} \frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)} \begin{pmatrix} \exp\left(\int_s^t ia(\tau)|\xi|d\tau\right) & 0\\ 0 & \exp\left(-\int_s^t ia(\tau)|\xi|d\tau\right) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Let us set

$$\mathcal{R}_{2}(t,s,\xi) = E_{0}(t,s,\xi)^{-1} \mathcal{R}_{1}(t,\xi) E_{0}(t,s,\xi),$$
$$Q(t,s,\xi) = I + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} i^{k} \int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{R}_{2}(t_{1},s,\xi) \int_{s}^{t_{1}} \mathcal{R}_{2}(t_{2},s,\xi) \cdots \int_{s}^{t_{k-1}} \mathcal{R}_{2}(t_{k},s,\xi) dt_{k} \cdots dt_{2} dt_{1}.$$

Then $Q(t, s, \xi)$ solves the Cauchy problem

$$D_t Q(t, s, \xi) = \mathcal{R}_2(t, s, \xi) Q(t, s, \xi), \quad Q(s, s, \xi) = I, \ t \ge s \ge t_{\xi}.$$

The fundamental solution $E_1 = E_1(t, s, \xi)$ is representable in the form $E_1(t, s, \xi) = E_0(t, s, \xi)Q(t, s, \xi)$. Analogous to the statement of Lemma 2.1.3 we are able to show the following estimate for $Q(t, s, \xi)$:

$$|Q(t,s,\xi)| \le \exp\left(\int_s^t |\mathcal{R}_1(\tau,\xi)| d\tau\right) \le \exp\left(\frac{1}{|\xi|} \left(\frac{1}{A(\tau)}\right)\Big|_s^t\right) \le C_N.$$

The backward transformation yields $U(t,\xi) = MN_1(t,\xi)E_0(t,s,\xi)Q(t,s,\xi)N_1^{-1}(s,\xi)M^{-1}U(s,\xi)$,

$$\left| \begin{pmatrix} a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}(t,\xi) \\ D_t\hat{u}(t,\xi) \end{pmatrix} \right| \leq \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(s)}} \frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)} \left| \begin{pmatrix} a(s)|\xi|\hat{u}(s,\xi) \\ D_t\hat{u}(s,\xi) \end{pmatrix} \right| \text{ for all } t \geq s \geq t_{\xi}.$$

Corollary 3.2.7. We have in the hyperbolic zone $Z_{hyp}(N)$ the estimate

$$\left| \begin{pmatrix} a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}(t,\xi) \\ D_t\hat{u}(t,\xi) \end{pmatrix} \right| \le C \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(t_\xi)}} \frac{\lambda(t_\xi)}{\lambda(t)} \left| \begin{pmatrix} a(t_\xi)|\xi|\hat{u}(t_\xi,\xi) \\ D_t\hat{u}(t_\xi,\xi) \end{pmatrix} \right|$$

for all $t \geq t_{\xi}$.

3.2.3. Conclusion

We have the following lemma.

Lemma 3.2.8. Assume that the functions $\mu = \mu(t)$ and $\alpha = \alpha(t)$ satisfy the assumption

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \left(\mu(t) + \alpha(t) \right) < 2.$$

Then the following inequality holds:

$$\frac{\lambda(t)\sqrt{a(t)}}{A(t)} \le C$$

Proof. We have from the definition of λ and α

$$\frac{\lambda(t)\sqrt{a(t)}}{A(t)} \lesssim \frac{\exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\int_0^t \mu(s)\frac{a(s)}{A(s)}ds\right)\exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\int_0^t \alpha(s)\frac{a(s)}{A(s)}ds\right)}{\exp\left(\int_0^t \frac{a(s)}{A(s)}ds\right)}$$
$$= \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\int_0^t \left(\mu(s) + \alpha(s) - 2\right)\frac{a(s)}{A(s)}ds\right).$$

According to the assumption (C) it holds $\mu(t) + \alpha(t) - 2 \leq 0$ for $t \geq t_0$ with a suitable t_0 . From that we may conclude

$$\frac{\lambda(t)\sqrt{a(t)}}{A(t)} \lesssim \exp\left(\int_0^{t_0} \left(\mu(s) + \alpha(s) - 2\right) \frac{a(s)}{A(s)} ds\right) \le C(t_0). \tag{3.2.17}$$

This completes the proof.

From the statements of Corollaries 3.2.5 and 3.2.7 we derive the statement of our theorem. 1.case $\{|\xi| \ge N\}$:

Then the statement of Corollary 3.2.7 implies immediately

$$\left| \begin{pmatrix} a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}(t,\xi) \\ D_t\hat{u}(t,\xi) \end{pmatrix} \right| \le C \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \left| \begin{pmatrix} |\xi|\hat{u}(0,\xi) \\ D_t\hat{u}(0,\xi) \end{pmatrix} \right|$$

for all $t \geq 0$.

2. case $\{|\xi| \le N\}$ and $\{t \ge t_{\xi}\}$:

Then the statements of Corollary 3.2.7 imply immediately

$$\begin{aligned} a(t)|\xi||\hat{u}(t,\xi)| + |D_t\hat{u}(t,\xi)| &\leq C\frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(t_\xi)}}\frac{\lambda(t_\xi)}{\lambda(t)}\Big(a(t_\xi)|\xi||\hat{u}(t_\xi,\xi)| + |D_t\hat{u}(t_\xi,\xi)|\Big) \\ &\leq C_N\frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}\Big(\frac{\lambda(t_\xi)}{\sqrt{a(t_\xi)}}a(t_\xi)|\xi||\hat{u}(t_\xi,\xi)| + \frac{\lambda(t_\xi)}{\sqrt{a(t_\xi)}}|D_t\hat{u}(t_\xi,\xi)|\Big). \end{aligned}$$

From Corollary 3.2.5 we have for $t = t_{\xi}$

$$a(t_{\xi})|\xi||\hat{u}(t_{\xi},\xi)| + |D_t\hat{u}(t_{\xi},\xi)| \le C\frac{a(t_{\xi})}{A(t_{\xi})}|\hat{u}(0,\xi)| + C\frac{a(t_{\xi})^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t_{\xi})}|D_t\hat{u}(0,\xi)|.$$

Summarizing we get

$$a(t)|\xi||\hat{u}(t,\xi)| + |D_t\hat{u}(t_{\xi},\xi)| \le C\frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \Big(\frac{\sqrt{a(t_{\xi})}\lambda(t_{\xi})}{A(t_{\xi})}|\hat{u}(0,\xi)| + C\frac{a(t_{\xi})^{\frac{1}{2}-\delta}}{\lambda(t_{\xi})}|D_t\hat{u}(0,\xi)|\Big)$$

for all admissible (t,ξ) . If we choose $\delta \geq \frac{1}{2}$ and apply Lemma 3.2.8, then we may conclude

$$a(t)|\xi||\hat{u}(t,\xi)| + |D_t\hat{u}(t,\xi)| \le C_N \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} (|\hat{u}(0,\xi)| + |D_t\hat{u}(0,\xi)|) \text{ for all admissible } (t,\xi).$$

3.case $\{|\xi| \le N\}$ and $\{t \le t_{\xi}\}$:

Then the statements of Corollary 3.2.5 imply immediately

$$a(t)|\xi||\hat{u}(t,\xi)| + |D_t\hat{u}(t,\xi)| \le C_N \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}|\hat{u}(0,\xi)| + C_N \frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t)}|D_t\hat{u}(0,\xi)|.$$

If we choose $\delta \geq \frac{1}{2}$ and apply Lemma 3.2.8, then we may conclude

$$a(t)|\xi||\hat{u}(t,\xi)| + |D_t\hat{u}(t,\xi)| \le C_N \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} (|\hat{u}(0,\xi)| + |D_t\hat{u}(0,\xi)|) \text{ for all admissible } (t,\xi).$$

This completes the proof to Theorem 3.2.1.

Example 3.2.1. Let $\mu \in (0, 1)$ or $\mu \in (1, 1 + 1/(l+1)]$. We choose

$$a(t) = (1+t)^{l}, A(t) = \frac{1}{l+1}(1+t)^{l+1}, b(t) = \frac{\mu(l+1)}{1+t}.$$

These coefficients satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 3.2.1. Taking in to consideration $\lambda(t) = (1+t)^{\frac{\mu(l+1)}{2}}$ we may conclude

$$\left\| \left((1+t)^l \nabla u(t, \cdot), u_t(t, \cdot) \right) \right\|_{L^2} \lesssim (1+t)^{\frac{l}{2} - \frac{\mu(l+1)}{2}} \left(\|u_1\|_{H^1} + \|u_2\|_{L^2} \right).$$

Example 3.2.2. Let $\mu \in (0, 1)$. We choose

$$a(t) = e^t, A(t) = e^t, b(t) = \mu$$

These coefficients satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 3.2.1. Taking into consideration $\lambda(t) = e^{\frac{\mu}{2}t}$ we may conclude

$$\left\| \left(e^{t} \nabla u(t, \cdot), u_{t}(t, \cdot) \right) \right\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim e^{\frac{t}{2} - \frac{\mu}{2}t} \left(\|u_{1}\|_{H^{1}} + \|u_{2}\|_{L^{2}} \right).$$

Example 3.2.3. Let $\mu > 0$ and $m \ge 1$. If we choose

$$a(t) = (e^{[m]} + t)^l, \ \mu(t) = \frac{\mu}{(l+1)\log(e^{[m]} + t)\dots\log^{[m]}(e^{[m]} + t)},$$

then we have

$$A(t) = \frac{1}{l+1} (e^{[m]} + t)^{l+1}, \ b(t) = \frac{\mu}{(e^{[m]} + t)\log(e^{[m]} + t)\dots\log^{[m]}(e^{[m]} + t)}.$$

These coefficients satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 3.2.1. Thus, we obtain $\lambda(t) = (\log^{[m]}(e^{[m]} + t))^{\frac{\mu}{2}}$. So, we may conclude

$$\left\|\left((e^{[m]}+t)^{l}\nabla u(t,\cdot),u_{t}(t,\cdot)\right)\right\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \frac{(e^{[m]}+t)^{\frac{l}{2}}}{\left(\log^{[m]}(e^{[m]}+t)\right)^{\frac{\mu}{2}}}\left(\|u_{1}\|_{H^{1}}+\|u_{2}\|_{L^{2}}\right).$$

Example 3.2.4. Let $\mu \in (0, 1)$, and $m \ge 1$. If we choose

$$a(t) = e^t e^{e^t} \dots e^{[m]^t}, \ \mu(t) = \mu,$$

then we have

$$A(t) = e^{[m]^t}, \ b(t) = \mu e^t e^{e^t} \dots e^{[m-1]^t}.$$

These coefficients satisfy the assumptions of Theorem 3.2.1. Taking into consideration $\lambda(t) = e^{\frac{\mu}{2}[m]^t}$ we may conclude

$$\left\| \left(e^{t} e^{e^{t}} \dots e^{[m]^{t}} \nabla u(t, \cdot), u_{t}(t, \cdot) \right) \right\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \frac{e^{t/2} e^{e^{t}/2} \dots e^{1/2[m]^{t}}}{e^{\frac{\mu}{2}[m]^{t}}} \left(\|u_{1}\|_{H^{1}} + \|u_{2}\|_{L^{2}} \right).$$

3.3. Effective dissipation

We consider the following Cauchy problem

$$u_{tt} - a^{2}(t)\Delta u + b(t)u_{t} = 0, \ u(0, x) = u_{1}(x), \ u_{t}(0, x) = u_{2}(x).$$
(3.3.1)

In the previous chapters we have concerned with the influence of the dissipation term $b(t)u_t$ for a given a(t) such that the equation (3.3.1) is from the point of view of long time behavior of solutions and its energies in some sense close to the wave equation with increasing speed of propagation (2.1.1). We have studied scattering in Section 3.1 and non-effective dissipation in Section 3.2. In this section we want to understand the so-called effective dissipation. This notion hints to relations to parabolic models from the point of view of long time behavior of solutions and its energies.

We will apply a transformation of the damped wave equation from (3.3.1) to a wave equation with time-dependent speed of propagation and potential. Thus, we define the new function

$$v(t,x) := \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\int_0^t b(\tau)d\tau\right)u(t,x).$$

After some calculations we get

$$v_{tt} - a^2(t)\Delta v - \left(\frac{1}{4}b^2(t) + \frac{1}{2}b'(t)\right)v = 0.$$

Applying Fourier transformation we have

$$\hat{v}_{tt} + m(t,\xi)\hat{v} = 0, \qquad (3.3.2)$$

here

$$m(t,\xi) := a^2(t)|\xi|^2 - \frac{1}{4}b^2(t) - \frac{1}{2}b'(t).$$
(3.3.3)

To study the interacting between a(t) and b(t) we assume:

(B'1)
$$b(t) > 0, \ b(t) = \mu(t) \frac{a(t)}{A(t)},$$

(B'2)
$$\left| d_t^k \mu(t) \right| \le C_k \mu(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)^k$$
 for $k = 1, 2,$

(B'3) $\mu(t)/A(t)$ is monotonic and $\mu(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$,

(B'4)
$$a^2(t)/b(t) = a(t)A(t)/\mu(t) \notin L^1(\mathbb{R}_+).$$

Using assumption (B'1) we can rewrite the formula (3.3.3) by the following formula:

$$m(t,\xi) = a^{2}(t)|\xi|^{2} - \frac{1}{4}\mu^{2}(t)\frac{a^{2}(t)}{A^{2}(t)} - \frac{1}{2}\left(\mu(t)\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)'.$$

Assumptions (B'2) and (B'3) show that b'(t) is a negligible term in comparison with $b^2(t)$, this means $|b'(t)| = o(b^2(t))$ as $t \to \infty$. Indeed, we have

$$\frac{|b'(t)|}{b^{2}(t)} = \frac{\left| \left(\mu(t) \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)' \right|}{\mu^{2}(t) \frac{a^{2}(t)}{A^{2}(t)}} = \frac{\left| \mu'(t) \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} + \mu(t) \frac{a^{2}(t) - a'(t)A(t)}{A^{2}(t)} \right|}{\mu^{2}(t) \frac{a^{2}(t)}{A^{2}(t)}} \le \frac{|\mu'(t)| \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} + C_{1}\mu(t) \frac{a^{2}(t)}{A^{2}(t)}}{\mu^{2}(t) \frac{a^{2}(t)}{A^{2}(t)}} \le \frac{C\mu(t) \frac{a^{2}(t)}{A^{2}(t)} + C_{1}\mu(t) \frac{a^{2}(t)}{A^{2}(t)}}{\mu^{2}(t) \frac{a^{2}(t)}{A^{2}(t)}} \lesssim \frac{1}{\mu(t)} \to 0 \text{ for } t \to \infty.$$

We introduce the auxiliary symbol

$$\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} := \sqrt{\left| a^2(t) |\xi|^2 - \frac{b^2(t)}{4} \right|} = \sqrt{\left| a^2(t) |\xi|^2 - \frac{\mu^2(t)}{4} \frac{a^2(t)}{A^2(t)} \right|}.$$
(3.3.4)

3.3.1. Regions and zones

We define the separating curve $t_{\xi} = t(|\xi|)$ by

$$\Gamma = \left\{ (t,\xi) : |\xi| = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)} \right\}$$

and introduce the following regions in the extended phase space $(0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n_{\xi}$: the hyperbolic region: $\Pi_{hyp} = \left\{ (t,\xi) : |\xi| > \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)} \right\},$ the elliptic region: $\Pi_{ell} = \left\{ (t,\xi) : |\xi| < \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)} \right\}.$ The auxiliary symbol $\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}$ is differentiable in these regions and satisfies

$$\partial_t \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} = \pm \frac{a'(t)a(t)|\xi|^2 - \frac{\mu(t)a(t)}{2A(t)} \left(\frac{\mu(t)a(t)}{2A(t)}\right)'}{\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}}, \quad \partial_{|\xi|} \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} = \pm \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|}{\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}}, \quad (3.3.5)$$

where the upper sign is taken in the hyperbolic region.

We will also divide both regions of the extended phase space into zones. For this reason we define

the hyperbolic zone : $Z_{hyp}(N) = \left\{ (t,\xi) : \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \ge N\mu(t) \frac{a(t)}{2A(t)} \right\} \cap \Pi_{hyp},$ the pseudo-differential zone : $Z_{pd}(N,\varepsilon) = \left\{ (t,\xi) : \varepsilon \frac{\mu(t)a(t)}{2A(t)} \le \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \le N \frac{\mu(t)a(t)}{2A(t)} \right\} \cap \Pi_{hyp},$ the dissipative zone : $Z_{diss}(c_0) = \left\{ (t,\xi) : |\xi| \le c_0 \frac{1}{A(t)} \right\} \cap \Pi_{ell},$ the elliptic zone : $Z_{ell}(c_0,\varepsilon) = \left\{ (t,\xi) : |\xi| \ge c_0 \frac{1}{A(t)} \right\} \cap \left\{ \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \ge \varepsilon \mu(t) \frac{a(t)}{2A(t)} \right\} \cap \Pi_{ell},$ the reduced zone : $Z_{red}(\varepsilon) = \left\{ (t,\xi) : \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \le \varepsilon \mu(t) \frac{a(t)}{2A(t)} \right\}.$



Fig. 3.2.: Sketch of zones are used in our approach

Remark 3.3.1. The dissipative zone can be skipped if we assume the further assumption

(S1)
$$\frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)A^2(t)} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+).$$

Under this assumption we define $Z_{ell}(\varepsilon) := Z_{ell}(0, \varepsilon)$.

3.3.2. The hyperbolic region

Symbols in Π_{hup} .

Definition 3.3.1. Let us define the following classes of symbols in the hyperbolic zone:

$$S_{l}\{m_{1}, m_{2}, m_{3}\} = \left\{c = c(t, \xi) : |D_{\xi}^{\alpha} D_{t}^{k} c(t, \xi)| \leq C_{\alpha, k} \langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}^{m_{1} - |\alpha|} a(t)^{m_{2} + |\alpha|} \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^{m_{3} + k} for all (t, \xi) \in Z_{hyp}(N), \alpha \text{ and } k \leq l\right\}.$$

Lemma 3.3.1. The family of symbol classes $S_l\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$ generates a hierarchy of symbol classes having the following properties:

- $S_l\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$ is a vector space,
- $S_l\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}S_l\{m_1', m_2', m_3'\} \subset S_l\{m_1 + m_1', m_2 + m_2', m_3 + m_3'\},$
- $D_t^k D_\xi^\alpha S_l\{m_1, m_2, m_3\} \subset S_{l-k}\{m_1 |\alpha|, m_2 + |\alpha|, m_3 + k\},$
- $S_0\{-1,0,2\} \subset L^{\infty}_{\xi} L^1_t(Z_{hyp}(N)).$

Proof. We only verify the fourth property. Indeed, if $c = c(t,\xi) \in S_0\{-1,0,2\}$, then

$$\int_{t_{\xi}}^{\infty} |c(\tau,\xi)| d\tau \lesssim \int_{t_{\xi}}^{\infty} \frac{a^2(\tau)}{\langle \xi \rangle_{b(\tau)} A^2(\tau)} d\tau \sim \int_{t_{\xi}}^{\infty} \frac{a(\tau)}{|\xi| A^2(\tau)} d\tau \le \frac{C}{A(t_{\xi})|\xi|} \le \frac{C}{N\mu(t_{\xi})} < \infty$$

due to the definition of the hyperbolic zone and assumption (B'3). Remark, that here we used

$$\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \sim a(t) |\xi|$$
 uniformly on $Z_{hyp}(N)$ (3.3.6)

to conclude what we wanted to have.

Consideration in the hyperbolic zone

Proposition 3.3.2. Let us assume (B'1), (B'2) and (B'3). Then $b(t), \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \in S_2\{1, 0, 0\}$.

Proof. Applying assumptions (B'1), (B'2) and the definition of the hyperbolic region we have for

l = 1, 2

$$b(t) = \mu(t) \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \le a(t) |\xi| \sim \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}, \qquad (3.3.7)$$

$$|b(t)'| \le |\mu(t)'| \underbrace{\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}}_{\in S_2\{0,0,1\}} + \mu(t) \underbrace{\left| \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)' \right|}_{\in S_1\{0,0,2\}} \le \mu(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)^2 \qquad (3.3.8)$$

$$|b(t)''| \le |\mu(t)''| \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \sim \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}, \qquad (3.3.8)$$

$$\begin{aligned} (t)''| &\leq |\mu(t)''| \underbrace{\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}}_{\in S_2\{0,0,1\}} + 2|\mu(t)'| \underbrace{\left| \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)' \right|}_{\in S_1\{0,0,2\}} + \mu(t) \underbrace{\left| \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)'' \right|}_{\in S_0\{0,0,3\}} \\ &\lesssim \mu(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)^3 \lesssim a(t) |\xi| \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)^2 \sim \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)^2. \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.3.9)$$

Thanks to (3.3.7), (3.3.8) and (3.3.9) we obtain $b(t) \in S_2\{1,0,0\}$. Next, let us prove $\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \in S_2\{1,0,0\}$. By the definition of $\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}$ we have

$$\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}^2 = \underbrace{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}_{\in S_2\{2,0,0\}} - \underbrace{\frac{b^2(t)}{4}}_{\in S_2\{2,0,0\}} \in S_2\{2,0,0\}.$$
(3.3.10)

We assert that

$$\left|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}\right| \lesssim \langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}^{1-|\alpha|} a(t)^{|\alpha|} \tag{3.3.11}$$

for all multi-indices α with $|\alpha| > 0$. We apply the principle of induction with respect to $|\alpha|$. For $|\alpha| = 1$ we have

$$D_{\xi}^{\alpha}\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}^{2} = 2D_{\xi}^{\alpha}\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}.$$
(3.3.12)

Since (3.3.10) implies $\left|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}^{2}\right| \lesssim \langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}a(t)$ we conclude from (3.3.12) that

$$\left| D_{\xi}^{\alpha} \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \right| \lesssim a(t) \text{ for all } |\alpha| = 1.$$

Let us assume that the inequality (3.3.11) is valid for all $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \ldots, \alpha_n)$ with $|\alpha| \leq k-1$. Then we prove this inequality for $|\alpha| = k$. For convenience we introduce the notation $\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} := g(t, |\xi|)$. After applying Faà di Bruno's formula (see Appendix: Lemma B.3.6) and performing straight-forward calculations we get for $|\alpha| \leq 2$ (higher derivatives vanish)

$$D_{\xi}^{\alpha}g^{2}(t,|\xi|) = \sum_{j=1}^{|\alpha|} \sum_{\substack{\beta_{1}+\ldots+\beta_{j}=\alpha\\|\beta_{j}|\geq 1}} C_{\beta_{1},\ldots,\beta_{j}}g^{2}(t,|\xi|)^{(j)} \prod_{i=1}^{j} D_{\xi}^{\beta_{i}}g(t,|\xi|)$$

$$= 2C_{\beta_{1}}g(t,|\xi|) D_{\xi}^{\alpha}g(t,|\xi|) + 2\sum_{\substack{\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}=\alpha\\|\beta_{1}|,|\beta_{2}|\geq 1}} C_{\beta_{1},\beta_{2}} D_{\xi}^{\beta_{1}}g(t,|\xi|) D_{\xi}^{\beta_{2}}g(t,|\xi|). \quad (3.3.13)$$

Owing to (3.3.10) we deduce $\left|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}g(t,|\xi|)^{2}\right| \lesssim g(t,|\xi|)^{2-|\alpha|}a(t)^{|\alpha|}$ and taking account of (3.3.11) we

have $\left|D_{\xi}^{\beta_{j}}g(t,|\xi|)\right| \lesssim g(t,|\xi|)^{1-|\beta_{j}|}a(t)^{|\beta_{j}|}, j = 1,2$. Returning to (3.3.13) we therefore obtain

$$\begin{split} g(t,|\xi|) \Big| D_{\xi}^{\alpha} g(t,|\xi|) \Big| &\lesssim \Big| D_{\xi}^{\alpha} g^{2}(t,|\xi|) \Big| + \sum_{\substack{\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}=\alpha\\|\beta_{1}|,|\beta_{2}|\geq 1}} \Big| D_{\xi}^{\beta_{1}} g(t,|\xi|) \Big| \Big| D_{\xi}^{\beta_{2}} g(t,|\xi|) \Big| \\ &\lesssim g(t,|\xi|)^{2-|\alpha|} a(t)^{|\alpha|} + \sum_{\substack{\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}=\alpha\\|\beta_{1}|,|\beta_{2}|\geq 1}} g(t,|\xi|)^{1-|\beta_{1}|} a(t)^{|\beta_{1}|} g(t,|\xi|)^{1-|\beta_{2}|} a(t)^{|\beta_{2}|} \\ &\lesssim g(t,|\xi|)^{2-|\alpha|} a(t)^{|\alpha|} + g(t,|\xi|)^{2-|\alpha|} a(t)^{|\alpha|}. \end{split}$$
(3.3.14)

Thanks to (3.3.14) we conclude our desired estimate (3.3.11). Next, since $D_t \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}^2 = 2D_t \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}$ and $D_t^2 \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}^2 = 2D_t^2 \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} + 2 (D_t \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)})^2$ we can easy conclude

$$\left| D_t \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \right| \lesssim \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}, \left| D_t^2 \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \right| \lesssim \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)^2.$$
(3.3.15)

Finally, consequently formula (3.3.13), using Leibniz's rule we obtain for k = 1, 2

$$D_{t}^{k} D_{\xi}^{\alpha} g^{2}(t, |\xi|) = \sum_{\substack{k_{1}+k_{2}=k}} 2C_{\beta_{1},k_{1},k_{2}} D_{t}^{k_{1}} g(t, |\xi|) D_{t}^{k_{2}} D_{\xi}^{\alpha} g(t, |\xi|) \\ + 2 \sum_{\substack{k_{1}+k_{2}=k}} \sum_{\substack{\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}=\alpha\\|\beta_{1}|,|\beta_{2}|\geq 1}} C_{\beta_{1},\beta_{2},k_{1},k_{2}} D_{t}^{k_{1}} D_{\xi}^{\beta_{1}} g(t, |\xi|) D_{t}^{k_{1}} D_{\xi}^{\beta_{2}} g(t, |\xi|).$$
(3.3.16)

Due to the formula (3.3.16) and by induction we can prove

$$\left|D_t^k D_{\xi}^{\alpha} \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}\right| \lesssim \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}^{1-|\alpha|} a(t)^{\alpha} \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^k.$$
(3.3.17)

This completes our proof.

Now we consider the micro-energy

$$V = (\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \hat{v}, D_t \hat{v})^T.$$
(3.3.18)

Then it holds

$$D_t V = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \\ \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} & 0 \end{pmatrix} V + \begin{pmatrix} \frac{D_t \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}}{\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}} & 0 \\ -\frac{\left(\mu(t) \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)'}{2\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}} & 0 \end{pmatrix} V.$$
(3.3.19)

Lemma 3.3.3. Assuming (B'1), (B'2) and (B'3). Then the following estimate holds for the fundamental solution $E_V(t, s, \xi)$, with $(s, \xi), (t, \xi) \in Z_{hyp}(N), s \leq t$:

$$|E_V(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(s)}}.$$

Proof. Let us carry out the first step of diagonalization. For this reason we set

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & -1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad M^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ -1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ and } V^{(0)} := M^{-1}V.$$

Hence,

$$D_t V^{(0)} = \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) V^{(0)} + \mathcal{R}(t,\xi) V^{(0)}, \qquad (3.3.20)$$

where

$$\mathcal{D}(t,\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} & 0\\ 0 & -\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \end{pmatrix} \in S_2\{1,0,0\},$$
(3.3.21)

$$\mathcal{R}(t,\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{D_t\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}}{2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} - \frac{b'(t)}{4\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} & -\frac{D_t\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}}{2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} + \frac{b'(t)}{4\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} \\ -\frac{D_t\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}}{2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} - \frac{b'(t)}{4\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} & \frac{D_t\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}}{2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} + \frac{b'(t)}{4\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} \end{pmatrix} \in S_1\{0,0,1\}.$$
(3.3.22)

Let $F_0(t,\xi)$ be the diagonal part of $\mathcal{R}(t,\xi)$. Now we carry out the second step of diagonalization procedure. Therefore we introduce the matrices

$$N^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{\mathcal{R}_{12}}{\tau_1 - \tau_2} \\ \frac{\mathcal{R}_{21}}{\tau_2 - \tau_1} & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{D_t \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}}{4\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}^2} - \frac{b'(t)}{8\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}^2} \\ -\frac{D_t \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}}{4\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}^2} + \frac{b'(t)}{8\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}^2} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in S_1\{-1, 0, 1\},$$

 $N_1(t,\xi) = I + N^{(1)}(t,\xi) \in S_1\{0,0,0\}$. For sufficiently large time $t_0 = t_0(\varepsilon)$ the matrix $N_1(t,\xi)$ is invertible with uniformly bounded inverse $N_1^{-1}(t,\xi)$ for $t \ge t_0$ in $Z_{hyp}(N)$ (see Remark 3.3.3). Now we can follow the usual procedure to diagonalize. Let

$$B^{(1)}(t,\xi) = D_t N^{(1)}(t,\xi) - (\mathcal{R}(t,\xi) - F_0(t,\xi)) N^{(1)}(t,\xi) \in S_0\{-1,0,2\}$$

$$\mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi) = -N_1^{-1}(t,\xi) B^{(1)}(t,\xi) \in S_0\{-1,0,2\}.$$

Then we can conclude

$$(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - \mathcal{R}(t,\xi)) N_1(t,\xi) V^{(1)}(t,\xi) = N_1(t,\xi) (D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_0(t,\xi) - \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi)) V^{(1)}(t,\xi).$$

Now we shall find the solution $V^{(0)}(t,\xi) =: N_1(t,\xi)V^{(1)}(t,\xi)$, where $V^{(1)}(t,\xi)$ is the solution to the system

$$\left(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_0(t,\xi) - \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi)\right)V(t,\xi) = 0.$$

We can write $V^{(1)}(t,\xi) = E_{V,1}(t,t_{\xi},\xi)V^{(1)}(t_{\xi},\xi)$. Here $E_V(t,s,\xi)$ is the fundamental solution to the following system

$$(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_0(t,\xi) - \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi)) E_{V,1}(t,s,\xi) = 0, \quad E_{V,1}(s,s,\xi) = I, \ t \ge s \ge t_{\xi}.$$

The solution $E_0 = E_0(t, s, \xi)$ of the "principal diagonal part" fulfils

$$D_t E_0(t, s, \xi) = (\mathcal{D}(t, \xi) + F_0(t, \xi)) E_0(t, s, \xi), \quad E_0(s, s, \xi) = I, \ t \ge s \ge t_{\xi}.$$

Thus

$$E_0(t,s,\xi) = \exp\left(i\int_s^t \left(\mathcal{D}(\tau,\xi) + F_0(\tau,\xi)\right)d\tau\right)$$

and we can get

$$|E_0(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \exp\left(\int_s^t \frac{\partial_t \langle \xi \rangle_{b(\tau)}}{2\langle \xi \rangle_{b(\tau)}} d\tau\right) = \frac{\sqrt{\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}}}{\sqrt{\langle \xi \rangle_{b(s)}}} \sim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)|\xi|}}{\sqrt{a(s)|\xi|}} \sim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(s)}}$$

Let us set

$$\mathcal{R}_{2}(t,s,\xi) = E_{0}^{-1}(t,s,\xi)\mathcal{R}_{1}(t,\xi)E_{0}(t,s,\xi),$$
$$Q(t,s,\xi) = I + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} i^{k} \int_{s}^{t} \mathcal{R}_{2}(t_{1},s,\xi) \int_{s}^{t_{1}} \mathcal{R}_{2}(t_{2},s,\xi) \cdots \int_{s}^{t_{k-1}} \mathcal{R}_{2}(t_{k},s,\xi)dt_{k} \cdots dt_{2}dt_{1}.$$

Then $Q(t, s, \xi)$ solves the Cauchy problem

$$D_t Q(t, s, \xi) = \mathcal{R}_2(t, s, \xi) Q(t, s, \xi), \quad Q(s, s, \xi) = I, \ t \ge s \ge t_{\xi}.$$

The fundamental solution $E_{V,1}(t, s, \xi)$ is representable in the form $E_{V,1}(t, s, \xi) = E_0(t, s, \xi)Q(t, s, \xi)$. Furthermore, applying the fourth property from Lemma 3.3.1 to $\mathcal{R}_1 \in S_0\{-1, 0, 2\} \subset L_{\xi}^{\infty} L_t^1(Z_{hyp})$ we see that

$$|Q(t,s,\xi)| \le \exp\left(\int_{s}^{t} |\mathcal{R}_{1}(\tau,\xi)| d\tau\right) \le C_{N}$$

This completes the proof.

Remark 3.3.2. Transforming back we obtain the following representation for the micro-energy $V = (\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \hat{v}, D_t \hat{v})^T$:

$$V(t,\xi) = MN_1(t,\xi)E_0(t,s,\xi)Q(t,s,\xi)N_1^{-1}(s,\xi)M^{-1}V(s,\xi).$$

Remark 3.3.3. The large constant N guarantees the invertibility of N_1 in the whole hyperbolic zone. The remaining problem consists in the understanding of invertibility in the pseudo-differential zone. For $t \ge t_0(\varepsilon)$ this zone can be skipped after the choice $N = \varepsilon$. The other set $\{t \in (0, t_0(\varepsilon)] : (t, \xi) \in Z_{pd}(N, \varepsilon)\}$ is compact.

3.3.3. The elliptic region

Symbols in Π_{ell} .

The symbols in the elliptic zone are constructed in a similar manner as in the hyperbolic zone with a little change for the auxiliary symbol $\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}$ which can be estimated

$$\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \sim \frac{b(t)}{2} \sim \mu(t) \frac{a(t)}{2A(t)}$$
 uniformly on $Z_{ell}(c_0, \varepsilon)$. (3.3.23)

Definition 3.3.2. Let us define the following classes of symbols in the elliptic zone:

$$S_{l}\{m_{1}, m_{2}, m_{3}\} = \left\{c = c(t, \xi) : |D_{\xi}^{\alpha} D_{t}^{k} c(t, \xi)| \leq C_{\alpha, k} \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}^{m_{1} - |\alpha|} a(t)^{m_{2} + |\alpha|} \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^{m_{3} + k} for all (t, \xi) \in Z_{ell}(c_{0}, \varepsilon), \alpha \text{ and } k \leq l\right\}.$$

Lemma 3.3.4. The family of symbol classes $S_l\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$ generates a hierarchy of symbol classes having the following properties:

- $S_l\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$ is a vector space,
- $S_l\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}S_l\{m'_1, m'_2, m'_3\} \subset S_l\{m_1 + m'_1, m_2 + m'_2, m_3 + m'_3\},$
- $D_t^k D_\xi^\alpha S_l\{m_1, m_2, m_3\} \subset S_{l-k}\{m_1 |\alpha|, m_2 + |\alpha|, m_3 + k\},$
- $S_0\{-1, 0, 2\} \subset L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{E}} L^1_t(Z_{ell}(c_0, \varepsilon)).$

Proof. We only verify the fourth property. Indeed, if $c \in S_0\{-1, 0, 2\}$, then

$$\begin{split} \int_{t_{\xi_1}}^{t_{\xi_2}} |c(\tau,\xi)| d\tau &\lesssim \int_{t_{\xi_1}}^{t_{\xi_2}} \frac{a^2(\tau)}{\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} A^2(\tau)} d\tau \sim \int_{t_{\xi_1}}^{t_{\xi_2}} \frac{a(\tau)}{\mu(\tau) A(\tau)} d\tau \lesssim \int_{t_{\xi_1}}^{t_{\xi_2}} \frac{\sqrt{1-\varepsilon^2}a(\tau)}{|\xi| A^2(\tau)} d\tau \\ &\lesssim \frac{1}{|\xi| A(t_{\xi_1})} \lesssim C(\varepsilon,c_0), \end{split}$$

where t_{ξ_1} , t_{ξ_2} denotes the lower, upper boundary of the elliptic zone, respectively. From the definitions of the elliptic zone and dissipative zone we have $\mu(t) \geq \frac{2|\xi|A(t)}{\sqrt{1-\varepsilon^2}}$ for all $t \in [t_{\xi_1}, t_{\xi_2}]$ and $|\xi|A(t_{\xi_1}) \sim 1$.

Consideration in the elliptic zone

In this region we introduce again the micro-energy

$$V = (\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \hat{v}, D_t \hat{v})^T.$$

Then we can get the system of differential equations

$$D_t V = \begin{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \\ -\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \frac{D_t \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}}{\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}} & 0 \\ -\frac{b'(t)}{2\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} V.$$
(3.3.24)

In a first step we use the diagonalizer of the first matrix, which is defined as follows:

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} i & -i \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad M^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -i & 1 \\ i & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ and } V^{(0)} := M^{-1}V.$$

Hence,

$$D_t V^{(0)} = \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) V^{(0)} + \mathcal{R}(t,\xi) V^{(0)}, \qquad (3.3.25)$$

where

$$\mathcal{D}(t,\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} -i\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)} & 0\\ 0 & i\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)} \end{pmatrix} \in S_2\{1,0,0\},$$
(3.3.26)

$$\mathcal{R}(t,\xi) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{D_t\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}}{2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} - i\frac{b'(t)}{4\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} & -\frac{D_t\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}}{2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} + i\frac{b'(t)}{4\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} \\ -\frac{D_t\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}}{2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} - i\frac{b'(t)}{4\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} & \frac{D_t\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}}{2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} + i\frac{b'(t)}{4\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} \end{pmatrix} \in S_1\{0,0,1\}.$$
(3.3.27)

Let $F_0 = F_0(t,\xi)$ be the diagonal part of $\mathcal{R} = \mathcal{R}(t,\xi)$. Now we carry out the second step of diagonalization procedure. Thus, we consider the difference δ of the entries of $\mathcal{D}(t,\xi) + F_0(t,\xi)$. We have

$$i\delta(t,\xi) = 2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)} + \frac{b'(t)}{2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} \sim 2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)} + \frac{o(b^2(t))}{2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} \sim \langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}$$
(3.3.28)

for $t \ge t_0$ with a sufficiently large $t_0 = t_0(\varepsilon)$ by using $|b'(t)| = o(b^2(t))$. Now we can follow the usual procedure of diagonalization. Therefore we introduce the matrices

$$N^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{\mathcal{R}_{12}}{\delta} \\ \frac{\mathcal{R}_{21}}{\delta} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \sim \begin{pmatrix} 0 & i\frac{D_t\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}}{4\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}^2} - \frac{b'(t)}{8\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}^2} \\ i\frac{D_t\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}}{4\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}^2} + \frac{b'(t)}{8\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}^2} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \in S_1\{-1, 0, 1\},$$

 $N_1(t,\xi) = I + N^{(1)}(t,\xi) \in S_1\{0,0,0\}$. For a sufficiently large time $t \ge t_0$ the matrix $N_1(t,\xi)$ is invertible with uniformly bounded inverse $N_1^{-1}(t,\xi)$ in $Z_{ell}(c_0,\varepsilon)$. Let

$$B^{(1)}(t,\xi) = D_t N^{(1)}(t,\xi) - (\mathcal{R}(t,\xi) - F_0(t,\xi)) N^{(1)}(t,\xi) \in S_0\{-1,0,2\},\$$

$$\mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi) = -N_1^{-1}(t,\xi) B^{(1)}(t,\xi) \in S_0\{-1,0,2\}.$$

We can conclude that

$$(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - \mathcal{R}(t,\xi)) N_1(t,\xi) V^{(1)}(t,\xi) = N_1(t,\xi) (D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_0(t,\xi) - \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi)) V^{(1)}(t,\xi).$$

Now we shall find the solution $V^{(1)}(t,\xi) := N_1^{-1}(t,\xi)V^{(0)}(t,\xi)$, where $V^{(1)}(t,\xi)$ is the solution to the system

$$(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_0(t,\xi) - \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi))V^{(1)}(t,\xi) = 0.$$

We can write $V^{(1)}(t,\xi) = E_{V,1}(t,s,\xi)V^{(1)}(s,\xi)$. Here $E_{V,1}(t,s,\xi)$ is the fundamental solution, that is, the solution to the following system:

$$(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_0(t,\xi) - \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi))E(t,s,\xi) = 0, \quad E(s,s,\xi) = I, \ t \ge s \ge t_{\xi}.$$

We transform the system for $E_{V,1}(t,s,\xi)$ to an integral equation for a new matrix-valued function $Q_{ell}(t,s,\xi)$ by considering

$$\exp\left(i\int_{s}^{t} \left(\mathcal{D}(\tau,\xi) + F_{0}(\tau,\xi)\right)d\tau\right) E_{V,1}(t,s,\xi)$$

Using this ansatz we have after differentiation

$$D_t \left(\exp\left(i \int_s^t \left(\mathcal{D}(\tau,\xi) + F_0(\tau,\xi) \right) d\tau \right) E_{V,1}(t,s,\xi) \right)$$

= $- \left(\mathcal{D}(t,\xi) + F_0(t,\xi) \right) \exp\left(i \int_s^t \left(\mathcal{D}(\tau,\xi) + F_0(\tau,\xi) \right) d\tau \right) E_{V,1}(t,s,\xi)$
+ $\exp\left(i \int_s^t \left(\mathcal{D}(\tau,\xi) + F_0(\tau,\xi) \right) d\tau \right) \left(\mathcal{D}(t,\xi) + F_0(t,\xi) + \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi) \right) E_{V,1}(t,s,\xi)$
= $\exp\left(i \int_s^t \left(\mathcal{D}(\tau,\xi) + F_0(\tau,\xi) \right) d\tau \right) \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi) E_{V,1}(t,s,\xi).$

Consequently,

$$E_{V,1}(t,s,\xi) = \exp\left(i\int_{s}^{t} \left(\mathcal{D}(\tau,\xi) + F_{0}(\tau,\xi)\right)d\tau\right)E_{V,1}(s,s,\xi)$$
$$-i\int_{s}^{t}\exp\left(i\int_{\theta}^{t} \left(\mathcal{D}(\tau,\xi) + F_{0}(\tau,\xi)\right)d\tau\right)\mathcal{R}_{1}(\theta,\xi)E_{V,1}(\theta,s,\xi)d\theta.$$

We introduce an unknown weight factor to represent $Q_{ell,1}$ in the following way:

$$Q_{ell,1}(t,s,\xi) = \exp\left(-\int_s^t w(\tau,\xi)d\tau\right) E_{V,1}(t,s,\xi).$$

Then we get

$$Q_{ell,1}(t,s,\xi) = \exp\left(\int_{s}^{t} \left(i\mathcal{D}(\tau,\xi) + iF_{0}(\tau,\xi) - w(\tau,\xi)I\right)d\tau\right) + \int_{s}^{t} \exp\left(\int_{\theta}^{t} \left(i\mathcal{D}(\tau,\xi) + iF_{0}(\tau,\xi) - w(\tau,\xi)I\right)d\tau\right) \mathcal{R}_{1}(\theta,\xi)Q_{ell,1}(\theta,s,\xi)d\theta$$

The main entries of the diagonal matrix $i\mathcal{D}(t,\xi) + iF_0(t,\xi)$ are given by

$$(I) = \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} + \frac{\partial_t \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}}{2 \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}} + \frac{b'(t)}{4 \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}},$$

$$(II) = -\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} + \frac{\partial_t \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}}{2 \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}} - \frac{b'(t)}{4 \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}}.$$

For the difference (II)-(I) we get

$$(II) - (I) = -2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)} - \frac{b'(t)}{2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} = -\frac{b^2(t) + b'(t) - 4a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} \le 0$$

in $Z_{ell}(c_0,\varepsilon)$ for $t \ge t_0$ by using $|b'(t)| = o(b^2(t))$. We are choosing the weight $w(t,\xi) = (I)$. By this choice the matrix

$$H(t,s,\xi) = \exp\left(\int_{s}^{t} \left(i\mathcal{D}(\tau,\xi) + iF_{0}(\tau,\xi) - w(\tau,\xi)I\right)d\tau\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{diag}\left(1, \exp\left(\int_{s}^{t} \left(-2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(\tau)} - \frac{b'(\tau)}{2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(\tau)}}\right)d\tau\right)\right) \to \left(\begin{array}{cc}1 & 0\\ 0 & 0\end{array}\right)$$

as $t \to \infty$ with a fixed s. Hence, the matrix $H(t, s, \xi)$ is uniformly bounded for (s, ξ) , $(t, \xi) \in Z_{ell}(c_0, \varepsilon)$. Taking account of $\mathcal{R}_1 \in S_0\{-1, 0, 2\}$ is uniformly integrable over the elliptic zone the matrix which can be represented by Neumann series

$$Q_{ell,1}(t,s,\xi) = H(t,s,\xi) + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} i^k \int_s^t H(t,t_1,\xi) \mathcal{R}_1(t_1,s,\xi) \int_s^{t_1} H(t_1,t_2,\xi) \mathcal{R}_1(t_2,s,\xi)$$
$$\cdots \int_s^{t_{k-1}} H(t_{k-1},t_k,\xi) \mathcal{R}_1(t_k,s,\xi) dt_k \cdots dt_2 dt_1$$

is uniformly bounded in $Z_{ell}(c_0, \epsilon)$. From the last considerations we can conclude

$$E_{V,1}(t,s,\xi) = \exp\left(\int_{s}^{t} w(\tau,\xi)d\tau\right) Q_{ell,1}(t,s,\xi)$$

$$= \exp\left(\int_{s}^{t} \left(\langle\xi\rangle_{b(\tau)} + \frac{\partial_{\tau}\langle\xi\rangle_{b(\tau)}}{2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(\tau)}} + \frac{b'(\tau)}{4\langle\xi\rangle_{b(\tau)}}\right)d\tau\right) Q_{ell,1}(t,s,\xi)$$

$$\sim \exp\left(\int_{s}^{t} \left(\langle\xi\rangle_{b(\tau)} + \frac{\partial_{\tau}\langle\xi\rangle_{b(\tau)}}{2\langle\xi\rangle_{b(\tau)}} + \frac{b'(\tau)}{2b(\tau)}\right)d\tau\right) Q_{ell,1}(t,s,\xi)$$

$$\sim \frac{\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}}{\langle\xi\rangle_{b(s)}} \exp\left(\int_{s}^{t} \langle\xi\rangle_{b(\tau)}d\tau\right) Q_{ell,1}(t,s,\xi).$$

Summarizing the considerations of this section we have proved the following lemma:

Lemma 3.3.5. Under the assumptions (B'1), (B'2) and (B'3) the fundamental solution $E_V(t, s, \xi)$ to the operator $D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_0(t,\xi) - \mathcal{R}_1(t,\xi)$ with $(t,\xi), (s,\xi) \in Z_{ell}(c_0,\varepsilon) \cap \{t \ge t_0(\varepsilon)\}, s \le t$ has the following behavior:

$$E_{V,1}(t,s,\xi) \sim \frac{\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}}{\langle \xi \rangle_{b(s)}} \exp\left(\int_s^t \langle \xi \rangle_{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) Q_{ell,1}(t,s,\xi).$$

3.3.4. The reduced zone

In this zone we can estimate $\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}$ by $\varepsilon \frac{b(t)}{2}$. Thus, we consider the micro-energy

$$V = \left(\varepsilon \frac{b(t)}{2}\hat{v}, D_t \hat{v}\right)^T.$$
(3.3.29)

We get the following system of first order

$$D_t V = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{D_t b(t)}{b(t)} & \varepsilon \frac{b(t)}{2} \\ \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2 - \frac{1}{4}b^2(t) - \frac{1}{2}b'(t)}{\varepsilon \frac{1}{2}b(t)} & \end{pmatrix} V.$$
(3.3.30)

To estimate the entries of this matrix we will use:

- $|b'(t)| = o(b^2(t)),$
- $\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \lesssim \varepsilon \frac{b(t)}{2}$,
- consequently, $\frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2 \frac{1}{4}b^2(t) \frac{1}{2}b'(t)}{\varepsilon \frac{1}{2}b(t)} \lesssim \varepsilon \frac{b(t)}{2} \frac{b'(t)}{\varepsilon b(t)} \lesssim \varepsilon b(t).$

Thus, we can estimate the norm of the coefficient matrix by $\varepsilon b(t)$ for sufficiently large t. Summarizing the following statement holds:

Lemma 3.3.6. If we assume (B'1) to (B'3), then the fundamental solution $E_V(t, s, \xi)$ to (3.3.30) can be estimated by

$$|E_V(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \exp\left(\varepsilon \int_s^t b(\tau) d\tau\right)$$

for $t_0 \leq s \leq t$ with sufficiently large $t_0 = t_0(\varepsilon)$ and $(t,\xi), (s,\xi) \in Z_{red}(\varepsilon)$.

Remark 3.3.4. We can make the reduced zone as small as we want by the control of the constant ε .

The dissipative zone

Let us assume that the assumption (S1) does not hold. This means, that $\mu(t)$ is "very close" to 1. Thus, we introduced the dissipative zone to ensure integrability of $S_0\{-1, 0, 2\}$ over the elliptic zone $Z_{ell}(c_0, \epsilon)$. In this case we can apply directly Lemma 3.2.6 to estimate the fundamental solution $E(t, s, \xi)$ related to a system of first order for the micro-energy $U = (\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\hat{u}, D_t\hat{u})^T$, and relate this estimate to the fundamental solution $E_V(t, s, \xi)$ related to a system of first order for $V = (\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \hat{v}, D_t \hat{v})^T$.

3.3.5. Estimates for the fundamental solution

We want to obtain estimates for the energy of the solution to our original Cauchy problem. For this reason we need to transform back to estimate the fundamental solution $E(t, s, \xi)$ which is related to a system of first order for the micro-energy $(a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}, D_t\hat{u})$.

Outside the reduced zone it holds

$$E(t, s, \xi) = T(t, \xi) E_V(t, s, \xi) T^{-1}(s, \xi), \qquad (3.3.31)$$

where the matrix $T(t,\xi)$ is defined in the following way:

$$\begin{pmatrix} h(t,\xi)\hat{u} \\ D_t\hat{u} \end{pmatrix} = \underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} \frac{h(t,\xi)}{\lambda(t)\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} & 0 \\ i\frac{b(t)}{2\lambda(t)\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}} & \frac{1}{\lambda(t)} \end{pmatrix}}_{T(t,\xi)} \begin{pmatrix} \langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}\hat{v} \\ D_t\hat{v} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.3.32)

with the inverse matrix

$$T^{-1}(t,\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\lambda(t)\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}}{h(t,\xi)} & 0\\ -i\frac{b(t)\lambda(t)}{2h(t,\xi)} & \lambda(t) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.3.33)

Recall that outside the dissipative zone we have $h(t,\xi) = a(t)|\xi|$ and especially in the dissipative zone we use $h(t,\xi) = \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}$. Inside the reduced zone we have estimated $\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}$ by $\varepsilon \frac{b(t)}{2}$. Therefore, we change the definition of the matrix $T(t,\xi)$ by

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{2h(t,\xi)}{\varepsilon\lambda(t)b(t)} & 0\\ i\frac{1}{\lambda(t)} & \frac{1}{\lambda(t)} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad |T(t,\xi)| \sim \lambda^{-1}(t)$$
(3.3.34)

for all $(t,\xi) \in Z_{red}(\varepsilon)$.

Remark 3.3.5. We may conclude that in the hyperbolic and reduced zones the fundamental solution to our original Cauchy problem in the extended phase space can be estimated by

$$(|E(t,s,\xi)|) \lesssim \frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)} (|E_V(t,s,\xi)|)$$

Some auxiliary estimates. We continue with some auxiliary estimates which are used to obtain energy estimates later on.

Lemma 3.3.7. Let us suppose (B'1) to (B'3) and let $\lambda(t) = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\int_0^t b(\tau)d\tau\right)$. Then the following holds:

1. In the elliptic zone it holds
$$\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} - \frac{b(t)}{2} \leq -\frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{b(t)}.$$

2.
$$\frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)} \exp\left(\int_s^t \langle \xi \rangle_{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \le \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right).$$

3. With $A(t_{\xi_1})|\xi| \sim 1$ (separating line between dissipative and elliptic zone) it holds

$$\exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_0^{t_{\xi_1}} \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \sim 1.$$

4. With $a(t_{\xi_3})|\xi| = \sqrt{1 + \varepsilon^2} b(t_{\xi_3})/2$ (separating line between reduced zone and pseudo-differential zone) it holds

$$|d_{|\xi|}t_{\xi_3}| \gtrsim \frac{\mu(t_{\xi_3})}{|\xi|b(t_{\xi_3})}.$$

Proof. The first statement is equivalent to the following inequality

$$\sqrt{\frac{b^2(t)}{4} - a^2(t)|\xi|^2} - \frac{b(t)}{2} \le -\frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{b(t)}$$

The second statement follows directly from the first one together with the definition of $\lambda(t)$. The third statement can be directly obtained from the following estimate:

$$|\xi|^2 \int_0^{t_{\xi_1}} \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau = |\xi|^2 \int_0^{t_{\xi_1}} \frac{a(\tau)A(\tau)}{\mu(\tau)} d\tau \le |\xi|^2 \int_0^{t_{\xi_1}} \frac{a(\tau)A(\tau)}{\mu_0} d\tau \le |\xi|^2 A^2(t_{\xi_1}) \le 1.$$

The last statement follows directly after straight-forward calculations by using the definition of t_{ξ_3} . We have

$$\begin{aligned} |\xi| &\approx \frac{b(t_{\xi_3})}{a(t_{\xi_3})} = \frac{\mu(t_{\xi_3})}{A(t_{\xi_3})} \Rightarrow \left(d_{|\xi|}t_{\xi_3}\right)^{-1} \approx \left(\frac{\mu(t_{\xi_3})}{A(t_{\xi_3})}\right)' \\ \Rightarrow |d_{|\xi|}t_{\xi_3}|^{-1} &\lesssim \left|\frac{\mu'A - \mu a}{A^2}\right| \lesssim \frac{\mu \frac{a}{A}A + \mu a}{A^2} \lesssim \frac{\mu}{A} \frac{a}{A} \approx |\xi| \frac{b(t_{\xi_3})}{\mu(t_{\xi_3})} \end{aligned}$$

The proof is complete.

A refined estimate for the fundamental solution in the elliptic zone.

Inside the elliptic zone we have

$$|E_V(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{b(t)}{b(s)} \exp\left(\int_s^t \langle \xi \rangle_{b(\tau)} d\tau\right).$$

This yields in combination with (3.3.31) the estimate

$$(|E(t,s,\xi)|) \lesssim \begin{pmatrix} a(t)|\xi| & 0\\ b(t) & b(t) \end{pmatrix} \exp\left(\int_{s}^{t} \left(\langle\xi\rangle_{b(\tau)} - \frac{b(\tau)}{2}\right) d\tau\right) \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{a(s)|\xi|} & 0\\ \frac{1}{a(s)|\xi|} & \frac{1}{b(s)} \end{pmatrix}$$
$$\lesssim \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{s}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \begin{pmatrix} \frac{a(t)}{a(s)} & \frac{a(t)|\xi|}{b(s)}\\ \frac{b(t)}{a(s)|\xi|} & \frac{b(t)}{b(s)} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.3.35)

Here we have used the first statement from Lemma 3.3.7. The estimate for the first row seems to be optimal while the estimate for the second row is not optimal, because at least for increasing coefficient functions b(t) for fixed ξ this estimate is increasing in t. This estimate contradicts to our a-priori knowledge that the wave type energy itself is decreasing. For this reason we need a refined estimate which will be presented in the following steps. If $\Phi^k(t, s, \xi)$, k = 1, 2, are solutions to the equation $\Phi_{tt} + a^2(t)|\xi|^2\Phi + b(t)\Phi_t = 0$ with initial values $\Phi^k(s, s, \xi) = \delta_{1k}$, $\partial_t \Phi^k(s, s, \xi) = \delta_{2k}$, then we have

$$\begin{pmatrix} a(t)|\xi|v(t,\xi)\\ D_tv(t,\xi) \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{a(t)}{a(s)}\Phi_1(t,s,\xi) & ia(t)|\xi|\Phi_2(t,s,\xi)\\ \frac{D_t\Phi_1(t,s,\xi)}{a(s)|\xi|} & iD_t\Phi_2(t,s,\xi) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} a(s)|\xi|v(s,\xi)\\ D_tv(s,\xi) \end{pmatrix}.$$

Hence, if we compare with the estimate (3.3.35), then

$$|\Phi^{1}(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{s}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right), \qquad (3.3.36)$$

$$|\Phi^2(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{1}{b(s)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right), \qquad (3.3.37)$$

$$|\partial_t \Phi^1(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim b(t) \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right), \qquad (3.3.38)$$

$$|\partial_t \Phi^2(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{b(t)}{b(s)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right).$$
(3.3.39)

Let $\Psi_k(t,s,\xi) = \partial_t \Phi^k(t,s,\xi), k = 1,2$. Then we obtain the equations of first order

$$\partial_t \Psi_k + b(t)\Psi_k = -a^2(t)|\xi|^2 \Phi^k(t,s,\xi), \qquad \Psi_k(s,s,\xi) = \delta_{k2}$$

Applying Duhamel's principle we get

$$\begin{split} \Psi_{1}(t,s,\xi) &= -|\xi|^{2} \int_{s}^{t} a^{2}(\tau) \frac{\lambda^{2}(\tau)}{\lambda^{2}(t)} \Phi_{1}(\tau,s,\xi) d\tau, \\ |\Psi_{1}(t,s,\xi)| &\lesssim \frac{|\xi|^{2}}{\lambda^{2}(t)} \int_{s}^{t} a^{2}(\tau) \lambda^{2}(\tau) \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{s}^{\tau} \frac{a^{2}(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right) d\tau \\ &\lesssim \frac{a^{2}(t)|\xi|^{2}}{\lambda^{2}(t)} \int_{s}^{t} \lambda^{2}(\tau) \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{s}^{\tau} \frac{a^{2}(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right) d\tau \\ &\lesssim \frac{a^{2}(t)|\xi|^{2}}{\lambda^{2}(t)} \int_{s}^{t} \frac{b(\tau)\lambda^{2}(\tau)}{\partial_{\tau}\lambda^{2}(\tau)} \frac{1}{b(\tau)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{s}^{\tau} \frac{a^{2}(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right) d\tau \\ &\lesssim \frac{a^{2}(t)|\xi|^{2}}{\lambda^{2}(t)} \left(\lambda^{2}(\tau) \frac{1}{b(\tau)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{s}^{\tau} \frac{a^{2}(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right)\right)_{s}^{t} \\ &+ \frac{a^{2}(t)|\xi|^{2}}{\lambda^{2}(t)} \int_{s}^{t} \lambda^{2}(\tau) \underbrace{\left(\frac{|\xi|^{2}a^{2}(\tau)}{b^{2}(\tau)} + \frac{b'(\tau)}{b^{2}(\tau)}\right)}_{\leq C(\tau) < 1} \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{s}^{\tau} \frac{a^{2}(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right) d\tau \\ &\lesssim \frac{a^{2}(t)|\xi|^{2}}{b(t)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{s}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) - \frac{a^{2}(t)|\xi|^{2}}{b(s)} \frac{\lambda^{2}(s)}{\lambda^{2}(t)}. \end{split}$$

Here we have used $a^2(t)|\xi|^2/b^2(t) \leq 1/2$ from the definition of the elliptic zone and $\frac{b'(t)}{b^2(t)} = o(1)$. We see that the second summand is subordinate to the first one because

$$\frac{b(s)}{b(t)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \frac{\lambda^2(t)}{\lambda^2(s)} = \exp\left(\int_s^t \left(\underbrace{b(\tau) - \frac{a^2(\tau)|\xi|^2}{b(\tau)} - \frac{b'(\tau)}{b(\tau)}}_{>0, \text{ if } \tau \ge t_0}\right) d\tau\right)$$

for $t_0 \leq s \leq t$ with t_0 sufficiently large. Thus, we get

$$\left|\Phi_t^1(t,s,\xi)\right| \lesssim \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{b(t)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right).$$
(3.3.40)

Similarly, we can represent Ψ_2 in the following way:

$$\Psi_{2}(t,s,\xi) = \frac{\lambda^{2}(s)}{\lambda^{2}(t)} - |\xi|^{2} \int_{s}^{t} a^{2}(\tau) \frac{\lambda^{2}(\tau)}{\lambda^{2}(t)} \Phi_{2}(\tau,s,\xi) d\tau, \qquad (3.3.41)$$

$$|\Psi_{2}(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{\lambda^{2}(s)}{\lambda^{2}(t)} + \frac{|\xi|^{2}}{\lambda^{2}(t)} \int_{s}^{t} a^{2}(\tau) \lambda^{2}(\tau) \frac{1}{b(s)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{s}^{\tau} \frac{a^{2}(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right) d\tau$$

$$\lesssim \frac{\lambda^{2}(s)}{\lambda^{2}(t)} + \frac{a^{2}(t)|\xi|^{2}}{b(t)b(s)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{s}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right). \qquad (3.3.42)$$

Thus, we have proved the following lemma:

Lemma 3.3.8. Let $(s,\xi), (t,\xi) \in Z_{ell}(c_0,\varepsilon)$ with $s \leq t$. Then the fundamental solution $E(t,s,\xi)$ can be estimated in the following way:

$$(|E(t,s,\xi)|) \lesssim \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} \frac{a(t)}{a(s)} & \frac{a(t)|\xi|}{b(s)} \\ \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|}{a(s)b(t)} & \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{b(s)b(t)} \end{array}\right) + \frac{\lambda^2(s)}{\lambda^2(t)} \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{array}\right).$$
(3.3.43)

Remark 3.3.6. Let us choose a fixed s. Then the second summand in (3.3.43) is dominated by the first one. If we set $s = t_{\xi_2}$, then in the two cases $\left(\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}\right)$ is increasing or decreasing we can use $a(t_{\xi_2})|\xi| \sim b(t_{\xi_2})$ to get the following estimate:

$$(|E(t,t_{\xi_2},\xi)|) \lesssim \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_{t_{\xi_2}}^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \left(\begin{array}{c} \frac{a(t)}{a(t_{\xi_2})} & \frac{a(t)}{a(t_{\xi_2})} \\ \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|}{a(t_{\xi_2})b(t)} & \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|}{a(t_{\xi_2})b(t)} \end{array}\right).$$
(3.3.44)

3.3.6. Gluing procedure

Case 1: the function $\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$ is monotonously decreasing In the previous sections we have considered the fundamental solution in different zones. Now we have to glue the estimates from Lemmas 3.2.6, 3.3.8, 3.3.6 and 3.3.3. We obtain for the part of the hyperbolic zone which contains large frequencies $\{\xi : |\xi| \ge c > 0\}$ the following estimate for the fundamental solution:

$$(|E(t,0,\xi)|) \lesssim \sqrt{a(t)} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} \int_0^t b(\tau) d\tau\right) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1\\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}$$

to our original problem in the extended phase space, cf. Lemma 3.3.3 and Remark 3.3.5. It remains to consider the influence of the dissipative zone, the elliptic zone, the reduced zone and the hyperbolic zone for small frequencies. We denote by t_{ξ_k} , k = 1, 2, 3, the separating lines between the dissipative zone and the elliptic zone (k = 1), between the elliptic zone and the reduced zone (k = 2) and between the reduced zone and the hyperbolic zone (k = 3).

Case 1.1: $t \leq t_{\xi_1}$ In this case we follow directly Lemma 3.2.6.

Case 1.2: $t_{\xi_1} \leq t \leq t_{\xi_2}$ Now we have to glue the estimates from Lemmas 3.2.6 and 3.3.6. We have the following corollary:

Corollary 3.3.9. The following estimates hold for all $t \in [t_{\xi_1}, t_{\xi_2}]$:

$$(|E(t,0,\xi)|) \lesssim \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \begin{pmatrix} a(t)|\xi| & a(t)|\xi| \\ \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{b(t)} & \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{b(t)} \end{pmatrix} \\ + \exp\left(-\int_{t_{\xi_1}}^t b(\tau) d\tau\right) a(t_{\xi_1})|\xi| \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Proof. The fundamental solution $E(t, 0, \xi)$ can be represented as $E(t, t_{\xi_1}, \xi)E(t_{\xi_1}, 0, \xi)$. This yields

for all $(t,\xi) \in Z_{ell}(c_0,\varepsilon)$

$$\begin{aligned} (|E(t,0,\xi)|) &\lesssim (|E(t,t_{\xi_{1}},\xi)|)(|E(t_{\xi_{1}},0,\xi)|) \\ &\lesssim \left(\exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{t_{\xi_{1}}}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} \frac{a(t)}{a(t_{\xi_{1}})} & \frac{a(t)|\xi|}{b(t_{\xi_{1}})} \\ \frac{a^{2}(t)|\xi|^{2}}{a(t_{\xi_{1}})b(t)} & \frac{a^{2}(t)|\xi|^{2}}{b(t_{\xi_{1}})b(t)} \end{array} \right) + \frac{\lambda^{2}(t_{\xi_{1}})}{\lambda^{2}(t)} \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{array} \right) \right) \\ &\times \frac{a(t_{\xi_{1}})}{A(t_{\xi_{1}})} \left(\begin{array}{cc} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{array} \right) \\ &\lesssim \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{0}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} a(t)|\xi| & a(t)|\xi| \\ \frac{a^{2}(t)|\xi|^{2}}{b(t)} & \frac{a^{2}(t)|\xi|^{2}}{b(t)} \end{array} \right) \\ &+ \exp\left(-\int_{t_{\xi_{1}}}^{t} b(\tau) d\tau \right) a(t_{\xi_{1}})|\xi| \left(\begin{array}{cc} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 1 \end{array} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Here we used $a(t_{\xi_1})|\xi| \leq b(t_{\xi_1}), |\xi| \sim \frac{c_0}{A(t_{\xi_1})}$ together with the third statement from Lemma 3.3.7 to extend the above integral. This completes the proof.

Case 1.3: $t_{\xi_2} \le t \le t_{\xi_3}$

Now we will glue the estimates from Lemma 3.3.6 and Corollary 3.3.9.

Corollary 3.3.10. The following estimate holds for all $t \in [t_{\xi_2}, t_{\xi_3}]$:

$$(|E(t,0,\xi)|) \lesssim \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) a(t)|\xi| \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Proof. From Lemma 3.3.6 and Remark 3.3.5 we have the following estimate:

$$(|E(t,t_{\xi_2},\xi)|) \lesssim \frac{\lambda(t_{\xi_2})}{\lambda(t)} \exp\left(\varepsilon \int_{t_{\xi_2}}^t b(\tau) d\tau\right) \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1\\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Taking account of the representation of the fundamental solution $E(t, 0, \xi)$ as $E(t, t_{\xi_2}, \xi)E(t_{\xi_2}, 0, \xi)$ gives after application of Corollary 3.3.9 the following estimate:

$$\begin{aligned} (|E(t,0,\xi)|) &\lesssim (|E(t,t_{\xi_{2}},\xi)|)(|E(t_{\xi_{2}},0,\xi)|) \\ &\lesssim \exp\left(\left(\varepsilon - \frac{1}{2}\right)\int_{t_{\xi_{2}}}^{t}b(\tau)d\tau\right)\left(\begin{array}{c}1 & 1\\ 1 & 1\end{array}\right)\left[\exp\left(-\int_{t_{\xi_{1}}}^{t_{\xi_{2}}}b(\tau)d\tau\right)a(t_{\xi_{1}})|\xi|\left(\begin{array}{c}0 & 0\\ 1 & 1\end{array}\right) \\ &+\exp\left(-|\xi|^{2}\int_{0}^{t_{\xi_{2}}}\frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)}d\tau\right)\left(\begin{array}{c}a(t_{\xi_{2}})|\xi| & a(t_{\xi_{2}})|\xi|\\ \frac{a^{2}(t_{\xi_{2}})|\xi|^{2}}{b(t_{\xi_{2}})} & \frac{a^{2}(t_{\xi_{2}})|\xi|^{2}}{b(t_{\xi_{2}})}\end{array}\right)\right] \\ &\lesssim \left[\exp\left(\left(\varepsilon - \frac{1}{2}\right)\int_{t_{\xi_{2}}}^{t}b(\tau)d\tau\right)\exp\left(-|\xi|^{2}\int_{0}^{t_{\xi_{2}}}\frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)}d\tau\right)\left(a(t_{\xi_{2}})|\xi| + \frac{a^{2}(t_{\xi_{2}})|\xi|^{2}}{b(t_{\xi_{2}})}\right) \\ &+\exp\left(\left(\varepsilon - \frac{1}{2}\right)\int_{t_{\xi_{2}}}^{t}b(\tau)d\tau\right)\exp\left(-\int_{t_{\xi_{1}}}^{t_{\xi_{2}}}b(\tau)d\tau\right)a(t_{\xi_{1}})|\xi|\right]\left(\begin{array}{c}1 & 1\\ 1 & 1\end{array}\right). \end{aligned}$$

From the definition of $Z_{red}(\varepsilon)$ with a sufficiently small ε we have

$$a^2(t)|\xi|^2 \le \left(\frac{1}{2} - \varepsilon\right)b^2(t).$$

For $t \leq t_{\xi_2}$ we use

Hence, the integral

$$\exp\left(-\int_{t_{\xi_1}}^{t_{\xi_2}} b(\tau) d\tau\right)$$

 $a(t)|\xi| \lesssim b(t).$

can be estimated by

$$\exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_{t_{\xi_1}}^{t_{\xi_2}} \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right),\,$$

and the last integral can be extended up to t = 0. Using $t \ge t_{\xi_2}$ and the increasing behavior of a we conclude from the last estimates the desired statement.

Case 1.4: $t_{\xi_3} \leq t < \infty$

From Lemma 3.3.3 and Remark 3.3.5 we obtain the following statement:

Corollary 3.3.11. The following estimate holds for all $t \in [t_{\xi_3}, \infty)$:

$$\left(|E(t,t_{\xi_3},\xi)|\right) \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(t_{\xi_3})}} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}\int_{t_{\xi_3}}^t b(\tau)d\tau\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} 1 & 1\\ 1 & 1 \end{array}\right).$$

Finally, we have to glue the estimates from Corollaries 3.3.10 and 3.3.11.

Corollary 3.3.12. The following estimate holds for all $t \in [t_{\xi_3}, \infty)$:

$$(|E(t,0,\xi)|) \lesssim \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_0^{t_{\xi_3}} \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} \int_{t_{\xi_3}}^t b(\tau) d\tau\right) \sqrt{a(t)} \sqrt{a(t_{\xi_3})} |\xi| \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Case 2: the function $\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$ is monotonously increasing

The elliptic part lies on the top of the hyperbolic part in this case. For small frequencies the set $\{\xi : |\xi| \leq c_0\}$ lies completely inside the elliptic zone. For this reason we can use the estimates from the elliptic zone and obtain immediately

$$(|E(t,0,\xi)|) \lesssim \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} \frac{a(t)}{a(0)} & \frac{a(t)}{a(0)} \\ \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|}{a(0)b(t)} & \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|}{a(0)b(t)} \end{array}\right).$$
(3.3.45)

It remains to consider the influence of the elliptic zone, the reduced zone and the hyperbolic zone for large frequencies. We denote by t_{ξ_k} , k = 1, 2, the separating lines between the hyperbolic zone and the reduced zone (k = 1) and between the reduced zone and the elliptic zone (k = 2).

Case 2.1: $t \le t_{\xi_1}$

In this case we conclude directly from Lemma 3.3.3 and Remark 3.3.5

$$\left(|E(t,0,\xi)|\right) \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(0)}} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} \int_0^t b(\tau) d\tau\right) \left(\begin{array}{cc} 1 & 1\\ 1 & 1 \end{array}\right). \tag{3.3.46}$$

Case 2.2: $t_{\xi_1} \le t \le t_{\xi_2}$

In this case we need to glue the estimate in the hyperbolic zone and the estimate in the reduced zone. We have

$$\left(|E(t,0,\xi)|\right) \lesssim \exp\left(\left(\varepsilon - \frac{1}{2}\right) \int_{t_{\xi_1}}^t b(\tau)d\tau - \frac{1}{2} \int_0^{t_{\xi_1}} b(\tau)d\tau\right) \frac{\sqrt{a(t_{\xi_1})}}{\sqrt{a(0)}} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1\\ 1 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Case 2.3: $t_{\xi_2} \leq t$

In this case we need to glue the estimate in the elliptic zone and the estimate in the reduced zone. Summarizing yields the following corollary:

Corollary 3.3.13. The following estimate holds for all $t \in [t_{\xi_2}, \infty)$:

$$\begin{aligned} (|E(t,0,\xi)|) &\lesssim &\exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_{t_{\xi_2}}^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau + \left(\varepsilon - \frac{1}{2}\right) \int_{t_{\xi_1}}^{t_{\xi_2}} b(\tau) d\tau - \frac{1}{2} \int_0^{t_{\xi_1}} b(\tau) d\tau \right) \\ &\times & \frac{\sqrt{a(t_{\xi_1})}}{\sqrt{a(0)}} \left(\begin{array}{c} \frac{a(t)}{a(t_{\xi_2})} & \frac{a(t)}{a(t_{\xi_2})} \\ \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|}{a(t_{\xi_2})b(t)} & \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|}{a(t_{\xi_2})b(t)} \end{array} \right). \end{aligned}$$

$L^2 - L^2$ estimates

Theorem 3.3.14. Assume (A1) to (A3) and (B'1) to (B'3). Then we have the following $L^2 - L^2$ estimates:

For the kinetic energy we have

$$\|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \lesssim a(t) \left(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\|u_1\|_{H^1} + \|u_2\|_{L^2}\right).$$

For the "elastic" energy we have

$$\|a(t)\nabla u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \lesssim a(t) \left(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left(\|u_1\|_{H^1} + \|u_2\|_{L^2}\right).$$

Proof. Case 1: the function $\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$ is monotonously decreasing In the case $t \in [0, t_{\xi_1}]$ we have from Lemma 3.2.6 the estimate

$$|E(t,0,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \lesssim \frac{a(t)}{\sqrt{1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau}}$$

This follows directly from

$$\int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau = \int_0^t \frac{a(\tau)A(\tau)}{\mu(\tau)} d\tau \lesssim \int_0^t a(\tau)A(\tau)d\tau \lesssim A^2(t)$$

for large t.

In the case $t \in [t_{\xi_1}, t_{\xi_2}]$ we will estimate separately each row in the estimate from Corollary 3.3.9. Let us consider the first row. It holds

$$a(t)|\xi|\exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \lesssim a(t) \left(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}},$$

therefore we get the desired decay estimate. Using the monotonicity of a for the entries of the second row we can estimate them by those from the first one

$$\frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)}|\xi|^2 = a(t)|\xi|\frac{a(t)|\xi|}{b(t)} \lesssim a(t)|\xi|,$$
$$a(t_{\xi_1})\exp\left(-\int_0^t b(\tau)d\tau\right) \lesssim a(t)\exp\left(-|\xi|^2\int_{t_{\xi_1}}^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)}d\tau\right).$$

In the last inequality we used the third statement from Lemma 3.3.7. In the case $t \in [t_{\xi_2}, t_{\xi_3}]$ from Corollary 3.3.10 we can estimate like in the case $t \in [t_{\xi_1}, t_{\xi_2}]$. To derive the corresponding estimates from Corollary 3.3.12 we have in the case $t \in [t_{\xi_3}, \infty)$ to estimate the term

$$S(t, |\xi|) := |\xi| \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_0^{t_{\xi_3}} \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2} \int_{t_{\xi_3}}^t b(\tau) d\tau\right).$$

This term glues phase function from different zones.

Lemma 3.3.15. For any fixed $t \ge t_{\xi_3}$ the function $S(t, |\xi|)$ can be estimated as follows:

$$S(t, |\xi|) \le \max_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n} \left\{ |\xi| \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \right\}$$

Proof. To estimate the function $S(t, |\xi|)$ it is important that we will prove that the first partial derivative $\partial_{|\xi|}S(t, |\xi|)$ is negative for $|\xi|$ small. This follows from

$$\begin{split} \partial_{|\xi|}S(t,|\xi|) &= S(t,|\xi|) \left(\frac{1}{|\xi|} - 2|\xi| \int_0^{t_{\xi_3}} \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau - \frac{a^2(t_{\xi_3})|\xi|^2}{b(t_{\xi_3})} d_{|\xi|} t_{\xi_3} + \frac{b(t_{\xi_3})}{2} d_{|\xi|} t_{\xi_3} \right) \\ &< S(t,|\xi|) \left(\frac{1}{|\xi|} + \left(\frac{b(t_{\xi_3})}{2} - \frac{a^2(t_{\xi_3})|\xi|^2}{b(t_{\xi_3})}\right) d_{|\xi|} t_{\xi_3} \right) \\ &< S(t,|\xi|) \left(\frac{1}{|\xi|} + \frac{(1 - \varepsilon^2)b(t_{\xi_3})}{4} d_{|\xi|} t_{\xi_3} \right), \end{split}$$

here we have used

$$\frac{a^2(t_{\xi_3})|\xi|^2}{b(t_{\xi_3})} = \frac{(1+\varepsilon^2)b(t_{\xi_3})}{4}.$$

Hence, a sufficiently small ε guarantees $\frac{(1-\varepsilon^2)b(t_{\xi_3})}{4} > 0$. Taking account of $d_{|\xi|}t_{\xi_3} < 0$, $|d_{|\xi|}t_{\xi_3}| \ge \frac{\mu(t_{\xi_3})}{|\xi|b(t_{\xi_3})}$ (this property comes from the fourth statement of Lemma 3.3.7) and $\mu(t_{\xi_3}) \to \infty$ for $|\xi| \to 0$ we have the desired decreasing behavior of the function $S(t, |\xi|)$ in $|\xi|$. Now let us fix t > 0. Then the function $S(t, |\xi|)$ takes its maximum for $|\tilde{\xi}|$ satisfying $t = t_{\tilde{\xi}_3}$, that is, the second integral vanishes in $S(t, |\xi|)$. This completes the proof.

Consequently,

$$\begin{split} \sqrt{a(t)}\sqrt{a(t_{\xi_3})}|\xi|S(t,|\xi|) &\leq \sqrt{a(t)}\sqrt{a(t_{\tilde{\xi}_3})}|\tilde{\xi}|S(t_{\tilde{\xi}_3},\tilde{\xi}) = a(t)|\tilde{\xi}|\exp\left(-|\tilde{\xi}|^2\int_0^{t_{\tilde{\xi}_3}}\frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)}d\tau\right) \\ &\leq \max_{\xi\in\mathbb{R}^n}\left\{a(t)|\xi|\exp\left(-|\xi|^2\int_0^t\frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)}d\tau\right)\right\} \lesssim \frac{a(t)}{\sqrt{1+\int_0^t\frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)}d\tau}}. \end{split}$$

Corollary 3.3.12 and Lemma 3.3.15 yield the following result:

$$|E(t,0,\xi)| \lesssim a(t) \left(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \text{ for } t \in [t_{\xi_3},\infty).$$

In this way all statements are proved.

Case 2: the function
$$\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$$
 is monotonously increasing

For small frequencies $\{\xi : |\xi| \le c_0\}$ we can apply the estimate in (3.3.45). Here we use that $\frac{A(t)}{\mu(t)}$ is monotonously decreasing. For large frequencies $\{\xi : |\xi| \ge c_0\}$ we consider the estimates from Corollary 3.3.13, that is, we have

$$\exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_{t_{\xi_2}}^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau + \left(\varepsilon - \frac{1}{2}\right) \int_{t_{\xi_1}}^{t_{\xi_2}} b(\tau) d\tau - \frac{1}{2} \int_0^{t_{\xi_1}} b(\tau) d\tau\right) \lesssim \exp\left(-c_0^2 \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right).$$

Here we use for ε sufficiently small the inequality

$$\left(\frac{1}{2}-\varepsilon\right)\int_{t_{\xi_1}}^{t_{\xi_2}}b(\tau)d\tau \ge |\xi|^2\int_{t_{\xi_1}}^{t_{\xi_2}}\frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)}d\tau.$$

Moreover, the following estimate holds for $c_0 < \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \frac{\mu(0)}{A(0)}$:

$$\frac{b(t)}{2} \ge c_0^2 \frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)} \Leftrightarrow \frac{b^2(t)}{2} \ge c_0^2 a^2(t) \Leftrightarrow \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mu^2(t)}{A^2(t)} \ge c_0^2.$$

We can see that the first row in the estimate from Corollary 3.3.13 has its maximum for large t inside $\{\xi : |\xi| \le c_0\}$. From that the theorem is completely proved.

Examples. We will give some examples for special coefficients.

Example 3.3.1. Let $a(t) = (1+t)^l$, $b(t) = C(1+t)^k$, $k \in (-1, 2l+1)$. Then we have

$$\|\left((1+t)^{l}\nabla u(t,\cdot), u_{t}(t,\cdot)\right)\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim (1+t)^{\frac{k-1}{2}} \left(\|u_{1}\|_{H^{1}} + \|u_{2}\|_{L^{2}}\right).$$

Example 3.3.2. Let $a(t) = e^t$, $b(t) = e^{\beta t}$, $\beta \in (0, 2)$. Then we have

$$\| \left(e^t \nabla u(t, \cdot), u_t(t, \cdot) \right) \|_{L^2} \lesssim e^{\frac{\beta}{2}t} \left(\| u_1 \|_{H^1} + \| u_2 \|_{L^2} \right).$$

Example 3.3.3. Let $a(t) = e^t e^{e^t}$, $b(t) = e^t e^{\beta e^t}$, $\beta \in (0, 2)$. Then we have

$$\| \left(e^t e^{e^t} \nabla u(t, \cdot), u_t(t, \cdot) \right) \|_{L^2} \lesssim e^t e^{\frac{\beta}{2}e^t} \left(\| u_1 \|_{H^1} + \| u_2 \|_{L^2} \right).$$

3.3.7. Comparison of results

Let us compare some results for the scale-invariant case from Section 2.2.1 with results for the cases of non-effective dissipation from Section 3.2 and of effective dissipation from Section 3.3.
Speed of potential order

We start again with the Cauchy problem

$$u_{tt} - (1+t)^{2l} \Delta u + \frac{\mu(l+1)}{(1+t)} u_t = 0, \ u(0,x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0,x) = u_2(x)$$
(3.3.47)

for l > 0. Using the notations from Section 3.2 we have $\alpha(t) = \frac{l}{l+1}$.

Case 1 : non-effective dissipation $\left(\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}=\rho-\frac{1}{2}\right)$

With $\mu \neq 1$ we can see that $a(t) = (1+t)^{1+l}$, $b(t) = \frac{\mu(l+1)}{(1+t)}$ satisfy all assumptions from Theorem 3.2.1. Otherwise, from the definition of ρ and the condition $\max\{\rho - \frac{1}{2}, -1\} = \rho - \frac{1}{2}$ we obtain $\mu + \frac{l}{l+1} < 2$, i.e., this condition satisfies the condition (C): $\limsup_{t\to\infty} \mu(t) + \alpha(t) < 2$. Applying Theorem 3.2.1 in the case of non-effective dissipation the asymptotic profile for the kinetic energy $\|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2}$ and for the "elastic energy" $\|(1+t)^l \nabla u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2}$ is determined by

$$\frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} = \frac{(1+t)^{\frac{l}{2}}}{e^{\frac{1}{2}\int_0^t \frac{\mu(l+1)}{1+s}ds}} = (1+t)^{\frac{l}{2} - \frac{\mu(l+1)}{2}}.$$

This profile coincides with the profiles from the estimates in Proposition 2.2.1.

Case 2: effective dissipation $\left(\max\{\rho - \frac{1}{2}, -1\} = -1\right)$

From the definition of ρ we can see that the above condition implies $\mu + \frac{l}{l+1} \geq 2$. Thus, the condition (C) is not satisfied. Applying Theorem 3.3.14 for the case of effective dissipation the asymptotic profile of the kinetic energy $\|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2}$ and for the the "elastic energy" $\|(1+t)^l \nabla u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2}$ is determined by

$$a(t)\left(1+\int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)}d\tau\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} = \frac{(1+t)^l}{\sqrt{1+\int_0^t \frac{(1+\tau)^{2l+1}}{\mu(l+1)}d\tau}} \sim \frac{1}{1+t}.$$

Due to assumption (B'3) it is not allowed to apply Theorem 3.3.14 directly to the Cauchy problem (3.3.47). But, if we formally do it for $\mu \ge 2 - \frac{l}{l+1}$, then this profile coincides with the profiles from the estimates of Proposition 2.2.1. For the case $\mu = 0$ some $L^p - L^q$ estimates on the conjugate line are proposed in M. Reissig [Rei97].

Speed of exponential order

Now we consider another model case to compare with the general results of Theorem 3.2.1 for non-effective dissipation and of Theorem 3.3.14 for effective dissipation. We devote to the Cauchy problem

$$u_{tt} - e^{2t}\Delta u + \mu u_t = 0, \ u(0, x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0, x) = u_2(x).$$
(3.3.48)

Using the notations from Section 3.2 we have $\alpha(t) \equiv 1, \ \rho = -\frac{\mu}{2}$.

Case 1: non-effective dissipation $\left(\max\{\rho - \frac{1}{2}, -1\} = \rho - \frac{1}{2}\right)$

The assumptions from Theorem 3.2.1 are satisfied for $\mu \neq 1$. Keep in mind that $\rho - \frac{1}{2} > -1 \Leftrightarrow -\frac{\mu}{2} - \frac{1}{2} > -1$, this condition implies $\mu + 1 < 2$, i.e., it satisfies the condition (C): $\limsup_{t\to\infty} \mu(t) + \alpha(t) < 2$.

Applying Theorem 3.2.1 in the case of non-effective dissipations the asymptotic profile for the kinetic energy $||u_t(t,\cdot)||_{L^2}$ and for the "elastic energy" $||e^t \nabla u(t,\cdot)||_{L^2}$ is determined by

$$\frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} = \frac{e^{\frac{t}{2}}}{e^{\frac{1}{2}\int_0^t \mu ds}} = e^{\frac{t}{2} - \frac{\mu t}{2}}.$$

This profile coincides with the profiles from the estimates from Proposition 2.2.2.

Case 2: effective dissipation $\left(\max\{\rho-\frac{1}{2},-1\}=-1\right)$

From the definition of ρ we can see that the above condition implies $\mu + 1 \geq 2$. Hence, this condition does not satisfy the condition (C). Applying Theorem 3.3.14 in the case of effective dissipations the asymptotic profile of the kinetic energy $\|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2}$ and of the "elastic energy" $\|e^t \nabla u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2}$ is determined by

$$a(t)\left(1+\int_0^t \frac{a^2(s)}{b(s)}ds\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}} = \frac{e^t}{\sqrt{1+\int_0^t \frac{e^{2s}}{\mu}ds}} \sim C.$$

Due to assumption (B'3) it is not allowed to apply Theorem 3.3.14 to the Cauchy problem (3.3.48). But if we formally do it for $\mu \ge 1$, then this profile coincides with the profiles from the estimates of Proposition 2.2.2. For the case $\mu = 0$ some $L^p - L^q$ estimates on the conjugate line are proposed in A. Galstian [Gal03].

3.4. Over-damping

We consider now "large" coefficients b = b(t) in the damping term. For this reason we may assume

(**OD**)
$$\int_0^\infty \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau < \infty$$

Then the formal application of Theorem 3.3.14 implies among other things

$$\|\nabla u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \le C(\|u_1\|_{H^1} + \|u_2\|_{L^2}).$$

The following result shows that no more can be expected in this case of so-called over-damping.

Theorem 3.4.1. Assume (A1) to (A3), (B'1) to (B'3) and (OD). Then for $(u_1, u_2) \in L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \times H^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ the limit

$$u(\infty, x) = \lim_{t \to \infty} u(t, x)$$

exists in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and is different from zero for non-zero data. Furthermore, under the regularity assumption $(u_1, u_2) \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \times H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ it holds

$$\|u(t,\cdot) - u(\infty,\cdot)\|_{L^2} = \mathcal{O}\left(\int_t^\infty \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right)$$

Proof. The proof is based on the representation of solutions which has been introduced in the hyperbolic region and elliptic region together with the following statement.

Lemma 3.4.2. Let us assume the conditions (B'1), (B'2) (B'3) and (OD). Then the limit

$$S(s,\xi) = (1,0)^T \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{1}{\lambda(t)\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}} E_V(t,s,\xi)$$

exists uniformly on compact sets in ξ and it is different from zero.

Proof. The goal of this lemma is to extract $\hat{u}(t,\xi)$ from $V = (\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \lambda(t) \hat{u}, D_t(\lambda(t) \hat{u}))^T$. From the over-damping condition we can conclude that $\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$ is a monotonous increasing function because we assume monotonicity of this function. Thus, it suffices to consider the elliptic region of the extended phase space and we can use the representation of the fundamental solution in this region. We have from Lemma 3.3.5 after backward transformation

$$\frac{1}{\lambda(t)\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)}}E_V(t,s,\xi) \sim \frac{1}{\lambda(s)\langle\xi\rangle_{b(s)}} \exp\left(\int_s^t \left(\langle\xi\rangle_{b(\tau)} - \frac{b(\tau)}{2}\right) d\tau\right) Q_{ell,0}(t,s,\xi).$$

We see that the exponential term converges uniformly on compact sets in ξ as $t \to \infty$. Moreover, $Q_{ell,0}(t,s,\xi)$ converges to $Q_{ell,0}(\infty,s,\xi)$ for t to ∞ , and the (11)-entry of this matrix is non-zero. Therefore, at least the first element of the row $S(s,\xi)$ is non-zero for large s. If we note the relation $S(s,\xi) = S(s_1,\xi)E_V(s_1,s,\xi)$, then from the invertibility of $E_V(s_1,s,\xi)$ we can conclude that $S(s_1,\xi)$ can never be zero for any choice of s_1 and ξ .

In the case s = 0 the multiplier $S(0,\xi)$ takes the Cauchy data in the form

$$V(0,\xi) := \left(\langle \xi \rangle_{b(0)} \hat{u}_1, \hat{u}_2 - i \frac{1}{2} b(0) \hat{u}_1 \right)^T$$

and maps it to the asymptotic state $\hat{u}(\infty,\xi)$, that is,

$$\hat{u}(\infty,\xi) = S(0,\xi)V(0,\xi).$$
(3.4.1)

The convergence follows at least for data having compact support on the Fourier level, therefore on a dense subset of L^2 space. Together with an a-priori bound of the solution we can conclude that the limit exists for all data from $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \times H^{-1}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. This a-priori bound can be obtained in a similar way we have proven the $L^2 - L^2$ estimate for energy solutions.

Now let us assume the regularity assumption on the data $(u_1, u_2) \in H^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \times H^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$. From formula (3.3.45) by taking out $|\xi|$ from the last matrix (this needs the better regularity of the data) we get $\|\hat{u}_t(t, \cdot)\|_{L^2} \leq \mathcal{O}\left(\frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)}\right)$.

Lemma 3.4.3. The second time derivative of \hat{u} satisfies the following estimate:

$$\|\hat{u}_{tt}(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \lesssim \left(\frac{a^2(t)}{\mu(t)} + \frac{a(t)\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}\right) \left(\|u_1\|_{H^2} + \|u_2\|_{H^1}\right).$$
(3.4.2)

Proof. In order to separate the extended phase space we will use a smooth cut-off function $\psi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ such that $\psi(r) = 1$ for $r \leq 1/2$, $\psi(r) = 0$ for $r \geq 1$ and $\psi'(r) \leq 0$. Then we define functions ψ_1, ψ_2 and ψ_3 as follows:

$$\begin{split} \psi_1(\xi) &= \psi\Big(\frac{|\xi|}{c_0}\Big), \\ \psi_2(t,\xi) &= \left(1 - \psi\Big(\frac{|\xi|}{c_0}\Big)\Big)\psi\Big(\frac{A(t)|\xi|}{\mu(t)}\frac{2}{\sqrt{1 - \varepsilon^2}}\Big), \\ \psi_3(t,\xi) &= \left(1 - \psi\Big(\frac{|\xi|}{c_0}\Big)\right)\left(1 - \psi\Big(\frac{A(t)|\xi|}{\mu(t)}\frac{2}{\sqrt{1 - \varepsilon^2}}\Big)\right) \end{split}$$

such that $\psi_1(\xi) + \psi_2(t,\xi) + \psi_3(t,\xi) = 1$.

Firstly, we devote to the elliptic zone. In order to prove the desired estimate for \hat{u}_{tt} we carry out one derivative with respect to t in the equation

$$\Phi_{tt}^{k} + a^{2}(t)|\xi|^{2}\Phi^{k} + b(t)\Phi_{t}^{k} = 0$$

with initial values $\Phi^k(s, s, \xi) = \delta_{1k}, \ \partial_t \Phi^k(s, s, \xi) = \delta_{2k}, \ k = 1, 2$. It yields

$$\partial_t \Phi_{tt}^k + b(t) \Phi_{tt}^k = -2a(t)a'(t)|\xi|^2 \Phi^k - a^2(t)|\xi|^2 \Phi_t^k - b'(t) \Phi_t^k.$$

Applying Duhamel's principle we get

$$\Phi_{tt}^{k}(t,s,\xi) = \frac{\lambda^{2}(s)}{\lambda^{2}(t)} \Phi_{tt}^{k}(s,s,\xi) - \int_{s}^{t} \frac{\lambda^{2}(\tau)}{\lambda^{2}(t)} \Big(2a(\tau)a'(\tau)|\xi|^{2} \Phi^{k}(\tau,s,\xi) + (b'(\tau) + a^{2}(\tau)|\xi|^{2}) \Phi_{\tau}^{k}(\tau,s,\xi) \Big) d\tau.$$

Using estimates (3.3.36), (3.3.37), (3.3.40) and (3.3.42) it holds

$$\begin{split} |\Phi_{tt}^{k}(t,s,\xi)| &\lesssim \frac{\lambda^{2}(s)}{\lambda^{2}(t)} \Phi_{tt}^{k}(s,s,\xi) + \underbrace{\frac{1}{\lambda^{2}(t)} \int_{s}^{t} \lambda^{2}(\tau) a(\tau) a'(\tau) \frac{|\xi|^{2}}{b(s)^{k-1}} \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{s}^{\tau} \frac{a^{2}(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right) d\tau}_{(A)} \\ &+ \underbrace{\frac{1}{\lambda^{2}(t)} \int_{s}^{t} \lambda^{2}(\tau) |b'(\tau)| \frac{a^{2}(\tau) |\xi|^{2}}{b(\tau) b(s)^{k-1}} \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{s}^{\tau} \frac{a^{2}(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right) d\tau}_{(B)} \\ &+ \underbrace{\frac{1}{\lambda^{2}(t)} \int_{s}^{t} \lambda^{2}(\tau) \frac{a^{4}(\tau) |\xi|^{4}}{b(\tau) b(s)^{k-1}} \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{s}^{\tau} \frac{a^{2}(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right) d\tau}_{(C)} . \end{split}$$

We notice that $\Phi_{tt}^1(s, s, \xi) = -a^2(s)|\xi|^2$ and $\Phi_{tt}^2(s, s, \xi) = -b(s)$. Applying the assumptions (A1) and (A2) for a(t) we have

$$\begin{split} (A) &\lesssim \frac{a^3(t)|\xi|^2}{\lambda^2(t)b(s)^{k-1}} \int_s^t \underbrace{b(\tau)\lambda^2(\tau)}_{\partial_\tau\lambda^2(\tau)} \frac{1}{A(\tau)b(\tau)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^\tau \frac{a^2(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right) d\tau \\ &\lesssim \frac{a^3(t)|\xi|^2}{\lambda^2(t)b(s)^{k-1}} \left(\lambda^2(\tau)\frac{1}{b(\tau)A(\tau)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^\tau \frac{a^2(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right)\right) \Big|_s^t \\ &\quad + \frac{a^3(t)|\xi|^2}{\lambda^2(t)b(s)^{k-1}} \int_s^t \lambda^2(\tau) \underbrace{\left(\frac{|\xi|^2a^2}{b^2A} + \frac{|b'|}{b^2A} + \frac{a}{bA^2}\right)}_{\leq (1/2+\varepsilon)A^{-1}(\tau)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^\tau \frac{a^2(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right) d\tau \\ &\lesssim \frac{a^3(t)|\xi|^2}{b(t)b(s)^{k-1}A(t)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) - \frac{a^3(t)|\xi|^2}{b(s)^kA(s)} \frac{\lambda^2(s)}{\lambda^2(t)}. \end{split}$$

Here we have used $a^2(t)|\xi|^2/b^2(t) \le 1/2$ (from the definition of the elliptic zone), $\frac{|b'(t)|}{b^2(t)} \le \frac{1}{\mu(t)} = o(1)$ and $\mu(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$. We see also that the second summand is subordinate to the first one because

$$\frac{b(s)}{b(t)}\frac{A(s)}{A(t)}\exp\Big(-|\xi|^2\int_s^t\frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)}d\tau\Big)\frac{\lambda^2(t)}{\lambda^2(s)} = \exp\Big(\int_s^t\Big(\underbrace{b(\tau) - \frac{a^2(\tau)|\xi|^2}{b(\tau)} - \frac{b'(\tau)}{b(\tau)} - \frac{a(\tau)}{A(\tau)}}_{>0, \text{ if } \tau \ge t_0}\Big)d\tau\Big)$$

for $t_0 \leq s \leq t$ with t_0 sufficiently large. Thus, we get

$$(A) \lesssim \frac{a^3(t)|\xi|^2}{b(t)b(s)^{k-1}A(t)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) = \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{\mu(t)b(s)^{k-1}} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right). \quad (3.4.3)$$

Similarly, we can estimate (B) as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} (B) &\lesssim \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{\lambda^2(t)b(s)^{k-1}} \int_s^t \lambda^2(\tau) \frac{|b'(\tau)|}{b(\tau)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^\tau \frac{a^2(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right) d\tau \\ &\lesssim \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{\lambda^2(t)b(s)^{k-1}} \int_s^t \frac{b(\tau)\lambda^2(\tau)}{\partial_\tau \lambda^2(\tau)} \frac{1}{\mu(\tau)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^\tau \frac{a^2(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right) d\tau \\ &\lesssim \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{\lambda^2(t)b(s)^{k-1}} \left(\lambda^2(\tau) \frac{1}{\mu(\tau)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^\tau \frac{a^2(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right)\right) \Big|_s^t \\ &\quad + \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{\lambda^2(t)b(s)^{k-1}} \int_s^t \lambda^2(\tau) \underbrace{\left(\frac{|\xi|^2 a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)\mu(\tau)} + \frac{|\mu'(\tau)|}{\mu^2(\tau)}\right)}_{\leq (1/2+\varepsilon)b(\tau)/\mu(\tau)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^\tau \frac{a^2(\theta)}{b(\theta)} d\theta\right) d\tau \\ &\lesssim \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{\mu(t)b(s)^{k-1}} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) - \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{\mu(s)b(s)^{k-1}} \frac{\lambda^2(s)}{\lambda^2(t)}. \end{aligned}$$

Here we have also used $a^2(t)|\xi|^2/b^2(t) \le 1/2$, $\frac{|b'(t)|}{b^2(t)} \le \frac{1}{\mu(t)} = o(1)$, $|\mu'(t)| \le \mu(t)\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}$ and $\mu(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$. Obviously we see that the second summand is subordinate to the first one because

$$\frac{\mu(s)}{\mu(t)} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \frac{\lambda^2(t)}{\lambda^2(s)} = \exp\left(\int_s^t \left(\underbrace{b(\tau) - \frac{a^2(\tau)|\xi|^2}{b(\tau)} - \frac{\mu'(\tau)}{\mu(\tau)}}_{>0, \text{ if } \tau \ge t_0}\right) d\tau\right)$$

for $t_0 \leq s \leq t$ with t_0 sufficiently large. Thus, we get

$$(B) \lesssim \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{\mu(t)b(s)^{k-1}} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right).$$
(3.4.4)

Analogously, it is not to difficult to get the estimate for (C) as follows:

$$(C) \lesssim \frac{a^4(t)|\xi|^4}{b^2(t)b(s)^{k-1}} \exp\Big(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\Big).$$
(3.4.5)

From the estimates (3.4.3), (3.4.4) and (3.4.5) we obtain

$$|\Phi_{tt}^k(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \left(\frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{\mu(t)} + \frac{a^4(t)|\xi|^4}{b^2(t)}\right) \frac{1}{b(s)^{k-1}} \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right), \ k = 1, 2,$$
(3.4.6)

for all (s,ξ) and $(t,\xi) \in Z_{ell}(0,\varepsilon)$.

Now we devote to the hyperbolic zone. Using the result from Remark 3.3.2 we get

$$D_t V(t,\xi) = D_t \Big(M N_1(t,\xi) E_0(t,0,\xi) Q(t,0,\xi) N_1^{-1}(0,\xi) M^{-1} V(0,\xi) \Big),$$

 $N_1(t,\xi) \in S_1\{0,0,0\} \Rightarrow D_t N_1(t,\xi) \in S_0\{0,0,1\},$

with $V = (\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \hat{v}, D_t \hat{v})^T$. We keep in mind that

$$D_{t}Q(t,0,\xi) = \mathcal{R}_{2}(t,0,\xi)Q(t,0,\xi)$$

$$\Rightarrow |D_{t}Q(t,0,\xi)| = |\mathcal{R}_{2}(t,0,\xi)||Q(t,0,\xi)| = |\mathcal{R}_{1}(t,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}$$

$$D_{t}E_{0}(t,0,\xi) = \left(\underbrace{\mathcal{D}(t,\xi)}_{\in S_{2}\{1,0,0\}} + \underbrace{F_{0}(t,\xi)}_{\in S_{1}\{0,0,1\}}\right)E_{0}(t,0,\xi)$$

$$\Rightarrow |D_{t}E_{0}(t,0,\xi)| \lesssim \sqrt{a(t)}\langle\xi\rangle_{b(t)} \sim \sqrt{a(t)}a(t)|\xi|.$$

Thus

$$\|v_{tt}(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \lesssim \sqrt{a(t)} a(t) \big(\|v_0\|_{H^2} + \|v_1\|_{H^1} \big).$$
(3.4.7)

Now we transform back to $u_{tt}(t, x)$. Using

$$u_{tt} = \frac{v_{tt} - b'/2v + b^2/4v - bv_t}{\lambda(t)}$$

and (3.4.7) we get

$$\left\| \left(1 - \psi \left(\frac{A(t) \|\xi\|}{\mu(t)} \frac{2}{\sqrt{1 - \varepsilon^2}} \right) \right) \hat{u}_{tt}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{L^2} \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)} a(t)}{\lambda(t)} \left(\|u_0\|_{H^2} + \|u_1\|_{H^1} \right).$$
(3.4.8)

Now we shall derive the final estimate (3.4.2). Small frequencies: $|\xi| \leq c_0$

In this case this part of the extended phase space lies completely inside the elliptic zone. For this reason, it follows from (3.4.6) that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\psi_{1}(\xi)\hat{u}_{tt}(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} &\lesssim \left(\frac{a^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)} + \frac{a^{4}(t)}{b^{2}(t)}\right) \left(\|u_{0}\|_{L^{2}} + \|u_{1}\|_{L^{2}}\right) \\ &\lesssim \frac{a^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)} \left(\|u_{0}\|_{L^{2}} + \|u_{1}\|_{L^{2}}\right). \end{aligned}$$
(3.4.9)

Here, we use the following proposition:

Proposition 3.4.4. Assume (B'1) and (OD). Then it holds

$$\mu(t) \gtrsim A^2(t). \tag{3.4.10}$$

Proof. Due to Assumption (OD) we see that, at least, $A(t)/\mu(t)$ is decreasing and for large t we obtain

$$C \ge \int_0^t \frac{a(\tau)A(\tau)}{\mu(\tau)} d\tau \ge \frac{A(t)}{\mu(t)} \int_0^t a(\tau)d\tau \ge \frac{A(t)}{\mu(t)} (A(t) - A(0)) \gtrsim \frac{A^2(t)}{\mu(t)} \Rightarrow \mu(t) \gtrsim A^2(t).$$

This we wanted to prove.

Large frequencies : $|\xi| \ge c_0$

Actually, according to our calculations in the reduced zone this zone does not influence our desired estimates. Thus, we can glue this zone to the hyperbolic zone and call the new zone the hyperbolic part. Let t_{ξ} be the separating line between the hyperbolic part and the elliptic zone.

Case 1:
$$t \leq t_{\xi}$$

In this case we use directly the result (3.4.8).

Case 2: $t \ge t_{\xi}$

In this case the elliptic zone lies on the top of the hyperbolic part. For this reason we have

$$\hat{u}_{tt}(t,\xi) = \underbrace{\Phi_{tt}^{1}(t,t_{\xi},\xi)\hat{u}(t_{\xi},\xi)}_{(1)} + \underbrace{\Phi_{tt}^{2}(t,t_{\xi},\xi)\hat{u}_{t}(t_{\xi},\xi)}_{(2)}$$

Using the estimates (3.4.6) for $\Phi_{tt}^k(t, t_{\xi}, \xi)$ and the estimates (3.3.46) for $\hat{u}(t_{\xi}, \xi), \hat{u}_t(t_{\xi}, \xi)$ we obtain

This implies

$$\begin{split} \left\| F^{-1} \Big(\psi_2(t,\xi) \Phi^1_{tt}(t,t_{\xi},\xi) \hat{u}(t_{\xi},\xi) \Big) \right\| &\lesssim \left(\frac{a^2(t)}{\mu(t)} + \frac{a^4(t)}{b^2(t)} \Big(\int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \Big)^{-1} \Big) \left(\|u_0\|_{H^2} + \|u_1\|_{H^1} \right) \\ &\lesssim \frac{a^2(t)}{\mu(t)} \Big(\|u_0\|_{H^2} + \|u_1\|_{H^1} \Big). \end{split}$$

Here, we used the following proposition:

Proposition 3.4.5. Assume (B'1) and (OD). Then it holds

$$\frac{b(t)}{a(t)} \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \gtrsim A(t).$$
(3.4.11)

Proof. We have

$$\frac{b(t)}{a(t)} \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau = \frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)} \int_0^t \frac{a(\tau)A(\tau)}{\mu(\tau)} d\tau \ge \frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(t)}{\mu(t)} (A(t) - A(0)) \gtrsim A(t),$$

the statement is proved.

Analogously, we can prove the following estimate for (2):

$$\left\|F^{-1}\Big(\psi_2(t,\xi)\Phi_{tt}^2(t,t_{\xi},\xi)\hat{u}_t(t_{\xi},\xi)\Big)\right\| \lesssim \frac{a^2(t)}{\mu(t)} \big(\|u_0\|_{H^2} + \|u_1\|_{H^1}\big).$$

Summarizing we have

$$\|\psi_2(t,\xi)\hat{u}_{tt}(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \lesssim \frac{a^2(t)}{\mu(t)} \big(\|u_0\|_{H^2} + \|u_1\|_{H^1}\big).$$
(3.4.12)

From the estimates (3.4.8), (3.4.9) and (3.4.12) we can conclude our desired estimate. This completes the proof.

From Lemma 3.4.3 we obtain $\frac{1}{a^2(t)}\hat{u}_{tt} \to 0$ in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ under the (H^2, H^1) regularity for the data. Now we consider the following differential equation

$$\hat{u}_{tt} + a^2(t)|\xi|^2 \hat{u} + b(t)\hat{u}_t = 0$$
(3.4.13)

for all t. Taking into consideration the existence of $\hat{u}(t,\xi)$ when $t \to \infty$ we can see that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{b(t)}{a^2(t)} u_t(t, x) = -\Delta u(\infty, x)$$
(3.4.14)

converges in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Furthermore,

$$\|u(\infty, \cdot) - u(t, \cdot)\|_{L^2} \le \int_t^\infty \|u_t(\tau, x)\|_{L^2} d\tau \le C \left(\|u_1\|_{H^2} + \|u_2\|_{H^1}\right) \int_t^\infty \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau.$$

This completes the proof.

4. $L^p - L^q$ estimates on the conjugate line

As we did before we will divide our considerations into two cases, the case of non-effective dissipation in Section 4.1 and the case of effective dissipation in Section 4.2.

4.1. The case of non-effective dissipation

In Section 4.1.1 we present the WKB analysis to get representations of solutions by Fourier multipliers. Here we shall use symbol classes with infinite smoothness with respect to the time variable, too. However, in Section 4.1.4 we will also study these Fourier multipliers by using stationary phase method. The principal ideas were introduced by K. Yagdjian, [Yag97], and M. Reissig - K. Yagdjian, [R-Y00a].

4.1.1. Higher diagonalization modulo $S\{-p, -p, p+1\}$

Step 1. We will use again symbol classes which are defined in Definition 2.1.1, but now with infinite smoothness with respect to phase and time variable $(l = \infty)$ as well. We will denote them by $S\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$. The family of symbol classes $S\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$ satisfies corresponding properties to those from Lemma 2.1.5. Starting the diagonalization procedure we recall the treatment in Section 3.2.2. There we have already performed the first step of diagonalization. By using the new symbol classes we get

$$(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_0(t) - R_1(t,\xi))U^{(1)}(t,\xi) = 0,$$

where $\mathcal{D} \in S\{1, 1, 0\}$, $F_0 \in S\{0, 0, 1\}$, and $R_1 \in S\{0, 0, 1\}$. This step of diagonalization scheme we call as the *diagonalization mod* $S\{0, 0, 1\}$. To prove $L^p - L^q$ estimates we need *diagonalization mod* $S\{-p, -p, p+1\}$, where p is a suitable chosen (large) number.

Step p+1. To carry out further steps of diagonalization we propose the following new conditions:

$$(A3)^{\infty} |a^{(k)}(t)| \lesssim a(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^k, k = 1, 2, \cdots,$$
$$(B2)^{\infty} |\mu^{(k)}(t)| \lesssim \mu(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^k, k = 1, 2, \cdots.$$

We have the following lemma:

Lemma 4.1.1. Assume (A1), (A2), (A3)^{∞}, (B1), (B2)^{∞}, (B3) or (B3)'. Then there exist matrixvalued functions

- $N_p(t,\xi) \in S\{0,0,0\}$ are invertible for all $(t,\xi) \in Z_{hyp}(N)$ and $N_p^{-1}(t,\xi) \in S\{0,0,0\}$,
- $F_{p-1}(t,\xi) \in S\{0,0,1\}$ are diagonal with $F_{p-1}(t,\xi) + i \frac{a'(t)}{2a(t)}I i \frac{b(t)}{2}I \in S\{-1,-1,2\},$
- $R_p(t,\xi) \in S\{-p, -p, p+1\}$

such that the following operator-valued identity holds:

$$(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - \mathcal{R}(t,\xi)) N_p(t,\xi) = N_p(t,\xi) (D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_{p-1}(t,\xi) - R_p(t,\xi))$$
(4.1.1)

for all $(t,\xi) \in Z_{hyp}(N)$.

Proof. We introduce for $N_p(t,\xi)$ and $F_p(t,\xi)$ the following representations:

$$N_p(t,\xi) = \sum_{k=0}^p N^{(k)}(t,\xi), \quad F_p(t,\xi) = \sum_{k=0}^p F^{(k)}(t,\xi),$$

where $N^{(0)} = I, B^{(0)} = \mathcal{R}(t,\xi)$ and $F^{(0)} = \text{diag } B^{(0)} = F_0(t,\xi)$. Then we propose the following scheme:

$$F^{(k)} := \operatorname{diag}(B^{(k)}),$$

$$N^{(k+1)} := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -B_{12}^{(k)}/(2a(t)|\xi|) \\ B_{21}^{(k)}/(2a(t)|\xi|) & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$B^{(k+1)} := (D_t - \mathcal{D} - \mathcal{R})N_{p+1} - N_{p+1}(D_t - \mathcal{D} - F_p)$$

Now we will prove by induction that $N^{(k)} \in S\{-k, -k, k\}$ and $B^{(k)} \in S\{-k, -k, k+1\}$. For k = 0 we have already

$$F^{(0)} \in S\{0, 0, 1\}, \ N^{(1)} \in S\{-1, -1, 1\}, \ B^{(1)} \in S\{-1, -1, 2\}.$$

For $k \geq 1$ we apply an inductive argument, we assume $B^{(k)} \in S\{-k, -k, k+1\}$. Thus, by definition of $N^{(k+1)}$ we have $F^{(k)} \in S\{-k, -k, k+1\}$ and $N^{(k+1)} \in S\{-k-1, -k-1, k+1\}$ (from $a(t)|\xi| \in S\{1, 1, 0\}$). Furthermore,

$$B^{(k+1)} = (D_t - \mathcal{D} - \mathcal{R}) \Big(\sum_{j=0}^{k+1} N^{(j)} \Big) - \Big(\sum_{j=0}^{k+1} N^{(j)} \Big) (D_t - \mathcal{D} - \sum_{j=0}^k F^{(j)}) \\ = B^{(k)} + [N^{(k+1)}, \mathcal{D}] - F^{(k)} + D_t N^{(k+1)} + \mathcal{R} N^{(k+1)} \\ + N^{(k+1)} \sum_{j=0}^k F^{(j)} - \Big(\sum_{j=0}^{k+1} N^{(j)} \Big) F^{(k)}.$$

Due to the construction scheme $B^{(k)} + [N^{(k+1)}, \mathcal{D}] - F^{(k)} = 0$ for all k, the sum of remaining terms belongs to the symbol class $S\{-k-1, -k-1, k+2\}$. Thus, $B^{(k+1)} \in S\{-k-1, -k-1, k+2\}$. Consequently, the definition of $B^{(p)}$ implies the operator-valued identity

$$(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - \mathcal{R}(t,\xi)) N_p(t,\xi) = N_p(t,\xi) (D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_{p-1}(t,\xi) - R_p(t,\xi))$$
(4.1.2)

mod $S\{-p, -p, p+1\}$, where we used the notation $R_p(t,\xi) = N_p^{-1}(t,\xi)B^{(p)}(t,\xi) \in S\{-p, -p, p+1\}$. From the construction scheme we have $N^{(k)} \in S\{-k, -k, k\}$. Due to properties of the symbol class $S\{-k, -k, k\}$ we conclude $\left|N_{ij}^{(k)}\right| \leq C_k/N^k$. Hence, for N large enough $\|N_p - I\| \leq 1/2$ in $Z_{hyp}(N)$. This implies the invertibility of N_p . The lemma is proved.

4.1.2. Some auxiliary estimates

In order to get estimates for the fundamental solution we need the following propositions:

Proposition 4.1.2. If a function $g = g(|\xi|)$ satisfies for all $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and all multi-indices α the estimates $\left|d_{|\xi|}^{|\alpha|}g(|\xi|)\right| \lesssim |\xi|^{-|\alpha|}$, then it holds $|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}g(|\xi|)| \lesssim |\xi|^{-|\alpha|}$.

Proof. Applying Faà di Bruno's formula for a multivariate version, see Lemma B.3.6 in section B.3 of Appendix, and performing straight-forward calculations we get

$$\begin{split} \left| D_{\xi}^{\alpha} g(|\xi|) \right| &= \left| \sum_{j=1}^{|\alpha|} \sum_{\substack{\beta_{1}+\ldots+\beta_{j}=\alpha\\|\beta_{j}|\geq 1}} C_{\beta_{1},\ldots,\beta_{j}} g^{(j)}(|\xi|) \prod_{i=1}^{j} D_{\xi}^{\beta_{i}} |\xi| \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{|\alpha|} \sum_{\substack{\beta_{1}+\ldots+\beta_{j}=\alpha\\|\beta_{j}|\geq 1}} |C_{\beta_{1},\ldots,\beta_{j}}||g^{(j)}(|\xi|)| \left| \prod_{i=1}^{j} D_{\xi}^{\beta_{i}} |\xi| \right| \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^{|\alpha|} \sum_{\beta_{1}+\ldots+\beta_{j}=\alpha} |C_{\beta_{1},\ldots,\beta_{j}}||\xi|^{-j} |\xi|^{-(|\beta_{1}|+\ldots+|\beta_{j}|)+j} \leq C_{\alpha} |\xi|^{-|\alpha|}, \end{split}$$

the desired estimate we wanted to prove.

Due to this proposition, hereinafter we will replace proofs for statements for derivatives in ξ by proofs for statements by derivatives in $|\xi|$.

Proposition 4.1.3. Assume that $t_{|\xi|}$ is the separated line between the hyperbolic zone and the dissipative zone. Then we have the following estimates:

$$\left| D_{\xi}^{\alpha} t_{|\xi|} \right| \lesssim \frac{1}{a(t_{|\xi|})} |\xi|^{-1-|\alpha|} \tag{4.1.3}$$

for all multi-indices α with $|\alpha| > 0$.

Proof. We will apply the principle of induction. Let us consider the first derivative with respect to $|\xi|$ of $t_{|\xi|}$ that can be obtained directly from the following calculations:

$$A(t_{|\xi|})|\xi| = N \Rightarrow d_{|\xi|}t_{|\xi|}a(t_{|\xi|})|\xi| + A(t_{|\xi|}) = 0 \Rightarrow d_{|\xi|}t_{|\xi|} = -\frac{A(t_{|\xi|})}{a(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|} = -\frac{N}{a(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|^2}.$$
 (4.1.4)

Hence, we obtain

$$d_{|\xi|}t_{|\xi|} = -\frac{N}{a(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|^2}.$$
(4.1.5)

Now, let us assume that

$$|D_{|\xi|}^{k}t_{|\xi|}| \lesssim \frac{1}{a(t_{|\xi|})} |\xi|^{-1-k}$$
(4.1.6)

holds for all $1 \le k \le p$. Multiplying (4.1.5) by $a(t_{|\xi|})$ and taking p derivatives with respect to $|\xi|$ gives

$$\begin{aligned} d_{|\xi|}^{p} \left(d_{|\xi|} t_{|\xi|} a(t_{|\xi|}) \right) &= -d_{|\xi|}^{p} \left(\frac{N}{|\xi|^{2}} \right) \Rightarrow \sum_{k=0}^{p} C_{p}^{k} d_{|\xi|}^{k+1} t_{|\xi|} d_{|\xi|}^{p-k} a(t_{|\xi|}) = (-1)^{p+1} (p+1)! \frac{N}{|\xi|^{p+2}} \\ \Rightarrow |d_{|\xi|}^{p+1} t_{|\xi|} a(t_{|\xi|})| &\lesssim \frac{1}{|\xi|^{p+2}} + \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} \left| d_{|\xi|}^{k+1} t_{|\xi|} d_{|\xi|}^{p-k} a(t_{|\xi|}) \right|. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.1.7)$$

Applying Faà di Bruno's formula (see Appendix: Lemma B.3.5) we have

$$d_{|\xi|}^{n}a(t_{|\xi|}) = \sum \frac{n!}{m_{1}!1!^{m_{1}}m_{2}!2!^{m_{2}}\dots m_{n}!n!^{m_{n}}} \cdot a^{(m_{1}+m_{2}+\dots+m_{n})}(t_{|\xi|}) \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left(d_{|\xi|}^{j}t_{|\xi|} \right)^{m_{j}},$$

where the sum is taken over all *n*-tuples of nonnegative integers $(m_1, m_2, ..., m_n)$ satisfying the constraint

$$1 \cdot m_1 + 2 \cdot m_2 + \ldots + n \cdot m_n = n.$$

The assumption $(A3)^{\infty}$ together with (4.1.6) yields the estimate

$$\begin{aligned} |d_{|\xi|}^{n}a(t_{|\xi|})| &\lesssim \sum a(t_{|\xi|}) \left(\frac{a(t_{|\xi|})}{A(t_{|\xi|})}\right)^{m_{1}+m_{2}+\ldots+m_{n}} \prod_{j=1}^{n} \left(\frac{1}{a(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|^{j+1}}\right)^{m_{j}} \\ &\lesssim \sum a(t_{|\xi|}) \left(\frac{a(t_{|\xi|})}{A(t_{|\xi|})}\right)^{m_{1}+m_{2}+\ldots+m_{n}} \frac{1}{(a(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|)^{m_{1}+m_{2}+\ldots+m_{n}}|\xi|^{m_{1}+2m_{2}+\ldots+m_{n}}} \\ &\lesssim \frac{a(t_{|\xi|})}{|\xi|^{n}}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.1.8)$$

Combining (4.1.7) and (4.1.8) we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |d_{|\xi|}^{p+1}t_{|\xi|}a(t_{|\xi|})| &\lesssim \frac{1}{|\xi|^{p+2}} + \sum_{k=0}^{p-1} \frac{1}{a(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|^{k+2}} \frac{a(t_{|\xi|})}{|\xi|^{p-k}} \lesssim \frac{1}{|\xi|^{p+2}} \\ \Rightarrow |d_{|\xi|}^{p+1}t_{|\xi|}| &\lesssim \frac{1}{a(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|^{p+2}}. \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof.

Proposition 4.1.4. Let us assume that $g = g(|\xi|)$ with $\xi \in \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\}$ is an infinitely differentiable function. Then it holds

$$d_{|\xi|}^{m} e^{g(|\xi|)} = C(k_1, k_2, \dots, k_j, j) e^{g(|\xi|)} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \sum_{\substack{k_1 + \dots + k_j = m \\ |k_j| \ge 1}} \prod_{i=1}^{j} d_{|\xi|}^{k_i} g(|\xi|)$$
(4.1.9)

with $k_i \geq 1$.

Proof. This proposition will be proved by induction with respect to m. For m = 1 we have

$$d_{|\xi|}e^{g(|\xi|)} = g'(|\xi|)e^{g(|\xi|)}.$$

Now let us suppose that the equality (4.1.9) is valid for all $m \leq k$ with $k \geq 1$. We shall prove this equality for m = k + 1. We carry out straight-forward calculations to obtain

$$\begin{aligned} d_{|\xi|}^{k+1} e^{g(|\xi|)} &= d_{|\xi|} d_{|\xi|}^k e^{g(|\xi|)} = d_{|\xi|} \Big(C(k_1, k_2, \dots, k_j, j) e^{g(|\xi|)} \sum_{j=1}^k \sum_{k_1 + \dots + k_j = k} d_{|\xi|} \prod_{i=1}^j d_{|\xi|}^{k_i} g(|\xi|) \Big) \\ &= e^{g(|\xi|)} \bar{C}(k_1, k_2, \dots, k_j, j) \Big(\sum_{j=1}^k \sum_{k_1 + \dots + k_j = k} \Big(g'(|\xi|) \prod_{i=1}^j d_{|\xi|}^{k_i} g(|\xi|) + d_{|\xi|} \prod_{i=1}^j d_{|\xi|}^{k_i} g(|\xi|) \Big) \Big) \\ &= C'(k_1, k_2, \dots, k_j, j) e^{g(|\xi|)} \sum_{j=1}^{k+1} \sum_{l_1 + \dots + l_j = k+1} \prod_{i=1}^j d_{|\xi|}^{l_i} g(|\xi|). \end{aligned}$$

The proof is completed.

Proposition 4.1.5. Let us introduce $\tilde{A}(t) = \int_0^t a(\tau) d\tau$. Then the following estimates hold:

- 1. $|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}(\tilde{A}(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|)| \le C_{\alpha}|\xi|^{-|\alpha|}.$
- 2. $|D_t^k \tilde{A}(t)^m| \le C_{k,m} a(t)^k A(t)^{m-k}$.
- 3. $|D_t^k e^{\pm i \tilde{A}(t)|\xi|}| \leq C_k (a(t)|\xi|)^k$ in the hyperbolic zone.

Proof. to 1. In order to prove the first statement we start with the following identity:

$$|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}(\tilde{A}(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|)| = \Big|\sum_{\beta_{1}+\beta_{2}=\alpha} C_{\beta_{1},\beta_{2}} D_{\xi}^{\beta_{1}} \tilde{A}(t_{|\xi|}) D_{\xi}^{\beta_{2}}|\xi|\Big|.$$

Thus, we need to estimate $|D_{\xi}^{\beta_1} \tilde{A}(t_{|\xi|})|$. Moreover, from the definition of $t_{|\xi|}$ we have $\tilde{A}(t_{|\xi|}) = \frac{N}{|\xi|} - 1$. It clues $|D_{\xi}^{\beta_1} \tilde{A}(t_{|\xi|})| \leq |\xi|^{-|\beta_1|-1}$. This estimate helps us to conclude the desired inequality. to 2. We will prove this statement by the induction principle with respect to two parameters k and

m. For fixed m and k = 1 and for fixed k and m = 1 we can check our statement. Let us assume that it holds for all $k \leq p$ with $p \geq 1$ and for all $m \leq q$ with $q \geq 1$. We show our statement for k = p + 1, m = q + 1. Indeed,

$$\begin{aligned} \left| D_t^{p+1} \tilde{A}(t)^{q+1} \right| &\lesssim \left| D_t^p \left(a(t) \tilde{A}(t)^q \right) \right| = \left| \sum_{i+j=p} \tilde{C}_{i,j} D_t^i a(t) D_t^j \tilde{A}(t)^q \right| \\ &\leq C_{p+1,q+1} \sum_{i+j=p} a(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)^i a(t)^j A(t)^{q-j} \leq C_{p+1,q+1} a(t)^{p+1} A(t)^{q+1-(p+1)}. \end{aligned}$$

This completes the proof of the second statement.

to 3. In order to prove the third statement we apply directly Proposition 4.1.4 with respect to the variable t. We get

$$\begin{aligned} \left| D_t^k e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|} \right| &\leq C(k) \left| e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|} \sum_{j=1}^k \sum_{k_1 + \dots + k_j = k} \prod_{i=1}^j D_t^{k_i}(\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|) \right| \\ &\leq \tilde{C}(k) \sum_{j=1}^k \sum_{k_1 + \dots + k_j = k} \prod_{i=1}^j a(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^{k_i - 1} |\xi| \leq C_k a(t)^k |\xi|^k. \end{aligned}$$

The proof is completed.

Definition 4.1.1. The time-dependent function $c(t,\xi)$ belongs to the symbol class $S^{l_1,l_2}\{m_1,m_2,m_3\}$ with restricted smoothness l_1, l_2 , if it satisfies the following estimates:

$$S^{l_1,l_2}\{m_1,m_2,m_3\} = \left\{ c(t,\xi) : |D_{\xi}^{\alpha} D_t^k c(t,\xi)| \le C_{\alpha,k} |\xi|^{m_1 - |\alpha|} a(t)^{m_2} \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^{m_3 + k} \text{ in } Z_{hyp}(N) \right.$$

for all $|\alpha| \le l_2$ and $k \le l_1 \left. \right\}.$

Obviously, it holds

$$S^{l_1,l_2}\{m_1,m_2,m_3\} \subset S^{l'_1,l'_2}\{m_1,m_2,m_3\}$$
 for all $l'_1 \le l_1, l'_2 \le l_2$.

Using the definition of hyperbolic zone we have

$$S^{l_1, l_2}\{m_1 - k, m_2 - k, m_3 + k\} \subset S^{l_1, l_2}\{m_1, m_2, m_3\} \quad \text{for all } k \ge 0$$

This property will be essentially used in the diagonalization scheme. We have also corresponding properties to those ones from Lemma 2.1.5.

Proposition 4.1.6. The family of symbol classes $S^{l_1,l_2}\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$ generates a hierarchy of symbol classes having the following properties:

- $S^{l_1,l_2}\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$ is a vector space.
- $S^{l_1,l_2}\{m_1,m_2,m_3\}S^{l_1,l_2}\{m_1',m_2',m_3'\} \subset S^{l_1,l_2}\{m_1+m_1',m_2+m_2',m_3+m_3'\}.$
- $D_t^k D_{\mathcal{E}}^{\alpha} S^{l_1, l_2} \{ m_1, m_2, m_3 \} \subset S^{l_1 k, l_2 |\alpha|} \{ m_1 |\alpha|, m_2, m_3 + k \}.$
- $S^{0,0}\{-1,-1,2\} \subset L^{\infty}_{\mathcal{E}}L^1_t(Z_{hyp}(N)).$

Proposition 4.1.7. The following relations hold for all m_1, m_2, m_3 :

- 1. $e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|}S\{m_1, m_2, m_3\} \hookrightarrow S\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}.$
- $\begin{array}{ll} \label{eq:linear_states} \mathcal{2}. & e^{\pm i \tilde{A}(t) |\xi|} S^{l_1,l_2}\{m_1,m_2,m_3\} \hookrightarrow S^{l_1,l_2}\{m_1+l,m_2+l,m_3-l\}. \\ & Here \ l=l_1+l_2. \end{array}$

Proof. to 1. In order to prove the first statement we choose $c = c(t,\xi) \in S\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$. Then it holds

$$\left| D_{t}^{k} D_{\xi}^{\alpha} \left(e^{\pm i \tilde{A}(t_{|\xi|}) |\xi|} c(t,\xi) \right) \right| = \left| \sum_{\alpha_{1} + \alpha_{2} = \alpha} C_{\alpha_{1},\alpha_{2}} D_{\xi}^{\alpha_{1}} e^{\pm i \tilde{A}(t_{|\xi|}) |\xi|} D_{t}^{k} D_{\xi}^{\alpha_{2}} c(t,\xi) \right|$$

by the aid of Proposition 4.1.2, it is enough to consider the following estimates:

$$\begin{split} & \Big| \sum_{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = \alpha} C_{\alpha_1, \alpha_2} D_{|\xi|}^{|\alpha_1|} e^{\pm i \tilde{A}(t_{|\xi|}) |\xi|} D_t^k D_{\xi}^{\alpha_2} c(t, \xi) \Big| \\ & \leq \sum_{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = \alpha} C_{\alpha_1, \alpha_2} \Big(C'(\alpha_1) \Big| e^{\pm i \tilde{A}(t_{|\xi|}) |\xi|} \sum_{j=1}^{|\alpha_1|} \sum_{l_1 + \ldots + l_j = |\alpha_1|} \prod_{i=1}^j d_{|\xi|}^{l_i} \big(\tilde{A}(t_{|\xi|}) |\xi| \big) \Big| \Big) \Big| D_t^k D_{\xi}^{\alpha_2} c(t, \xi) \Big| \\ & \leq \sum_{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = \alpha} C_{\alpha_1, \alpha_2} \Big(C'(\alpha_1) \sum_{j=1}^{|\alpha_1|} \sum_{l_1 + \ldots + l_j = |\alpha_1|} \prod_{i=1}^j |\xi|^{-l_i} \Big) \Big| D_t^k D_{\xi}^{\alpha_2} c(t, \xi) \Big| \\ & \leq \sum_{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 = \alpha} \tilde{C}_{\alpha_1, \alpha_2} |\xi|^{-|\alpha_1|} |\xi|^{m_1 - |\alpha_2|} a(t)^{m_2} \Big(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \Big)^{m_3 + k} = C_{\alpha} |\xi|^{m_1 - |\alpha|} a(t)^{m_2} \Big(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \Big)^{m_3 + k}. \end{split}$$

In the third line we have used the first statement of Proposition 4.1.5.

to 2. If $c(t,\xi) \in S^{l_1,l_2}\{m_1, m_2, m_3\}$, then it holds

$$\left| D_{t}^{k} D_{\xi}^{\alpha} \Big(e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|} c(t,\xi) \Big) \right| = \left| \sum_{k_{1}+k_{2}=k} \sum_{\alpha_{1}+\alpha_{2}=\alpha} C_{k_{1},k_{2},\alpha_{1},\alpha_{2}} D_{t}^{k_{1}} D_{\xi}^{\alpha_{1}} \Big(e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|} \Big) D_{t}^{k_{2}} D_{\xi}^{\alpha_{2}} c(t,\xi) \right|$$

We take account of the following estimates:

$$\begin{split} & \Big| \sum_{k_1+k_2=k} \sum_{\alpha_1+\alpha_2=\alpha} C_{k_1,k_2,\alpha_1,\alpha_2} D_t^{k_1} D_{|\xi|}^{\alpha_1} \left(e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|} \right) D_t^{k_2} D_{\xi}^{\alpha_2} c(t,\xi) \Big| \\ & \leq \sum_{k_1+k_2=k} \sum_{\alpha_1+\alpha_2=\alpha} \sum_{i+j=k_1} |C_{k_1,k_2,\alpha_1,\alpha_2,i,j}| a(t)^i A(t)^{|\alpha_1|-i} D_t^j e^{\pm iA(t)|\xi|} ||D_t^{k_2} D_{\xi}^{\alpha_2} c(t,\xi)| \\ & \leq \sum_{k_1+k_2=k} \sum_{\alpha_1+\alpha_2=\alpha} \sum_{i+j=k_1} |C_{k_1,k_2,\alpha_1,\alpha_2,i,j}| a(t)^i A(t)^{|\alpha_1|-i} (a(t)|\xi|)^j \left| D_t^{k_2} D_{\xi}^{\alpha_2} c(t,\xi) \right| \\ & \leq \sum_{k_1+k_2=k} \sum_{\alpha_1+\alpha_2=\alpha} C_{k_1,k_2,\alpha_1,\alpha_2} a(t)^{k_1} |\xi|^{k_1} A(t)^{|\alpha_1|} |\xi|^{m_1-|\alpha_2|} a(t)^{m_2} \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)^{m_3+k_2} \\ & = \sum_{k_1+k_2=k} \sum_{\alpha_1+\alpha_2=\alpha} C_{k_1,k_2,\alpha_1,\alpha_2} |\xi|^{m_1+k-k_2-|\alpha_2|} a(t)^{m_2+k+|\alpha|-k_2-|\alpha_2|} \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)^{m_3-|\alpha|+|\alpha_2|+k_2} \\ & \leq C_{k,\alpha} |\xi|^{m_1+(k+|\alpha|)-|\alpha|} a(t)^{m_2+(k+|\alpha|)} \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)^{m_3-k-(k+|\alpha|)} \\ & \leq C_{k,\alpha} |\xi|^{m_1+l-|\alpha|} a(t)^{m_2+l} \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)^{m_3-l+k}. \end{split}$$

Here we have used the property $A(t)|\xi| \ge N$, it comes from the definition of the hyperbolic zone. In the first line and in the third line the second and the third statement of Proposition 4.1.5 is applied, correspondingly. This completes the proof of this proposition.

Remark 4.1.1. The first statement of Proposition 4.1.7 tells us that it is allowed to extent the phase function $\pm \int_{t_{|\xi|}}^{t} a(\tau)d\tau |\xi|$ in $\exp\left(\pm i \int_{t_{|\xi|}}^{t} a(\tau)d\tau |\xi|\right)$ which we use later to get $L^p - L^q$ estimates to the phase function $\pm \int_0^t a(\tau)d\tau |\xi|$ in $\exp\left(\pm i \int_0^t a(\tau)d\tau |\xi|\right)$. Here we use that the remainder term $\exp\left(\pm i \int_0^{t_{|\xi|}} a(\tau)d\tau |\xi|\right)$ satisfies

$$\left| D^{\alpha}_{|\xi|} e^{\pm i|\xi|\tilde{A}(t_{|\xi|})} \right| \lesssim |\xi|^{-|\alpha|}.$$

$$(4.1.10)$$

Thus, we can put the term $e^{\pm i|\xi|\tilde{A}(t_{|\xi|})}$ into the amplitude.

4.1.3. Construction of a fundamental solution

Now we want to construct the fundamental solution as the solution of the following system

$$(D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F_{p-1}(t,\xi) - R_p(t,\xi)) E_p(t,s,\xi) = 0, \ E_p(s,s,\xi) = I.$$
 (4.1.11)

Let $E_0(t, s, \xi)$ be the fundamental solution to $D_t - \mathcal{D}(t, \xi)$. We have

$$E_0(t,s,\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} e^{i\int_s^t a(\tau)d\tau|\xi|} & 0\\ 0 & e^{-i\int_s^t a(\tau)d\tau|\xi|} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (4.1.12)

Let us define $\tilde{E}_0(t, s, \xi) = \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \frac{\lambda(s)}{\sqrt{a(s)}} E_0(t, s, \xi)$. We can see that this matrix-valued function is the fundamental solution to

$$D_t - \mathcal{D}(t,\xi) - F^{(0)}(t,\xi). \tag{4.1.13}$$

We define

$$\mathcal{R}_{p}(t,s,\xi) = \tilde{E}_{0}^{-1}(t,s,\xi) \Big(F_{p-1}(t,\xi) + R_{p}(t,\xi) - F^{(0)}(t,\xi) \Big) \tilde{E}_{0}(t,s,\xi) \\ = F_{p-1}(t,\xi) - F^{(0)}(t,\xi) + E_{0}^{-1}(t,s,\xi) R_{p}(t,\xi) E_{0}(t,s,\xi).$$
(4.1.14)

Here we recall that the matrix-valued function $Q_p(t, s, \xi)$ is the solution to

$$(D_t - \mathcal{R}_p(t, s, \xi))Q_p(t, s, \xi) = 0, \ Q_p(s, s, \xi) = I.$$
 (4.1.15)

From the Peano-Baker formula we have that the solution to (4.1.15) can be represented as

$$Q_p(t,s,\xi) = I + \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} i^j \int_s^t \mathcal{R}_p(t_1,s,\xi) \int_s^{t_1} \mathcal{R}_p(t_2,s,\xi) \cdots \int_s^{t_{j-1}} \mathcal{R}_p(t_j,s,\xi) dt_j \dots dt_1.$$
(4.1.16)

The matrix $E_p(t, s, \xi)$ can be represented as

$$E_p(t,s,\xi) = \tilde{E}_0(t,s,\xi)Q_p(t,s,\xi) = \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}\frac{\lambda(s)}{\sqrt{a(s)}}E_0(t,s,\xi)Q_p(t,s,\xi).$$
(4.1.17)

Lemma 4.1.8. The matrix-valued function $\mathcal{R}_p(t, t_{|\xi|}, \xi)$ satisfies

$$\mathcal{R}_p(t, t_{|\xi|}, \xi) \in S^{l_1, l_2}\{-p+l, -p+l, p+1-l\} \hookrightarrow S^{l_1, l_2}\{-1, -1, 2\}$$
(4.1.18)

for all $l_1 + l_2 = l \le p - 1$.

Proof. Due to the representation of $\mathcal{R}_p(t, s, \xi)$ in (4.1.14) we have

$$\mathcal{R}_p(t,t_{|\xi|},\xi) = F_{p-1}(t,\xi) - F^{(0)}(t,\xi) + E_0^{-1}(t,t_{|\xi|},\xi)R_p(t,\xi)E_0(t,t_{|\xi|},\xi).$$

As a result of Lemma 4.1.1 we obtain

$$F_{p-1}(t,\xi) - F^{(0)}(t,\xi) \in S\{-1,-1,2\},\$$

thus, now only the remainder term

$$\tilde{R}_{p}(t,t_{|\xi|},\xi) := E_{0}^{-1}(t,t_{|\xi|},\xi)R_{p}(t,\xi)E_{0}(t,t_{|\xi|},\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} r_{11}^{p} & r_{12}^{p}e^{2i\int_{t_{|\xi|}}^{t}a(\tau)d\tau|\xi|} \\ r_{21}^{p}e^{-2i\int_{t_{|\xi|}}^{t}a(\tau)d\tau|\xi|} & r_{22}^{p} \end{pmatrix}$$

should be considered. Applying Lemma 4.1.1, Proposition 4.1.7 and Remark 4.1.1 we deduce $\tilde{R}_p(t, t_{|\xi|}, \xi) \in S^{l_1, l_2}\{-p + l, -p + l, p + 1 - l\} \hookrightarrow S^{l_1, l_2}\{-1, -1, 2\}$ for all $l \leq p - 1$.

Lemma 4.1.9. Assume (A1), (A2), (A3)^{∞}, (B1), (B2)^{∞}, (B3) or (B3)'. Then the fundamental solution $E_p(t, s, \xi)$ to (4.1.11) can be represented as

$$E_p(t,s,\xi) = \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(s)}} \frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)} E_0(t,s,\xi) Q_p(t,s,\xi)$$

for all $t, s \ge t_{|\xi|}$ with an amplitude $Q_p(t, s, \xi)$ satisfying the following estimates:

$$||D_{\xi}^{\alpha}Q_{p}(t,t_{|\xi|},\xi)|| \leq C_{p,\alpha,N}|\xi|^{-|\alpha|}, t \geq t_{|\xi|}$$

for all multi-indices α satisfying $|\alpha| \leq p-1$.

Proof. Let us consider the first statement. The Cauchy condition is obviously satisfied. Furthermore, we have

$$D_t E_p = D_t \tilde{E}_0 Q_p + \tilde{E}_0 D_t Q_p = (\mathcal{D} + F^{(0)}) \tilde{E}_0 Q_p + \tilde{E}_0 \mathcal{R}_p Q_p$$

= $(\mathcal{D} + F^{(0)} + F_{p-1} + R_p - F^{(0)}) \tilde{E}_0(t, s, \xi) Q_p$
= $(\mathcal{D} + F_{p-1} + R_p) E_p.$

The first step of proof of the second statement arises from the unitary behavior of $E_0(t, s, \xi)$. It follows

 $\|\mathcal{R}_p(t,s,\xi)\| \lesssim \|(F_{p-1}-F^{(0)})(t,\xi)\| + \|R_p(t,\xi)\|, \text{ where } R_p(t,\xi) \in S\{-p,-p,p+1\} \subset S\{-1,-1,2\}.$ Applying the fourth statement of Lemma 2.1.5, that is,

$$S\{-1, -1, 2\} \subset L^{\infty}_{\xi} L^{1}_{t}(Z_{hyp}(N)),$$

we obtain

$$\int_{t_{|\xi|}}^{t} \|\mathcal{R}_p(\tau, t_{|\xi|}, \xi)\| d\tau \le C_N$$

for all $t \geq t_{|\xi|}$. Hence,

$$\|Q_p(t,t_{|\xi|},\xi)\| \lesssim \exp\left(\int_{t_{|\xi|}}^t \|\mathcal{R}_p(\tau,s,\xi)\|d\tau\right) \lesssim 1.$$

Now let us take α derivatives with respect to ξ in the representation formula for $Q_p(t, t_{|\xi|}, \xi)$ in (4.1.16). Then

$$D_{\xi}^{\alpha}Q_{p}(t,t_{|\xi|},\xi) = \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} i^{j} D_{\xi}^{\alpha} \Big(\int_{t_{|\xi|}}^{t} \mathcal{R}_{p}(t_{1},t_{|\xi|},\xi) \int_{t_{|\xi|}}^{t_{1}} \mathcal{R}_{p}(t_{2},t_{|\xi|},\xi) \cdots \int_{t_{|\xi|}}^{t_{j-1}} \mathcal{R}_{p}(t_{j},t_{|\xi|},\xi) dt_{j} \dots dt_{1} \Big).$$

Let us consider terms of the form

$$\int_{t_{|\xi|}}^{t} \mathcal{D}_{\xi}^{\alpha_{1}} \mathcal{R}_{p}(t_{1}, t_{|\xi|}, \xi) \int_{t_{|\xi|}}^{t_{1}} D_{\xi}^{\alpha_{2}} \mathcal{R}_{p}(t_{2}, t_{|\xi|}, \xi) \cdots \int_{t_{|\xi|}}^{t_{j-1}} D_{\xi}^{\alpha_{j}} \mathcal{R}_{p}(t_{j}, t_{|\xi|}, \xi) dt_{j} \dots dt_{1}$$

with $\sum_{k=1}^{j} \alpha_k = |\alpha|$. Using Lemma 4.1.8 the norm of these terms can be estimated by

$$C'(\alpha, p, N) \int_{t_{|\xi|}}^{t} \left(|\xi|^{-1-|\alpha_1|} a(t_1)^{-1} \left(\frac{a(t_1)}{A(t_1)} \right)^2 \right) \int_{t_{|\xi|}}^{t_1} \left(|\xi|^{-1-|\alpha_2|} a(t_2)^{-1} \left(\frac{a(t_2)}{A(t_2)} \right)^2 \right)$$

$$\times \dots \times \int_{t_{|\xi|}}^{t_{j-1}} \left(|\xi|^{-1-|\alpha_j|} a(t_j)^{-1} \left(\frac{a(t_j)}{A(t_j)} \right)^2 \right) dt_j \dots dt_1$$

$$\leq C(\alpha, p, N) |\xi|^{-|\alpha|}.$$

Here the assumption $|\alpha| \leq p-1$ guarantees that $\alpha_k \leq p-1$, which is necessary to apply Lemma 4.1.8. Accordingly, we only have to care for derivatives of the lower integral bound $t_{|\xi|}$. Then there arise terms as $D_{\xi}^{\alpha-\beta} \left(\mathcal{R}_p(t_{|\xi|}, t_{|\xi|}, \xi) D_{\xi}^{\beta} t_{|\xi|} \right)$ for $|\beta| = 1$ which can be estimated as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \left| D_{\xi}^{\alpha-\beta} \left(\mathcal{R}_{p}(t_{|\xi|}, t_{|\xi|}, \xi) d_{|\xi|} t_{|\xi|} \right) \right| &= \left| \sum_{|\alpha_{1}|+|\alpha_{2}|=|\alpha|-1} C_{\alpha_{1},\alpha_{2}} D_{\xi}^{\alpha_{1}} \mathcal{R}_{p}(t_{|\xi|}, t_{|\xi|}, \xi) D_{\xi}^{\alpha_{2}+\beta} t_{|\xi|} \right| \\ &\leq C(\alpha) \sum_{|\alpha_{1}|+|\alpha_{2}|=|\alpha|-1} |\xi|^{-|\alpha_{1}|-1} a(t_{|\xi|})^{-1} \left(\frac{a(t_{|\xi|})}{A(t_{|\xi|})} \right)^{2} a(t_{|\xi|})^{-1} |\xi|^{-|\alpha_{2}|-2} \leq C_{\alpha,N} |\xi|^{-|\alpha|} \end{aligned}$$

To estimate the terms $|D_{\xi}^{\alpha_2+\beta}t_{|\xi|}|$ we have used the result of Proposition 4.1.3. For the other terms $|D_{\xi}^{\alpha_1}\mathcal{R}_p(t_{|\xi|},t_{|\xi|},\xi)|$ we use the following statement:

If all the necessary derivatives are defined, then we have

$$\left| D_{\xi}^{\alpha} \mathcal{R}_{p}(t_{|\xi|}, t_{|\xi|}, \xi) \right| \lesssim |\xi|^{-1 - |\alpha|} a(t_{|\xi|})^{-1} \left(\frac{a(t_{|\xi|})}{A(t_{|\xi|})} \right)^{2}.$$
(4.1.19)

Indeed, due to the representation of $\mathcal{R}_p(t, s, \xi)$ in (4.1.14) we have

$$\mathcal{R}_p(t_{|\xi|}, t_{|\xi|}, \xi) = F_{p-1}(t_{|\xi|}, \xi) - F^{(0)}(t_{|\xi|}, \xi) + R_p(t_{|\xi|}, \xi) := G(t_{|\xi|}, \xi).$$

Applying the generalized version of Faa di Bruno's formula (See Appendix: Lemma B.3.7) we obtain for the case $|\alpha| = n$

$$D_{\xi}^{\alpha}G(t_{|\xi|},\xi) = \sum_{0} \sum_{1} \cdots \sum_{n} C(n,k_{i},q_{ij}) \frac{\partial^{\kappa}G}{\partial_{t_{|\xi|}}^{p_{1}}\partial_{\xi}^{\alpha_{2}}}(t_{|\xi|},\xi) \prod_{i=1, |\alpha_{i}|=i}^{n} \left(D_{\xi}^{\alpha_{i}}t_{|\xi|}\right)^{q_{i1}} \left(D_{\xi}^{\alpha_{i}}\xi\right)^{q_{i2}}, \quad (4.1.20)$$

where the respective sums are taken over all non-negative integer solutions of the Diophantine equations as follows:

$$\sum_{0} \rightarrow k_{1} + 2k_{2} + \dots + nk_{n} = n,$$

$$\sum_{1} \rightarrow q_{11} + q_{12} = k_{1},$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\sum_{n} \rightarrow q_{n1} + q_{n2} = k_{n},$$

and

$$p_1 = \sum_{i=1}^n q_{ij}, \ |\alpha_2| = \sum_{i=1}^n q_{i2},$$
$$|\kappa| = k_1 + k_2 + \ldots + k_n = p_1 + |\alpha_2|.$$

By virtue of $\partial_{\xi_k} \xi_l = \delta_{kl}$ we may conclude that $q_{i2} = 0$, for all $i \ge 2$ and $|\alpha_2| = q_{12}$. This yields the estimate

$$\begin{split} |D_{\xi}^{\alpha}G(t_{|\xi|},\xi)| &\lesssim \sum_{0}\sum_{1}\dots\sum_{n}|\xi|^{-1-|\alpha_{2}|}a(t_{|\xi|})^{-1}\left(\frac{a(t_{|\xi|})}{A(t_{|\xi|})}\right)^{2+p_{1}}\prod_{i=1}^{n}a(t_{|\xi|})^{-q_{i1}}|\xi|^{-(|\alpha_{i}|+1)q_{i1}} \\ &= \sum_{0}\sum_{1}\dots\sum_{n}|\xi|^{-1-q_{12}}a(t_{|\xi|})^{-1}\left(\frac{a(t_{|\xi|})}{A(t_{|\xi|})}\right)^{2+p_{1}}a(t_{|\xi|})^{-p_{1}}|\xi|^{-p_{1}-iq_{i1}} \\ &= \sum_{0}\sum_{1}\dots\sum_{n}|\xi|^{-1-q_{12}}a(t_{|\xi|})^{-1}\left(\frac{a(t_{|\xi|})}{A(t_{|\xi|})}\right)^{2+p_{1}}a(t_{|\xi|})^{-p_{1}}|\xi|^{-p_{1}-n+q_{12}} \\ &= \sum_{0}\sum_{1}\dots\sum_{n}|\xi|^{-1-q_{12}-p_{1}+q_{12}-n}a(t_{|\xi|})^{-1-p_{1}}\left(\frac{a(t_{|\xi|})}{A(t_{|\xi|})}\right)^{2+p_{1}} \\ &\lesssim |\xi|^{-1-n}a(t_{|\xi|})^{-1}\left(\frac{a(t_{|\xi|})}{A(t_{|\xi|})}\right)^{2}. \end{split}$$

Therefore $\|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}Q_{p}(t,t_{|\xi|},\xi)\|$ can be estimated by $C_{\alpha,p,N}|\xi|^{-|\alpha|}$, where we use $C_{\alpha,p,N}$ as a universal constant depending on α, p, N . This completes the proof of this lemma.

Remark 4.1.2. From Lemma 4.1.1 and Lemma 4.1.9 we have the following representation of the micro-energy $U(t,\xi) = (a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}, D_t\hat{u})^T$:

$$U(t,\xi) = \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(s)}} \frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)} M N_p(t,\xi) E_0(t,s,\xi) Q_p(t,s,\xi) N_p^{-1}(s,\xi) M^{-1} U(s,\xi).$$

4.1.4 $L^p - L^q$ estimates

Theorem 4.1.10. If the conditions (A1), (A2), (A3)^{∞}, (B1), (B2)^{∞}, (B3) or (B3)' and (C) hold, then we have the following $L^p - L^q$ estimates for the kinetic and the "elastic" energy:

$$\|u_t(t,\cdot), a(t)\nabla u(t,\cdot)\|_{L_q} \lesssim \frac{1}{\lambda(t)}\sqrt{a(t)}A(t)^{-\frac{n-1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}\right)} \left(\|u_1\|_{L^{p,r+1}} + \|u_2\|_{L^{p,r}}\right)$$

with regularity $r = n(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}), \ 1 Here <math>A(t) = 1 + \int_0^t a(\tau) d\tau.$

Proof. The strategy of proof is based on the decomposition of the extended phase space into the following three parts:

- 1. the dissipative part: $Z_{diss} := \{(t,\xi) : A(t)|\xi| \le N\},\$
- 2. the hyperbolic part with small frequencies: $Z_{hyp} := \{(t,\xi) : A(t)|\xi| \ge \frac{N}{2} \cap |\xi| \le N\},\$
- 3. the hyperbolic part with large frequencies: $Z_{hyp} := \{(t,\xi) : |\xi| \ge \frac{N}{2}\}.$

In order to separate the extended phase space we will use a smooth cut-off function $\psi \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ such that $\psi(r) = 1$ for $r \leq 1/2$, $\psi(r) = 0$ for $r \geq 1$ and $\psi'(r) \leq 0$. Then we define functions ψ_1 , ψ_2 and ψ_3 as follows:

$$\psi_1(t,\xi) = \psi\left(\frac{|\xi|}{N}\right)\psi\left(\frac{A(t)|\xi|}{N}\right),$$

$$\psi_2(t,\xi) = \psi\left(\frac{|\xi|}{N}\right)\left(1-\psi\left(\frac{A(t)|\xi|}{N}\right)\right),$$

$$\psi_3(\xi) = 1-\psi\left(\frac{|\xi|}{N}\right)$$

such that $\psi_1(t,\xi) + \psi_2(t,\xi) + \psi_3(\xi) = 1$. Thus this decomposition corresponds to the definition of the three parts which we have introduced before.

Estimates for the dissipative part

Let us come back to the micro-energy $U(t,\xi) = \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\hat{u}, D_t\hat{u}\right)$ in the dissipative zone which can be represented by

$$U(t,\xi) = \psi_1(t,\xi)E(t,0,\xi)U(0,\xi)$$

Thus, it is reasonable to consider estimates for

$$\left\|F^{-1}\left(\psi_1(t,\xi)E_{k,l}(t,0,\xi)F(v)\right)\right\|_{L^q},$$

where $v \in S$, $E_{k,l}(t, 0, \xi)$, k = 1, 2, l = 1, 2 are the entries of the fundamental solution $E(t, 0, \xi)$. It holds

$$\begin{aligned} \|F^{-1}\left(\psi_{1}(t,\xi)E_{k,l}(t,0,\xi)F(v)\right)\|_{L^{q}} &\leq \|\psi_{1}(t,\xi)E_{k,l}(t,0,\xi)F(v)\|_{L^{p}} \\ &\leq \|\psi_{1}(t,\xi)\|_{L^{\frac{pq}{q-p}}}\|E_{k,l}(t,0,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}}\|F(v)\|_{L^{q}} \leq CA(t)^{-n(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})}\|E_{k,l}(t,0,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}}\|v(.)\|_{L^{p}}.\end{aligned}$$

By Lemma 3.2.4 and Lemma 3.2.6 we get

$$||E_{k,l}(t,0,\xi)||_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \max\left\{\frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t)}, \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right\}$$

for all k, l = 1, 2. Summarizing we have shown

$$\|F^{-1}(\psi_1(t,\xi)\hat{u}_t(t,\cdot))\|_{L^q} + \|F^{-1}(\psi_1(t,\xi)a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}(t,\cdot))\|_{L^q} \lesssim \max\left\{\frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t)}, \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right\} A(t)^{-n(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q})} (\|u_1(\cdot)\|_{L^p} + \|u_2(\cdot)\|_{L^p}).$$

$$(4.1.21)$$

Estimates for the hyperbolic part

Due to the Remark 4.1.2 the micro-energy $U(t,\xi) = (a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}, D_t\hat{u})^T$ can be represented as

$$U(t,\xi) = \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(s)}} \frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)} M N_p(t,\xi) E_0(t,s,\xi) Q_p(t,s,\xi) N_p^{-1}(s,\xi) M^{-1} U(s,\xi).$$

For this reason we will investigate the following Fourier multipliers depending on the parameter t:

$$F^{-1}\Big(e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|}\frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}\frac{\lambda(s)}{\sqrt{a(s)}}b(t,\xi)|\xi|^{-r}F(v)\Big),$$

here we recall that $\tilde{A}(t) = \int_0^t a(s) ds$, r is a real number and $v \in S$.

An auxiliary result

The key tool to prove in this part is we use the following result, see more detail the Lemma B.2.2 in section B.2 of Appendix.

Lemma 4.1.11. Let us assume that K(t) is a real-valued function and $d(t,\xi) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n_{\xi})$. Then there exists a positive integer M such that

$$\|F^{-1}\left(e^{iK(t)|\xi|}d(t,\xi)\right)\|_{L^{\infty}} \le C(1+K(t))^{-\frac{n-1}{2}} \sum_{|\alpha|\le M} \|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}d(t,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}}$$

with a constant C which is independent of t and ξ .

Estimates in the hyperbolic part for large frequencies

In this part we shall study the following Fourier multiplier:

$$F^{-1}\Big(\psi_{3}(\xi)e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|}\frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}b(t,\xi)|\xi|^{-r}F(v)\Big),$$

here the amplitude $b = b(t, \xi)$ satisfies for all $|\alpha| \le p - 1$ the estimates

$$|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}b(t,\xi)| \le C_{\alpha,N}|\xi|^{-|\alpha|}$$

Here we use $N_p(t,\xi) \in S\{0,0,0\}$ and $|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}Q_p(t,0,\xi)| \leq C_{\alpha,N}|\xi|^{-|\alpha|}$ for $|\alpha| \leq p-1$. Now let us choose a non-negative function $\phi = \phi(r) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}_+)$ with $\operatorname{supp} \phi \subseteq [\frac{1}{2},1]$ such that $\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \phi(2^{-j}r) = 1, r \neq 0$. Furthermore, we define

$$\phi_j(|\xi|) = \phi\left(2^{-j}\frac{|\xi|}{N}\right), \ j \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

The strategy of proof in this part is to obtain an $L^p - L^q$ estimate by interpolating $L^1 - L^{\infty}$ and $L^2 - L^2$ estimates with Riesz-Thorin interpolation theorem. We introduce

$$I_{j} = \left\| F^{-1} \Big(\psi_{3}(t,\xi) \phi_{j}(|\xi|) e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} |\xi|^{-r} b(t,\xi) \Big) \right\|_{L^{\infty}},$$

$$\tilde{I}_{j} = \left\| \psi_{3}(\xi) \phi_{j}(|\xi|) e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} |\xi|^{-r} b(t,\xi) \right\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

 $L^1 - L^{\infty}$ estimates. For all j < 0 we have $I_j = \tilde{I}_j = 0$. For $j \ge 0$ we perform the change of variables $\xi = 2^j N\eta$ and conclude as follows, where $\psi_3(\xi) \equiv 1$ for $j \ge 2$:

$$\begin{split} I_{j} &\leq C2^{j(n-r)} \left\| F^{-1} \Big(\phi(|\eta|) e^{\pm i2^{j} N \tilde{A}(t) |\eta|} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} |\eta|^{-r} b(t, 2^{j} N \eta) \Big) \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &\leq C2^{j(n-r)} \big(1 + 2^{j} N \tilde{A}(t) \big)^{-\frac{n-1}{2}} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \sum_{|\alpha| \leq M} \left\| D_{\eta}^{\alpha} \Big(\phi(|\eta|) |\eta|^{-r} b(t, 2^{j} N \eta) \Big) \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &\leq C2^{j(n-r)} \big(1 + 2^{j} N \tilde{A}(t) \big)^{-\frac{n-1}{2}} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \sum_{|\alpha+\beta| \leq M} \sup_{1/2 \leq |\eta| \leq 2} |\eta|^{-r-|\alpha|} (2^{j} N)^{|\beta|} (2^{j} N |\eta|)^{-|\beta|} \\ &\leq C2^{j(n-r)} A(t)^{-\frac{n-1}{2}} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}. \end{split}$$

Here we have used in the second estimate the auxiliary Lemma 4.1.11 with a suitably positive constant M. The constant M determines the necessary steps of diagonalization. Additional, we take advantage of $1 + A(t) \leq 1 + 2^j N A(t)$ for all $j \geq 0$ and N sufficiently large. Summarizing gives

$$\left\| F^{-1} \Big(\psi_3(\xi) \phi_j(|\xi|) e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} |\xi|^{-r} b(t,\xi) F(v)(\xi) \Big) \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ \lesssim 2^{j(n-r)} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \Big(1 + A(t) \Big)^{-\frac{n-1}{2}} \|v(\cdot)\|_{L^1}.$$

 $L^2 - L^2$ estimates. In order to derive an $L^2 - L^2$ estimate we shall estimate \tilde{I}_j . We have

$$\tilde{I}_{j} \leq C \sup_{1/2 \leq |\eta| \leq 2} \phi(|\eta|) \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} (2^{j} N |\eta|)^{-r} |b(t, 2^{j} N \eta)| \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} 2^{-jr}$$

for $j \ge 0$. Consequently, we arrive at the following estimate:

$$\left\| F^{-1} \Big(\psi_3(\xi) \phi_j(|\xi|) e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} |\xi|^{-r} b(t,\xi) F(v)(\cdot) \Big) \right\|_{L^2} \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} 2^{-jr} \|v(\cdot)\|_{L^2}.$$

 $L^p - L^q$ estimates. Applying the above mentioned interpolation argument yields

$$\left\| F^{-1} \Big(\psi_3(\xi) \phi_j(|\xi|) e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} |\xi|^{-r} b(t,\xi) F(v)(\cdot) \Big) \right\|_{L^q} \\ \lesssim 2^{j \left(n \left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q} \right) - r \right)} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \left(1 + A(t) \right)^{-\frac{n-1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q} \right)} \| v(\cdot) \|_{L^p}.$$

Finally, we conclude after fixing the regularity $r = n(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q})$ and applying Brenner's lemma for $p \in (1, 2]$ the following estimate

$$\left\|F^{-1}\left(\psi_{3}(\xi)e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|}\frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}b(t,\xi)|\xi|^{-r}F(v)\right)\right\|_{L^{q}} \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}\left(1+A(t)\right)^{-\frac{n-1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}\right)}\|v(\cdot)\|_{L^{p}}$$

Therefore, we have

$$\begin{split} \left\| F^{-1} \Big(\psi_3(\xi) e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} b(t,\xi) |\xi|^{-r} F\Big(a(0)|D|^{r+1} u(0,\cdot) + |D|^r u_t(0,\cdot) \Big) \Big) \right\|_{L^q} \\ \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \Big(1 + A(t) \Big)^{-\frac{n-1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right)} \Big(\|u_1(\cdot)\|_{L^{p,r+1}} + \|u_2(\cdot)\|_{L^{p,r}} \big). \end{split}$$

Summarizing all estimates which we derived in this part of the extended phase space leads to

$$\|F^{-1}(\psi_{3}(\xi)\hat{u}_{t}(t,\cdot))\|_{L^{q}} + \|F^{-1}(\psi_{3}(\xi)a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}(t,\cdot))\|_{L^{q}}$$

$$\lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} (1+A(t))^{-\frac{n-1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}\right)} (\|u_{1}(\cdot)\|_{L^{p,r+1}} + \|u_{2}(\cdot)\|_{L^{p,r}}).$$
 (4.1.22)

Estimates in the hyperbolic part for small frequencies

In this part of the extended phase space we deal with bounded frequencies $|\xi| \leq N$ and unbounded $A(t)|\xi| \geq \frac{N}{2}$. Let us consider the Fourier multiplier

$$F^{-1}\Big(\psi_2(t,\xi)e^{\pm i\int_{t_{|\xi|}}^t a(s)ds|\xi|} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \frac{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}{\sqrt{a(t_{|\xi|})}} b_1(t,\xi)E_{kl}(t_{|\xi|},0,\xi)|\xi|^{-r}F(v)\Big),$$

where $v \in S$, $E_{kl}(t_{|\xi|}, 0, \xi)$, k, l = 1, 2, are the entries of the fundamental solution $E(t_{|\xi|}, 0, \xi)$. We can rewrite this Fourier multiplier in the following form

$$F^{-1}\Big(\psi_2(t,\xi)e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|}\frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}\tilde{b}(t,\xi)|\xi|^{-r}F(v)\Big),$$

where we introduced the amplitude $\tilde{b}(t,\xi)$ which is defined by

$$\tilde{b}(t,\xi) := \exp\Big(\mp i \int_0^{t_{|\xi|}} a(s)ds|\xi|\Big) \frac{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}{\sqrt{a(t_{|\xi|})}} b_1(t,\xi)$$

and which satisfies the estimates

$$|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}\tilde{b}(t,\xi)| \le C_{\alpha,N}|\xi|^{-|\alpha|}$$

for all $|\alpha| \leq p-1$. Here we use $N_p(t,\xi) \in S\{0,0,0\}, |D_{\xi}^{\alpha}Q_p(t,t_{|\xi|},\xi)| \leq C_{\alpha,N}|\xi|^{-|\alpha|}$ for all $|\alpha| \leq p-1$ and Remark 4.1.1. We use again a dyadic decomposition by defining

$$\phi_j(t,|\xi|) = \phi\left(2^{-j}\frac{A(t)|\xi|}{N}\right), \ j \in \mathbb{Z},$$

with $\phi \in C_0^{\infty}$ being introduced as above. Then for all j < 0 the product $\psi_2(t,\xi)\phi_j(t,\xi)$ vanishes. Thus, for $j \ge 0$ we will estimate the following L^{∞} norms:

$$I_{j} = \left\| F^{-1} \Big(\psi_{2}(t,\xi) \phi_{j}(t,|\xi|) e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} |\xi|^{-r} \psi(|\xi|N^{-1}) \tilde{b}(t,\xi) \Big) \right\|_{L^{\infty}},$$

$$\tilde{I}_{j} = \left\| \psi_{2}(t,\xi) \phi_{j}(t,|\xi|) e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} |\xi|^{-r} \psi(|\xi|N^{-1}) \tilde{b}(t,\xi) \right\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

We perform the change of variables $A(t)\xi = 2^j N\eta$ and estimate as follows:

$$\begin{split} I_{j} &\leq C2^{j(n-r)}A(t)^{(r-n)} \Big\| F^{-1}\Big(\phi(|\eta|)e^{\pm i2^{j}N|\eta|} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} |\eta|^{-r}\psi\Big(\frac{2^{j}|\eta|}{A(t)}\Big)\tilde{b}\Big(t,\frac{2^{j}N\eta}{A(t)})\Big)\Big\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &\leq C2^{j(n-r)}(1+2^{j}N)^{-\frac{n-1}{2}}A(t)^{(r-n)} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \sum_{|\alpha|\leq M} \Big\| D_{\eta}^{\alpha}\phi(|\eta|)|\eta|^{-r}\psi\Big(\frac{2^{j}|\eta|}{A(t)}\Big)\tilde{b}\Big(t,\frac{2^{j}N\eta}{A(t)}\Big)\Big\|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &\leq C2^{j\left(\frac{n+1}{2}-r\right)}A(t)^{(r-n)} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \sum_{|\alpha+\beta|\leq M} \sup_{1/2\leq |\eta|\leq 2} |\eta|^{-r-|\alpha|}\Big(\frac{2^{j}N}{A(t)}\Big)^{|\beta|}\Big(\frac{2^{j}N}{A(t)}\Big)^{-|\beta|} \\ &\leq C2^{j\left(\frac{n+1}{2}-r\right)}A(t)^{(r-n)} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}. \end{split}$$

Here we have used in the second estimate the auxiliary Lemma 4.1.11 with a suitably chosen positive constant M. Thus, we have

$$\left\|F^{-1}\left(\psi_{2}(t,\xi)\phi_{j}(t,\xi)e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|}\frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}\tilde{b}(t,\xi)|\xi|^{-r}F(v)\right)\right\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim 2^{j\left(\frac{n+1}{2}-r\right)}A(t)^{(r-n)}\frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}\|v(\cdot)\|_{L^{1}}.$$

 L^2-L^2 estimates. Now we shall estimate $\tilde{I}_j.$ We have

$$\tilde{I}_j \le C \sup_{1/2 \le |\eta| \le 2} \phi(|\eta|) \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \left(\frac{2^j N|\eta|}{A(t)}\right)^{-r} \left| \psi\left(\frac{2^j |\eta|}{A(t)}\right) \right| \left| \tilde{b}\left(t, \frac{2^j N\eta}{A(t)}\right) \right| \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} 2^{-jr} A(t)^r$$

for $j \ge 0$. This implies immediately

$$\begin{split} \left\| F^{-1} \Big(\psi_2(t,\xi) \phi_j(t,\xi) e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} |\xi|^{-r} \tilde{b}(t,\xi) F(v)(\cdot) \Big) \right\|_{L^2} \\ \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} 2^{-jr} A(t)^r \|v(\cdot)\|_{L^2}. \end{split}$$

 $L^p - L^q$ estimates. Applying again the interpolation argument we get

$$\left\| F^{-1} \Big(\psi_2(t,\xi) \phi_j(t,\xi) e^{\pm i \tilde{A}(t) |\xi|} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} |\xi|^{-r} \psi(|\xi|N^{-1}) \tilde{b}(t,\xi) F(v)(\cdot) \Big) \right\|_{L^q} \\ \lesssim 2^{j \left(\frac{n+1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right) - r\right)} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \left(1 + A(t) \right)^{r-n \left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right)} \|v(\cdot)\|_{L^p}.$$

Therefore, we can conclude after the choice $r = \frac{n+1}{2}(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q})$ and Brenner's lemma for $p \in (1, 2]$ the following estimate uniformly for all $j \ge 0$:

$$\left\|F^{-1}\left(\psi_{2}(t,\xi)e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|}\frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}\tilde{b}(t,\xi)|\xi|^{-r}F(v)\right)\right\|_{L^{q}} \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}\left(1+A(t)\right)^{-\frac{n-1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}\right)}\|v(\cdot)\|_{L^{p}}$$

From the last estimate it follows

$$\begin{split} \left| F^{-1} \Big(\psi_2(t,\xi) e^{\pm i\tilde{A}(t)|\xi|} \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \tilde{b}(t,\xi) |\xi|^{-r} F\Big(|D|^r \Big(\frac{a(0)}{A(0)} u(0,\cdot) + u_t(0,\cdot) \Big) \Big) \Big) \right\|_{L^q} \\ \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \Big(1 + A(t) \Big)^{-\frac{n-1}{2} \left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right)} \Big(\|u_1(\cdot)\|_{L^p} + \|u_2(\cdot)\|_{L^p} \Big). \end{split}$$

Summarizing all estimates which we derived in this part of the extended phase space we may conclude

$$\begin{split} \|F^{-1}(\psi_{2}(t,\xi)\hat{u}_{t}(t,\cdot))\|_{L^{q}} + \|F^{-1}(\psi_{2}(t,\xi)a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}(t,\cdot))\|_{L^{q}} \\ \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} (1+A(t))^{-\frac{n-1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p}-\frac{1}{q}\right)} (\|u_{1}(\cdot)\|_{L^{p}} + \|u_{2}(\cdot)\|_{L^{p}}). \end{split}$$

$$(4.1.23)$$

Combining and comparing the decay estimates from the three different parts of the extended phase space we see that the decay in the dissipative part is better than those in the hyperbolic parts. The desired regularity comes from the hyperbolic part with large frequencies and the desired decay comes from the the hyperbolic part with small frequencies. In this way the proof is completed. \Box

4.2. The case of effective dissipation

We recall our model of interest:

$$u_{tt} - a(t)^2 \Delta u + b(t)u_t = 0, \ u(0, x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0, x) = u_2(x),$$
(4.2.1)

where the propagation speed term a = a(t) satisfies the assumptions (A1) to (A3) and the dissipative term b = b(t) satisfies the assumptions (B'1) to (B'4). At the beginning we prove the following auxiliary lemma for large t.

Lemma 4.2.1. 1. Under the assumption (B'1) the following inequality holds :

$$\left\| |\xi|^s \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \right\|_{L^p} \lesssim \left(\int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right)^{-\frac{s}{2} - \frac{n}{2p}}$$

2. If we suppose the assumptions (B'1), (B'3) and $\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$ is a monotonic decreasing function, then the function

$$\frac{b^2(t)}{a^2(t)} \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau$$

tends to ∞ for t to ∞ .

3. If we suppose the assumptions (B'1) and (B'3) and if we choose $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$, then the following function is monotonously increasing for large t:

$$\left(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right)^\alpha \lambda(t)$$

Proof. Direct calculations will prove the first statement. Indeed, we have

$$\begin{split} \left(\left\| |\xi|^s \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \right) \right\|_{L^p} \right)^p &\lesssim \int_0^\infty \left(|\xi|^s \exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \right) \right)^p |\xi|^{n-1} d|\xi\\ &= \int_0^\infty |\xi|^{sp+n-1} \exp\left(-p|\xi|^2 \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \right) d|\xi|\\ &= \frac{1}{2} \int_0^\infty \zeta^{\frac{n+sp}{2}-1} e^{-p\zeta} d\zeta \Big(\int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \Big)^{-\frac{n+sp}{2}} \\ &\lesssim \Gamma\Big(n + \frac{sp}{2}\Big) \Big(\int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \Big)^{-\frac{n+sp}{2}} \lesssim \Big(\int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \Big)^{-\frac{sp}{2}-\frac{n}{2}}. \end{split}$$

Here we used the change of variables

$$\zeta = |\xi|^2 \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau, \ d\zeta = 2|\xi|d|\xi| \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau$$

To prove the second statement we conclude in the following way:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{b^2(t)}{a^2(t)} \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau &= \frac{\mu^2(t)}{A^2(t)} \int_0^t \frac{a(\tau)A(\tau)}{\mu(\tau)} d\tau \\ &= \frac{\mu^2(t)}{A^2(t)} \Big(\frac{A^2(t)}{2\mu(t)} - \frac{1}{2\mu(0)} + \int_0^t \frac{\mu'(\tau)A^2(\tau)}{2\mu^2(\tau)} d\tau \Big) \\ &= \frac{\mu(t)}{2} - \frac{\mu^2(t)}{A^2(t)} \frac{1}{2\mu(0)} + \frac{\mu^2(t)}{A^2(t)} \int_0^t \frac{\mu'(\tau)A^2(\tau)}{2\mu^2(\tau)} d\tau \\ &\geq \frac{\mu(t)}{2} - \frac{\mu^2(t)}{A^2(t)} \frac{1}{2\mu(0)} - c \frac{\mu^2(t)}{A^2(t)} \int_0^t \frac{a(\tau)A(\tau)}{2\mu(\tau)} d\tau, \end{aligned}$$

here we used the Assumption (B'2): $|\mu'(t)| \leq c\mu(t)a(t)/A(t)$. From the last estimate we obtain

$$\frac{\mu^2(t)}{A^2(t)} \int_s^t \frac{a(\tau)A(\tau)}{\mu(\tau)} d\tau \ge \frac{1}{2+c} \left(\mu(t) - \frac{\mu^2(t)}{A^2(t)} \frac{1}{\mu(0)}\right) \gtrsim \mu(t).$$

We note that $\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$ is decreasing and $\mu(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$. To prove the last statement we study the derivative

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_t \Big(\Big(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \Big)^{\alpha} \lambda(t) \Big) \\ &= \alpha \Big(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \Big)^{\alpha - 1} \frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)} \lambda(t) + \frac{b(t)}{2} \Big(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \Big)^{\alpha} \lambda(t) \\ &= \frac{a^2(t)}{2b(t)} \Big(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \Big)^{\alpha - 1} \lambda(t) \Big(2\alpha + \frac{b^2(t)}{a^2(t)} + \frac{b^2(t)}{a^2(t)} \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \Big) \end{aligned}$$

Combining with the second statement for α is fixed, we can find a sufficiently large time $t_0 = t_0(\alpha)$ such that the expression is positive for all $t \ge t_0$. The lemma is proved.

The strategy for getting $L^p - L^q$ estimates on the conjugate line for effective dissipations is to estimate the L^1 -norm of the Fourier multiplier to get a $L^1 - L^\infty$ estimate and apply the Riesz-Thorin interpolation theorem with the previously obtained $L^2 - L^2$ estimates. We have the following theorem.

Theorem 4.2.2. Assume the conditions (B'1) to (B'4). Then for all times t we have the $L^p - L^q$ decay estimate

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left(u_t(t, \cdot), a(t) \nabla_x u(t, \cdot) \right) \right\|_{L^q} &\lesssim a(t) \left(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \right)^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{n}{2} \left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q} \right)} \left(\| u_1 \|_{L^{p,r+1}} + \| u_2 \|_{L^{p,r}} \right), \\ where \ r > n \left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q} \right) \ with \ 1$$

Proof. As we mentioned before it remains to derive a $L^1 - L^{\infty}$ estimate. For this reason we devote to estimate the following L^1 -norm:

$$\|\langle \xi \rangle^{-r} E(t,0,\xi)\|_{L^1}.$$

We will investigate the localized L^1 -norm in different zones separately. Small frequencies

Dissipative zone: $|\xi| \lesssim \frac{1}{A(t)}$. Inside this zone all entries of $E(t, 0, \xi)$ can be estimated by $\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}$. Consequently, the desired L^1 -norm can be estimated by

$$\int_{0}^{\xi_{t_1}} \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} |\xi|^{n-1} d|\xi| \lesssim a(t)A(t)^{-1-n}$$
(4.2.2)

with ξ_{t_1} is the inverse of t_{ξ_1} .

Region $\Pi_{ell} \cap \{|\xi| \leq c_0\}$. In this region we have $\langle \xi \rangle \sim 1$ and from Corollary 3.3.10 we get that all components of $E(t, 0, \xi)$ can be estimated by

$$\exp\left(-|\xi|^2 \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) a(t)|\xi|.$$

After application of the first statement in Lemma 4.2.1 we can estimate the desired L^1 -norm by

$$\|E(t,0,\xi)\|_{L^{1}(\Pi_{ell} \cap \{|\xi| \le c_{0}\})} \lesssim a(t) \left(1 + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right)^{-\frac{1}{2} - \frac{n}{2}}.$$
(4.2.3)

Region $\Pi_{hyp} \cap \{|\xi| \leq c_0\}$. Let us distinguish two cases. If $\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$ increases and tends to ∞ as $t \to \infty$, then the elliptic region lies on top of the hyperbolic region which is away from frequency 0. In this case, the small frequencies lie completely in the elliptic zone.

Now let us consider the case $\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$ decreases and tends to 0 as $t \to \infty$. Using Corollary 3.3.12 we have for large t the following estimates, where ξ_{t_3} denotes the inverse of t_{ξ_3} :

$$\begin{split} \|E(t,0,\xi)\|_{L^{1}(\Pi_{hyp}\cap\{|\xi|\leq c_{0}\})} &\lesssim \int_{\xi_{t_{3}}}^{c_{0}} |\xi|^{n} \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{0}^{t_{\xi_{3}}} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \frac{\lambda(t_{\xi_{3}})}{\lambda(t)} \sqrt{a(t)} \sqrt{a(t_{\xi_{3}})} d|\xi| \\ &\lesssim \int_{\xi_{t_{3}}}^{c_{0}} \left(|\xi|^{2} \int_{0}^{t_{\xi_{3}}} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right)^{\frac{n}{2}} \exp\left(-|\xi|^{2} \int_{0}^{t_{\xi_{3}}} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right) \\ &\qquad \times \left(\int_{0}^{t_{\xi_{3}}} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right)^{-\frac{n+1}{2}} \frac{\lambda(t_{\xi_{3}})}{\lambda(t)} a(t) d\left(|\xi| \left(\int_{0}^{t_{\xi_{3}}} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}\right) \\ &\lesssim a(t) \left(1 + \int_{0}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right)^{-\frac{n+1}{2}}. \end{split}$$

Here we have used the monotonic increasing behavior of the function

$$\Big(\int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\Big)^{-\frac{n+1}{2}} \lambda(t)$$

from the third statement of Lemma 4.2.1.

Large frequencies $|\xi| \ge c$

In this case the L^1 -norm of the multiplier can be estimated with r > n as follows:

$$\|\langle \xi \rangle^{-r} E(t,0,\xi) \|_{L^1} \lesssim \|\langle \xi \rangle^{-r} \|_{L^1} \|E(t,0,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}} \lesssim \|E(t,0,\xi)\|_{L^{\infty}}.$$

 $\Pi_{hyp} \cap \{|\xi| \ge c\}$: From Lemma 3.3.3 and Remark 3.3.5 we have that the fundamental solution can be uniformly estimated by

$$|E(t,0,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}.$$
(4.2.4)

 $\Pi_{ell} \cap \{ |\xi| \ge c \}$: In this case we have the estimate

$$|E(t,0,\xi)| \lesssim a(t) \exp\Big(-c_0^2 \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\Big).$$
(4.2.5)

The decay behaviors in (4.2.2), (4.2.4) and (4.2.5) are not slower than the decay behavior $a(t)\left(1+\int_{0}^{t}\frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)}d\tau\right)^{-\frac{n+1}{2}}$ which we obtained from our considerations for small frequencies. Indeed, in order to compare the decay behavior in (4.2.2) with the above one we use the following calculation:

$$\int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau = \int_0^t \frac{a(\tau)A(\tau)}{\mu(\tau)} d\tau \lesssim \int_0^t \frac{A(\tau)}{\mu_0} d\left(A(\tau)\right) \lesssim A(t)^2,$$

here, due to $\mu(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$ it exists a constant μ_0 such that $\mu(t) \ge \mu_0$ for large t. Comparing (4.2.4) with $a(t) \left(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right)^{-\frac{n+1}{2}}$ by the aid of the monotonously increasing property of $\left(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau\right)^{\alpha} \lambda(t)$ we conclude the desired dominance (with the choice $\alpha = -(n+1)/2$). The decay behavior from (4.2.5) is of course faster than the behavior we are interested in because the exponential function is more dominant than any power function. Thus, the decay behavior appearing in the $L^1 - L^{\infty}$ estimate uniformly for all frequencies is

$$a(t)\left(1+\int_{0}^{t}\frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)}d\tau\right)^{-\frac{n+1}{2}}$$

Combining with the estimate of $L^2 - L^2$ in Theorem 3.3.14 by the aid of Riesz-Thorin interpolation theorem we will get the desired estimate. In this way the theorem is proved.

5. Global existence of small data solutions to semi-linear dissipative wave models

5.1. Semi-linear models with non-effective dissipation

We are interested in the study of global existence (in time) of small data solutions to the following semi-linear Cauchy problem

$$u_{tt} - a(t)^2 \Delta u + b(t)u_t = u_t^2 - a(t)^2 |\nabla_x u|^2, \ u(0, x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0, x) = u_2(x)$$
(5.1.1)

with data $u_1(x)$ and $u_2(x)$ belonging to $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. If we apply Nirenberg's transformation

$$v(t,x) = 1 - \exp(-u(t,x)), \qquad (5.1.2)$$

then the Cauchy problem (5.1.1) can be rewritten as the following linear Cauchy problem

$$v_{tt} - a(t)^2 \Delta v + b(t)v_t = 0,$$

$$v(0, x) = v_1(x) = 1 - \exp(-u_1(x)), \quad v_t(0, x) = v_2(x) = u_2(x) \exp(-u_1(x))$$

with data $v_1(x)$ and $v_2(x)$ belonging to $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and with the constrain condition

$$v(t, x) < 1.$$

This constrain condition follows from the transformation (5.1.2) and the goal to get global (in time) solutions. Let us recall the assumptions to the coefficient a = a(t):

• (A1) a(t) > 0, a'(t) > 0 for $t \in [0, \infty)$,

• (A2)
$$a_0 \le \alpha(t) \le a_1, \ a_0, a_1 > 0, \ \frac{a'(t)}{a(t)} := \alpha(t) \frac{a(t)}{A(t)},$$

• (A3)
$$|a''(t)| \le a_2 a(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^2, \ a_2 \ge 0,$$

and $b = b(t) := \mu(t) \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}$ with a little change to assumption (B3) as follows:

(B1)
$$b(t) > 0, b \notin L^1(\mathbb{R}_+),$$

(B2)
$$|\mu'(t)| \le C_{\mu}\mu(t)\frac{a(t)}{A(t)},$$

(B3) $\limsup_{t\to\infty} \mu(t) < \max\{\limsup_{t\to\infty} \alpha(t), 1\}.$

Then the following statement is true for the case n > 1.

Theorem 5.1.1. Suppose that the coefficients a = a(t) and b = b(t) satisfy the assumptions (A1) to (A3) and (B1) to (B3), respectively. Then the solution v = v(t, x) satisfies the following a-priori estimate:

$$\|v(t,\cdot)\|_{\infty} \le C_{\varepsilon}(N) \left(\|\langle D \rangle^{n+\varepsilon} v_0\|_1 + \|\langle D \rangle^{n-1+\varepsilon} v_1\|_1 \right)$$
(5.1.3)

for all $\varepsilon > 0$ and n > 1.

Proof. We will only sketch the proof. Applying partial Fourier transformation we get the equation $\hat{v}_{tt} + a^2(t)|\xi|^2\hat{v} + b(t)\hat{v}_t = 0$. We carry out the proof in two zones of the extended phase space $(0, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n$. These zones are defined as in Section 3.2 as

- $Z_{hyp}(N) := \{(t,\xi) : t \ge t_{|\xi|}\},\$
- $Z_{diss}(N) := \{(t,\xi) : 0 \le t \le t_{|\xi|}\},\$

where $t_{|\xi|}$ satisfies $A(t_{|\xi|})|\xi| = N$. Let $V = (a(t)|\xi|\hat{v}, D_t\hat{v})^T$. Then V satisfies

$$D_t V = A(t,\xi) V := \begin{pmatrix} \frac{D_t a}{a} & a(t)|\xi| \\ a(t)|\xi| & ib(t) \end{pmatrix} V.$$
(5.1.4)

We will derive estimates for the fundamental solution $E = E(t, s, \xi)$ of this first order system with data $E(s, s, \xi) = I$. Thus,

$$V(t,\xi) = E(t,s,\xi)V(s,\xi).$$

In the dissipative zone $Z_{diss}(N)$ straight-forward calculations and the definition of this zone give

$$\begin{aligned} \|E(t,0,\xi)\| &\leq \exp\left(\int_0^t \|A(\tau,\xi)\|d\tau\right) \\ &\leq \exp\left(\max\left\{\sup_{(t,\xi)\in Z_{diss}}\int_0^t \left(\frac{a'(\tau)}{a(\tau)} + a(\tau)|\xi|\right)d\tau, \sup_{(t,\xi)\in Z_{diss}}\int_0^t (b(\tau) + a(\tau)|\xi|)d\tau\right\}\right) \\ &\leq C_N \exp\left(\max\left\{\sup_{t\in(0,\infty)}\int_0^t \frac{a'(\tau)}{a(\tau)}d\tau, \sup_{t\in(0,\infty)}\int_0^t \mu(\tau)\frac{a(\tau)}{A(\tau)}d\tau\right\}\right) \\ &\leq C_N a(t). \end{aligned}$$

Here we used $\mu(t)\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} = \frac{\mu(t)}{\alpha(t)}\frac{a'(t)}{a(t)}$ and assumption (B3). Moreover, from the representation of $V(t,\xi)$ we obtain

$$a(t)|\xi|\hat{v}(t,\xi) = E_{11}(t,0,\xi)a(0)|\xi|\hat{v}_0 - iE_{12}(t,0,\xi)\hat{v}_1,$$

thus,

$$\left|\hat{v}(t,\xi)\right| = \left|\frac{a(0)}{a(t)}E_{11}(t,0,\xi)\hat{v}_0 - i\frac{1}{a(t)|\xi|}E_{12}(t,0,\xi)\hat{v}_1\right| \le C_N|\hat{v}_0| + C_N|\xi|^{-1}|\hat{v}_1|.$$
(5.1.5)

In the hyperbolic zone $Z_{hyp}(N)$ we carry out again two steps of diagonalization as in Section 3.2.2. Then we obtain the following estimate:

$$\|E(t,t_{|\xi|},\xi)\| \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(t_{|\xi|})}} \frac{\sqrt{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}}{\sqrt{\lambda(t)}}$$

$$(5.1.6)$$

for all $t \ge t_{|\xi|}$. On the other hand we have the following representation of solution

$$\begin{pmatrix} a(t)|\xi|\hat{v}(t,\xi)\\ D_t\hat{v}(t,\xi) \end{pmatrix} = E(t,t_{|\xi|},\xi)E(t_{|\xi|},0,\xi) \begin{pmatrix} a(0)|\xi|\hat{v}_0(\xi)\\ -i\hat{v}_1(\xi) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.1.7)

Combining the formula (5.1.7) with the estimate (5.1.6) and the estimate in the dissipative zone we get

$$\begin{aligned} a(t)|\xi|||\hat{v}(t,\xi)| &\leq \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(t_{|\xi|})}} \frac{\sqrt{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}}{\sqrt{\lambda(t)}} C_N a(t_{\xi}) \big(a(0)|\xi||\hat{v}_0| + |\hat{v}_1| \big), \\ |\hat{v}(t,\xi)| &\leq C_N \underbrace{\frac{\sqrt{a(t_{\xi})}}{\sqrt{a(t)}}}_{\lesssim 1} \frac{\sqrt{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}}{\sqrt{\lambda(t)}} \big(a(0)|\hat{v}_0| + |\xi|^{-1}|\hat{v}_1| \big) \\ &\lesssim C_N |\hat{v}_0| + C_N |\xi|^{-1} |\hat{v}_1|. \end{aligned}$$
(5.1.8)

Combining both formula (5.1.5) and (5.1.8) we get the final estimate

$$\begin{aligned} \|v(t,\cdot)\|_{\infty} &\leq \|\hat{v}(t,\cdot)\|_{1} \leq C_{N} \|\hat{v}_{0}\|_{1} + C_{N} \||\xi|^{-1} \hat{v}_{1}\|_{1} \\ &\leq C_{N} \left(\|\langle\xi\rangle^{-n-\epsilon}\|_{1} \|\langle\xi\rangle^{n+\epsilon} \hat{v}_{0}\|_{\infty} + \|\langle\xi\rangle^{1-n-\epsilon}|\xi|^{-1}\|_{1} \|\langle\xi\rangle^{n-1+\epsilon} \hat{v}_{1}\|_{\infty} \right) \\ &\leq C_{N} \left(\|\langle D\rangle^{n+\epsilon} v_{0}\|_{1} + \|\langle D\rangle^{n-1+\epsilon} v_{1}\|_{1} \right) \end{aligned}$$

for all n > 1 and $v_i \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, i = 1, 2. This completes the proof.

We can immediately conclude the global existence of small data solutions for our semi-linear problem in the case n > 1.

Corollary 5.1.2. Under the assumptions of Theorem 5.1.1 there exists a unique global (in time) classical solution u = u(t, x) to

$$u_{tt} - a(t)^2 \Delta u + b(t)u_t = u_t^2 - a(t)^2 |\nabla_x u|^2, \ u(0,x) = \epsilon u_1(x), \ u_t(0,x) = \epsilon u_2(x)$$

for given $u_0, u_1 \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n), n > 1$, and all $\epsilon \in [0, \epsilon^*)$ with an in general suitable positive and small ϵ^* .

Now we will formulate the statement for the case of dimension n = 1. In this formulation we use again assumptions for a(t) and b(t) which were recalled at the beginning of this section. There is a small modification of assumption (B3) in the following way: There exists a constant $\varepsilon_0 > 0$ small enough such that the following condition

(B3)'
$$1 - \delta \alpha(t) - \varepsilon_0 \leq \liminf_{t \to \infty} \mu(t) \leq \limsup_{t \to \infty} \mu(t) < 1$$

holds with an arbitrary δ satisfying $\delta < \liminf_{t \to \infty} \alpha(t)^{-1}$.

Theorem 5.1.3. Let us suppose that the coefficients a = a(t) and b = b(t) satisfy the assumptions (A1) to (A3), (B1), (B2) and (B3)', respectively. Then the solution v = v(t, x) satisfies the following *a*-priori estimate:

$$\|v(t,\cdot)\|_{\infty} \le C(s,N) \|\langle D \rangle^{s} v_{0}\|_{L^{1}} + C(\varepsilon_{0},N) \|v_{1}\|_{L^{1}} + C(s,N) \|\langle D \rangle^{s-1} v_{1}\|_{1}$$
(5.1.9)

for all s > 1.

Proof. In the further calculations we will use the following statement:

Proposition 5.1.4. The assumption (B3)' implies that

$$\frac{A(t)a(0)^{\delta}}{a(t)^{\delta}\lambda^2(t)} \leq A(t)^{\varepsilon_0}$$

Proof. We have

$$\frac{A(t)a(0)^{\delta}}{a(t)^{\delta}\lambda^{2}(t)} = \exp\left(\int_{0}^{t} \left(\frac{a(s)}{A(s)} - \delta\frac{a'(s)}{a(s)} - b(s)\right)ds\right)$$
$$= \exp\left(\int_{0}^{t} \left(1 - \delta\alpha(s) - \mu(s)\right)\frac{a(s)}{A(s)}ds\right) \le A(t)^{\varepsilon_{0}}.$$

This gives the desired statement.

We also divide the extended phase space into the dissipative zone $Z_{diss}(N)$ and the hyperbolic zone $Z_{hyp}(N)$. In order to prove our statement we distinguish between two cases:

1.case large frequencies $\{|\xi| \ge N\}$:

This part of the extended phase space belongs completely to $Z_{hyp}(N)$. Let us choose a smooth function $\chi(r) = 1$ for $r \leq 1/2$, $\chi(r) = 0$ for $r \geq 1$. According to the statement of Corollary 3.2.7 in Chapter 3 we have

$$a(t)|\xi||\hat{v}(t,\xi)| \le C \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} \Big(1 - \chi\Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N}\Big)\Big) \big(a(0)|\xi||\hat{v}_0| + |\hat{v}_1|\Big)$$

for all $t \geq 0$. Thus

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left(1 - \chi \left(\frac{|D|}{N} \right) \right) v(t, \cdot) \right\|_{\infty} &\leq \left\| \left(1 - \chi \left(\frac{|\xi|}{N} \right) \right) \hat{v}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{L^{1}} \tag{5.1.10} \\ &\leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{a(t)}\lambda(t)} \left(\left\| \left(1 - \chi \left(\frac{|\xi|}{N} \right) \right) \hat{v}_{0} \right\|_{L^{1}} + \left\| \left(1 - \chi \left(\frac{|\xi|}{N} \right) \right) |\xi|^{-1} \hat{v}_{1} \right\|_{L^{1}} \right) \\ &\leq \frac{C}{\sqrt{a(t)}\lambda(t)} \left(\left\| \left(1 - \chi \left(\frac{|\xi|}{N} \right) \right) \frac{1}{\langle \xi \rangle^{s}} \right\|_{L^{1}} \| \langle \xi \rangle^{s} \hat{v}_{0} \|_{L^{\infty}} \\ &\quad + \left\| \frac{1}{\langle \xi \rangle^{s}} \right\|_{L^{1}} \left\| \left(1 - \chi \left(\frac{|\xi|}{N} \right) \right) \langle \xi \rangle^{s} |\xi|^{-1} \hat{v}_{1} \right\|_{L^{\infty}} \right) \\ &\leq C \left(\| \langle D \rangle^{s} v_{0} \|_{L^{1}} + \| \langle D \rangle^{s-1} v_{1} \|_{L^{1}} \right) \tag{5.1.11}$$

for all s > 1.

2. case small frequencies $\{|\xi| \leq N\}$:

Here we have to divide our considerations in those in the dissipative zone and in the hyperbolic zone. (1)

 $Z_{diss}(N)$: We will follow the reasoning in Section 3.2.1. Therefore we define $V = \left(N\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\hat{v}, D_t\hat{v}\right)^T$. Thus V satisfies

$$D_t V = A(t,\xi)V, \ A(t,\xi) = \begin{pmatrix} -i\frac{d_t\delta(t)}{\delta(t)} & N\delta(t) \\ \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{N\delta(t)} & ib(t) \end{pmatrix},$$
(5.1.12)

here, $\delta(t) := \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}$. The solution $V = V(t,\xi)$ can be represented as $V(t,\xi) = E(t,s,\xi)V(s,\xi)$, where $E(t,s,\xi)$ is the fundamental solution, that is, the solution to the system

$$D_t E(t,s,\xi) = A(t,\xi) E(t,s,\xi), \ E(s,s,\xi) = I, \ 0 \le s \le t \le t_\xi.$$

According to Lemma 3.2.4 from Section 3.2.1 we have the following estimate:

$$\left(|E(t,0,\xi)|\right) \lesssim \left(\begin{array}{cc} \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} & \frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t)}\\ \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} & \frac{a(t)^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^2(t)} \end{array}\right).$$
(5.1.13)

Using the above representation for $V(t,\xi)$ we get

$$\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\hat{v}(t,\xi) = E_{11}(t,0,\xi)\frac{a(0)}{A(0)}\chi(|\xi|/N)\chi(t/t_{|\xi|})\hat{v}_0(\xi) - iE_{12}(t,0,\xi)\chi(|\xi|/N)\chi(t/t_{|\xi|})\hat{v}_1(\xi).$$

This gives the estimate

$$|\hat{v}(t,\xi)| \lesssim |E_{11}(t,0,\xi)| \frac{A(t)}{a(t)} \chi\Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N}\Big) \chi\Big(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}}\Big) |\hat{v}_0(\xi)| + |E_{12}(t,0,\xi)| \frac{A(t)}{a(t)} \Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N}\Big) \chi\Big(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}}\Big) |\hat{v}_1(\xi)|. \quad (5.1.14)$$

Thanks to the estimates (5.1.13) and (5.1.14) we obtain the following estimate:

$$|\hat{v}(t,\xi)| \le C\chi\Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N}\Big)\chi\Big(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}}\Big)|\hat{v}_0(\xi)| + \frac{A(t)}{a(t)^\delta\lambda^2(t)}\Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N}\Big)\chi\Big(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}}\Big)|\hat{v}_1(\xi)|.$$

Summarizing the application of Proposition 5.1.4 implies

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \chi(|D|/N)\chi(t/t_{|D|})v(t,\cdot) \right\|_{\infty} &\leq \left\| \left(\frac{|\xi|}{N} \right) \chi\left(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}} \right) \hat{v}(t,\cdot) \right\|_{L^{1}} \\ &\leq C \| \left(\frac{|\xi|}{N} \right) \chi\left(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}} \right) \hat{v}_{0} \|_{L^{1}} + \left\| \frac{A(t)}{a(t)^{\delta} \lambda^{2}(t)} \left(\frac{|\xi|}{N} \right) \chi\left(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}} \right) \hat{v}_{1} \right\|_{L^{1}} \\ &\leq C \| \left(\frac{|\xi|}{N} \right) \chi\left(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}} \right) \|_{L^{1}} \| \hat{v}_{0} \|_{\infty} + \| A(t)^{\varepsilon_{0}} \left(\frac{|\xi|}{N} \right) \chi\left(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}} \right) \|_{L^{1}} \| \hat{v}_{1} \|_{\infty} \\ &\leq C(N) \| v_{0} \|_{L^{1}} + N \| |\xi|^{-\varepsilon_{0}} \chi(|\xi|/N) \|_{L^{1}} \| v_{1} \|_{L^{1}} \\ &\leq C(N) \| v_{0} \|_{L^{1}} + C(\varepsilon_{0}, N) \| v_{1} \|_{L^{1}}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.1.15)

 $Z_{hyp}(N)\colon$ Applying again Corollary 3.2.7 from Chapter 3 we get

$$\begin{split} a(t)|\xi||\hat{v}(t,\xi)| &\leq C\frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}\frac{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}{\sqrt{a(t_{|\xi|})}}\chi\Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N}\Big)\Big(1-\chi\Big(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}}\Big)\Big)\Big(a(t_{|\xi|})|\xi||\hat{v}(t_{|\xi|},\xi)|+|\hat{v}_{t}(t_{|\xi|},\xi)|\Big) \\ &\lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)}\frac{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}{\sqrt{a(t_{|\xi|})}}\chi\Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N}\Big)\Big(1-\chi\Big(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}}\Big)\Big)\Big(\frac{a(t_{|\xi|})}{A(t_{\xi})}|\hat{v}(t_{|\xi|},\xi)|+|\hat{v}_{t}(t_{|\xi|},\xi)|\Big) \\ &\lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\sqrt{a(t_{|\xi|})}}\frac{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}{\lambda(t)}\chi\Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N}\Big)\Big(1-\chi\Big(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}}\Big)\Big)\Big(\frac{a(t_{|\xi|})}{A(t_{|\xi|})}|\hat{v}_{0}(\xi)|+\frac{a(t_{|\xi|})^{1-\delta}}{\lambda^{2}(t_{|\xi|})}|\hat{v}_{1}(\xi)|\Big). \end{split}$$

Thus

$$\begin{aligned} |\hat{v}(t,\xi)| &\lesssim \underbrace{\frac{\sqrt{a(t_{|\xi|})}}{\sqrt{a(t)}}}_{\leq 1} \underbrace{\frac{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}{\lambda(t)}}_{\leq 1} \chi\Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N}\Big) \Big(1 - \chi\Big(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}}\Big)\Big) \Big(\frac{1}{A(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|} |\hat{v}_{0}(\xi)| + \frac{1}{a(t_{|\xi|})^{\delta} \lambda^{2}(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|} |\hat{v}_{1}(\xi)|\Big) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{N} \chi\Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N}\Big) \Big(1 - \chi\Big(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}}\Big)\Big) |\hat{v}_{0}(\xi)| + \frac{A(t_{|\xi|})}{Na(t_{|\xi|})^{\delta} \lambda^{2}(t_{|\xi|})} \chi\Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N}\Big) \Big(1 - \chi\Big(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}}\Big)\Big) |\hat{v}_{1}(\xi)|. \end{aligned}$$

In this way we conclude with Proposition 5.1.4 the final estimate

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \chi \Big(\frac{|D|}{N} \Big) \Big(1 - \chi \Big(\frac{t}{t_{|D|}} \Big) \Big) v(t, \cdot) \right\|_{\infty} &\leq \left\| \chi \Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N} \Big) \Big(1 - \chi \Big(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}} \Big) \Big) \hat{v}(t, \cdot) \right\|_{L^{1}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{N} \left\| \chi \Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N} \Big) \Big(1 - \chi \Big(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}} \Big) \Big) \hat{v}_{0} \right\|_{L^{1}} + \left\| \frac{A(t_{|\xi|})^{\varepsilon_{0}}}{N} \chi \Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N} \Big) \Big(1 - \chi \Big(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}} \Big) \Big) \hat{v}_{1} \right\|_{L^{1}} \\ &\leq \frac{1}{N} \left\| \chi \Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N} \Big) \Big(1 - \chi \Big(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}} \Big) \Big) \right\|_{L^{1}} \| \hat{v}_{0} \|_{\infty} + \left\| \frac{1}{N^{1-\varepsilon_{0}}} \frac{|\xi|^{\varepsilon_{0}}}{N} \chi \Big(\frac{|\xi|}{N} \Big) \Big(1 - \chi \Big(\frac{t}{t_{|\xi|}} \Big) \Big) \right\|_{L^{1}} \| \hat{v}_{1} \|_{\infty} \\ &\leq C(N) \| v_{0} \|_{L^{1}} + C(\varepsilon_{0}, N) \| v_{1} \|_{L^{1}}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.1.16)$$

Combining (5.1.10), (5.1.15) and (5.1.16) we obtain for all s > 1 the estimate

$$\|v(t,\cdot)\|_{\infty} \le C(s,N) \|\langle D \rangle^{s} v_{0}\|_{L^{1}} + C(\varepsilon_{0},N) \|v_{1}\|_{L^{1}} + C(s,N) \|\langle D \rangle^{s-1} v_{1}\|_{L^{1}}.$$

This completes the proof.

An immediate consequence of Theorem 5.1.3 is the following statement for our semi-linear Cauchy problem in the one-dimensional case.

Corollary 5.1.5. Under the assumptions of Theorem 5.1.3 there exists a unique global (in time) classical solution u = u(t, x) to

$$u_{tt} - a(t)^2 u_{xx} + b(t)u_t = u_t^2 - a(t)^2 u_x^2, \ u(0,x) = \epsilon u_1(x), \ u_t(0,x) = \epsilon u_2(x)$$

for given $u_0, u_1 \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ and all $\epsilon \in [0, \epsilon^*)$ with an in general suitable positive and small ϵ^* .

Let us compare our results with the results from Ebert-Reissig [E-R11] for the case b(t) = 0. For this case, the assumptions (B1) and (B2) disappear and the assumption (B3)' is automatically satisfied for any fixed $\varepsilon_0 > 0$. It turns out that we only need the assumptions (A1) to (A3) in Theorem 5.1.3. Whereas, the a-priori estimate (5.1.9) in Theorem 5.1.3 coincides with a-priori estimate (15) in Theorem 2.1, [E-R11]. The difference between both theorems is that we herein use the lower bound

$$a_0 \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \le \frac{a'(t)}{a(t)}$$

for large t in the assumption (A2). In their theorem they only use the upper bound. Moreover, the additional assumption

$$t_{\xi} = A^{-1}(N/|\xi|) \in L^1(-1,1)$$

was used there.

5.2. Semi-linear models with effective dissipation

In this section we will consider the following semi-linear Cauchy problem

$$u_{tt} - a(t)^2 \Delta u + b(t)u_t = |u|^p, \ u(0,x) = u_1(x), \ u_t(0,x) = u_2(x),$$
(5.2.1)

where the coefficient a(t) satisfies the assumptions (A1) to (A3) from the previous section. Let us recall the assumptions for the time-dependent damping term $b(t)u_t$ in the case it is called effective dissipation term. We suppose

(B'1)
$$b(t) > 0, \ b(t) = \mu(t) \frac{a(t)}{A(t)},$$

(B'2) $\left| d_t^k \mu(t) \right| \le C_k \mu(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \right)^k$ for $k = 1, 2,$

(B'3)
$$\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$$
 is monotone, and $\mu(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$,

(B'4)
$$\frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)} = \frac{a(t)A(t)}{\mu(t)} \notin L^1(\mathbb{R}_+),$$

(B'5)
$$\frac{a^2(t)}{A^2(t)b(t)} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+).$$

5.2.1. Matsumura-type estimates for parameter-dependent linear Cauchy problems

In order to prove results for the semi-linear model we shall derive estimates for solutions to the following family of parameter-dependent Cauchy problems with suitable initial data (0, g(s, x)):

$$v_{tt} - a(t)^2 \Delta v + b(t)v_t = 0, \ v(s,x) = 0, \ v_t(s,x) = g(s,x),$$
(5.2.2)

where $t \in [s, \infty)$, and $s \ge 0$.

Definition 5.2.1. We denote by $B_a(s,t)$ the primitive of $a^2(t)/b(t)$ which vanishes at t = s and which is defined by

$$B_a(s,t) := \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau = B_a(0,t) - B_a(0,s).$$
(5.2.3)

We have the following result for estimates of solutions to (5.2.2):

Theorem 5.2.1. We assume that a(t) satisfies the assumptions (A1) to (A3), b(t) satisfies the assumptions (B'1) to (B'5) and $g(s, \cdot) \in L^m \cap L^2$ for some $m \in [1, 2]$. Then the solution v(t, x) to (5.2.2) satisfies the following Matsumura-type estimates for $t \geq s$:

$$\|v(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \leq C \frac{1}{b(s)} \left(1 + B_a(s,t)\right)^{-\frac{n}{2}\left(\frac{1}{m} - \frac{1}{2}\right)} \|g(s,\cdot)\|_{L^m \cap L^2},$$
(5.2.4)

$$\|\nabla v(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \leq C \frac{1}{b(s)} \left(1 + B_a(s,t)\right)^{-\frac{n}{2}\left(\frac{1}{m} - \frac{1}{2}\right) - \frac{1}{2}} \|g(s,\cdot)\|_{L^m \cap L^2},$$
(5.2.5)

$$\|v_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \leq C \frac{a^2(t)}{b(s)b(t)} \left(1 + B_a(s,t)\right)^{-\frac{n}{2}\left(\frac{1}{m} - \frac{1}{2}\right) - 1} \|g(s,\cdot)\|_{L^m \cap L^2}.$$
(5.2.6)

The non-negative constant C is independent of s.

Proof. We apply the partial Fourier transformation to (5.2.2) and use the change of variables

$$w(t,\xi) = \frac{\lambda(t)}{\lambda(s)}\hat{v}(t,\xi), \quad \lambda(t) := \exp\left(\frac{1}{2}\int_0^t b(\tau)d\tau\right).$$
(5.2.7)

Then we get the Cauchy problem

$$w'' + m(t,\xi)w = 0, \ w(s,\xi) = 0, w'(s,\xi) = \hat{g}(s,\xi),$$
(5.2.8)

where

$$m(t,\xi) = a^{2}(t)|\xi|^{2} - \frac{b^{2}(t)}{4} - \frac{b'(t)}{2}$$

= $a^{2}(t)|\xi|^{2} - \frac{\mu^{2}(t)a^{2}(t)}{4A^{2}(t)} - \left(\frac{\mu(t)a(t)}{2A(t)}\right)'.$

Let us introduce $\eta(t) := \frac{b(t)}{2a(t)} = \frac{\mu(t)}{2A(t)}$ and $\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} := \sqrt{a^2(t)|\xi|^2 - b^2(t)/4}$. Similar to the considerations from Section 3.3 we also divide the extended phase space $[s, \infty) \times \mathbb{R}^n$ into four zones: the hyperbolic, pseudo-differential, reduced and elliptic zone. We denote

$$\eta_{\infty} := \lim_{t \to \infty} \eta(t) \in [0, \infty].$$

This limit exists because of the monotonic behavior of $\eta(t)$. We define

$$h(t,\xi) = \chi \Big(\frac{\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}}{\epsilon a(t)\eta(t)} \Big) \epsilon a(t)\eta(t) + \Big(1 - \chi \Big(\frac{\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}}{\epsilon a(t)\eta(t)} \Big) \Big) \sqrt{|m(t,\xi)|},$$

where $\chi \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}[0, +\infty)$ localizes: $\chi(\rho) = 1$ if $0 \leq \rho \leq 1/2$ and $\chi(\rho) = 0$ if $\rho \geq 1$. By the definition of $Z_{red}(\epsilon)$, for any $(t,\xi) \notin Z_{red}(\epsilon)$, it implies that $|m(t,\xi)| \geq C\epsilon^2 a^2(t)\eta^2(t)$, thus $h(t,\xi) \geq C_1\epsilon a(t)\eta(t)$. Let $W(t,\xi) = (h(t,\xi)w(t,\xi), D_tw(t,\xi))^T$. Then we get

$$D_t W(t,\xi) = \underbrace{\begin{pmatrix} D_t h(t,\xi)/h(t,\xi) & h(t,\xi) \\ m(t,\xi)/h(t,\xi) & 0 \end{pmatrix}}_{A(t,\xi)} W(t,\xi), \ W(s,\xi) = (0, -i\hat{g}(s,\xi))^T.$$
(5.2.9)

We denote by $E^{W}(t, t_1, \xi)$ the fundamental solution to (5.2.9) for any $t \ge t_1 \ge s$, i.e., the solution to

$$D_t E^W(t, t_1, \xi) = A(t, \xi) E^W(t, t_1, \xi), \ E^W(t_1, t_1, \xi) = I.$$
(5.2.10)

It is clear that $W(t,\xi) = E^W(t,s,\xi)(0,-i\hat{g}(s,\xi))^T$ and that $E^W(t,t_1,\xi) = E^W(t,t_2,\xi)E^W(t_2,t_1,\xi)$ for any $t \ge t_2 \ge t_1 \ge s$. For $t_1 \le t_2$ and $(t_1,\xi), (t_2,\xi) \in Z_{hyp}(N,\epsilon)$ we will introduce $E^W(t_2,t_1,\xi) = E^W_{hyp}(t_2,t_1,\xi)$ and we introduce corresponding notations in the other zones.

Remark 5.2.1. In Section 3.3 we used another energy $V(t,\xi) = (\tilde{h}(t,\xi)v(t,\xi), D_tv(t,\xi))$ with

$$\tilde{h}(t,\xi) := \chi \Big(\frac{\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}}{\epsilon a(t)\eta(t)} \Big) \epsilon a(t)\eta(t) + \Big(1 - \chi \Big(\frac{\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}}{\epsilon a(t)\eta(t)} \Big) \Big) \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)}$$

and we have considered the fundamental solution $E_V(t, t_1, \xi)$ as the solution to

$$D_t E_V(t, t_1, \xi) = \begin{pmatrix} D_t \tilde{h}(t, \xi) / \tilde{h}(t, \xi) & \tilde{h}(t, \xi) \\ m(t, \xi) / \tilde{h}(t, \xi) & 0 \end{pmatrix} E_V(t, t_1, \xi), \ E_V(t_1, t_1, \xi) = I.$$
(5.2.11)

Since $h(t,\xi) \sim \sqrt{m(t,\xi)} \sim \langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \sim \tilde{h}(t,\xi)$ for all $(t,\xi) \notin Z_{red}(\epsilon)$ and $h(t,\xi) = \epsilon a(t)\eta(t) = \tilde{h}(t,\xi)$ for all $(t,\xi) \in Z_{red}(\epsilon)$ we can use for $E^W(t,t_1,\xi)$ all results which we have proved in Section 3.3 for $E_V(t,t_1,\xi)$.
Estimates in the zones

Applying in the hyperbolic zone $Z_{hyp}(N)$ the results from Lemma 3.3.3 leads to

$$\|E_{hyp}^{W}(t_2, t_1, \xi)\| \le C_N \frac{\sqrt{a(t_2)}}{\sqrt{a(t_1)}}.$$
(5.2.12)

Following Remark 3.3.3 the pseudo-differential zone $Z_{p.d}(N, \epsilon)$ can be skipped (in one part we can apply the result from the hyperbolic zone, the other part is compact).

In the reduced zone $Z_{red}(\epsilon)$ we use the result from Lemma 3.3.6. It implies

$$\|E_{red}^W(t_2, t_1, \xi)\| \le \exp\left(C\epsilon \int_{t_1}^{t_2} b(\tau) d\tau\right) = \frac{\lambda(t_2)^{2C\epsilon}}{\lambda(t_1)^{2C\epsilon}}.$$

In the elliptic zone $Z_{ell}(\epsilon)$ by the result from Lemma 3.3.5 it follows

$$||E_{ell}^W(t_2, t_1, \xi)|| \le C \frac{b(t_2)}{b(t_1)} \exp\left(\int_{t_1}^{t_2} b(\tau) d\tau\right).$$

Representation of the solution

Now we return to our problem (5.2.2). Let us assume that

$$w(t, s, \xi) = \Psi(t, s, \xi)\hat{g}(s, \xi)$$

is the solution to (5.2.8). Together with the representation of the fundamental solution $E^{W}(t_2, t_1, s)$ in (5.2.10) we obtain

$$\begin{pmatrix} 0 & \Psi \\ 0 & D_t \Psi \end{pmatrix} (0, \hat{g}(s, \xi))^T = \operatorname{diag} \left(1/h(t, \xi), 1 \right) E^W(t, s, \xi) (0, -i\hat{g}(s, \xi))^T,$$

that is,

$$\Psi(t,s,\xi) = -iE_{12}^W(t,s,\xi)/h(t,\xi), \ \Psi_t(t,s,\xi) = E_{22}^W(t,s,\xi).$$

On the other hand we write the Fourier transform of the solution to (5.2.2) as

$$\hat{v}(t,\xi) = \hat{\Phi}(t,s,\xi)\hat{g}(s,\xi).$$

Recalling (5.2.7) we have

$$\hat{\Phi}(t,s,\xi) = \frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)}\Psi(t,s,\xi) = -i\frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)}\frac{1}{h(t,\xi)}E_{12}^{W}(t,s,\xi),$$

$$\hat{\Phi}_{t}(t,s,\xi) = \frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)}\left(\Psi_{t}(t,s,\xi) - \frac{b(t)}{2}\Psi(t,s,\xi)\right)$$

$$= \frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)}\left(E_{22}^{W}(t,s,\xi) + i\frac{b(t)}{2h(t,\xi)}E_{12}^{W}(t,s,\xi)\right).$$
(5.2.13)

In our proof we will distinguish into four cases: $\eta(t) \searrow 0$, $\eta(t) \searrow \eta_{\infty} > 0$, $\eta(t) \nearrow \eta_{\infty} > 0$, and $\eta(t) \nearrow \infty$. In order to get better overview we prefer to use illustrated figures for these cases. Case 1. $\eta(t) \searrow 0$



Fig. 5.1.: An illustrated picture for the case $\eta(t) \searrow 0$.

Case 2. $\eta(t) \searrow \eta_{\infty} > 0$,



Fig. 5.2.: An illustrated picture for the case $\eta(t) \searrow \eta_{\infty} > 0$.

Case 3. $\eta(t) \nearrow \eta_{\infty} > 0$,



Fig. 5.3.: An illustrated picture for the case $\eta(t) \nearrow \eta_{\infty} > 0$.

Case 4. $\eta(t) \nearrow \infty$,



Fig. 5.4.: An illustrated picture for the case $\eta(t) \nearrow \infty$.

We first consider the case that $\eta(t)$ is decreasing, that is $\eta(t) \searrow \eta_{\infty}$, and that $(s,\xi) \in Z_{ell}(\epsilon)$, i.e., $|\xi| \leq \eta(s)\sqrt{1-\epsilon^2}$.

• If $|\xi| > \eta_{\infty}\sqrt{1+\epsilon^2}$, then for all s, t with $s \le t_{ell} < t_{red} \le t$ we have the representation

$$E^{W}(t, s, \xi) = E^{W}_{hyp}(t, t_{red}, \xi) E^{W}_{red}(t_{red}, t_{ell}, \xi) E^{W}_{ell}(t_{ell}, s, \xi)$$

In the case $\eta_{\infty} = 0$ this relation is valid for any frequency $\xi \neq 0$.

- If $\eta_{\infty}\sqrt{1-\epsilon^2} \leq |\xi| \leq \eta_{\infty}\sqrt{1+\epsilon^2}$, then for all s, t with $s \leq t_{ell} \leq t$ it follows that $E^W(t, s, \xi) = E^W_{red}(t, t_{ell}, \xi)E^W_{ell}(t_{ell}, s, \xi).$
- If $|\xi| \leq \eta_{\infty} \sqrt{1 \epsilon^2}$, then $E^W(t, s, \xi) = E^W_{ell}(t, s, \xi)$.

In the other case $|\xi| \ge \eta(s)\sqrt{1+\epsilon^2}$ we get $E^W(t,s,\xi) = E^W_{hyp}(t,s,\xi)$ for any $t \in [s,\infty)$. The intermediate cases are similar.

If we consider the case of $\eta(t) \nearrow \eta_{\infty}$ with $\eta_{\infty} \in (0, +\infty]$, then the situation is reversed, that is

$$E^{W}(t, s, \xi) = E^{W}_{ell}(t, t_{red}, \xi) E^{W}_{red}(t_{red}, t_{hyp}, \xi) E^{W}_{hyp}(t_{hyp}, s, \xi),$$

for the case $\eta(s)\sqrt{1+\epsilon^2} \le |\xi| \le \eta_{\infty}\sqrt{1-\epsilon^2}$ (if this set is not empty).

Estimates for the multipliers

In order to estimate our solution we need to estimate $|\hat{\Phi}(t, s, \xi)|$ in each zone of the extended phase space. The estimates for $|\hat{\Phi}_t(t, s, \xi)|$ will be obtained by a more refined approach. In $Z_{hyp}(N)$ it holds $h(t, \xi) \sim a(t)|\xi|$. Thus,

$$|\hat{\Phi}_{hyp}(t_2, t_1, \xi)| \lesssim \frac{\lambda(t_1)}{\lambda(t_2)} \frac{1}{a(t_2)|\xi|} \frac{\sqrt{a(t_2)}}{\sqrt{a(t_1)}} \lesssim \frac{1}{|\xi|} \frac{\lambda(t_1)}{\lambda(t_2)} \frac{1}{\sqrt{a(t_1)}\sqrt{a(t_2)}},$$
(5.2.14)

whereas in $Z_{red}(\epsilon)$ it holds $h(t,\xi) \sim a(t)\eta(t) \sim a(t)|\xi|$. Therefore, we obtain

$$|\hat{\Phi}_{red}(t_2, t_1, \xi)| \lesssim \frac{1}{a(t_2)|\xi|} \frac{\lambda(t_1)}{\lambda(t_2)} \exp\left(C\epsilon \int_{t_1}^{t_2} b(\tau)d\tau\right) \lesssim \frac{1}{a(t_2)|\xi|} \left(\frac{\lambda(t_1)}{\lambda(t_2)}\right)^{1-2\delta},\tag{5.2.15}$$

where we denote $\delta := C\epsilon$. It is not difficult to prove that we can uniformly estimate $|\Phi_{hyp}(t_2, t_1, \xi)|$ in (5.2.14) by the upper bound from (5.2.15). Indeed, this statement can be directly obtained by the following estimate:

$$\frac{\sqrt{a(t_2)}}{\lambda(t_2)^{2\delta}} \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t_1)}}{\lambda(t_1)^{2\delta}}.$$
(5.2.16)

In order to prove this estimate we consider the monotonic behavior of the function

$$f(t) = \frac{a(t)}{\lambda(t)^{4\delta}}$$

for large t. We have

$$f'(t) = \frac{a'(t) - 2\delta a(t)b(t)}{\lambda(t)^{4\delta}} = \frac{a'(t) - 2\delta a(t)\mu(t)\frac{a^2(t)}{A(t)}}{\lambda(t)^{4\delta}}.$$

Due to the assumption (A2) we get $a'(t)A(t)/a^2(t) \leq a_1$ for all t and due to assumption (B'3) we have $\mu(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$. Therefore, the function f'(t) satisfies $f'(t) \leq 0$ for all t large. This hint clues us to define

$$\Pi_{hyp}(\epsilon) = Z_{red}(\epsilon) \cup Z_{hyp}(N),$$

and we denote by $t_{|\xi|}$ the separating curve between $Z_{ell}(\epsilon)$ and $\Pi_{hyp}(\epsilon)$. This curve is given by

$$\eta^2(t_{|\xi|}) - |\xi|^2 = \epsilon^2 \eta^2(t_{|\xi|}).$$

We will consider the following four cases:

Small frequencies $|\xi| \leq \eta(s)\sqrt{1-\epsilon^2}$:

• Case 1, $t \leq t_{|\xi|}$: in this case $(t,\xi), (s,\xi)$ belong to $Z_{ell}(\epsilon)$, therefore we can use the estimate (3.3.37). It holds

$$|\hat{\Phi}(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{1}{b(s)} \exp\left(-C|\xi|^2 B_a(s,t)\right).$$
 (5.2.17)

• Case 2, $t \ge t_{|\xi|}$: it holds

$$|\hat{\Phi}(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{a(t_{|\xi|})}{a(t)b(s)} \exp\left(-C|\xi|^2 B_a(s,t_{|\xi|})\right) \left(\frac{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}{\lambda(t)}\right)^{1-2\delta}$$
(5.2.18)

by using the definition of $t_{|\xi|}$.

We remark that there is no separating line if $|\xi| \leq \eta_{\infty} \sqrt{1 - \epsilon^2}$ (in particular, this is also true if $\eta(t)$ is increasing).

Large frequencies $|\xi| \ge \eta(s)\sqrt{1-\epsilon^2}$:

• Case 3, $t \leq t_{|\xi|}$: in this case $(t,\xi), (s,\xi)$ belong to $\Pi_{hyp}(\epsilon)$. Therefore it holds

$$|\hat{\Phi}(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{1}{a(t)|\xi|} \Big(\frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)}\Big)^{1-2\delta}.$$
(5.2.19)

• Case 4, $t \ge t_{|\xi|}$: it holds

$$|\hat{\Phi}(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{1}{a(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|} \exp\left(-C|\xi|^2 B_a(t_{|\xi|},t)\right) \left(\frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}\right)^{1-2\delta}.$$
(5.2.20)

We remark that there is no separating line if $|\xi| \ge \eta_{\infty} \sqrt{1-\epsilon^2}$ (in particular, this is also true if $\eta(t)$ is decreasing).

Estimates for the time derivative of the multipliers

In this part we derive estimates for $\hat{\Phi}_t(t, s, \xi)$ in all zones. In $\Pi_{hyp}(\epsilon)$ we directly use the representation (5.2.13) together with $b(t) \leq h(t, \xi)$. Thus, in the *Case 3* we can estimate

$$|\hat{\Phi}_t(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \left(\frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)}\right)^{1-2\delta},\tag{5.2.21}$$

whereas in the Case 2 we get

$$|\hat{\Phi}_t(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim |\hat{\Phi}_t(t_{|\xi|},s,\xi)| \left(\frac{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}{\lambda(t)}\right)^{1-2\delta}.$$
(5.2.22)

We can treat the *Case 1* analogously to the proof of Lemma 3.3.8. Thus, we obtain the following estimate $2 \times 1 \times 10^{-2}$

$$|\hat{\Phi}_t(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{b(s)b(t)} \exp\left(-C|\xi|^2 B_a(s,t)\right).$$
(5.2.23)

Plugging this estimate into (5.2.22) we get the following estimate in the Case 2:

$$|\hat{\Phi}_t(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{a(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|}{b(s)} \exp\left(-C|\xi|^2 B_a(s,t_{|\xi|})\right) \left(\frac{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}{\lambda(t)}\right)^{1-2\delta}.$$
(5.2.24)

Here we used $b(t_{|\xi|}) \sim a(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|$. In the *Case* 4 we put $\Psi(t, s, \xi) = \hat{\Phi}_t(t, s, \xi)$. Then we obtain the equation of first order

$$\Psi_t + b(t)\Psi = -a^2(t)|\xi|^2 \hat{\Phi}(t,s,\xi), \qquad \Psi(t_{|\xi|},s,\xi) = \hat{\Phi}_t(t_{|\xi|},s,\xi).$$

By using (5.2.20) for $|\hat{\Phi}(t, s, \xi)|$ and the estimate (5.2.21) for $|\hat{\Phi}_t(t_{|\xi|}, s, \xi)|$ we derive for $t \ge t_{|\xi|}$ the following estimate:

$$\begin{split} |\Phi_t(t,s,\xi)| \\ \lesssim \frac{\lambda^2(t_{|\xi|})}{\lambda^2(t)} \left(\left(\frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}\right)^{1-2\delta} + \int_{t_{|\xi|}}^t \frac{\lambda^2(\tau)}{\lambda^2(t_{|\xi|})} \frac{|\xi|^2 a^2(\tau)}{a(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|} \left(\frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}\right)^{1-2\delta} e^{-C|\xi|^2 B_a(t_{|\xi|},\tau)} d\tau \right) \\ \lesssim \left(\frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}\right)^{1-2\delta} \left(\frac{\lambda^2(t_{|\xi|})}{\lambda^2(t)} + \frac{|\xi|a^2(t)}{a(t_{|\xi|})} \int_{t_{|\xi|}}^t \left(\frac{\lambda^2(\tau)}{\lambda^2(t)}b(\tau)\right) \frac{1}{b(\tau)} e^{-C|\xi|^2 B_a(t_{|\xi|},\tau)} d\tau \right). \end{split}$$

We can now follow the proof for Lemma 3.3.8 in the case of effective dissipation. Consequently, we obtain the following estimate:

$$|\hat{\Phi}_t(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|}{a(t_{|\xi|})b(t)} \Big(\frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}\Big)^{1-2\delta} \exp\big(-C|\xi|^2 B_a(t_{|\xi|},t)\big).$$
(5.2.25)

Final estimates

Lemma 5.2.2. Let us define

$$\Theta(s,t) := \max\{\eta(s), \eta(t)\}\sqrt{1 - \epsilon^2}$$

for any $t \geq s$ and for any $s \in [0,\infty)$. If $|\xi| \geq \Theta(s,t)$, that is, $(t,\xi) \in \Pi_{hyp}(\epsilon)$ for any $t \geq s$, then $|\hat{\Phi}(t,s,\xi)|$ satisfies the estimate (5.2.19), while $|\hat{\Phi}_t(t,s,\xi)|$ satisfies the estimate (5.2.21). If $|\xi| \leq \Theta(s,t)$, then the corresponding estimates are as follows:

$$|\hat{\Phi}(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{1}{b(s)} \exp\left(-C'|\xi|^2 B_a(s,t)\right),$$
 (5.2.26)

$$|\hat{\Phi}_t(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{b(s)b(t)} \exp\left(-C'|\xi|^2 B_a(s,t)\right).$$
(5.2.27)

Proof. In order to prove (5.2.26) and (5.2.27) for $|\xi| \leq \Theta(s,t)$ we consider three cases: (A) $|\xi| \leq \min\{\eta(s), \eta(t)\}\sqrt{1-\epsilon^2};$

- (B) η is decreasing and $\eta(t)\sqrt{1-\epsilon^2} \le |\xi| \le \eta(s)\sqrt{1-\epsilon^2}$; (C) η is increasing and $\eta(s)\sqrt{1-\epsilon^2} \le |\xi| \le \eta(t)\sqrt{1-\epsilon^2}$.

In the case (A) we can easily check that $(t,\xi) \in Z_{ell}(\epsilon)$. Then the two estimates (5.2.26), (5.2.27) follow directly from (5.2.17) and (5.2.23). Now let us consider the case (B). Introducing

$$S(t, |\xi|) := \exp\left(-C_1 |\xi|^2 B_a(s, t_{|\xi|})\right) \left(\frac{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}{\lambda(t)}\right)^{2C_2}$$

the application of Lemma 3.3.15 implies

$$S(t, |\xi|) \le \exp\left(-\min\{C_1, C_2\}|\xi|^2 B_a(s, t)\right)$$

In this way (5.2.26) follows from (5.2.18) by using $\frac{a(t_{|\xi|})}{a(t)b(s)} \lesssim \frac{1}{b(s)}$ for any $t \ge t_{|\xi|} \ge s$, and (5.2.27) follows from (5.2.24) by using $\frac{a(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|}{b(s)} \lesssim \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{b(s)b(t)}$. Analogously, in the case (C) we have the following estimate, too:

$$\exp\left(-C_{1}|\xi|^{2}B_{a}(t_{|\xi|},t)\right)\left(\frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t_{|\xi|})}\right)^{2C_{2}} \leq \exp\left(-\min\{C_{1},C_{2}\}|\xi|^{2}B_{a}(s,t)\right)$$

Hence, (5.2.26) follows from (5.2.20) by using

$$\frac{1}{a(t_{|\xi|})|\xi|} \lesssim \frac{1}{b(s)}$$

for any $t \ge t_{|\xi|}$, and (5.2.27) follows from (5.2.25) by using

$$\frac{a^2(t)|\xi|}{a(t_{|\xi|})b(t)} \lesssim \frac{a^2(t)|\xi|^2}{b(s)b(t)}.$$

This completes the proof.

Matsumura-type estimates

Lemma 5.2.3. The following estimates hold for large frequencies $|\xi| \ge \Theta(s,t)$:

$$\||\xi|^{|\alpha|}\partial_t^l\widehat{\Phi}(t,s,\xi)\widehat{g}(s,\cdot)\|_{L^2_{\{|\xi|\ge\Theta\}}} \lesssim \frac{1}{b(s)} \Big(\frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)}\Big)^{1-2\delta} \|g(s,\cdot)\|_{H^{[|\alpha|+l-1]+}}$$
(5.2.28)

for l = 0, 1 and for any $|\alpha| \ge 0$.

Proof. If $|\alpha| + l \ge 1$, then we can estimate

$$\||\xi|^{|\alpha|}\partial_t^l\widehat{\Phi}(t,s,\xi)\|_{L^2_{\{|\xi|\geq\Theta\}}} \le \||\xi|^{1-l}\partial_t^l\widehat{\Phi}(t,s,\xi)\|_{L^\infty_{\{|\xi|\geq\Theta\}}} \||\xi|^{|\alpha|+l-1}\widehat{g}(s,\cdot)\|_{L^2_{\{|\xi|\geq\Theta\}}}$$

Since $|\xi|^{|\alpha|+l-1} \leq \langle \xi \rangle^{|\alpha|+l-1}$ for any $|\alpha|+l \geq 1$, then the second term can be estimated by $||g(s,\cdot)||_{H^{|\alpha|+l-1}}$. Thanks to the estimates (5.2.19) and (5.2.21) we obtain

$$|\partial_t^l \widehat{\Phi}(t,s,\xi)| \lesssim a(t)^{-1+l} |\xi|^{-1+l} \Big(\frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)}\Big)^{1-2\delta}$$

which has a decay uniformly for $|\xi| \ge \Theta(s, t)$.

Let us choose $|\alpha| = l = 0$. In the case $\eta_{\infty} > 0$ it holds $\Theta(s,t) \ge C > 0$ for any $s \le t$. Thus, it is reasonable to use $|\xi|^{-1} \sim \langle \xi \rangle^{-1}$ uniformly on the set $\{|\xi| \ge C\}$. Otherwise, when $\eta_{\infty} = 0$ we use $b(s) \sim a(s)\eta(s) \le a(t)|\xi|$ for large frequencies. Therefore, we can estimate

$$|\widehat{\Phi}(t,s,\xi)|_{L^2_{\{|\xi|\geq\Theta\}}} \lesssim \frac{1}{b(s)} \Big(\frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)}\Big)^{1-2\delta} \|g(s,\cdot)\|_{L^2}.$$

This completes the proof.

Lemma 5.2.4. The following estimates hold for small frequencies $|\xi| \leq \Theta(s, t)$:

$$\| |\xi|^{|\alpha|} \partial_t^l \widehat{\Phi}(t, s, \xi) \widehat{g}(s, \cdot) \|_{L^2_{\{|\xi| \le \Theta\}}}$$

$$\lesssim \frac{a^{2l}(t)}{b(s)b(t)^l} (B_a(s, t))^{-l} (B_a(s, t))^{-\frac{|\alpha|}{2} - \frac{n}{2} \left(\frac{1}{m} - \frac{1}{2}\right)} \|g(s, \cdot)\|_{L^m}$$
(5.2.29)

for l = 0, 1 and for any $|\alpha| \ge 0$.

Proof. Let us define m' and p by 1/m + 1/m' = 1 and 1/p + 1/m' = 1/2, that is, 1/p = 1/m - 1/2. Then we have the following estimate:

$$\||\xi|^{|\alpha|}\partial_t^l\widehat{\Phi}(t,s,\cdot)\widehat{g}(s,\cdot)\|_{L^2_{\{|\xi|\leq\Theta\}}} \leq \||\xi|^{|\alpha|}\partial_t^l\widehat{\Phi}(t,s,\cdot)\|_{L^p_{\{|\xi|\leq\Theta\}}}\|\widehat{g}(s,\cdot)\|_{L^{m'}_{\{|\xi|\leq\Theta\}}}.$$

We can estimate $\|\widehat{g}(s,\cdot)\|_{L^{m'}}$ by $\|g(s,\cdot)\|_{L^m}$. Therefore, we have only to control the L^p norm of the multiplier. Thanks to (5.2.26) and (5.2.27) we have the following estimate:

$$\begin{aligned} \||\xi|^{|\alpha|}\partial_t^{l}\widehat{\Phi}(t,s,\cdot)\|_{L^p_{\{|\xi|\leq\Theta\}}} \\ \lesssim \frac{a^{2l}(t)}{b(s)b(t)^l} \Big(\int_{|\xi|\leq\Theta} |\xi|^{p(|\alpha|+2l)} \exp\big(-Cp|\xi|^2 B_a(s,t)\big)d\xi\Big)^{\frac{1}{p}}. \end{aligned}$$

After using a change of variables $r = Cp|\xi|^2 B_a(s,t)$ we conclude

$$\int_{|\xi| \le \Theta} |\xi|^{p(|\alpha|+2l)} \exp\left(-Cp|\xi|^2 B_a(s,t)\right) d\xi \lesssim (B_a(s,t))^{(-p(|\alpha|+2l)+n)/2} \int_0^\infty r^{p(|\alpha|+2l)+n-1} e^{-r} dr.$$

The integral on the right-hand side is bounded and we have a decay which is given by

$$\frac{a^{2l}(t)}{b(s)b(t)^l} (B_a(s,t))^{-\frac{|\alpha|}{2} - l - \frac{n}{2p}} = \frac{a^{2l}(t)}{b(s)b(t)^l} (B_a(s,t))^{-l} (B_a(s,t))^{-\frac{|\alpha|}{2} - \frac{n}{2}\left(\frac{1}{m} - \frac{1}{2}\right)}.$$

This completes the proof.

Now we show that the decay function given in (5.2.29) is worse than the one from (5.2.28). For this reason we compare

$$\left(\frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)}\right)^{1-2\delta} = \left(\frac{\lambda(s)}{\lambda(t)}\right)^{2C_1} = \exp\left(-C_1\int_s^t b(\tau)d\tau\right)$$

with

$$(B_a(s,t))^{-\frac{|\alpha|}{2}-\frac{n}{2}(\frac{1}{m}-\frac{1}{2})} = (B_a(s,t))^{C_{|\alpha|}}.$$

We distinguish two cases:

• If $\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$ is increasing, then there exists a constant t_0 such that $c_0 = \frac{\mu(t_0)}{A(t_0)} \leq \frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$ uniformly for all $t \geq t_0$. Thus, we have

$$a^{2}(t) \left(\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}\right)^{2} \ge c_{0}^{2}a^{2}(t) \Rightarrow b(t) \ge c_{0}^{2}\frac{a^{2}(t)}{b(t)}$$

for all $t \ge t_0$. Then (5.2.29) is of potential order decay in b(t) while (5.2.28) is of exponential order decay in b(t). This brings the desired dominance.

• If $\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$ is decreasing, then we show the monotonicity of the function

$$(B_a(s,t))^{C_{|\alpha|}} \left(\frac{\lambda(t)}{\lambda(s)}\right)^{2C_1}$$

We form the derivative of this function

$$\partial_{t} \left[\left(\int_{s}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \right)^{C_{|\alpha|}} \left(\frac{\lambda(t)}{\lambda(s)} \right)^{2C_{1}} \right] \\ = C_{|\alpha|} \left(\int_{s}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \right)^{C_{|\alpha|} - 1} \frac{a^{2}(t)}{b(t)} \left(\frac{\lambda(t)}{\lambda(s)} \right)^{2C_{1}} + 2C_{1}b(t) \left(\int_{s}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \right)^{C_{|\alpha|}} \left(\frac{\lambda(t)}{\lambda(s)} \right)^{C_{1}} \\ = \frac{a^{2}(t)}{b(t)} \left(\int_{s}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \right)^{C_{|\alpha|} - 1} \left(\frac{\lambda(t)}{\lambda(s)} \right)^{C_{1}} \left(C_{|\alpha|} + 2C_{1} \frac{b^{2}(t)}{a^{2}(t)} \int_{s}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \right).$$
(5.2.30)

Now we can see that the second term in the bracket tends to ∞ as t tends to ∞ . Indeed, we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{b^2(t)}{a^2(t)} \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau &= \frac{\mu^2(t)}{A^2(t)} \int_s^t \frac{a(\tau)A(\tau)}{\mu(\tau)} d\tau \\ &= \frac{\mu^2(t)}{A^2(t)} \Big(\frac{A^2(t)}{2\mu(t)} - \frac{A^2(s)}{2\mu(s)} + \int_s^t \frac{\mu'(\tau)A^2(\tau)}{2\mu^2(\tau)} \Big) d\tau \\ &\geq \frac{\mu(t)}{2} - \frac{\mu^2(t)}{2A^2(t)} \frac{A^2(s)}{\mu(s)} - \frac{\mu^2(t)}{2A^2(t)} \int_s^t \frac{a(\tau)A(\tau)}{\mu(\tau)} d\tau \end{split}$$

here we used the Assumption (B'2), that is, $|\mu'(t)| \leq c\mu(t)a(t)/A(t)$. From the last estimate we obtain

$$\frac{\mu^2(t)}{A^2(t)} \int_s^t \frac{a(\tau)A(\tau)}{\mu(\tau)} d\tau \ge \frac{1}{2+c} \Big(\mu(t) - \frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}A(s)\Big) \gtrsim \mu(t).$$

Here we used that the function $\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$ is decreasing and the function A(t) is increasing.

Therefore for α is fixed, we can find a sufficiently large time $t_0 = t_0(\alpha)$ such that the expression (5.2.30) is positive for all $t \ge t_0$. This yields our expected comparison.

Gluing together (5.2.28) and (5.2.29) we conclude the desired estimates. This completes the proof of Theorem 5.2.1. $\hfill \Box$

5.2.2. Properties of the decay function $B_a(s,t)$

Now let us turn back to the Cauchy problem for the semi-linear wave equation (5.2.1). In contemplation the proof of the next theorem we shall use the following properties of the function $B_a(s,t)$:

Proposition 5.2.5. Let us assume that b(t) satisfies the assumptions (B'1) to (B'5) and the additional assumption

(R1) There exists a constant $\gamma \in [0,2)$ such that

$$\mu'(t) \le \gamma \mu(t) \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \text{ for } t \ge 0.$$
 (5.2.31)

Then the following statements hold:

1. For any $s \in [0, t]$ we have

$$B_a(s,t) = \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \approx \frac{A^2(t)}{\mu(t)} - \frac{A^2(s)}{\mu(s)}.$$
 (5.2.32)

2. For any $s \in [0, \lambda t]$ with λ is fixed and $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ we have

$$B_a(s,t) \approx B_a(0,t). \tag{5.2.33}$$

3. For any $s \in [\lambda t, t]$ there exists a constant $M \ge 0$ such that

$$\left(\frac{A(\lambda t)}{A(t)}\right)^{2+M} B_a(0,t) \le B_a(0,s) \le B_a(0,t).$$
(5.2.34)

Remark 5.2.2. The Assumption (R1) is stronger than the upper bound of Assumption (B'2) for k = 1 and this assumption also implies the Assumption (B'4).

Example 5.2.1. Let us choose $a(t) = (1+t)^l$ with l > 0. Therefore, we obtain

$$A(t) \approx (1+t)^{l+1}$$
 and $b(t) = \frac{\mu(t)}{1+t}$.

If we consider functions $\mu(t)$ satisfying

$$(\log(c+t))^{\kappa} \le \mu(t) \le (1+t)^{2(l+1)}$$
 for $\kappa > 1$

then assumptions (B'4) and (B'5) hold, whereas the assumption (R1) holds if we choose

$$\mu(t) = (\log(c+t))^{\kappa}$$
 or $\mu(t) = (1+t)^{\gamma(l+1)}$ for $\kappa > 1, 0 < \gamma < 2$.

Example 5.2.2. Let us choose $a(t) = e^t$. Thus, we obtain

$$A(t) = e^t$$
 and $b(t) = \mu(t)$.

Let us choose functions $\mu(t)$ satisfying

$$(1+t)^k (\log(c+t))^{\kappa} \le \mu(t) \le e^{2t}$$
 for $k \ge 1, k+\kappa > 2$

Then the assumptions (B'4) and (B'5) hold, whereas the assumption (R1) holds if we choose

$$\mu(t) = (1+t)^{\kappa} (\log(c+t))^{\kappa}$$
 or $\mu(t) = e^{\beta t}$, for $k \ge 1, k+\kappa > 2, 0 < \beta < 2$.

Proof. 1. It follows from the Assumption (R1) that

$$\int_{s}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau = \int_{s}^{t} \frac{a(\tau)A(\tau)}{\mu(\tau)} d\tau = \frac{A^{2}(t)}{2\mu(t)} - \frac{A^{2}(s)}{2\mu(s)} + \int_{s}^{t} \frac{\mu'(\tau)A^{2}(\tau)}{2\mu^{2}(\tau)} d\tau$$
$$\leq \frac{A^{2}(t)}{2\mu(t)} - \frac{A^{2}(s)}{2\mu(s)} + \int_{s}^{t} \frac{\gamma a(\tau)A(\tau)}{2\mu(\tau)} d\tau.$$

Hence,

$$(2 - \gamma) \int_{s}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \leq \frac{A^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)} - \frac{A^{2}(s)}{\mu(s)}.$$

Furthermore, there exists a constant $M \ge 0$ such that $|\mu'(t)| \le M\mu(t)a(t)/A(t)$ (Assumption (B'2)). Consequently,

$$\int_s^t \frac{\mu'(\tau)A^2(\tau)}{2\mu^2(\tau)} d\tau \ge -\int_s^t \frac{Ma(\tau)A(\tau)}{2\mu(\tau)} d\tau,$$

thus

$$(2+M)\int_{s}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)}d\tau \geq \frac{A^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)} - \frac{A^{2}(s)}{\mu(s)}.$$

2. By integrating (5.2.31) over [s, t] we derive

$$\frac{\mu(t)}{\mu(s)} \le \left(\frac{A(t)}{A(s)}\right)^{\gamma} \tag{5.2.35}$$

for any $s \ge 0$ and $t \ge s$. Taking into consideration (5.2.32) we get

$$B_{a}(0,t) \geq B_{a}(s,t) \approx \frac{A^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)} - \frac{A^{2}(s)}{\mu(s)} \geq \frac{A^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)} - \frac{A^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)} \left(\frac{A(s)}{A(t)}\right)^{2-\gamma} \\ = \left(1 - \left(\frac{A(s)}{A(t)}\right)^{2-\gamma}\right) \frac{A^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)} \geq c_{\lambda,\gamma} \frac{A^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)} = c_{\lambda,\gamma} B_{a}(0,t),$$

where after application of l'Hospital we may put $c_{\lambda,\gamma} = \liminf_{t\to\infty} \left(1 - \left(\frac{A(\lambda t)}{A(t)}\right)^{2-\gamma}\right) > 0$ since $s \in [0, \lambda t]$ with a fixed $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ and $\gamma \in [0, 2)$.

3. Using the Assumption (B'2) for k = 1 we conclude

$$\frac{\mu'(t)}{\mu(t)} \ge -M\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}.$$
(5.2.36)

It is clear that when $\mu(t)$ is increasing we can take M = 0. By integrating (5.2.36) over [s, t] we derive

$$\frac{\mu(t)}{\mu(s)} \ge \left(\frac{A(t)}{A(s)}\right)^{-}$$

for any $s \ge 0$ and $t \ge s$. For any fixed $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ it holds

$$B_a(0,t) \ge B_a(0,s) \approx \frac{A^2(s)}{\mu(s)} \ge \frac{A^2(t)}{\mu(t)} \left(\frac{A(s)}{A(t)}\right)^{2+M} \approx \left(\frac{A(s)}{A(t)}\right)^{2+M} B_a(0,t).$$

This completes the proof of this statement.

Now we introduce an additional assumption which will explain a restriction of damping terms depending on the term of increasing speed of propagation.

(R2) The function $\theta(t) := \frac{A^2(t)}{\mu(t)}$ satisfies the following conditions:

• $\theta(t)$ is increasing,

•
$$\theta'(t) \le \beta \theta(t) \frac{1}{\log A(t)} \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}, \ \beta > 0.$$

Example 5.2.3. Let us choose $a(t) = e^t e^{e^t}$. Thus, we obtain

$$A(t) = e^{e^t}$$
 and $b(t) = \mu(t)e^t$.

We consider functions $\mu(t)$ satisfying

$$e^t(1+t)^{\kappa} \le \mu(t) \le e^{2e^t}$$
 for $\kappa > 1$.

Then the assumptions (B'4) and (B'5) hold, whereas the assumption (R2) holds if we choose, for example,

$$\mu(t) = e^{2e^t} / e^{\beta t}$$
 or $\mu(t) = e^{2e^t} / \log(c+t)$ for $\beta, c > 0$.

We have the following proposition:

Proposition 5.2.6. Let us assume that b(t) satisfies the assumptions (B'1) to (B'5) and the additional assumption (R2). Then the following statements hold:

1. For any $s \in [0, t]$ we have

$$B_a(s,t) = \int_s^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau \approx \log\left(A(t)\right)\theta(t) - \log\left(A(s)\right)\theta(s).$$
(5.2.37)

2. For any $s \in [0, \lambda t]$ with λ is fixed and $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ we have

$$B_a(s,t) \approx B_a(0,t).$$
 (5.2.38)

Proof. 1. It follows from the Assumption (R2) that

$$\int_{s}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau = \int_{s}^{t} \frac{a(\tau)A(\tau)}{\mu(\tau)} d\tau = \int_{s}^{t} \frac{a(\tau)}{A(\tau)} \theta(\tau) d\tau = \theta(\tau) \log A(\tau) |_{s}^{t} - \int_{s}^{t} \theta'(\tau) \log A(\tau) d\tau$$
$$\geq \theta(t) \log A(t) - \theta(s) \log A(s) - \beta \int_{s}^{t} \frac{a(\tau)}{A(\tau)} \theta(\tau) d\tau.$$

Hence,

$$(2+\beta)\int_{s}^{t}\frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)}d\tau \geq \theta(t)\log A(t) - \theta(s)\log A(s).$$

Otherwise, we have $\theta(t)$ is increasing. Thus

$$\begin{split} \int_{s}^{t} \frac{a^{2}(\tau)}{b(\tau)} d\tau &= \int_{s}^{t} \frac{a(\tau)A(\tau)}{\mu(\tau)} d\tau = \int_{s}^{t} \frac{a(\tau)}{A(\tau)} \theta(\tau) d\tau = \theta(\tau) \log A(\tau) |_{s}^{t} - \int_{s}^{t} \underbrace{\theta'(\tau)}_{\geq 0} \log A(\tau) d\tau \\ &\leq \log A(t)\theta(t) - \log A(s)\theta(s). \end{split}$$

2. Taking into consideration (5.2.37) we get for any $s \ge 0$ and $t \ge s$

$$\begin{split} B_a(0,t) &\geq B_a(s,t) \approx \theta(t) \log A(t) - \theta(s) \log A(s) \geq \theta(t) \log A(t) - \theta(t) \log A(s) \\ &= \left(1 - \frac{\log A(s)}{\log A(t)}\right) \theta(t) \log A(t) \geq \bar{c}_{\lambda,\gamma} \theta(t) \log A(t) \approx \bar{c}_{\lambda,\gamma} B_a(0,t), \end{split}$$

where after application of l'Hospital we may put $\bar{c}_{\lambda,\gamma} = \liminf_{t\to\infty} \left(1 - \frac{\log A(\lambda t)}{\log A(t)}\right) > 0$ since $s \in [0, \lambda t]$ with a fixed $\lambda \in (0, 1)$. This completes the proof.

In order to classify the sub-exponential case and super-exponential case we introduce

$$\nu(\lambda, t) := \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)} \text{ and } \nu(\lambda) := \limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)}.$$
(5.2.39)

Then we classify:

- 1. Sub-exponential case : $\nu(\lambda) \lesssim 1$,
- 2. Super-exponential case : $\nu(\lambda) = \infty$.

5.2.3. Global existence of small data solutions for wave models with sub-exponential propagation speed

We define the following parameters:

$$p_{Fuj} := 1 + \frac{2}{n} \text{ for } n \ge 1,$$

$$\bar{p}_1 := 1 + \left(1 - \frac{2a_0}{2 + M}\right) \frac{2}{n} \text{ for } n \ge 1,$$

$$\bar{p}_2 := 1 + \left(1 - \frac{\lambda}{\nu(\lambda)} \frac{2a_0}{2 + M}\right) \frac{2}{n} \text{ for } n \ge 1,$$

$$\bar{p}_3 := \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2\left(1 - \frac{2+M}{2-\gamma} + \frac{\lambda}{\nu(\lambda)} \frac{2+M}{2-\gamma}\right)} + \left(\frac{1}{1 - \frac{2+M}{2-\gamma} + \frac{\lambda}{\nu(\lambda)} \frac{2+M}{2-\gamma}} - \frac{\frac{\lambda}{\nu(\lambda)} \frac{2a_0}{2+M}}{1 - \frac{2+M}{2-\gamma} + \frac{\lambda}{\nu(\lambda)} \frac{2+M}{2-\gamma}}\right) \frac{2}{n}$$
for $n \ge 1,$

$$rec n := 1 + \frac{2}{n}$$
 for $n \ge 3$

 $p_{GN} := 1 + \frac{2}{n-2}$ for $n \ge 3$.

In the following we use the notations

$$\mathcal{A}_{1,1} := (L^1 \cap H^1) \times (L^1 \cap L^2),$$
$$\|(u,v)\|_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}} := \|u\|_{L^1} + \|u\|_{H^1} + \|v\|_{L^1} + \|v\|_{L^2}.$$

Theorem 5.2.7. (Sub-exponential order case) We assume the Hypotheses (A1) to (A3), (B'1) to (B'5) and (R1). Let us assume $n \leq 4$ and

$$\begin{cases} p > \bar{p} \text{ and } p \ge 2 & \text{if } n=1,2, \\ 2 \le p \le 3 = p_{GN}(3) & \text{if } n=3, \\ p = 2 = p_{GN}(4) & \text{if } n=4. \end{cases}$$
(5.2.40)

Here \bar{p} is defined as

$$\bar{p} := \max\{\bar{p}_1; \bar{p}_2; \bar{p}_3\},$$
 (5.2.41)

where \bar{p}_1 , \bar{p}_2 and \bar{p}_3 are defined as above. Moreover, we need the assumption

$$\frac{\lambda}{\nu(\lambda)} > \frac{(2+M)n}{8a_0},\tag{5.2.42}$$

where a_0 , M and $\nu(\lambda)$ are defined in (A1), (5.2.36) and (5.2.39), respectively. Then there exists a constant $\epsilon_0 > 0$ such that data with

$$||(u_1, u_2)||_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}} \le \epsilon_0$$

imply the existence of a unique solution to (5.2.1) in $\mathcal{C}([0,\infty), H^1) \cap \mathcal{C}^1([0,\infty), L^2)$. Furthermore, there exists a constant C > 0 such that this solution satisfies the estimates

 $\|u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \leq C \quad \|(u_1,u_2)\|_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}}(1+B_a(0,t))^{-\frac{n}{4}}, \tag{5.2.43}$

$$\|\nabla u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \leq C \quad \|(u_1,u_2)\|_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}}(1+B_a(0,t))^{-\frac{n}{4}-\frac{1}{2}}, \tag{5.2.44}$$

$$\|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \leq C \quad \|(u_1,u_2)\|_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}}(1+B_a(0,t))^{-\frac{n}{4}-1}a^2(t)(b(t))^{-1}.$$
 (5.2.45)

Proof. We introduce the space

$$X(t) = \mathcal{C}([0,t], H^1) \cap \mathcal{C}^1([0,t], L^2)$$
(5.2.46)

with the norm

$$\begin{aligned} \|u\|_{X(t)} &:= \sup_{0 \le \tau \le t} \left((1 + B_a(0,\tau))^{n/4} \|u(\tau,\cdot)\|_{L^2} + (1 + B_a(0,\tau))^{n/4 + 1/2} \|\nabla u(\tau,\cdot)\|_{L^2} + (1 + B_a(0,\tau))^{n/4 + 1} b(\tau)/a^2(\tau) \|u_t(\tau,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \right). \end{aligned}$$

We define the operator N in the form

$$Nu(t,x) = E_1(t,0,x) *_x u_1(x) + E_2(t,0,x) *_x u_2(x) + \int_0^t E_2(t,s,x) *_x f(u(s,x)) ds.$$

Our goal is to prove that

$$||Nu||_{X(t)} \leq C||(u_1, u_2)||_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}} + C||u||_{X(t)}^p, \qquad (5.2.47)$$

$$\|Nu - Nv\|_{X(t)} \leq C\|u - v\|_{X(t)} \left(\|u\|_{X(t)}^{p-1} + \|v\|_{X(t)}^{p-1}\right)$$
(5.2.48)

uniformly with respect to $t \in [0, \infty)$.

We shall even establish the stronger inequalities than (5.2.47) and (5.2.48), namely,

$$||Nu||_{X(t)} \leq C||(u_1, u_2)||_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}} + C||u||_{X_0(t)}^p, \qquad (5.2.49)$$

$$\|Nu - Nv\|_{X(t)} \leq C\|u - v\|_{X_0(t)} \left(\|u\|_{X_0(t)}^{p-1} + \|v\|_{X_0(t)}^{p-1}\right),$$
(5.2.50)

where

$$\|u\|_{X_0(t)} := \sup_{0 \le \tau \le t} \left((1 + B_a(0,\tau))^{n/4} \|u(\tau,\cdot)\|_{L^2} + (1 + B_a(0,\tau))^{n/4 + 1/2} \|\nabla u(\tau,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \right).$$

The completion of the proof of Theorem 5.2.7 follows from the next proposition:

Proposition 5.2.8. Let us assume that the power p and the dimension n satisfy (5.2.40). Let $(u_1, u_2) \in \mathcal{A}_{1,1}$ and $u \in X(t)$. Then we have for j + l = 0, 1 the following estimates:

$$\left(\frac{b(t)}{a^{2}(t)}\right)^{l} \left(1 + B_{a}(0,t)\right)^{(n/4+j/2+l)} \|\nabla^{j}\partial_{t}^{l}Nu(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} \leq C\|(u_{1},u_{2})\|_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}} + C\|u\|_{X_{0}(t)}^{p}, \quad (5.2.51)$$

$$\left(\frac{b(t)}{a^{2}(t)}\right)^{l} \left(1 + B_{a}(0,t)\right)^{(n/4+j/2+l)} \|\nabla^{j}\partial_{t}^{l}\left(Nu(t,\cdot) - Nv(t,\cdot)\right)\|_{L^{2}}$$

$$\leq C\|u - v\|_{X_{0}(t)} \left(\|u\|_{X_{0}(t)}^{p-1} + \|v\|_{X_{0}(t)}^{p-1}\right). \quad (5.2.52)$$

Proof. From the Matsumura type estimates for the linear models we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla^{j}\partial_{t}^{l}Nu(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} &\leq C\left(\frac{a^{2}(t)}{b(t)}\right)^{l}\left(1+B_{a}(0,t)\right)^{-(n/4+j/2+l)}\|(u_{1},u_{2})\|_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}} \\ &+C\int_{0}^{\lambda t}(b(s))^{-1}\left(\frac{a^{2}(t)}{b(t)}\right)^{l}\left(1+B_{a}(s,t)\right)^{-(n/4+j/2+l)}\|f(u(s,\cdot))\|_{L^{1}\cap L^{2}}ds \\ &+C\int_{\lambda t}^{t}(b(s))^{-1}\left(\frac{a^{2}(t)}{b(t)}\right)^{l}\left(1+B_{a}(s,t)\right)^{-(j/2+l)}\|f(u(s,\cdot))\|_{L^{2}}ds \tag{5.2.53}$$

for j + l = 0, 1. Taking account of $f(u) = |u|^p$ brings

$$\|f(u(s,\cdot))\|_{L^1 \cap L^2} \lesssim \|u(s,\cdot)\|_{L^p}^p + \|u(s,\cdot)\|_{L^{2p}}^p,$$

and

$$\|f(u(s,\cdot))\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|u(s,\cdot)\|_{L^{2p}}^p$$

Applying Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality we have

$$\|u(s,\cdot)\|_{L^p}^p \lesssim \|u(s,\cdot)\|_{L^2}^{p(1-\theta(p))} \|\nabla u(s,\cdot)\|_{L^2}^{p\,\theta(p)},\tag{5.2.54}$$

$$\|u(s,\cdot)\|_{L^{2p}}^{p} \lesssim \|u(s,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}}^{p(1-\theta(2p))} \|\nabla u(s,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}}^{p\theta(2p)},$$
(5.2.55)

where

$$\theta(p) = \frac{n}{2} \frac{p-2}{p}, \qquad \theta(2p) = \frac{n}{2} \frac{p-1}{p}.$$

The restriction $\theta(p) \ge 0$ implies that $p \ge 2$, while the restriction $\theta(2p) \le 1$ implies that $p \le p_{GN}(n)$ if $n \ge 3$. By using (5.2.54), (5.2.55) and the definition of the function space X(t) we have the following estimate for $||f(u(s, \cdot))||_{L^1 \cap L^2}$:

$$\|f(u(s,\cdot))\|_{L^1 \cap L^2} \lesssim \|u\|_{X_0(s)}^p \left(1 + B_a(0,s)\right)^{-p(n/4+\theta(p)/2)} = \|u\|_{X_0(s)}^p \left(1 + B_a(0,s)\right)^{-(p-1)n/2}, (5.2.56)$$

here we have used $\theta(p) < \theta(2p)$, whereas the following estimate is obtained for $||f(u(s, \cdot))||_{L^2}$:

$$\|f(u(s,\cdot))\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|u\|_{X_0(s)}^p \left(1 + B_a(0,s)\right)^{-p(n/4 + \theta(2p)/2)} = \|u\|_{X_0(s)}^p \left(1 + B_a(0,s)\right)^{-(2p-1)n/4}.$$
 (5.2.57)

Plugging (5.2.56) and (5.2.57) into (5.2.53) we get

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla^{j}\partial_{t}^{l}Nu(t,\cdot)\|_{L^{2}} &\leq C\left(\frac{a^{2}(t)}{b(t)}\right)^{l}\left(1+B_{a}(0,t)\right)^{-(n/4+j/2+l)}\epsilon \\ &+ C\|u\|_{X_{0}(t)}^{p}\underbrace{\int_{0}^{\lambda t}(b(s))^{-1}\left(\frac{a^{2}(t)}{b(t)}\right)^{l}\left(1+B_{a}(s,t)\right)^{-(n/4+j/2+l)}\left(1+B_{a}(0,s)\right)^{-(p-1)n/2}ds}_{\mathbf{A}} \\ &+ C\|u\|_{X_{0}(t)}^{p}\underbrace{\int_{\lambda t}^{t}(b(s))^{-1}\left(\frac{a^{2}(t)}{b(t)}\right)^{l}\left(1+B_{a}(s,t)\right)^{-(j/2+l)}\left(1+B_{a}(0,s)\right)^{-(2p-1)n/4}ds}_{\mathbf{B}}. \end{split}$$

Let us derive for j + l = 0, 1 estimates for the case $s \in [0, \lambda t]$. We have

$$\mathbf{A} \approx \left(\frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)}\right)^l \left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)^{-(n/4+j/2+l)} \underbrace{\int_0^{\lambda t} (b(s))^{-1} \left(1 + B_a(0,s)\right)^{-(p-1)n/2} ds}_{A_1}$$

Here, we have used (5.2.33) and we denote $\alpha_1(p) := (p-1)n/2$. Now we try to find a condition for the power p which guarantees that the integral term A_1 remains bounded.

Case 1: $\alpha_1(p) > 1$ (i.e. $p > p_{Fuj}$) We have for j + l = 0, 1

$$A_1 = \int_0^{\lambda t} (b(s))^{-1} (1 + B_a(0, s))^{-(p-1)n/2} ds \le \frac{1}{a^2(0)} \int_0^{B_a(0, \lambda t)} (1 + r)^{-(p-1)n/2} dr \le C.$$

Here we have used the change of variables $r = B_a(0,s)$ and the condition $p > p_{Fuj}(n)$ guarantees that the integral term is bounded.

Case 2: $\alpha_1(p) < 1$

We perform the following straight-forward calculations:

$$\begin{split} A_{1} &= \int_{0}^{\lambda t} \left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)} d\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right) \frac{1}{a^{2}(s)} \\ &= \frac{\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)+1}}{\left(1 - \alpha_{1}(p)\right)a^{2}(s)} \bigg|_{0}^{\lambda t} + \frac{2}{1 - \alpha_{1}(p)} \int_{0}^{\lambda t} \left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)+1} \frac{a'(s)}{a^{3}(s)} ds \\ &\geq \frac{\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)+1}}{\left(1 - \alpha_{1}(p)\right)a^{2}(s)} \bigg|_{0}^{\lambda t} + \frac{2a_{0}}{1 - \alpha_{1}(p)} \int_{0}^{\lambda t} \frac{\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)}}{b(s)} \frac{b(s)\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)}{a(s)A(s)} ds \\ &\geq \frac{\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)+1}}{\left(1 - \alpha_{1}(p)\right)a^{2}(s)} \bigg|_{0}^{\lambda t} + \frac{2a_{0}}{\left(1 - \alpha_{1}(p)\right)(2 + M)} \int_{0}^{\lambda t} \frac{\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)}}{b(s)} \frac{\mu(s)a(s)A^{2}(s)}{\mu(s)a(s)A^{2}(s)} ds \\ &\geq \frac{\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)+1}}{\left(1 - \alpha_{1}(p)\right)a^{2}(s)} \bigg|_{0}^{\lambda t} + \frac{2a_{0}}{\left(1 - \alpha_{1}(p)\right)(2 + M)} \underbrace{\int_{0}^{\lambda t} b(s)^{-1}(1 + B_{a}(0,s))^{-\alpha_{1}(p)} ds}_{A_{1}}. \end{split}$$

From the last estimate we obtain

$$\left(\frac{2a_0}{(1-\alpha_1(p))(2+M)} - 1\right)A_1 \le \frac{1}{1-\alpha_1(p)} \left(\frac{1}{a^2(0)} - \frac{(1+B_a(0,\lambda t))^{-\alpha_1(p)+1}}{a^2(\lambda t)}\right).$$
 (5.2.58)

Since $p > \bar{p}_1$ we may conclude $\frac{2a_0}{(1-\alpha_1(p))(2+M)} - 1 > 0$. Otherwise $\mathcal{G}_1(\lambda t) := \frac{(1+B_a(0,\lambda t))^{-\alpha_1(p)+1}}{a^2(\lambda t)}$ is strictly decreasing. Indeed, taking the derivative of function $\mathcal{G}_1(t)$ we get

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}_{1}'(t) &= \frac{\left((1-\alpha_{1}(p))\frac{a(t)A(t)}{\mu(t)}a^{2}(t)-2a'(t)a(t)\left(1+B_{a}(0,t)\right)\right)\left(1+B_{a}(0,t)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)}}{a^{4}(t)} \\ &\leq \frac{\left((1-\alpha_{1}(p))\frac{a(t)A(t)}{\mu(t)}-2\frac{a'(t)}{a(t)}B_{a}(0,t)\right)\left(1+B_{a}(0,t)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)}}{a^{2}(t)} \\ &\leq \frac{\left((1-\alpha_{1}(p))\frac{a(t)A(t)}{\mu(t)}-\frac{2a_{0}}{2+M}\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\frac{A^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)}\right)\left(1+B_{a}(0,t)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)}}{a^{2}(t)}. \end{aligned}$$

The condition $p > \bar{p}_1$ implies $\mathcal{G}'_1(t) < 0$. This gives the boundedness of the right-hand side of (5.2.58). Therefore, we can obtain our desired estimate for A_1 .

Case 3: $\alpha_1(p) = 1$

We have

$$A_{1} = \int_{0}^{\lambda t} \frac{1}{b(s)\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)} ds \approx \int_{0}^{\lambda t} \frac{\mu(s)}{A^{2}(s)} \frac{A(s)}{a(s)\mu(s)} ds \approx \int_{0}^{\lambda t} \frac{ds}{a(s)A(s)} \le \int_{0}^{\lambda t} \frac{dA(s)}{A(s)^{1+2a_{0}}} \le C$$

Summarizing, for all $p > \bar{p}_1$ we have

$$\mathbf{A} \lesssim \left(\frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)}\right)^l \left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)^{-(n/4+j/2+l)}.$$
(5.2.59)

Now let us carry out necessary estimates for the case $s \in [\lambda t, t]$. We have

$$\mathbf{B} = \left(\frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)}\right)^l \int_{\lambda t}^t (b(s))^{-1} \left(1 + B_a(s,t)\right)^{-(j/2+l)} \left(1 + B_a(0,s)\right)^{-(2p-1)n/4} ds$$
$$= -\left(\frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)}\right)^l \int_{\lambda t}^t \left(1 + B_a(s,t)\right)^{-(j/2+l)} \frac{\left(1 + B_a(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_2(p)}}{a^2(s)} d\left(1 + B_a(s,t)\right)$$

Here $\alpha_2(p) := (2p-1)n/4$. We consider the integral term in the last equality. For j = 0, l = 0 and $\alpha_2(p) \neq 1$ we get

$$\mathbf{B} = \int_{\lambda t}^{t} (b(s))^{-1} \left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_{2}(p)} ds = \int_{\lambda t}^{t} \left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_{2}(p)} \frac{1}{a^{2}(s)} d\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right) \\
= \frac{\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_{2}(p)+1}}{(1 - \alpha_{2}(p))a^{2}(s)} \bigg|_{\lambda t}^{t} + \frac{2}{1 - \alpha_{2}(p)} \int_{\lambda t}^{t} (1 + B_{a}(0,s))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)+1} \frac{a'(s)}{a^{3}(s)} ds \\
= \frac{\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_{2}(p)+1}}{(1 - \alpha_{2}(p))a^{2}(s)} \bigg|_{\lambda t}^{t} + \frac{2}{1 - \alpha_{2}(p)} \int_{\lambda t}^{t} \frac{\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_{2}(p)}}{b(s)} \frac{b(s)\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s)\right)a'(s)}{a^{3}(s)} ds. \tag{5.2.60}$$

Case 1: $\alpha_2(p) > 1$

Then from the equality (5.2.60) we have

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{B} &+ \frac{2}{\alpha_2(p) - 1} \int_{\lambda t}^t \frac{(1 + B_a(0, s))^{-\alpha_2(p)}}{b(s)} \frac{b(s) \left(1 + B_a(0, s)\right) a'(s)}{a^3(s)} ds = \frac{(1 + B_a(0, s))^{-\alpha_2(p) + 1}}{(1 - \alpha_2(p)) a^2(s)} \bigg|_{\lambda t}^t, \\ \mathbf{B} &+ \frac{2a_0}{(\alpha_2(p) - 1)(2 + M)} \underbrace{\int_{\lambda t}^t \frac{(1 + B_a(0, s))^{-\alpha_2(p)}}{b(s)}}_{\mathbf{B}} \frac{\mu(s) a(s) A^2(s)}{A(s) \mu(s) a(s) A(s)} ds \leq \frac{(1 + B_a(0, s))^{-\alpha_2(p) + 1}}{(1 - \alpha_2(p)) a^2(s)} \bigg|_{\lambda t}^t, \\ &\left(1 + \frac{2a_0}{(\alpha_2(p) - 1)(2 + M)}\right) \mathbf{B} \lesssim \frac{(1 + B_a(0, \lambda t))^{-\alpha_2(p) + 1}}{a^2(\lambda t)} - \frac{(1 + B_a(0, t))^{-\alpha_2(p) + 1}}{a^2(t)}. \end{split}$$

It implies that

$$\mathbf{B} \lesssim \frac{(1 + B_a(0, \lambda t))^{-\alpha_2(p)+1}}{a^2(\lambda t)} - \frac{(1 + B_a(0, t))^{-\alpha_2(p)+1}}{a^2(t)}.$$

Case 2: $\alpha_2(p) < 1$ Then from the equality (5.2)

Then from the equality (5.2.60) we get

$$\mathbf{B} \ge \frac{(1+B_a(0,s))^{-\alpha_2(p)+1}}{(1-\alpha_2(p))a^2(s)} \bigg|_{\lambda t}^t + \frac{2a_0}{(1-\alpha_2(p))(2+M)} \int_{\lambda t}^t \frac{(1+B_a(0,s))^{-\alpha_2(p)}}{b(s)} \frac{\mu(s)a(s)A^2(s)}{A(s)\mu(s)a(s)A(s)} ds$$
$$\ge \frac{(1+B_a(0,s))^{-\alpha_2(p)+1}}{(1-\alpha_2(p))a^2(s)} \bigg|_{\lambda t}^t + \frac{2a_0}{(1-\alpha_2(p))(2+M)} \int_{\lambda t}^t \frac{(1+B_a(0,s))^{-\alpha_2(p)}}{b(s)} ds.$$

From the last inequality we get

$$\left(\frac{2a_0}{(1-\alpha_2(p))(2+M)} - 1\right)\mathbf{B} \lesssim \frac{(1+B_a(0,\lambda t))^{-\alpha_2(p)+1}}{a^2(\lambda t)} - \frac{(1+B_a(0,t))^{-\alpha_2(p)+1}}{a^2(t)}$$

Since $\alpha_2(p) = \alpha_1(p) + n/4$ we have

$$\frac{2a_0}{(1-\alpha_2(p))(2+M)} - 1 > \frac{2a_0}{(1-\alpha_1(p))(2+M)} - 1$$

Moreover, by using $p > \overline{p}_1$ we obtain $\frac{2a_0}{(1-\alpha_1(p))(2+M)} - 1 > 0$. Thus, we have

$$\frac{2a_0}{(1-\alpha_2(p))(2+M)} - 1 > 0.$$

It also implies that

$$\mathbf{B} \lesssim \frac{(1 + B_a(0, \lambda t))^{-\alpha_2(p) + 1}}{a^2(\lambda t)} - \frac{(1 + B_a(0, t))^{-\alpha_2(p) + 1}}{a^2(t)}$$

In order to get our desired estimate for **B** in both cases it suffices to show the following estimate:

$$(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{n/4}\mathbf{B} \lesssim \frac{(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{n/4}(1+B_{a}(0,\lambda t))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)+1}}{a^{2}(\lambda t)} - \frac{(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)+1+n/4}}{a^{2}(t)}$$
$$\lesssim \frac{(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{n/4}(1+B_{a}(0,\lambda t))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)+1}}{a^{2}(\lambda t)} - \frac{(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{-\alpha_{1}(p)+1}}{a^{2}(t)}$$
$$\lesssim \frac{(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{n/4+1-\alpha_{2}(p)}(1+B_{a}(0,\lambda t))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)+1}}{(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)+1}a^{2}(\lambda t)} - \frac{(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{-\alpha_{1}(p)+1}}{a^{2}(t)} \lesssim 1.$$

By the aid of the decreasing behavior of $\mathcal{G}_1(t)$ for all $p > \bar{p}_1$ the second term in the last inequality is bounded. Therefore, we only consider the boundedness of the first term for both cases $1 - \alpha_2(p) > 0$ and $1 - \alpha_2(p) < 0$. In the case $1 - \alpha_2(p) > 0$ we have

$$\frac{(1+B_a(0,t))^{n/4+1-\alpha_2(p)}(1+B_a(0,\lambda t))^{-\alpha_2(p)+1}}{(1+B_a(0,t))^{-\alpha_2(p)+1}a^2(\lambda t)} \lesssim \frac{(1+B_a(0,t))^{-\alpha_1(p)+1}}{a^2(\lambda t)} := \mathcal{G}_2(t)$$

We form the derivative of this function

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}_{2}'(t) &= \left(\left(1 - \alpha_{1}(p)\right) \frac{a(t)A(t)}{\mu(t)} - 2\lambda \frac{a'(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)} \left(1 + B_{a}(0,t)\right) \right) \left(1 + B_{a}(0,t)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)} a(\lambda t)^{-2} \\ &\leq \left(\left(1 - \alpha_{1}(p)\right) \frac{a(t)A(t)}{\mu(t)} - 2\lambda a_{0} \frac{a(\lambda t)}{A(\lambda t)} \frac{1}{2 + M} \frac{A^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)} \right) \left(1 + B_{a}(0,t)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)} a(\lambda t)^{-2} \\ &\leq \left(\left(1 - \alpha_{1}(p)\right) \frac{a(t)A(\lambda t)}{A(t)a(\lambda t)} - \frac{2\lambda a_{0}}{2 + M} \right) \left(1 + B_{a}(0,t)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)} a(\lambda t)^{-2} \\ &\leq \left(\left(1 - \alpha_{1}(p)\right) \nu(\lambda,t) - \frac{2\lambda a_{0}}{2 + M} \right) \frac{a(\lambda t)A^{2}(t)}{A(\lambda t)\mu(t)} \left(1 + B_{a}(0,t)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)} a(\lambda t)^{-2}. \end{aligned}$$

Since $p > \bar{p}_2$ we have for large times t

$$\left(1-\alpha_1(p)\right)\nu(\lambda)-\frac{2\lambda a_0}{2+M}<0.$$

This implies $\mathcal{G}_2'(t) < 0$.

In the other case $1 - \alpha_2(p) < 0$, our desired estimate can be obtained directly from the case $1 - \alpha_2(p) > 0$. Therefore, for all $p > \bar{p}_2$ we have

$$\mathbf{B} \lesssim \left(1 + B_a(0, t)\right)^{-n/4}.$$
(5.2.61)

Case 3: $\alpha_2(p) = 1$ We have

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{B} &= \int_{\lambda t}^t \left(1 + B_a(0,s) \right)^{-1} b(s)^{-1} ds \approx \int_{\lambda t}^t \frac{\mu(s)}{A^2(s)} \frac{A(s)}{a(s)\mu(s)} ds = \int_{\lambda t}^t \frac{ds}{a(s)A(s)} \\ &\leq \int_{\lambda t}^t \frac{dA(s)}{A(s)^{1+2a_0}} = \frac{1}{2a_0 A(\lambda t)^{2a_0}} - \frac{1}{2a_0 A(t)^{2a_0}}. \end{split}$$

It implies

$$\left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)^{n/4} \mathbf{B} \lesssim \frac{(1 + B_a(0,t))^{n/4}}{A(\lambda t)^{2a_0}} - \frac{(1 + B_a(0,t))^{n/4}}{A(t)^{2a_0}}$$

Due to (5.2.42) the functions $\frac{(1+B_a(0,t))^{n/4}}{A(\lambda t)^{2a_0}}$ and $\frac{(1+B_a(0,t))^{n/4}}{A(t)^{2a_0}}$ are strictly decreasing. Therefore, we have our desired estimate for **B**.

For j = 1 and l = 0 we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{B} &= \int_{\lambda t}^{t} (b(s))^{-1} \big(1 + B_{a}(s,t) \big)^{-1/2} \big(1 + B_{a}(0,s) \big)^{-\alpha_{2}(p)} ds \\ &= -\int_{\lambda t}^{t} \big(1 + B_{a}(s,t) \big)^{-1/2} \frac{(1 + B_{a}(0,s))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)}}{a^{2}(s)} d(1 + B_{a}(s,t)) \\ &= -\frac{2(1 + B_{a}(s,t))^{1/2} (1 + B_{a}(0,s))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)}}{a^{2}(s)} \bigg|_{\lambda t}^{t} + 2\int_{\lambda t}^{t} (1 + B_{a}(s,t))^{1/2} d\Big(\frac{(1 + B_{a}(0,s))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)}}{a^{2}(s)} \Big) \\ &\approx -\frac{2(1 + B_{a}(s,t))^{1/2} (1 + B_{a}(0,s))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)}}{a^{2}(s)} \bigg|_{\lambda t}^{t} + 2\int_{\lambda t}^{t} \frac{(1 + B_{a}(s,t))^{1/2}}{(1 + B_{a}(0,s))^{\alpha_{2}(p)} a^{2}(s)} \frac{d(1 + B_{a}(0,s))}{1 + B_{a}(0,s)}. \end{split}$$

Here we have used

$$\begin{split} d\Big(\frac{(1+B_a(0,s))^{-\alpha_2(p)}}{a^2(s)}\Big) &\approx \frac{1}{(1+B_a(0,s))^{\alpha_2(p)}a^2(s)} \left(\frac{d(1+B_a(0,s))}{1+B_a(0,s)} + \frac{a'(s)}{a(s)}ds\right) \\ &\approx \frac{1}{(1+B_a(0,s))^{\alpha_2(p)}a^2(s)} \left(\frac{d(1+B_a(0,s))}{1+B_a(0,s)} + \frac{a(s)A(s)}{\mu(s)}\frac{\mu(s)}{A^2(s)}ds\right) \\ &\approx \frac{1}{(1+B_a(0,s))^{\alpha_2(p)}a^2(s)} \left(\frac{d(1+B_a(0,s))}{1+B_a(0,s)} + \frac{d(1+B_a(0,s))}{1+B_a(0,s)}\frac{\mu(s)}{1+B_a(0,s)}\right) \\ &\approx \frac{1}{2(1+B_a(0,s))^{\alpha_2(p)}a^2(s)} \frac{d(1+B_a(0,s))}{1+B_a(0,s)}. \end{split}$$

It implies

$$(1 + B_a(0,t))^{n/4+1/2} \mathbf{B} \approx \frac{(1 + B_a(0,t))^{-\alpha_2(p)}(1 + B_a(0,t))^{n/4+1/2}}{a^2(t)} + \frac{(1 + B_a(0,\lambda t))^{-\alpha_2(p)}(1 + B_a(0,t))^{n/4+1/2}(1 + B_a(\lambda t,t))^{1/2}}{a^2(\lambda t)} + (1 + B_a(0,t))^{n/4+1/2} \int_{\lambda t}^t \frac{(1 + B_a(s,t))^{1/2}}{(1 + B_a(0,s))^{\alpha_2(p)}a^2(s)} \frac{d(1 + B_a(0,s))}{1 + B_a(0,s)}.$$

Thus

$$(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{n/4+1/2}\mathbf{B} \lesssim \underbrace{\frac{(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)}(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{n/4+1/2}}{a^{2}(t)}}_{B_{1}} + \underbrace{\frac{(1+B_{a}(0,\lambda t))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)}(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{n/4+1}}{a^{2}(\lambda t)}}_{B_{2}} + \underbrace{\int_{\lambda t}^{t} \frac{(1+B_{a}(0,\lambda t))^{n/4+1}}{(1+B_{a}(0,s))^{\alpha_{2}(p)}a^{2}(s)} \frac{d(1+B_{a}(0,s))}{1+B_{a}(0,s)}}_{B_{3}}.$$

Using the definition of $\alpha_2(p) = \alpha_1(p) + n/4$ and $p > \bar{p}_1$ it follows

$$B_1 \lesssim (1 + B_a(0, t))^{-1/2} < 1.$$

In order to prove that B_2 and B_3 are bounded to above by a constant it suffices to show that

$$B_2 \lesssim \left(1 + B_a(0, \lambda t)\right)^{-\varepsilon}$$

with a small positive constant ε . Thus, we need to show that the following function is bounded

$$\frac{(1+B_a(0,\lambda t))^{-\alpha_2(p)+\varepsilon}(1+B_a(0,t))^{\frac{n}{4}+1}}{a^2(\lambda t)}.$$

Taking account of (5.2.34) we obtain

$$\frac{\left(1 + B_a(0,\lambda t)\right)^{-\alpha_2(p) + \varepsilon} (1 + B_a(0,t))^{\frac{n}{4} + 1}}{a^2(\lambda t)} \le \frac{\left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)^{\frac{n}{4} + 1 - \alpha_2(p) + \varepsilon}}{a^2(\lambda t) \left(\frac{A(lambdat)}{A(t)}\right)^{(2+M)(\alpha_2(p) - \varepsilon)}} := \mathcal{G}_3(t).$$

Let us consider the monotonicity of $\mathcal{G}_3(t)$ by taking the derivative of this function. It holds

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{G}'_{3}(t) &= \left(\left(\frac{n}{4} + 1 - \alpha_{2}(p) + \varepsilon \right) \frac{a(t)A(t)}{\mu(t)} \frac{A(t)}{A(\lambda t)} + (2 + M)(\alpha_{2}(p) - \varepsilon) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(\lambda t)} - \lambda \frac{a(\lambda t)A(t)}{A^{2}(\lambda t)} \right) \right. \\ &\times \left(1 + B_{a}(0, t) \right) - 2\lambda \frac{a'(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)} \left(1 + B_{a}(0, t) \right) \frac{A(t)}{A(\lambda t)} \right) \left(1 + B_{a}(0, t) \right)^{n/4 + \varepsilon - \alpha_{2}(p)} \\ &\times \left(\frac{A(t)}{A(\lambda t)} \right)^{(2 + M)(\alpha_{2}(p) - \varepsilon) - 1} a(\lambda t)^{-2} \\ &\leq \left(\left(\frac{n}{4} + 1 - \alpha_{2}(p) + \varepsilon \right) \frac{a(t)A^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)A(\lambda t)} + (2 + M)(\alpha_{2}(p) - \varepsilon) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(\lambda t)} - \lambda \frac{a(\lambda t)A(t)}{A^{2}(\lambda t)} \right) \right. \\ &\times \frac{1}{2 - \gamma} \frac{A^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)} - 2\lambda a_{0} \frac{a(\lambda t)}{A(\lambda t)} \frac{1}{2 + M} \frac{A^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)} \frac{A(t)}{A(\lambda t)} \right) \left(1 + B_{a}(0, t) \right)^{n/4 + \varepsilon - \alpha_{2}(p)} \\ &\times \left(\frac{A(t)}{A(\lambda t)} \right)^{(2 + M)(\alpha_{2}(p) - \varepsilon) - 1} a(\lambda t)^{-2} \\ &\leq \left(\left(\frac{n}{4} + 1 - \alpha_{2}(p) + \varepsilon \right) \frac{a(t)A(\lambda t)}{A(t)a(\lambda t)} + \frac{2 + M}{2 - \gamma} (\alpha_{2}(p) - \varepsilon) \left(\frac{A(t)}{A(\lambda t)} \right)^{(2 + M)(\alpha_{2}(p) - \varepsilon) - 1} a(\lambda t)^{-2} \\ &\leq \left(\left(\frac{n}{4} + 1 - \alpha_{2}(p) + \varepsilon \right) \nu(\lambda, t) + \frac{2 + M}{2 - \gamma} (\alpha_{2}(p) - \varepsilon) (\nu(\lambda, t) - \lambda) - \frac{2\lambda a_{0}}{2 + M} \right) \\ &\times \frac{a(\lambda t)A^{3}(t)}{A^{2}(\lambda t)\mu(t)} \left(1 + B_{a}(0, t) \right)^{n/4 + \varepsilon - \alpha_{2}(p)} \left(\frac{A(t)}{A(\lambda t)} \right)^{(2 + M)(\alpha_{2}(p) - \varepsilon) - 1} a(\lambda t)^{-2} \end{aligned}$$

The condition $p > \bar{p}_3$ implies for large times t

$$\left(\frac{n}{4} + 1 - \alpha_2(p) + \varepsilon\right)\nu(\lambda) + \frac{2+M}{2-\gamma}(\alpha_2(p) - \varepsilon)\left(\nu(\lambda) - \lambda\right) - \frac{2\lambda a_0}{2+M} < 0.$$

Thus $\mathcal{G}'_3(t) < 0$. Therefore, for all $p > \bar{p}_3$ we have

$$\mathbf{B} \lesssim \left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)^{-n/4 - 1/2}.$$
(5.2.62)

Analogously, for j = 0 and l = 1 we can prove

$$\frac{b(t)}{a^{2}(t)} (1 + B_{a}(0, t))^{n/4+1} \mathbf{B} \lesssim \underbrace{\frac{\log(1 + B_{a}(0, t))(1 + B_{a}(0, \lambda t))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)}(1 + B_{a}(0, t))^{n/4+1}}{B_{2}}}_{+\underbrace{\int_{\lambda t}^{t} \frac{\log(1 + B_{a}(0, t))(1 + B_{a}(0, t))^{n/4+1}}{(1 + B_{a}(0, t))^{\alpha_{2}(p)}a^{2}(s)} \frac{d(1 + B_{a}(0, s))}{1 + B_{a}(0, s)}}_{\overline{B}_{3}}.$$

By using l'Hospital we have

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{\log \left(1 + B_a(0, t)\right)}{\left(1 + B_a(0, \lambda t)\right)^{\varepsilon}} \approx \limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{\nu(\lambda)}{\varepsilon \lambda \left(1 + B_a(0, \lambda t)\right)^{\varepsilon}} < C.$$
(5.2.63)

Moreover, since $p > \bar{p}_3$ we obtain

$$\bar{B}_2 = \frac{\log\left(1 + B_a(0, t)\right)}{\left(1 + B_a(0, \lambda t)\right)^{\varepsilon}} \mathcal{G}_3(t) \lesssim \frac{\log\left(1 + B_a(0, t)\right)}{\left(1 + B_a(0, \lambda t)\right)^{\varepsilon}} < C$$

for large t. Finally, after using the change of variables $r = 1 + B_a(0, s)$ we get

$$\bar{B}_3 \lesssim \log\left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right) \int_{1 + B_a(0,\lambda t)}^{1 + B_a(0,t)} \frac{dr}{r^{1 + \varepsilon}} = \frac{\log\left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)}{\varepsilon \left(1 + B_a(0,\lambda t)\right)^{\varepsilon}} - \frac{\log\left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)}{\varepsilon \left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)^{\varepsilon}} < C.$$

Here we use that \overline{B}_3 is related to \overline{B}_2 and (5.2.63). This implies that

$$\mathbf{B} \lesssim \frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)} \left(1 + B_a(0,t) \right)^{-(n/4+1)}.$$
(5.2.64)

From (5.2.61), (5.2.62) and (5.2.64) we obtain

$$\mathbf{B} \lesssim \left(\frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)}\right)^l \left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)^{-(n/4+j/2+l)}.$$
(5.2.65)

Thanks to (5.2.59) and (5.2.65) we can conclude the statement (5.2.51).

Now let us prove (5.2.52). We remark that

$$\|Nu - Nv\|_{X(t)} = \left\| \int_0^t E_1(t, s, x) *_x \left(f(u(s, x)) - f(v(s, x)) \right) ds \right\|_{X(t)}$$

Thanks to (5.2.4), (5.2.5) and (5.2.6) we have the following estimates

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla^{j}\partial_{t}^{l}E_{1}(t,s,x)*_{x}\left(f(u(s,x))-f(v(s,x))\right)\|_{L^{2}} \\ &\lesssim \begin{cases} b(s)^{-1}\left(\frac{a^{2}(t)}{b(t)}\right)^{l}\left(1+B_{a}(s,t)\right)^{-\frac{n}{4}-\frac{j}{2}-l}\|f(u(s,\cdot))-f(v(s,\cdot))\|_{L^{1}\cap L^{2}}, & s\in[0,\lambda t], \\ b(s)^{-1}\left(\frac{a^{2}(t)}{b(t)}\right)^{l}\left(1+B_{a}(s,t)\right)^{-\frac{j}{2}-l}\|f(u(s,\cdot))-f(v(s,\cdot))\|_{L^{2}}, & s\in[\lambda t,t], \end{cases} \end{split}$$

for j + l = 0, 1. By using Hölder's inequality we obtain

$$\|f(u(s,\cdot)) - f(v(s,\cdot))\|_{L^{1}} \lesssim \|u(s,\cdot) - v(s,\cdot)\|_{L^{p}} \Big(\|u(s,\cdot)\|_{L^{p}}^{p-1} + \|v(s,\cdot)\|_{L^{p}}^{p-1} \Big), \\ \|f(u(s,\cdot)) - f(v(s,\cdot))\|_{L^{2}} \lesssim \|u(s,\cdot) - v(s,\cdot)\|_{L^{2p}} \Big(\|u(s,\cdot)\|_{L^{2p}}^{p-1} + \|v(s,\cdot)\|_{L^{2p}}^{p-1} \Big).$$

We apply Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality to the following terms:

 $\|u(s,\cdot) - v(s,\cdot)\|_{L^q}, \qquad \|u(s,\cdot)\|_{L^q}, \qquad \|v(s,\cdot)\|_{L^q},$

with q = p and q = 2p and, analogously, to the proof of the statement (5.2.51) we can conclude the proof of the statement (5.2.52) by the aid of assumption $p > \bar{p}$. In this way our Theorem 5.2.7 is proved.

Example 5.2.4. Let us choose formally $a(t) \equiv 1$. Then we have A(t) = 1+t. Let $\mu(t)$ be an arbitrary function satisfying the assumptions (B'1) - (B'5) and (R1). Then we have $a_0 = 0$ and $\nu(\lambda) = \lambda$. Thus, applying Theorem 5.2.7 formally we have

$$\bar{p}_1 = \bar{p}_2 = \bar{p}_3 = 1 + \frac{2}{n} = p_{Fuj}$$

These results coincide with results from the paper of D'Abbicco, Lucente and Reissig (see [D-R13]). Example 5.2.5. If we choose $a(t) = (l+1)(1+t)^l$, l > 0, then we have $A(t) = (1+t)^{l+1}$ and $\nu(\lambda) = \lambda$. Let us choose $\mu(t)$ as in the Example 5.2.1, that is,

$$\mu(t) = (\log(c+t))^{\kappa}$$
 or $\mu(t) = (1+t)^{\gamma(l+1)}$ for $\kappa > 1, 0 \le \gamma < 2$.

In the case $\mu(t) = (\log(c+t))^{\kappa}$, $\kappa > 1$, we obtain M = 0 and $\gamma = \varepsilon$ with an arbitrary small ε . Thus, applying Theorem 5.2.7 we see that the condition (5.2.42) for the case $\alpha_2(p) = \frac{(2p-1)n}{4} = 1$ is satisfied if only if

$$n = 1 \Rightarrow l > \frac{1}{3}$$
 and $p = \frac{5}{2}$; $n = 2 \Rightarrow l > 1$ and $p = \frac{3}{2}$; $n = 3 \Rightarrow l > 3$ and $p = \frac{7}{6}$

Whereas, the critical exponent is

$$\bar{p} = 1 + \frac{2}{(l+1)n}$$

So, we have global existence of small data solutions for

$$\begin{cases} \bar{p}
(5.2.66)$$

In the other case $\mu(t) = (1+t)^{\gamma(l+1)}$, $0 \le \gamma < 2$, we obtain M = 0, $\gamma \in [0,2)$. Thus, applying Theorem 5.2.7 we also get

$$\bar{p}_1 = \bar{p}_2 = \bar{p}_3 = 1 + \frac{2}{(l+1)n} = \bar{p}_2$$

So, we have global existence of small data solutions under the same conditions for critical exponent as in (5.2.66). We remark that the statement of Theorem 5.2.7 holds uniformly for all damped wave models, where the propagation speed and dissipation satisfy the assumptions. If we focus to the special case $a(t) = (l+1)(1+t)^l$ and $\mu(t) = (1+t)^{\gamma(l+1)}$, $0 \le \gamma < 2$, with fixed l and γ , then the abstract condition (5.2.42) can be replaced by

$$\frac{l}{l+1} > \frac{(2-\gamma)n}{8}$$

If we take $\gamma \to 0$, then it implies the condition (5.2.42). This condition is also valid for $\mu(t) = (\log(c+t))^{\kappa}$, $\kappa > 1$.

Example 5.2.6. If we choose $a(t) = e^t$, then we have $A(t) = e^t$. So, $a_0 = 1$ and $\nu(\lambda) = 1$. Let us choose $\mu(t)$ as in the Example 5.2.2, that is,

$$\mu(t) = (1+t)^k (\log(e+t))^{\kappa} \text{ or } \mu(t) = e^{\gamma t}, \text{ for } k \ge 1, k+\kappa > 2, 0 \le \gamma < 2.$$

In the case $\mu(t) = (1+t)^k (\log(e+t))^{\kappa} k \ge 1, k+\kappa > 2$, we obtain M = 0 and $\gamma = \varepsilon$ with an arbitrary small ε . Thus, applying Theorem 5.2.7 we see that the condition (5.2.42) is satisfied if only if

$$\lambda > \frac{1}{4}.$$

So we have to choose such a λ . Moreover, we get

$$\bar{p}_1 = 1 < \bar{p}_2 \to \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2\lambda} < \bar{p}_3 \to \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2\lambda} + \left(\frac{1}{\lambda} - 1\right)\frac{2}{n} < \bar{p}$$

Choosing λ close to 1 gives $\bar{p} > 1$. So, we have global existence of small data solutions for

$$\begin{cases} 2 \le p & \text{if } n = 1, 2, \\ 2 \le p \le 3 = p_{GN}(3) & \text{if } n = 3, \\ p = 2 = p_{GN}(4) & \text{if } n = 4. \end{cases}$$
(5.2.67)

In the other case $\mu(t) = e^{\gamma t}$, $0 \leq \gamma < 2$, we obtain M = 0, $\gamma \in [0, 2)$. Thus, applying Theorem 5.2.7 we get

$$\bar{p}_1 = 1, \ \bar{p}_2 = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2\left(1 - \frac{2}{2 - \gamma}(1 - \lambda)\right)} + \left(1 - \frac{\lambda}{1 - \frac{2}{2 - \gamma}(1 - \lambda)}\right)\frac{2}{n},$$
$$\bar{p}_3 = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2\left(1 - \frac{2}{2 - \gamma}(1 - \lambda)\right)} + \frac{1 - \lambda}{1 - \frac{2}{2 - \gamma}(1 - \lambda)}\frac{2}{n}.$$

Choosing λ close to 1 gives $\bar{p} > 1$. So, we have global existence of small data solutions under the same conditions for critical exponent as in (5.2.67).

Example 5.2.7. If we choose $a(t) = mt^{m-1}e^{t^m}$, m > 0, then we have $A(t) = e^{t^m}$. So, $a_0 = 1$ and $\nu(\lambda) = 1/\lambda^{m-1}$. Let us choose functions $\mu(t)$ satisfying the assumption (R2), for example,

$$\mu(t) = (1+t)^k (\log(e+t))^{\kappa} \text{ or } \mu(t) = e^{\gamma t^m}, \text{ for } k \ge m, \ k+\kappa > m+1, \ 0 \le \gamma < 2.$$

In the case $\mu(t) = (1+t)^k (\log(e+t))^{\kappa}$, $k \ge m, k+\kappa > m+1$, we obtain M = 0 and $\gamma = \varepsilon$ with an arbitrary small ε . Thus, applying Theorem 5.2.7 we see that the condition (5.2.42) is satisfied if only if

$$\lambda > \Big(\frac{1}{4}\Big)^{1/m}.$$

So we have to choose such a λ . Moreover, we get

$$\bar{p}_1 = 1 < \bar{p}_2 \to \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2\lambda^m} < \bar{p}_3 \to \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2\lambda^m} + \left(\frac{1}{\lambda^m} - 1\right)\frac{2}{n} = \bar{p}.$$

Choosing λ close to 1 gives $\bar{p} > 1$. So, we have global existence of small data solutions for

$$\begin{cases} 2 \le p & \text{if } n = 1, 2, \\ 2 \le p \le 3 = p_{GN}(3) & \text{if } n = 3, \\ p = 2 = p_{GN}(4) & \text{if } n = 4. \end{cases}$$
(5.2.68)

In the other case $\mu(t) = e^{\gamma t^m}$, $0 \leq \gamma < 2$, we obtain M = 0, $\gamma \in [0, 2)$. Thus, applying Theorem 5.2.7 we get

$$\bar{p}_1 = 1, \ \bar{p}_2 = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2\left(1 - \frac{2}{2 - \gamma}\left(1 - \lambda^m\right)\right)} + \left(1 - \frac{\lambda^m}{1 - \frac{2}{2 - \gamma}\left(1 - \lambda^m\right)}\right)\frac{2}{n}$$
$$\bar{p}_3 = \frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2\left(1 - \frac{2}{2 - \gamma}\left(1 - \lambda^m\right)\right)} + \frac{1 - \lambda^m}{1 - \frac{2}{2 - \gamma}\left(1 - \lambda^m\right)}\frac{2}{n}.$$

Choosing λ close to 1 gives $\bar{p} > 1$. So, we have global existence of small data solutions under the same conditions for the critical exponent as in (5.2.68).

5.2.4. Global existence of small data solutions for wave models with super-exponential propagation speed

Now let us devote to the super-exponential order case $\nu(\lambda) = \infty$.

Theorem 5.2.9. (Super-exponential order case) We assume the Hypotheses (A1) to (A3), (B'1) to (B'5) and (R2). Moreover, we assume a growth condition for the function $\nu(\lambda, t)$:

$$\nu(\lambda, t) = \mathcal{O}(\log A(t)). \tag{5.2.69}$$

Let us assume $n \leq 4$ and

$$\begin{cases} 2 \le p & \text{if } n=1,2, \\ 2 \le p \le 3 = p_{GN}(3) & \text{if } n=3, \\ p=2 = p_{GN}(4) & \text{if } n=4. \end{cases}$$
(5.2.70)

Then there exists a constant $\epsilon_0 > 0$ such that data with

$$||(u_1, u_2)||_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}} \le \epsilon_0$$

imply the existence of a unique solution to (5.2.1) in $\mathcal{C}([0,\infty), H^1) \cap \mathcal{C}^1([0,\infty), L^2)$. Furthermore, there exists a constant C > 0 such that this solution satisfies the estimates

$$\|u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \leq C \quad \|(u_1,u_2)\|_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}}(1+B_a(0,t))^{-\frac{n}{4}}, \tag{5.2.71}$$

$$\|\nabla u(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \leq C \quad \|(u_1,u_2)\|_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}}(1+B_a(0,t))^{-\frac{n}{4}-\frac{1}{2}}, \tag{5.2.72}$$

$$\|u_t(t,\cdot)\|_{L^2} \leq C \quad \|(u_1,u_2)\|_{\mathcal{A}_{1,1}}(1+B_a(0,t))^{-\frac{n}{4}-1}a^2(t)(b(t))^{-1}.$$
 (5.2.73)

Proof. The scheme to prove this theorem is almost the same which we presented in the proof of Theorem 5.2.7. The only change is to show that Proposition 5.2.8 remains true, in particular, we will show the estimates (5.2.51), under the new assumption (R2).

In our proof we need the following result: Let us consider for j + l = 0, 1 estimates in the case $s \in [0, \lambda t]$. We have again

$$\mathbf{A} \approx \left(\frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)}\right)^l \left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)^{-(n/4+j/2+l)} \underbrace{\int_0^{\lambda t} (b(s))^{-1} \left(1 + B_a(0,s)\right)^{-(p-1)n/2} ds}_{\bar{A}_1}.$$

Here, we have used (5.2.38). We now try to find a condition for the power p which guarantees that the integral term \bar{A}_1 remains uniformly bounded for $t \to \infty$. We define $\alpha_1(p) := (p-1)n/2$. In the case $\alpha_1(p) \neq 1$ to handle the integral \bar{A}_1 we will use integration by parts and the assumption

(A2). Thus

$$\begin{split} \bar{A}_1 &= \int_0^{\lambda t} \left(1 + B_a(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_1(p)} \frac{1}{a^2(s)} d\left(1 + B_a(0,s)\right) \\ &= \frac{\left(1 + B_a(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_1(p)+1}}{(1 - \alpha_1(p))a^2(s)} \bigg|_0^{\lambda t} + \frac{2}{1 - \alpha_1(p)} \int_0^{\lambda t} \left(1 + B_a(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_1(p)+1} \frac{a'(s)}{a^3(s)} ds \\ &\approx \frac{\left(1 + B_a(0,s)\right)^{-\alpha_1(p)+1}}{(1 - \alpha_1(p))a^2(s)} \bigg|_0^{\lambda t} + \frac{2}{1 - \alpha_1(p)} \int_0^{\lambda t} \frac{(1 + B_a(0,s))^{-\alpha_1(p)+1}}{a^2(s)} \frac{a(s)}{A(s)} ds \\ &\approx \frac{1}{1 - \alpha_1(p)} \left(\frac{1}{a^2(0)} - \frac{(1 + B_a(0,\lambda t))^{-\alpha_1(p)+1}}{a^2(\lambda t)} + 2 \int_0^{\lambda t} \frac{(1 + B_a(0,s))^{-\alpha_1(p)+1}}{a^2(s)} \frac{a(s)}{A(s)} ds \right). \end{split}$$

In order to prove that for a fixed $\lambda \in (0, 1)$ the integral \bar{A}_1 is uniformly upper bounded by a constant for $t \to \infty$ it suffices to show that with an arbitrary small positive ε we have

$$\frac{\left(1+B_a(0,t)\right)^{-\alpha_1(p)+1}}{a^2(t)} \lesssim A(t)^{-\varepsilon}.$$

Let us consider

$$\bar{\mathcal{G}}_1(t) := \frac{\left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)^{-\alpha_1(p)+1} A(t)^{\varepsilon}}{a^2(t)}.$$

Performing the first derivative of $\bar{\mathcal{G}}_1(t)$ we get

$$\begin{split} \bar{\mathcal{G}}_{1}'(t) &= \frac{\left((1-\alpha_{1}(p))\frac{a(t)A(t)}{\mu(t)} + \varepsilon \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \left(1+B_{a}(0,t)\right) - 2\frac{a'(t)}{a(t)} \left(1+B_{a}(0,t)\right)\right) A(t)^{\varepsilon}}{a^{2}(t) \left(1+B_{a}(0,t)\right)^{\alpha_{1}(p)}} \\ &\lesssim \frac{\left((1-\alpha_{1}(p))\frac{a(t)A(t)}{\mu(t)} + \varepsilon \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\frac{A^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)}\log A(t) - 2a_{0}\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\frac{A^{2}(t)}{\mu(t)}\log A(t)\right) A(t)^{\varepsilon}}{a^{2}(t) \left(1+B_{a}(0,t)\right)^{\alpha_{1}(p)}} \\ &\lesssim \frac{\left((1-\alpha_{1}(p))\frac{a(t)A(t)}{\mu(t)} + \varepsilon \frac{a(t)A(t)}{\mu(t)}\log A(t) - 2a_{0}\frac{a(t)A(t)}{\mu(t)}\log A(t)\right) A(t)^{\varepsilon}}{a^{2}(t) \left(1+B_{a}(0,t)\right)^{-\alpha_{1}(p)}} \\ &\leq \frac{\left((1-\alpha_{1}(p)) + \left(\varepsilon - 2a_{0}\right)\log A(t)\right)\frac{a(t)A(t)}{\mu(t)}A(t)^{\varepsilon}}{a^{2}(t) \left(1+B_{a}(0,t)\right)^{\alpha_{1}(p)}}. \end{split}$$

The last inequality show us that $\bar{\mathcal{G}}'_1(t) < 0$ after choosing ε small enough and for large t. Hence, $\bar{\mathcal{G}}_1(t)$ is bounded. Therefore, we can obtain our desired estimate for \bar{A}_1 . The case $\alpha_1(p) = 1$ can be treated directly. We have

$$\begin{split} \bar{A}_1 &= \int_0^{\lambda t} \frac{ds}{b(s) \left(1 + B_a(0, s)\right)} \approx \int_0^{\lambda t} \frac{\mu(s)}{A^2(s) \log A(s)} \frac{A(s)}{a(s)\mu(s)} ds = \int_0^{\lambda t} \frac{ds}{\log A(s)a(s)A(s)} \\ &\leq \int_0^{\lambda t} \frac{dA(s)}{a^2(s)A(s)} \leq \int_0^{\lambda t} \frac{dA(s)}{A(s)^{1+2a_0}} \leq C. \end{split}$$

Summarizing, we can conclude

$$\mathbf{A} \lesssim \left(\frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)}\right)^l \left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)^{-(n/4+j/2+l)}.$$
(5.2.74)

Now let us estimate **B**. We start with the case j = 0 and l = 0. Case 1: $\alpha_2(p) \neq 1$

$$\mathbf{B} = \int_{\lambda t}^{t} (b(s))^{-1} (1 + B_a(0, s))^{-\alpha_2(p)} ds = \int_{\lambda t}^{t} (1 + B_a(0, s))^{-\alpha_2(p)} \frac{1}{a^2(s)} d(1 + B_a(0, s))$$
$$= \frac{(1 + B_a(0, s))^{-\alpha_2(p)+1}}{(1 - \alpha_2(p))a^2(s)} \Big|_{\lambda t}^{t} + \frac{2}{1 - \alpha_2(p)} \int_{\lambda t}^{t} (1 + B_a(0, s))^{-\alpha_2(p)+1} \frac{a'(s)}{a^3(s)} ds$$
$$\approx \frac{(1 + B_a(0, s))^{-\alpha_2(p)+1}}{(1 - \alpha_2(p))a^2(s)} \Big|_{\lambda t}^{t} + \frac{2}{1 - \alpha_2(p)} \int_{\lambda t}^{t} \frac{(1 + B_a(0, s))^{-\alpha_2(p)+1}}{a^2(s)} \frac{a(s)}{A(s)} ds.$$
(5.2.75)

Thus, we have

$$(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{n/4}\mathbf{B} \lesssim \underbrace{\frac{(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)+1}(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{n/4}}{a^{2}(t)}}_{B_{1}} + \underbrace{\frac{(1+B_{a}(0,\lambda t))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)+1}(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{n/4}}{a^{2}(\lambda t)}}_{B_{2}} + \underbrace{\int_{\lambda t}^{t} \frac{(1+B_{a}(0,s))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)+1}(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{n/4}}{a^{2}(s)}}_{B_{3}} \underbrace{\frac{a(s)}{A(s)}ds}_{B_{3}}.$$

Since $\alpha_2(p) = \alpha_1(p) + n/4$ we may conclude for large t

$$B_1 = \bar{\mathcal{G}}_1(t)A(t)^{-\varepsilon} \lesssim A(t)^{-\varepsilon} \lesssim 1.$$

In order to prove that B_2 and B_3 are both uniformly upper bounded by a constant it suffices to show that for a small positive ε we have

$$B_2 \lesssim (1 + B_a(0, \lambda t))^{-\varepsilon}.$$

Thus, we use the monotonicity behavior of the following function:

$$\bar{\mathcal{G}}_2(t) := \frac{\left(1 + B_a(0,\lambda t)\right)^{-\alpha_2(p)+1} \left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)^{n/4} A(t)^{\varepsilon}}{a^2(\lambda t)}$$

by the aid of the strictly decreasing behavior of $\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)} \frac{1}{\log A(t)}$. After performing the derivative $\bar{\mathcal{G}}'_2(t)$ we can see that $\bar{\mathcal{G}}'_2(t) < 0$ for large t. It implies that

$$B_3 \lesssim \int_{\lambda t}^t \frac{1}{A(s)^{\varepsilon}} \frac{a(s)}{A(s)} ds \lesssim 1$$

for large t. Summarizing for j = l = 0 all the estimates we may conclude

$$\mathbf{B} \lesssim \left(1 + B_a(0, t)\right)^{-n/4}.$$
(5.2.76)

Case 2: $\alpha_2(p) = 1$

Here we proceed in the usual way by the aid of the supposed decreasing behavior of the function $\frac{\nu(\lambda,t)}{\log A(t)}$. We have

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{B} &= \int_{\lambda t}^{t} \left(1 + B_{a}(0,s) \right)^{-1} b(s)^{-1} ds \int_{\lambda t}^{t} d\left(\log\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s) \right) \right) \frac{1}{a^{2}(s)} \\ &= \left. \frac{\log\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s) \right)}{a^{2}(s)} \right|_{\lambda t}^{t} + \int_{\lambda t}^{t} \log\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s) \right) \frac{a'(s)}{a^{3}(s)} ds \\ &\lesssim \frac{\log\left(1 + B_{a}(0,t) \right)}{a^{2}(t)} - \frac{\log\left(1 + B_{a}(0,\lambda t) \right)}{a^{2}(\lambda t)} + a_{1} \int_{\lambda t}^{t} \frac{\log\left(1 + B_{a}(0,s) \right)}{a^{2}(s)} \frac{a(s)}{A(s)} ds \end{split}$$

It implies

$$(1 + B_a(0,t))^{n/4} \mathbf{B} \lesssim \frac{\log(1 + B_a(0,t))(1 + B_a(0,t))^{n/4}}{a^2(t)} - \frac{\log(1 + B_a(0,\lambda t))(1 + B_a(0,t))^{n/4}}{a^2(\lambda t)} + a_1 \int_{\lambda t}^t \frac{\log(1 + B_a(0,s))(1 + B_a(0,t))^{n/4}}{a^2(s)} \frac{a(s)}{A(s)} ds.$$

Analogously, in order to prove $(1 + B_a(0,t))^{n/4}\mathbf{B}$ is bounded, it is enough to prove that for small positive ε we have

$$\frac{\log\left(1+B_a(0,\lambda t)\right)(1+B_a(0,t))^{n/4}}{a^2(\lambda t)} \lesssim \frac{1}{A(\lambda t)^{\varepsilon}}.$$

Thus, for arbitrary small $\delta > 0$ we have

$$\frac{\log\left(1+B_a(0,\lambda t)\right)(1+B_a(0,t))^{n/4}A(\lambda t)^{\varepsilon}}{a^2(\lambda t)} \lesssim \frac{\log\left(1+B_a(0,\lambda t)\right)}{(1+B_a(0,\lambda t))^{\delta}}\frac{(1+B_a(0,\lambda t))^{\delta}(1+B_a(0,t))^{n/4}A(\lambda t)^{\varepsilon}}{a^2(\lambda t)} \\ \lesssim \frac{(1+B_a(0,\lambda t))^{\delta}(1+B_a(0,t))^{n/4}A(\lambda t)^{\varepsilon}}{a^2(\lambda t)}.$$

Taking account of the monotonic behavior of $\overline{\mathcal{G}}_2$ we obtain our desired estimate for **B**. For j = 1 and l = 0 we obtain

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{B} &= \int_{\lambda t}^{t} (b(s))^{-1} \big(1 + B_{a}(s,t) \big)^{-1/2} \big(1 + B_{a}(0,s) \big)^{-\alpha_{2}(p)} ds \\ &= -\int_{\lambda t}^{t} \big(1 + B_{a}(s,t) \big)^{-1/2} \frac{(1 + B_{a}(0,s))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)}}{a^{2}(s)} d \big(1 + B_{a}(s,t) \big) \\ &= -\frac{2 \big(1 + B_{a}(s,t) \big)^{1/2} \big(1 + B_{a}(0,s) \big)^{-\alpha_{2}(p)}}{a^{2}(s)} \bigg|_{\lambda t}^{t} + 2 \int_{\lambda t}^{t} \big(1 + B_{a}(s,t) \big)^{1/2} d \Big(\frac{(1 + B_{a}(0,s))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)}}{a^{2}(s)} \Big) \\ &\approx \frac{\big(1 + B_{a}(s,t) \big)^{1/2} \big(1 + B_{a}(0,s) \big)^{-\alpha_{2}(p)}}{2a^{2}(s)} \bigg|_{\lambda t}^{t} + \int_{\lambda t}^{t} \frac{\big(1 + B_{a}(s,t) \big)^{1/2}}{\big(1 + B_{a}(0,s) \big)^{\alpha_{2}(p)} a^{2}(s)} \frac{d \big(1 + B_{a}(0,s) \big)}{1 + B_{a}(0,s)}. \end{split}$$

Here we have used

$$d\Big(\frac{(1+B_a(0,s))^{-\alpha_2(p)}}{a^2(s)}\Big) \approx \frac{1}{(1+B_a(0,s))^{\alpha_2(p)}a^2(s)} \left(\frac{d(1+B_a(0,s))}{1+B_a(0,s)} + \frac{a'(s)}{a(s)}ds\right)$$
$$\approx \frac{1}{(1+B_a(0,s))^{\alpha_2(p)}a^2(s)} \left(\frac{d(1+B_a(0,s))}{1+B_a(0,s)} + \frac{a(s)A(s)}{\mu(s)}\frac{\mu(s)}{A^2(s)}ds\right)$$
$$\approx \frac{1}{(1+B_a(0,s))^{\alpha_2(p)}a^2(s)} \left(\frac{d(1+B_a(0,s))}{1+B_a(0,s)} + \frac{d(1+B_a(0,s))}{1+B_a(0,s)}\right)$$
$$\approx \frac{1}{(1+B_a(0,s))^{\alpha_2(p)}a^2(s)} \frac{d(1+B_a(0,s))}{1+B_a(0,s)} + \frac{d(1+B_a(0,s))}{1+B_a(0,s)}\Big)$$

It implies

$$(1 + B_a(0,t))^{n/4+1/2} \mathbf{B} \approx \frac{(1 + B_a(0,t))^{-\alpha_2(p)} (1 + B_a(0,t))^{n/4+1/2}}{a^2(t)} + \frac{(1 + B_a(0,\lambda t))^{-\alpha_2(p)} (1 + B_a(0,t))^{n/4+1/2} (1 + B_a(\lambda t,t))^{1/2}}{a^2(\lambda t)} + (1 + B_a(0,t))^{n/4+1/2} \int_{\lambda t}^t \frac{(1 + B_a(s,t))^{1/2}}{(1 + B_a(0,s))^{\alpha_2(p)} a^2(s)} \frac{d(1 + B_a(0,s))}{1 + B_a(0,s)}$$

Thus

$$(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{n/4+1/2} \mathbf{B} \lesssim \underbrace{\frac{(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)}(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{n/4+1/2}}{a^{2}(t)}}_{\bar{B}_{1}} + \underbrace{\frac{(1+B_{a}(0,\lambda t))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)}(1+B_{a}(0,t))^{n/4+1}}{a^{2}(\lambda t)}}_{\bar{B}_{2}} + \underbrace{\int_{\lambda t}^{t} \frac{(1+B_{a}(0,\lambda t))^{n/4+1}}{(1+B_{a}(0,s))^{\alpha_{2}(p)}a^{2}(s)} \frac{d(1+B_{a}(0,s))}{1+B_{a}(0,s)}}_{\bar{B}_{3}}.$$

Since $\alpha_2(p) = \alpha_1(p) + n/4$ we may conclude that

$$\bar{B}_1 = \bar{\mathcal{G}}_1(t) \left(1 + B_a(0,t) \right)^{-1/2} A(t)^{-\varepsilon} \lesssim \left(1 + B_a(0,t) \right)^{-1/2} A(t)^{-\varepsilon} \lesssim 1.$$

In order to prove that \bar{B}_2 and \bar{B}_3 are uniformly (with respect to $t \to \infty$) upper bounded by a constant it suffices to show that for r > 1 we have

$$\bar{B}_2 \lesssim \left(1 + B_a(0, \lambda t)\right)^{-r}.$$

For this reason we consider the monotonicity of the following function:

$$\bar{\mathcal{G}}_2(t) := \frac{\left(1 + B_a(0,\lambda t)\right)^{-\alpha_2(p)+r} \left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)^{n/4+1}}{a^2(\lambda t)}.$$

We form the first derivative of this function and take account of $\mu(t) = A^2(t)/\theta(t)$ to obtain

Now, the supposed strictly decreasing behavior of the function $\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)} \frac{1}{\log A(t)}$ implies $\overline{\mathcal{G}}_2'(t) < 0$ for large t. Summarizing we have shown for j = 1, l = 0 the desired inequality

$$\mathbf{B} \lesssim \left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)^{-n/4 - 1/2}.$$
(5.2.77)

Analogously, for j = 0 and l = 1 we can prove

$$\frac{b(t)}{a^{2}(t)} (1 + B_{a}(0, t))^{n/4+1} \mathbf{B} \lesssim \underbrace{\frac{\log(1 + B_{a}(0, t))(1 + B_{a}(0, \lambda t))^{-\alpha_{2}(p)}(1 + B_{a}(0, t))^{n/4+1}}{B_{2}(\lambda t)}}_{D_{2}} + \underbrace{\int_{\lambda t}^{t} \frac{\log(1 + B_{a}(0, t))(1 + B_{a}(0, t))^{n/4+1}}{(1 + B_{a}(0, s))^{\alpha_{2}(p)}a^{2}(s)} \frac{d(1 + B_{a}(0, s))}{1 + B_{a}(0, s)}}{D_{3}}.$$

After applying the rule of l'Hospital it follows

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{\log\left(1 + B_a(0, t)\right)}{\left(1 + B_a(0, \lambda t)\right)^r} = \limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{\frac{a(t)}{A(1 + B_a(0, t))} \theta(\lambda t)}{r\lambda \left(1 + B_a(0, t)\right) \frac{a(\lambda t)}{A(\lambda t)} \theta(\lambda t) \left(1 + B_a(0, \lambda t)\right)^{r-1}}$$
$$\approx \limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{\frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \theta(t)}{r\lambda \left(\theta(t) \log A(t)\right) \frac{a(\lambda t)}{A(\lambda t)} \theta(\lambda t) \left(1 + B_a(0, \lambda t)\right)^{r-1}}$$
$$\approx \limsup_{t \to \infty} \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)} \frac{1}{\theta(\lambda t) \log A(t)} \frac{1}{\left(1 + B_a(0, \lambda t)\right)^{r-1}} \lesssim 1. \quad (5.2.78)$$

Thus, we get

$$D_{2} = \frac{\log(1 + B_{a}(0, t))}{(1 + B_{a}(0, \lambda t))^{r}} \bar{\mathcal{G}}_{2}(t) \lesssim \frac{\log(1 + B_{a}(0, t))}{(1 + B_{a}(0, \lambda t))^{r}} \lesssim 1$$

for large t. Finally, after using the change of variables $y = 1 + B_a(0, s)$ it follows

$$D_3 \lesssim \log\left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right) \int_{1+B_a(0,\lambda t)}^{1+B_a(0,t)} \frac{dy}{y^{1+r}} = \frac{\log\left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)}{r\left(1 + B_a(0,\lambda t)\right)^r} - \frac{\log\left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)}{r\left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)^r} \lesssim 1.$$

Here we use that \overline{B}_3 contains \overline{B}_2 and (5.2.78). This implies

$$\mathbf{B} \lesssim \frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)} \left(1 + B_a(0, t)\right)^{-(n/4+1)}.$$
(5.2.79)

From (5.2.76), (5.2.77) and (5.2.79) we obtain

$$\mathbf{B} \lesssim \left(\frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)}\right)^l \left(1 + B_a(0,t)\right)^{-(n/4+j/2+l)}.$$
(5.2.80)

Thanks to (5.2.74) and (5.2.80) we can conclude the statement (5.2.51). In this way our Theorem 5.2.9 is proved.

Example 5.2.8. If we choose $a(t) = e^t e^{e^t}$, then we have $A(t) = e^{e^t}$. So, $a_0 = 1$ and $\nu(\lambda) = \infty$. Let us choose $\mu(t)$ as in the Example 5.2.3, that is,

$$\mu(t) = e^{2e^t} / e^{\beta t}$$
 or $e^{2e^t} / \log(e+t)$, for $\beta > 0$.

Thus, applying Theorem 5.2.9 we see that the condition (5.2.69) is satisfied. Indeed,

$$\frac{\nu(\lambda,t)}{\log A(t)} = \frac{e^t e^{e^t}}{e^{e^t}} \frac{e^{e^{\lambda t}}}{e^{\lambda t} e^{e^{\lambda t}}} \frac{1}{e^t} = \frac{1}{e^{\lambda t}}$$

So, we have global existence of small data solutions for

$$\begin{cases} 2 \le p & \text{if } n = 1, 2, \\ 2 \le p \le 3 = p_{GN}(3) & \text{if } n = 3, \\ p = 2 = p_{GN}(4) & \text{if } n = 4. \end{cases}$$
(5.2.81)

Example 5.2.9. If we choose $a(t) = e^t e^{e^t} e^{e^{t}}$, then we have $A(t) = e^{e^{t}}$. So, $a_0 = 1$ and $\nu(\lambda) = \infty$. Let us choose functions $\mu(t)$ satisfying the assumption (R2), for example,

$$\mu(t) = e^{2e^{e^t}}/e^{\beta e^t}$$
 or $e^{2e^{e^t}}/\log(e+t)$, for $\beta > 0$.

Thus, applying Theorem 5.2.9 we see that the condition (5.2.69) is satisfied. Indeed,

$$\frac{\nu(\lambda,t)}{\log A(t)} = \frac{e^t e^{e^t} e^{e^{e^t}}}{e^{e^{e^t}}} \frac{e^{e^{e^{\lambda t}}}}{e^{\lambda t} e^{e^{\lambda t}} e^{e^{e^{\lambda t}}}} \frac{1}{e^{e^t}} = \frac{e^t}{e^{\lambda t} e^{e^{\lambda t}}}.$$

So, we have global existence of small data solutions for

$$\begin{cases} 2 \le p & \text{if } n = 1, 2, \\ 2 \le p \le 3 = p_{GN}(3) & \text{if } n = 3, \\ p = 2 = p_{GN}(4) & \text{if } n = 4. \end{cases}$$
(5.2.82)

6. Concluding remarks and open questions

6.1. Linear theory

6.1.1. Modified Scattering

We try to establish if there exists a relation between the solution u = u(t, x) of

$$u_{tt} - a(t)^2 \Delta u + b(t)u_t = 0, \ u(0, \cdot) = u_1, \ u_t(0, \cdot) = u_2$$
(6.1.1)

and the solution v = v(t, x) of

$$v_{tt} - a(t)^2 \Delta v = 0, \ v(0, \cdot) = v_1, \ v_t(0, \cdot) = v_2$$
(6.1.2)

not only in the case of scattering dissipation $b(t)u_t$ with $b(t) \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$ but also in the case of non-effective dissipation. Our basic idea is that we will construct a Møller wave operator which relates (u_1, u_2) to (v_1, v_2) . The key idea is to multiply the representation $E(t, \xi)$ which respect to (6.1.1) and the representation $E_a(t, \xi)$ with respect to (6.1.2) by the decay rate $\frac{\lambda(t)}{\sqrt{a(t)}}$.

Theorem 6.1.1 (Conjecture). Assume (A_1) , (A_2) , $(A_3)^l$ with $l \ge 1$ to a(t) and (B_1) , (B_2) , (B_3) or $(B_3)'$ to b(t) and (C). Then the operator

$$W_{+}(D) = \lim_{t \to \infty} \frac{\lambda(t)}{\sqrt{a(t)}} \left(E_{a}(t,D) \right)^{-1} E(t,D)$$

exists in $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n) \to L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and its symbol satisfies

$$W_{+}(\xi) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{a(t_{\xi})}} \left(E_{a}(t_{\xi},\xi) \right)^{-1} M Q_{k}(\infty, t_{\xi},\xi) N_{k}^{-1}(t_{\xi},\xi) M^{-1}\lambda(t_{\xi}) E(t_{\xi},\xi)$$

for all $1 \le k \le l$, such that the asymptotic of solutions of the problem (6.1.1) and (6.1.2) satisfy

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{a(t)}} \|E_a(t,\xi) \left(\langle \xi \rangle v_1, v_2\right)^T - E(t,\xi) \left(\langle \xi \rangle u_1, u_2\right)^T \|_{L^2} \to 0$$

as $t \to \infty$.

6.1.2. Energy estimates of higher order

In the thesis we did not study estimates for energies of higher order. Here we propose $L^p - L^q$ estimates for derivatives of the solutions for the non-effective dissipation case.

Theorem 6.1.2 (Conjecture). Assume (A1) to (A3)^l, (B1), $B(2)^l$, (B3) or (B3)' together with (C). Then the $L^p - L^q$ estimate

$$\|D_t^l D_x^{\alpha} u(t, \cdot)\|_{L^q} \lesssim \frac{\sqrt{a(t)}}{\lambda(t)} A(t)^{-\frac{n-1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right)} \left(\|u_1\|_{L^{p,l+r+|\alpha|}} + \|u_2\|_{L^{p,l+r+|\alpha|-1}}\right)$$

holds for dual indices pq = p + q, $p \in (1, 2]$ and regularity $r = n\left(\frac{1}{p} - \frac{1}{q}\right)$.

For the effective dissipation case, there are two conjectured theorems with respect two cases of monotonic function $\mu(t)/A(t)$:

Theorem 6.1.3 (Conjecture). Assume (A1) to (A3)^l, (B'1), (B'2)^l, (B'3) together with $\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$ is decreasing function. Then the $L^2 - L^2$ estimate

$$\|D_t^l D_x^{\alpha} u(t, \cdot)\| \lesssim \left(\frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)}\right)^l \left(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)}\right)^{-\frac{|\alpha|}{2} - l} \left(\|u_1\|_{H^{l+|\alpha|}} + \|u_2\|_{H^{l+|\alpha|-1}}\right)$$

holds for all $k \geq l$.

Theorem 6.1.4 (Conjecture). Assume (A1) to (A3)^l, (B'1), (B'2)^l, (B'3) together with $\frac{\mu(t)}{A(t)}$ is increasing function. Then the $L^2 - L^2$ estimate

$$|D_t^l D_x^{\alpha} u(t, \cdot)\| \lesssim \frac{a^2(t)}{b(t)} \Big(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\Big)^{l-1} \Big(1 + \int_0^t \frac{a^2(\tau)}{b(\tau)}\Big)^{-\frac{|\alpha|+l}{2}} \Big(\|u_1\|_{H^{l+|\alpha|}} + \|u_2\|_{H^{l+|\alpha|-1}}\Big)$$

holds for all $k \ge l \ge 1$.

6.2. Non-linear theory

6.2.1. Blow-up behavior of semi-linear models with effective dissipation

Still open is the question for the blow-up behavior of solutions to the Cauchy problem for damped waves with time dependent speed of propagation and dissipation in the general case

$$u_{tt} + a^{2}(t)\Delta u + b(t)u_{t} = f(u), \ u(0, \cdot) = u_{0}, \ u_{t}(0, \cdot) = u_{1}.$$
(6.2.1)

An effort has been done for proving not only the global existence for (6.2.1) but also the blow-up behavior for this model. Todorova and Yordanov [T-Y01] and Zhang [Zha01], have handled the case $a(t) = b(t) \equiv 1, f(u) \approx |u|^p$. These authors proved that the Fujta exponent $p_c = 1 + 2/n$ is the critical exponent. The modified test function method is an effective tool to prove blow-up in the parabolic like case $a(t) \equiv 1, f(u) \approx |u|^p$ and $b(t) = b_0(1+t)^\beta$, with $|\beta| < 1$, the exponent $p_c = 1 + 2/n$ is still critical exponent, see J. Lin-K. Nishihara-J. Zhai [LNZ12]. For more general cases a(t), b(t) we refer to the paper D'Abbicco and Lucente [D-L12] for blow-up results.

6.3. Abstract problems

The main idea is to understand qualitative properties of solutions to the abstract Cauchy problem

$$u_{tt} + a(t)Au + b(t)A^{\sigma}u_t = 0, \ u(0) = u_0, \ u_t(0) = u_1,$$

where A is a self-adjoint operator on a Hilbert space X, strictly positive, with dense domain D(A). The term $A^{\sigma}u_t$ describes a class of damping terms, if $\sigma = 0$, it describes the external damping, if $\sigma \in (0, 1]$, it describes the structural damping, the case $\sigma = 1$ is called visco-elastic damping. The coefficient a = a(t) describes in some cases a propagation speed of waves and $b(t)A^{\sigma}u_t$ describes a damping effect. In connection with the long time behavior of a(t) up to ∞ , here decreasing or increasing or oscillating behaviors are of interest. The case $a = b \equiv 1$ was studied in a paper of Chen and Russel [C-R82]. In particular, the case $\sigma = 0$ was motivated by Matsumura [Mat76], while in the case $\sigma = 1$ we can cite, for example, the papers of Ponce [Pon85], Shibata [Shi00], Ikehata-Todorova-Yordanov [ITY13b], Ikehata-Natsume [I-N12]. For the case $a \equiv 1$ abstract scattering

$$u_{tt} - \Delta u + b(t)(-\Delta)^{\sigma} u_t = 0, \ u(0,x) = u_0(x), \ u_t(0,x) = u_1(x).$$

6.4. Damped wave models with decreasing speed of propagation

In the future we are interested in the following Cauchy problem:

$$u_{tt} + a^{2}(t)\Delta u + b(t)u_{t} = f(u), \ u(0, \cdot) = u_{0}, \ u_{t}(0, \cdot) = u_{1},$$

where a(t) is a decreasing function. Our studies are motivated by the papers Galstian [Gal03] for the special linear model with $a(t) = (1 + t)^{-l}$, $a(t) = e^{-t}$ and the paper X. Gang, Y. Huicheng [G-H13].

6.5. Wave models with time-dependent and spatial-dependent coefficients

It seems to be reasonable to attack the Cauchy problem with the dissipation term depending on time and spatial variables

$$u_{tt} + a^{2}(t)\Delta u + b(t, x)u_{t} = f(u), \ u(0, \cdot) = u_{0}, \ u_{t}(0, \cdot) = u_{1}.$$
(6.5.1)

A main goal of this issue could be to find suitable conditions for coefficients a and b, suitable function spaces for the right-hand side and spaces for initial data (u_1, u_2) such that we can obtain the critical exponent power p_{crit} . Let us introduce here papers which contain some notable approaches to reach our goal. Firstly, we start with the Cauchy problem (6.5.1) without right-hand side and $a \equiv 1$. An approach to handle coefficients depending on t and x bases on so-called weighted energy inequalities and was used in the papers of Matsumura, [Mat77], Hirosawa and Nakazawa, [H-N03]. These results provide $L^2 - L^2$ -estimates under the assumption

$$b(t,x) \ge b_0 > 0$$

for large values of |x|. In the papers of Mochizuki-Nakazawa, [M-N96], Uesaka, [Ues80], they discussed energy decay estimates with the weaker effective assumption for large x

$$b(t,x) \ge b_0(1+t+|x|)^{-1} > 0.$$

Recently, Todorova-Yordanov [T-Y09] treated the case $b(t, x) = b_0(1+|x|)^{-\alpha}$ with $\alpha \in [0, 1)$. After that, Ikehata-Todorova-Yordanov [ITY13a] have the optimal decay estimate for the critical case $b(t, x) = b_0(1+|x|)^{-1}$ ($\alpha = 1$).

Now, let us turn back to the case of right-hand side $f(u(t,x)) = |u(t,x)|^p$. When the coefficient b(t,x) is constant, in two papers of Todorova-Yordanov [T-Y00, T-Y01], the authors have shown that the critical exponent is $p_{crit} = p_c(N) = 1 + 2/N$, where N is the dimension. For the case b(t,x) > 0 and $b(t,x) \sim b_0(1+|x|)^{-\alpha}$ for large values of |x| and $\alpha \in [0,1)$ in the paper of Ikehata-Todorova-Yordanov [ITY09] they have proved that the critical exponent is

$$p_{crit} = p_c(N, \alpha) = 1 + \frac{2}{N - \alpha}$$

For the case $\alpha \geq 1$ this problem is still open.

Appendices
A. Notation

A.1. General notation in thesis

We will introduce here some notions that appear throughout our thesis. We use C to denote an arbitrary constant. The exact value denoted by C may change from line to line in a given computation. The big advantage is that our calculations will be simpler looking, since we continually absorb "extraneous" factors into the term C. In formulas, the brackets [, (, { are used without special meaning, $\{\cdot\}$ is also used to denote sets. Bracket symbols with special meaning are

$\langle \cdot \rangle$	this Japanese bracket stands for $\langle x \rangle = \sqrt{1 + x ^2}$,
[·]	denotes the smallest integer larger then a given number, $\lceil x \rceil = \min\{m \in \mathbb{N}\}$
	$\mathbb{Z}, \text{ s.t. } x \leq m \},$
·	denotes the absolute value of a scalar expression,
·	stands for a vector or a matrix norm, in our thesis we prefer to use the
	row sum norm,
(\cdot)	denotes for a matrix the matrix of the absolute values of its entries,
$\ \cdot\ _p$	stands for $\ \cdot\ _{L^p}$,
$\ \cdot\ _{p,r}$	stands for $\ \cdot\ _{L_{p,r}}$,
$\operatorname{tr} A$	denotes the trace of matrix A, i.e, the sum of the diagonal entries of the
	diagonal matrix A.

For the derivatives we use the following notations:

D_{x_i}	stands for $-i\partial_{x_i}$, with $i = 1, \ldots, n$, for $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,
D_t	stands for $-i\partial_t, t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$
D	stands for $-i\nabla_x = -i(\partial_{x_1}, \partial_{x_2}, \dots, \partial_{x_n})^T$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$,
∂_x^{lpha}	stands for $\partial_{x_1}^{\alpha_1} \partial_{x_2}^{\alpha_2} \dots \partial_{x_n}^{\alpha_n}$ with a multi-index $\alpha = (\alpha_1, \alpha_2, \dots, \alpha_n)^T$, where each component α_i is a non-negative integer and $ \alpha = \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \alpha_1$
	$\cdots + \alpha_n,$
Δ	denotes the Laplace operator with respect to $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$: $\Delta_x = \partial_{x_1}^2 + \cdots +$
	$\partial_{r_n}^2$

Furthermore, we use the following asymptotic relations

 $\begin{array}{ll} f \lesssim g & \text{if there exists a positive constant } C_1 \text{ such that } f \leq C_1 g \text{ for all arguments,} \\ f \gtrsim g & \text{if there exists a positive constant } C_2 \text{ such that } f \geq C_2 g \text{ for all arguments,} \\ f \sim g & \text{if } f \lesssim g \text{ and } f \gtrsim g, \\ f = \mathcal{O}(g) & \text{denotes that } \limsup_{x \to \infty} \left| \frac{f(x)}{g(x)} \right| = 0, \\ f = \mathcal{O}(g) & \text{denotes that } \limsup_{x \to \infty} \left| \frac{f(x)}{g(x)} \right| < \infty. \end{array}$

A.2. Function spaces

We introduce here function spaces which are frequently used within thesis with a short definition:

$C^k(\mathbb{R}^n)$	space of k -times continuously differentiable functions,
$C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$	space of infinitely continuously differentiable functions,
$C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n)$	space of functions belonging to $C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with compact support,
$\mathcal{D}'(\mathbb{R}^n)$	space of distributions, continuous dual space to $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,
$L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$	Lebesgue spaces with $1 \le p \le \infty$,
$L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n)$	$L^p_{loc}(\mathbb{R}^n) := \{ u : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R} : u \in L^p(U) \text{ for each } U \subset \mathbb{R}^n \},\$
$L^{\widetilde{p},\widetilde{r}}(\mathbb{R}^n)$	Bessel potential space, $L^{p,r}(\mathbb{R}^n) := \langle D \rangle^{-r} L^p(\mathbb{R}^n), 1 \le p < \infty, r \in \mathbb{R},$
$\dot{L}^{p,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$	Riesz potential space, $\dot{L}^{p,r}(\mathbb{R}^n) := D ^{-r}L^p(\mathbb{R}^n), 1 \le p < \infty, r \in \mathbb{R},$
$H^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n})$	Sobolev space based on $L^2(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $H^s(\mathbb{R}^n) = L^{2,s}(\mathbb{R}^n)$,
$H^s(\mathbb{R}^n)$	special Riesz potential space, $\dot{H}^{s}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) = \dot{L}^{2,s}(\mathbb{R}^{n}),$
$\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n)$	Schwartz space of rapidly decreasing functions, $\mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) = \{f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n) :$
	$\sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} x^{\alpha} \partial_x^{\beta} f(x) < \infty, \forall \alpha, \beta \},$
$\mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n)$	space of Schwartz functions satisfying $\mathcal{S}_0(\mathbb{R}^n) = \{f \in \mathcal{S}(\mathbb{R}^n) : D_{\mathcal{E}}^{\alpha} \hat{f}(0) =$
	$0, \forall \alpha \},$
$W^{p,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$	Sobolev space based on $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with parameters $r \ge 0$,
$M^p_q(\mathbb{R}^n)$	space of multipliers with parameters $1 \le p, q \le \infty$ correspond to $L^p \to L^q$
	L^q .

A.3. Symbols used throughout the thesis

In order to make a convenience for the readers we pick and choose some of symbols are often used in our thesis. The following list we will introduced some most important definitions and symbols in a short way. If the symbols are related to a particular chapter, we give also the corresponding reference.

Assumptions are used in this thesis:

(A1)	$a(t) > 0, a'(t) > 0$, for $t \in [0, \infty)$
(A2)	$a_0 \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \le \frac{a'(t)}{a(t)} \le a_1 \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}, \ a_0, a_1 > 0$
(A3)	$ a''(t) \le a_2 a(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^2, a_2 \ge 0$
(A4)	$t + C/\sqrt{a(t)}$ is strictly increasing with a positive constant C
	and for large t ,
$(A)^k$	$ a^{(j)}(t) \le a_j a(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^j, a_j \ge 0, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, k$
$(A)^{\infty}$	$(A)^{\infty} := (A)^k \text{ as } k \to \infty$
(B1)	$b(t) > 0, b \notin L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$
(B2)	$ \mu'(t) \le C_{\mu}\mu(t)\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}$
$(B2)^{\infty}$	$ \mu'(t) \le C_k \mu(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^k, \ k = 1, 2, \dots$
(B3)	$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \mu(t) < 1$
(B3)'	$\liminf_{t \to \infty} \mu(t) > 1$
(C)	$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \left(\mu(t) + \alpha(t) \right) < 2$
(B'1)	b(t) > 0

(B'2)	$\left d_t^k \mu(t)\right \le C_k \mu(t) \left(\frac{a(t)}{A(t)}\right)^k$ for $k = 1, 2$
(B'3)	$\mu(t)/A(t)$ is monotonic and $\mu(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$
(B'4)	$a^{2}(t)/b(t) = a(t)A(t)/\mu(t) \notin L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+}).$
(B'5)	$\frac{a^2(t)}{A^2(t)b(t)} \in L^1(\mathbb{R}_+)$
(OD)	$\int_0^\infty rac{a^2(au)}{b(au)}d au <\infty$
(S1)	$rac{a^{2}(t)}{b(t)A^{2}(t)} \in L^{1}(\mathbb{R}_{+})$

Tab. A.1.: Summarizing assumptions in thesis

Sy

ymbols are used throughout our thesis:

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha(t) & \frac{a'(t)}{a(t)} =: \alpha(t) \frac{a(t)}{A(t)}, \\ A(t) & A(t) = 1 + \int_0^t a(\tau) d\tau, \\ \lambda(t) & \lambda(t) = \exp\left(\frac{1}{2} \int_0^t b(\tau) d\tau\right), \\ \delta(t) & \delta(t) = a(t) / A(t), \\ \eta(t) & \eta(t) = \mu(t) / A(t), \\ \eta(t) & \mu(t) / \mu(t) / \mu(t) / \mu(t), \\ \nu(\lambda, t) & \nu(\lambda, t) = \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)}, \\ \nu(\lambda, t) & \nu(\lambda, t) = \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)}, \\ \nu(\lambda, t) & \nu(\lambda, t) = \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)}, \\ \nu(\lambda, t) & \nu(\lambda, t) = \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)}, \\ \nu(\lambda, t) & \nu(\lambda, t) = \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)}, \\ \nu(\lambda, t) & \nu(\lambda, t) = \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)}, \\ \nu(\lambda, t) & \nu(\lambda, t) = \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)}, \\ \nu(\lambda, t) & \nu(\lambda, t) = \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)}, \\ \nu(\lambda, t) & \nu(\lambda, t) = \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)}, \\ \nu(\lambda, t) & \nu(\lambda, t) = \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)}, \\ \nu(\lambda, t) & \nu(\lambda, t) = \frac{a(t)}{A(t)} \frac{A(\lambda t)}{a(\lambda t)}, \\ \nu(t, \xi) & \text{ micro-energy}, E_c(u)(t) = \lim_{t \to \infty} \nu(\lambda, t), \\ \nu(t, \xi) & \text{ micro-energy}, U = (N\delta(t)\hat{u}, D_t\hat{u})^T. \\ \text{ We use this definition for both zones:} \\ Z_{Pd} \text{ in Chapter 2 and } Z_{diss} \text{ in Chapter 3. } U = (a(t)|\xi|\hat{u}, D_t\hat{u})^T \text{ for all } Z_{hyp} \text{ in these Chapters. Moreover, } \\ D_t U = A(t, \xi)U, \\ \nu(t, \xi) & \text{ fundamental solution to } \\ D_t E = A(t, \xi)E, E(s, s, \xi) = I, \\ E_0(t, s, \xi) & \text{ fundamental solution to } \\ D_t E_a = (D(t, \xi) + F_0(t))E_0, \quad E_0(s, s, \xi) = I, \\ E_a(t, s, \xi) & \text{ fundamental solution to } \\ D_t E_a = (D(t, \xi) + R_a(t))E_a, \quad E_a(s, s, \xi) = I, \\ E_k(t, s, \xi) & \text{ fundamental solution of the system after k steps of diagonalization, k \ge 1, \\ \text{ is used to obtain } \\ D^P - L^P - \text{estimates in Section 4.1, } \\ \nu(t, x) & \nu(t, x) = \lambda(t)u(t, x), \\ \text{ is used to obtain } D^P - L^P - \text{stimates in Section 4.1, } \\ \nu(t, x) & \nu(t, x) = \lambda(t)u(t, x), \\ \text{ is used to obtain } D^P - L^P - \text{stimates in Section 4.1, } \\ \nu(t, x) & \nu(t, x) = \lambda(t)u(t, x), \\ \text{ is used to obtain } D^P - L^P - \text{stimates in Section 4.1, } \\ \nu(t, \xi) & \text{ micro-energy}, V(t, \xi) = (\langle \xi \rangle_{b(t)} \hat{v}, D_t \hat{v})^T, \\ E_V(t, \xi) & \text{ micro-energy},$$

B. Basic tools

B.1. Bessel functions

In part 2 of Chapter 2 we have transformed our partial differential equation to Bessel's equation in order to represent solutions explicitly. For this reason we introduce here some formulae used throughout the calculations in this thesis. Bessel functions are the canonical solutions y(x) of Bessel's differential equation

$$x^{2}y'' + xy' + (x^{2} - \alpha^{2})y = 0$$
(B.1.1)

for an arbitrary complex number α (the order of the Bessel function). There are several ways to define the Bessel functions. We introduce firstly Bessel functions of the first kind J_{α} :

$$J_{\alpha} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(-1)^k}{k! \Gamma(k+\alpha+1)} \left(\frac{x}{2}\right)^{2k+\alpha}.$$
 (B.1.2)

On the one hand, for non-integer α , the functions $J_{\alpha}(x)$ and $J_{-\alpha}(x)$ are linearly independent, and are therefore two linear independent solutions of the differential equation. On the other hand, for integer order α , the following relationship is valid:

$$J_{-n}(x) = (-1)^n J_n(x).$$

The Bessel functions of the second kind, denoted by $Y_{\alpha}(x)$, occasionally denoted instead by $N_{\alpha}(x)$, are solutions of the Bessel differential equation that have a singularity at the origin (x = 0). These are sometimes called Weber functions due to Heinrich Martin Weber. One defines for non-integer α , $Y_{\alpha}(x)$ is related to J_{α} by:

$$Y_{\alpha}(x) = \frac{J_{\alpha}(x)\cos(\alpha\pi) - J_{-\alpha}(x)}{\sin(\alpha\pi)}.$$
(B.1.3)

The Bessel functions of third kind or Hankel functions which are defined due to N. Nielsen as

$$H^{\pm}_{\alpha}(x) = J_{\alpha}(x) \pm i Y_{\alpha}(x). \tag{B.1.4}$$

We collect here some important properties:

$$H_{\alpha-1}^{\pm}(x) + H_{\alpha+1}^{\pm}(x) = \frac{2\alpha}{x} H_{\alpha}^{\pm}(x), \qquad (B.1.5)$$

$$H_{\alpha-1}^{\pm}(x) - H_{\alpha+1}^{\pm}(x) = 2(H_{\alpha+1}^{\pm})'(x), \qquad (B.1.6)$$

$$\alpha H_{\alpha}^{\pm}(x) + x \left(H_{\alpha}^{\pm} \right)'(x) = x H_{\alpha-1}^{\pm}(x), \qquad (B.1.7)$$

$$\alpha H_{\alpha}^{\pm}(x) - x \left(H_{\alpha}^{\pm} \right)'(x) = x H_{\alpha+1}^{\pm}(x).$$
 (B.1.8)

All this definitions and properties one can see in [Wat22] or in many other books about Bessel functions.

B.2. Bessel potential spaces and multiplier spaces

The Bessel potential space $L^{p,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, $1 \le p < \infty$, $r \in \mathbb{R}$, can be defined as the space of functions (or distributions) u such that $(I - \Delta)^{r/2} u$ belongs to the Lebesgue space $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and is endowed with the corresponding Lebesgue norm. The operator $(I - \Delta)^{r/2}$, which for r > 0 is a kind of fractional differentiation, is most easily defined by means of the Fourier transform. In fact, it corresponds to multiplication of the Fourier transform of f by $(1 + |\xi|^2)^{r/2}$. For the sake of clarity, we now define the Bessel potential space [AH96] as follows:

$$L^{p,r}(\mathbb{R}^n) := \left\{ f : f = (I - \Delta)^{-r/2} * g, \, g \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n) \right\}.$$
(B.2.1)

In various of lecture books it is shown that $C_0^{\infty}(\mathcal{D})$ and \mathcal{S} are dense in $L^{p,r}$. It is a theorem of A.P. Calderón [Cal61] that for positive integers r and $1 the space <math>L^{p,r}$ coincides (with equivalence of norms) with the Sobolev space $W^{p,r}$, that is

Lemma B.2.1 (A. P. Calderón). For $r \in \mathbb{N}$, $1 we have <math>W^{p,r}(\mathbb{R}^n) = L^{p,r}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with equivalence of norms, i.e., there is a constant C such that for all f

$$C^{-1} \|f\|_{L^{p,r}} \le \|f\|_{W^{p,r}} C \|f\|_{L^{p,r}}.$$

In order to obtain $L^p - L^q$ -estimates in this thesis we have used a dyadic decomposition and stationary phase method. The basic idea here is the following version of Littman's lemma taken from the paper of P. Brenner and Pecher, [Bre75, Pec76]. We can conclude the following estimate.

Lemma B.2.2. Let us assume that K = K(t) is a real-valued function and Let P be a real and smooth function in the neighborhood of $\operatorname{supp} \phi(t,\xi)$, $\phi(t,\xi) \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n_{\xi})$. Assume further, that the rank of the Hessian $H_P(\xi) = (\partial P/\partial_{\xi_i}\partial_{\xi_i})$ is at least ρ on $\operatorname{supp} \phi$. Then, there exists an integer M, depending on the space dimension, and a constant C > 0, depending on bounds of derivatives of Pon $\operatorname{supp} \phi$, such that

$$\|F^{-1}\left(e^{iK(t)P(\xi)}\phi(t,\xi)\right)\|_{\infty} \le C\left(1+K(t)\right)^{-\frac{n-1}{2}} \sum_{|\alpha|\le M} \|D_{\xi}^{\alpha}\phi(t,\xi)\|_{\infty}$$

holds with a constant C independent of t and ξ .

On the other hand, to handle the $L^p - L^q$ -estimates we often use the Riesz-Thorin interpolation theorem, see e.g. in the book of E.M. Stein on singular integrals, [Ste70] or in the lectures of Racke, [Rac92].

Lemma B.2.3. Let the linear operator T satisfy

 $T : W^{n,1} \longrightarrow L^{\infty}, \text{ bounded with norm } X_0,$ $T : L^2 \longrightarrow L^2, \text{ bounded with norm } X_1.$

There exists a constant C = C(p, n) such that

 $T: W^{N,p} \longrightarrow L^q$, bounded with norm $X \leq C X_0^{1-\theta} X_1^{\theta}$

with 1 , <math>pq = p + q, $\theta = 2/q$, $N > n(1 - \theta)$ and $N \in \mathbb{N}$.

Next, we introduce lemmas which help us to estimate the dyadic components. We refer to Lemma 3 in the work by Brenner, [Bre75]. Therefore, we can list up here some important properties which are related to interpolation theorems.

Lemma B.2.4. Let us assume $\phi \in L^1$.

- 1. If $||F^{-1}(\phi)||_{\infty} \leq C_0$, then $||F^{-1}(\phi F(u))||_{\infty} \leq C_0 ||u||_1$.
- 2. If $\|\phi\|_{\infty} \leq C_1$, then $\|F^{-1}(\phi F(u))\|_2 \leq C_0 \|u\|_2$.
- 3. If $||F^{-1}(\phi)||_{\infty} \leq C_0$ and $||\phi||_{\infty} \leq C_1$, then $||F^{-1}(\phi F(u))||_q \leq CC_0^{1-\theta}C_1^{\theta}||u||_p$ with $1 \leq p \leq 2$, pq = p + q and $\theta = 2/q$.

Now, we can summarize Lemma 1 and Lemma 2 in Brenner's paper, [Bre75]. Therefore, let us assume $\chi \in C_0^{\infty}$ to be non-negative with support contained in [1/2, 2] and

$$\sum_{j=-\infty}^{\infty} \chi(2^j r) = 1, \qquad r \neq 0.$$

This functions form a so-called dyadic decomposition. The basic idea of the proof are embedding relations between Lebesgue and Besov spaces.

Lemma B.2.5. Let $\phi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and assume that

$$||F^{-1}(\phi(\xi)\chi_j(\xi)\hat{v})||_q \le C||v||_p$$

holds uniform for all j and $p \in (1,2]$, pq = p+q. Then for a constant M independent of ϕ it follows

$$||F^{-1}(\phi(\xi)\hat{v})||_q \le MC||v||_p.$$

For completeness of this section we just introduce very briefly the multiplier spaces M_p^q which were treated in the paper of L. Hörmander, [Hör60]. The multiplier space M_p^q is defined as the set of all Fourier transforms F(f) of distributions $f \in L_p^q$, and the elements $F(f) \in M_p^q$ are called multipliers. Here L_p^q is the set of all distributions $f \in S'$ with

$$||f * u||_q \le C ||u||_p$$

for all $u \in \mathcal{S}$.

B.3. Further lemmas and useful calculations

Gronwall's inequality. There are two forms of the lemma, a differential form and an integral form. The differential form was proven by Grönwall in 1919, [Gro19]. The integral form was proved by Richard Bellman in 1943, [Bel43]. In our thesis, Gronwall's inequality is a useful tool for energy estimates.

Lemma B.3.1 (Integral form). Let I denote an interval of the real line of the form $[a, \infty)$ or [a, b] or [a, b) with a < b. Let α , β and u be real-valued functions defined on I. Assume that β and u are continuous and that the negative part of α is integrable on every closed and bounded sub-interval of I.

(a) If β is non-negative and if u satisfies the integral inequality

$$u(t) \leq \alpha(t) + \int_a^t \beta(s) u(s) \, \mathrm{d}s, \qquad \forall t \in I,$$

then

$$u(t) \le \alpha(t) + \int_a^t \alpha(s)\beta(s) \exp\left(\int_s^t \beta(r) \,\mathrm{d}r\right) \mathrm{d}s, \qquad t \in I.$$

(b) If, in addition, the function α is non-decreasing, then

$$u(t) \le \alpha(t) \exp\left(\int_a^t \beta(s) \,\mathrm{d}s\right), \qquad t \in I.$$

Furthermore, in our thesis we often have to handle homogeneous linear systems of ordinary differential equations

$$D_t U = A(t) U \tag{B.3.1}$$

with $t \in \mathbb{R}_+$. It is well-known, that the Peano-Baker formula can be used for the representation of the fundamental solution. This approach goes back to Peano, [Pea88], and was further developed by Baker, [Bak05]. The explicit integral expansions (Peano-Baker series) one can see in Sec. 16.5 of the book of E.L. Ince, [Inc56].

Lemma B.3.2. Let $A \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}^{n \times n})$. Then the fundamental solution E(t, s) to $\partial_t - A(t)$ is given by the Peano-Baker formula

$$E(t,s) = I + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \int_{s}^{t} A(t_1) \int_{s}^{t_1} A(t_2) \cdots \int_{s}^{t_{k-1}} A(t_k) dt_k \cdots dt_2 dt_1.$$

The proof follows by differentiating the series term by term.

Corollary B.3.3. Let $A \in L^1_{loc}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{C}^{n \times n})$. Then the fundamental matrix E(t, s) satisfies

$$||E(t,s)|| \le \exp\Big\{\int_s^t ||A(\tau)|| \mathrm{d}\tau\Big\}.$$

In order to guarantee the invertibility of the fundamental solution which arises from estimates in scattering results or statements about asymptotic behavior of fundamental solution it is convenient to use the Liouville's formula in the following form.

Lemma B.3.4. Let us assume that E(t, s) is a matrix-valued solution of the system (B.3.1). Then

$$\det E(t,s) = \det E(s,s) \exp\left(i \int_{s}^{t} \operatorname{tr} A(\tau) \mathrm{d}\tau\right)$$

for $0 \leq s \leq t$.

A proof for this lemma one may found in standard text-books on differential equation, for instance, V. I. Arnold, [Arn01], or Chicone, [Chi06].

Faà di Bruno's formula. Perhaps the most well-known form of Faà di Bruno's formula, F. d. Bruno [Bru55, Bru57], says the following:

Lemma B.3.5. Let $f(g(x)) = (f \circ g)(x)$ with $x \in \mathbb{R}$. Then we have

$$\frac{d^n}{dx^n}f(g(x)) = \sum \frac{n!}{m_1!1!^{m_1}m_2!2!^{m_2}\cdots m_n!n!^{m_n}} \cdot f^{(m_1+\cdots+m_n)}(g(x)) \cdot \prod_{j=1}^n \left(g^{(j)}(x)\right)^{m_j}, \quad (B.3.2)$$

where the sum is taken over all n-tuples of non-negative integers (m_1, \ldots, m_n) satisfying the constraint

$$1 \cdot m_1 + 2 \cdot m_2 + \cdots + \dots + m_n = n.$$

A multivariate version of Faà di Bruno's formula, Constantine-Savits [C-S96], Leipnik-Pearce [L-P06], is given in the next statement.

Lemma B.3.6. Let $y = g(x_1, \ldots, x_n)$. Then the following identity holds regardless of whether the n variables are all distinct, or all identical, or partitioned into several distinguishable classes of indistinguishable variables

$$\frac{\partial^n}{\partial x_1 \cdots \partial x_n} f(y) = \sum_{\pi \in \Pi} f^{(|\pi|)}(y) \cdot \prod_{B \in \pi} \frac{\partial^{|B|} y}{\prod_{j \in B} \partial x_j},$$
(B.3.3)

where

- π runs through the set Π of all partitions of the set $\{1, \ldots, n\}$,
- $B \in \pi$ means the variable B runs through the list of all of the "blocks" of the partition π , and
- |A| denotes the cardinality of the set A (so that $|\pi|$ is the number of blocks in the partition π and |B| is the size of the block B).

Let us give some generalizations of the formula of Faà di Bruno for a composite function with a vector argument, see Mishkhov [Mis00].

Lemma B.3.7. If f and t are scalars, $\mathbf{x}(t) = [x_1(t), x_2(t), \dots, x_r(t)]^T$ is an r-vector and $f(\mathbf{x}(t))$ is a composite function for which all the necessary derivatives are defined. Then

$$D^{n}f(\mathbf{x}(t)) = \sum_{0} \sum_{1} \cdots \sum_{n} C(n, k_{i}, q_{ij}) \frac{\partial^{k} f}{\partial x_{1}^{p_{1}} \partial x_{2}^{p_{2}} \cdots \partial x_{r}^{p_{r}}} \prod_{i=1}^{n} (x_{1}^{i})^{q_{i1}} (x_{2}^{i})^{q_{i2}} \cdots (x_{r}^{i})^{q_{ir}}, \quad (B.3.4)$$

where the respective sums are taken over all non-negative integer solutions of the Diophantine equations as follows:

$$\sum_{0} \to k_{1} + 2k_{2} + \dots nk_{n} = n,$$

$$\sum_{1} \to q_{11} + q_{12} + \dots + q_{1r} = k_{1},$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\sum_{n} \to q_{n1} + q_{n2} + \dots + q_{nr} = k_{n},$$

and the differential operator D = d/dt, p_j -the order of the partial derivative with respect to x_j , k-the order of the partial derivative are

$$p_j = q_{1j} + q_{2j} + \dots + q_{nj}, \ j = 1, 2, \dots, r,$$

$$k = p_1 + p_2 + \dots + p_r = k_1 + k_2 + \dots + k_n.$$

Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality. The Gagliardo-Nirenberg inequality is a result in the theory of Sobolev spaces that estimates the weak derivatives of a function. The meaning of this inequality is the estimates are in terms of L^q norms of the function can be estimated by its derivatives, and these one interpolates among various values of q and orders of differentiation. See Part 1 in A. Friedman [Fri76]

Lemma B.3.8. The inequality concerns functions $u : \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$. Fix $1 \le p, r \le \infty$ and a natural number m. Suppose also that a real number a and a natural number j are such that

$$\frac{1}{q} = \frac{j}{n} + \left(\frac{1}{r} - \frac{m}{n}\right)a + \frac{1-a}{p}$$

 $\frac{j}{m} \le \alpha \le 1.$

and

Then

- 1. every function $u : \mathbb{R}^n \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ that lies in $L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ with m^{th} derivative in $L^r(\mathbb{R}^n)$ also has j^{th} derivative in $L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)$,
- 2. and, furthermore, there exists a constant C depending only on m, n, j, q, r and a such that

$$\|\mathbf{D}^{j}u\|_{L^{q}} \le C \|\mathbf{D}^{m}u\|_{L^{r}}^{a} \|u\|_{L^{p}}^{1-a}.$$

The result has two exceptional cases:

- 1. If j = 0, mr < n and $p = \infty$, then it is necessary to make the additional assumption that either u tends to zero at infinity or that u lies in L^s for some finite s > 0.
- 2. If $1 < r < \infty$ and m j n/r is a non-negative integer, then it is necessary to assume also that $a \neq 1$.

If we choose j = 0, m = 1 and r = p = 2, then we obtain

$$||u||_{L^q} \le C ||\nabla u||_{L^2}^{\theta(q)} ||u||_{L^2}^{1-\theta(q)}.$$

Bibliography

- [AH96] D. R. Adams, L. I. Hedberg, Function spaces and potential theory, Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 314 (1996).
- [Arn01] V.I. Arnol'd, Gewöhnliche Differentialgleichungen, Übersetzt aus dem Russischen von Tobias Damm, (Ordinary differential equations), 2. Aufl. Springer-Lehrbuch, Berlin: Springer. xii, 344 S. DM 49.90, 2001.
- [Bak05] H.F. Baker, Note on the integration of linear differential equations, Proc. London Math. Soc., 2 (1905) 2, 293–296.
- [Bel43] Richard Bellman, The stability of solutions of linear differential equations, Duke Math. J., 10 (1943) 4, 643–647.
- [Bre75] Philip Brenner, On $L_p L_{p'}$ estimates for the wave equation. Math. Z., 145 (1975) 3, 251–254.
- [Bru55] F. Faa di Bruno, Sullo Sviluppo delle Funzioni, Annali di Scienze Matematiche e Fisiche, 6 (1855), 479–480.
- [Bru57] F. Faa di Bruno, Note sur un nouvelle formule de calcul differentiel, Quarterly Journal of Pure and Applied Mathematics, 1 (1857), 359–360.
- [Cal61] A. P. Calderón, Lebesgue spaces of differentiable functions and distributions, Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Vol. IV, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., (1961), 33–49.
- [Chi06] Carmen Chicone, Ordinary differential equations with applications, Texts in Applied Mathematics, Springer, New York, second edition, **34** (2006).
- [C-R82] G. Chen, and D.L. Russell, A mathematical model for linear elastic systems with structural damping, Quarterly Journal of Applied Mathematics, 39 (1982), 433–454.
- [C-S96] G. M. Constantine, T. H. Savits, A Multivariate Faa di Bruno Formula with Applications, Transactions of the American Mathematical Society, 348 (1996), 503–520.
- [D-L12] D'Abbicco and Lucente, A modified test function method for damped wave equations, Advanced Nonlinear Studies, 13 (2013), 867–892.
- [D-R13] M. D'Abbicco, S. Lucente, M. Reissig Semi-linear wave equations with effective damping, Chin. Ann. of Math., Series B, 34, (2013) 3, 345–380.
- [E-R11] M.R. Ebert, M. Reissig, The influence of oscillations on global existence for a class of semi-linear wave equations, Math. Meth. Appl. Sci., 34 (2011) 11, 1289–1307.
- [Elm69] W. C. Elmore, M. A. Heald, *Physics of Waves*, Dover Publications, (1969).
- [Fri76] A. Friedman, Partial Differential Equations, Krieger, New York, 1976.

- [Gal03] Anahit Galstian, $L_p L_q$ decay estimate for the wave equations with exponentially growing speed of propagation, Applicable Analysis, 82 (2003) 3, 197–214.
- [G-H13] Xu Gang, Yin Huicheng, On global multidimensional supersonic flows with vacuum states at infinity, to appear.
- [Gro19] Thomas H. Gronwall, Note on the derivatives with respect to a parameter of the solutions of a system of differential equations, Ann. of Math., **20** (1919) 2, 292–296.
- [G-S09] Graham W. Griffiths, William E. Schiesser, Linear and nonlinear waves, Scholarpedia, 4(2009) 7, 4308.
- [H-N03] Fumihiko Hirosawa and Hideo Nakazawa, Rapid decay of the total energy for dissipative wave equations, Tsukuba J. Math., 27 (2003) 2, 217–232.
- [Hör60] Lars Hörmander. Estimates for translation invariant operators in L^p spaces, Acta Math., 104 (1960), 93–140.
- [H-W09] F. Hirosawa, J. Wirth, Generalised energy conservation law for wave equations with variable propagation speed, J. Math. Appl., 358 (2009), 56-74.
- [I-N12] R. Ikehata and M. Natsume, Energy decay estimates for wave equations with a fractional damping, Differential Integral Equations, 25 (2012) 9-10, 939–956.
- [Inc56] E.L. Ince, Ordinary Differential Equations, reprint of the 1926 edition, Dover, New York (1956).
- [ITY09] R. Ikehata, G. Todorova, B. Yordanov, exponent for semilinear wave equations with spacedependent potential, Funkcial. Ekvac., 52 (2009) 3, 411–435.
- [ITY13a] R. Ikehata, G. Todorova, B. Yordanov, Optimal decay of the energy for wave equations with critical potential, J. Math. Soc. Japan, 65 (2013) 1, 183-236.
- [ITY13b] R. Ikehata, G. Todorova, B. Yordanov, Wave equations with strong damping in Hilbert spaces, J. Differential Equations, 254 (2013), 3352–3368.
- [LNZ12] Jiayun Lin, Kenji Nishihara, Jian Zhai, Critical exponent for the semilinear wave equation with time-dependent damping, 32 (2012) 12, 4307–4320.
- [Lev07] R. J. LeVeque, Finite Difference Methods for Ordinary and Partial Differential Equations, Society for Industrial and Applied mathematics, (2007).
- [Lit73] W.Littman, Walter Littman. L^p L^q-estimates for singular integral operators arising from hyperbolic equations, In Partial differential equations (Proc. Sympos. Pure Math., Vol. XXIII, Univ. California, Berkeley, Calif., 1971), Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., (1973), 479–481.
- [L-P73] P.D. Lax and R.S. Phillips, Scattering theory for dissipative hyperbolic systems. J. Funct. Anal., 14 1973, 172–235.
- [L-P06] R. Leipnik, C. E. M. Pearce, The multivariate faa di bruno formula and multivariate taylor expansions with explicit integral remainder term, Anziam J., 48 (2007), 327–341.
- [L-R09] Xiaojun Lu, M. Reissig, Rates of decay for structural damped models with decreasing in time coefficients, Int. J. Dynamical Systems and Differential Equations, 2 (2009) 1/2, 21-55.

- [Mat76] Akitaka Matsumura, On the asymptotic behavior of solutions of semi-linear wave equations. Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci., 12 (1976) 1, 169–189.
- [Mat77] Akitaka Matsumura, Energy decay of solutions of dissipative wave equations. cProc. Japan Acad. Ser. A Math. Sci., 53 (1977) 7, 232–236.
- [Mel95] Richard B. Melrose, *Geometric scattering theory*. Stanford Lectures. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995.
- [Mis00] R. Mishkov, Generalization of the Formula of Faa di Bruno for a Composite Function with a Vector Argument, International Journal of Mathematical Sciences, **24** (2000), 481–491.
- [Moc77] Kiyoshi Mochizuki, Scattering theory for wave equations with dissipative terms, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci., 12 (1976-77) 2, 383–390.
- [M-N96] Kiyoshi Mochizuki and Hideo Nakazawa, Energy decay and asymptotic behavior of solutions to the wave equations with linear dissipation, Publ. Res. Inst. Math. Sci., **32** (1996) 3, 401–414.
- [Oha94] H. C. Ohanian, R. Ruffini, Gravitation and Spacetime, Norton, 2nd ed., (1994).
- [Pea88] G. Peano, Intégration par séries des équations différentielles linéaires, Math. Ann., 32 (1888), 450-456.
- [Pec76] H. Pecher, L^p-Abschätzungen und klassische Lösungen für nichtlineare Wellengleichungen. I, Math. Z., 150 (1976), 159–184.
- [Pon85] Gustavo Ponce, Global existence of small solutions to a class of nonlinear evolution equations. Nonlinear Anal., Theory Methods Appl., 9 (1985), 399-418.
- [Rac92] Reinhard Racke, Lectures on nonlinear evolution equations. Aspects of Mathematics, E19. Friedr. Vieweg & Sohn, Braunschweig, (1992).
- [Rei97] M. Reissig, $On L_p L_q$ estimates for solutions of a special weakly hyperbolic equation, Ed. Li Ta-Tsien, Nonlinear Evolution Equations and Infinite-Dimensional Dynamical Systems, World Scientific, (1997), 153–164.
- [R-Y99] M. Reissig, K. Yagdjian, One application of Floquet's theory to $L_p L_q$ estimates for hyperbolic equations with very fast oscillations, Math. Meth. Appl. Sci., **22** (1999), 937–951.
- [R-Y00a] M. Reissig and K. Yagdjian, $L_p L_q$ Decay estimates for the solutions of strictly hyperbolic equations of second order with increasing in Time Coefficients, Math. Nachr., **214** (2000), 71–104.
- [R-Y00b] M. Reissig, K. Yagdjian, $L_p L_q$ decay estimates for hyperbolic equations with oscillations in coefficients, Chin. Ann. of Math., Series B, **21** (2000) 2, 153–164.
- [Rei11] M. Reissig, Optimality of the asymptotic behavior of the energy for wave models, Modern Aspects of Partial Differential Equations, Birkhäuser, Vol. 216 (2011), 291–315.
- [Ros88] J. Ross, S. C. Muller, C. Vidal *Chemical Waves*, Science, **240** (1988), 460–465.
- [Sha75] A. Shadowitz, The Electromagnetic Field, McGraw-Hill, 1975.
- [Shi00] Y. Shibata, On the rate of decay of solution to linear visco-elastic equation, Math. Methods Appl. Sci., 23 (2000) 3, 203–226.

- [Ste70] Elias M. Stein, Harmonic analysis: real-variable methods, orthogonality, and oscillatory integrals, Princeton Mathematical Series. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 43 (1993).
- [Str70] Robert S. Strichartz, A priori estimates for the wave equation and some applications, J. Functional Analysis, 5 (1970), 218-235.
- [T-Y00] G. Todorova, B. Yordanov, Critical exponent for a nonlinear wave equation with damping,
 C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math., 330 (2000) 7, 557–562.
- [T-Y01] G. Todorova, B. Yordanov, Critical exponent for a nonlinear wave equation with damping, J. Differential Equation, 174 (2001), 464–489.
- [T-Y09] G. Todorova, B. Yordanov, Weighted L²-estimates of dissipative wave equation with damping, J. Differential Equation, 246 (2009), 4497–4518.
- [Ues80] Hiroshi Uesaka, The total energy decay of solutions for the wave equation with a dissipative term, J. Math. Kyoto Univ., 20 (1980) 1, 57–65.
- [vW71] Wolf von Wahl, L^p -decay rates for homogeneous wave-equations Math. Z., **120** 1971, 93–106.
- [Wat22] George N. Watson, A treatise on the theory of Bessel functions, Cambridge University Press, (1922).
- [W04] J. Wirth, Solution representations for a wave equation with weak dissipation, Math.Meth.Appl.Sci., 27 (2004), 101–124.
- [W05] J. Wirth, Asymptotic properties of solutions to wave equations with time dependent dissipation, PhD thesis, Technical University Bergakademie Freiberg, 2005.
- [W06] J. Wirth, Wave equations with time-dependent dissipation I. Non-effective dissipation, J. Differential Equations, 222 (2006), 487–514.
- [W07a] J. Wirth, Wave equations with time-dependent dissipation II. Effective dissipation, J. Differential Equations, 232 (2007), 74–103.
- [W07b] J. Wirth, Scattering and abstract scattering for abstract wave equations with time-dependent dissipation, Adv. Differential Equations, 12 (2007) 10, 1115–1133.
- [Yag97] K. Yagdjian, The Cauchy problem for Hyperbolic Operators, Mathematical topics 12, Akademie Velag, Berlin, 1997.
- [Yag01] K. Yagdjian, Parametric resonance and nonexistence of global solution to nonlinear wave equations, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 260 (2001) 1, 251–268.
- [Yag05] K. Yagdjian, Global existence in the Cauchy problem for nonlinear wave equations with variable speed of propagation, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications, Birkhäuser, Vol. 159 (2005), 301-385.
- [Ya05] T. Yamazaki, Diffusion phenomenon for abstract wave equations with decaying dissipation, Asymptotic Analysis and Singularity, Advanced Studies in Pure Mathematics, Kinokuniya, (2005).
- [Ya06] T. Yamazaki, Asymptotic behavior for abstract wave equations with decaying dissipation, Adv. Differential Equations, 11 (2006) 4, 419–456.

[Zha01] Q. S. Zhang, A blow-up result for a nonlinear wave equation with damping: the critical case, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Ser. I Math., 333 (2001), 109–114.